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DEDICATION
As radio operator on a B-17 crew I salute the other members
of the crew:
Pilot--Robert M. Rowe from Plaistow, New Hampshire now living
in Newton, New Hampshire and spending his winters in Ft. Pierce,
Florida. |
Copilot--Robert S. Stewart from Richmond, Virginia now living
in Newport News, Virginia
Navigator--Frederick H. Sanborn also from New Hampshirea last
address in St. Petersburg, Florida. The crew often callﬁd
him Chase.

Bombardier--Walter G. Collins formerly of Miami, Florida now

deceased,

Engineer and Top Turret Gunner--August W. Maurer formérly of

Lake Nebagamon, Wisconsin now residing in Lovéland, Colorado.

Ball Turret Gunner--Donald L. Nelson from Minneapolis, Minne-

sota now living in North Pole, Alaska.

Assistant PFngineer and Waist Gumnner--George T. Crowder from

Selma, Alabama now deceased. Because he was the oldest we

called him Pop.

Waist Gunner--~Robert J. McIntyre from Pittsburgh, Pennsyl-

vania. I have been unable to locate Mac who was the youngest:

on the crew.

Tail Gunner--Ernest Crawford of Cotton Plant, Arkansas now

living in Los Angeles, California.

Radio Opeerator--John H. Anderson from Kansas City, Missouri

now living in Mexico Beach, Florida.
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INTRODUCTION

" Before I start:

It is 1990 and for quite some time T have been thinking
of writing up my war experiences so I could share them with my
crew members and my children. I am sure my children have heard
bits and pieces, and my wife has probably heard the story of my
being shot down so many times she could tell it herself. However,
the urge to put it down on paper has been growing. So, to satisfy
this urge I shall try to recount the events of my army egperience
with the emphasis upon my crew training and combat experience.
I kept a diary from 1933 thtough 1952, but the early years were
lost when I moved away from Athens, Georgia. The 1944 diary was
kept by the army after I was shot down but returned to me after
I got back to the states. I transferred the notes I wrote in Ger-
many which were still readable to the 1944 diary. The first part
of the notes of 1945 were almost unreadable, ‘and I never did any-
thing with them. My mother saved my letters, and when I get to it
I shall read them and incorporate pertinent material into this
story. Trying to decipher all my notes may be a problem. A group
of letters from the kin of my crew members to my mother is also
available. This should prove to be an interesting journey to try
and recall events not mentioned anywhere but still a part of my
memory. Even if no one reads this I shall enjoy the reminiscences
and, I hope, put on record the events of one combat crew in the
great war known as World War II almost a half century ago.

After I finished:

Now it is 1991 and arrangements for a reunion of the crew are
being made for August in Valley Forge, Pennsylvania. The 388th
Bomb Group Association holds an annual get-together, and while I
have considered going I never have. I did not know about this
organization until Maurer sent me information about it after I
retired to Florida. I became a life member and have enjoyed the
informative newsletter which comes out about four times each year.

This narrative has become a longer project than I expected.
While I was at it I wrote up my experiences as a POW, but that
will have to wait for another time. Another organization, made
up of members of Stalag Luft IV, started recently and perhaps I
can have that story ready for some future meeting with them.

This story involves the activities of one crew from the
middle of January, 1944 through August 6, 1944. That is less
than eight months, but alot did happen. I have finally got it
down on paper. Now if I can get it reproduced for my crew and
my children I shall have accomplished my goal.

iy |



Chapter 1
Background

Since this narrative takes place in 1944 I shall precede
it with a short summary of my life which began in 1922. I
was born on December 16th at 2920 East 30th Street in Kansas
City, Missouri where I lived until my induétion into the
army. My father was a hardware merchant with his store at
31st and Prospect, the Anchor Hardware #5. He moved the
store to 31st and Montgall some time in the early thirties.
The family included my father, John Henry, my mother, Ethel,
and my older sister Vivian, born in 1919. Before I entered
school my mother taught me to sing,aﬁd I evidently learned
a number of hymns and carols which I sang for my church, the
Linwood Methodist Church. Dr. William Stidger, who later
became a rather famous writer, was pastor ,and he let me sing
over the radio, station WO0Q, just before Christmas when our
Wednesday night services were broadcast. My picture was put
in the paper, and my dad kept a scrapbook of letters and
telephone messages that were sent about my singing. A
thousand copies of my picture were made and sent out upon
request. I received the title of "The Christmas spirit of
1927".

Benton School was just a block away and I entered in
the middle of the school year but skipped a half grade in
upper first grade so was a bit younger than my classmates.

I remember well alumnus Walt Disney coming to Benton whiie

I was in the second grade (probably in 1929), and he showed

everyone in assembly how he drew Mickey Mouse out of circles.



I got to meet him many years later when he returned to
Benton for a visit. When he started making festure length
films he arranged for the student body of Benton to see the
film at a downtown.theater. I had graduated before then.

In third grade I took about a year of piano lessons
from Mrs. Shoemaker. When she insisted that I practice
the Hanon exercises I prevailed on my ﬁother to let me quit
(much to my regret later). I took up the clarinet in fourth
grade and later played in the band in high school. At
church I sang with the Bobby Watkins Memorial Boys' Choir
under Mr. Forest Shoemaker. I sang in the chorus in Jjunior
high and the youth choir at church in high school. 1In 1935
I graduated from Benton and from Central Junior High in
1936. During my senior year at Central High I took a course
in Harmony and graduated in 1939 at the age of 16.

In October 1989 the Central High class of 1939 held
their 50th year reunion at the Marriott in Overland Park,
Kansas. I attended and felt privileged to lead the singing
of the Alma Mater at the banquet. Central High is still in
existence but plans are made to replace it with a larger
school. Over 600 students were in my class and 96 plus 18
of other classes attended the reunion, most of them with
their spouses. It was the first reunion for this class.

Both of my parents and my sister attended Kansas State
in Manhattan and I expected I would too, but I took some
voice lessons at the Conservatory of Music of Kansas City
and they, the people at the Conservatory, convinced me to

2



go there for my college education. I worked under an NYA
(National Youth Administration) program and cleaned one
floor of the building every day for $15 a month to help
pay expenses. Living at home saved money also. The Con-
servatory, located in the Armour home, was at 35th and
Walnut, and I often walked the 35 blocks. The alternative
was to take a street car on 3lst and transfer at Main Street.
Many times I raced a street car from Main to Bentom Boule-
vard and sometimes won the race.

In my junior year a student govérnment was formed and
I was elected president. By my senior year (1942) most of
the boys had gone to war. The draft age had been reduced
to 20 and was going to be lowered to 19. I was 19 and
could see that I would probably get drafted before the
school year was over. Junior College had moved out to
39th Street,and I enrolled for three courses there: Ameri-
can History, World History, and Economics. Since I had re-
ceived advanced placement in music theory because of the
high school course in Harmony I was able to take more ad-
vanced theory courses my senior year. I enrolled in 17
hours credit at the Conservatory, 11 hours at Junior College,
did some student teaching twice a week at an elementary
school, directed the church choir at the Friends Church,
and worked at the airport on weekends. I got the job as
Clearance Officer at Ong Airport the summer of 1942 with

the hope it might defer me until I graduated. As luck
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would have it I had to report for my physical on my
twentieth birthday, and my draft notice came ordering me to
report on January 15, 1%43. I went to my draft board and
asked for an extension of time so I could complete my
studies. When they found out my field of study was music
they said it was not nécessary for national! defense. They
did allow me two more weeks to finish.the semester, so I

was inducted January 30, 1943 at Ft. Leavenworth, Kansas.

During the seven days I was given to wind up my affairs
I sang and played piano on a recital, had a special gradu-
tion ceremony just for me (I received the degree Bachelor
of Music in Public School Music.), had a fraternity dance
at which we had to invite soldiers since only five boys
remained in school, and it felt like I had completed a
chapter in my life. I was glad my busy senior year was
over and that I had enough credits to graduate. Many of
my Conservatory friends wrote to me in the service.

On February 6th I reported back to Ft. Leavenworth.
About a week later we were bused to Kansas City and put on
a train going west into Kansas at sunset. Just before I.
went to sleep I could see by the car licences thét we
were still in Kansas. Our destination must be California.
Imagine my surprise when I woke up in Arkansas. The train
stopped at Memphis and left going into Mississippi and
then Alabama. The destination must be Florida. Another
‘surprise: the train pulled into Chattanooga. Later, I

got a railroad map so I could see where and how I was going.
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Eventually, the train went to Atlanta and on to St. Peters-
burg, Florida. My group was placed in a hotel downtown, and we
learned we were in the Air Corps. When I had been interviewed
the fact that I could play a number of instruments made my first
choice the band. Since I had worked at an airport the Air Corps
was second choice. The interviewer felt sure I would end up in
a band. Evidently, the second choice won out.

For over a week we took a battery of tests to show what
skills we had. The food wés excellent and I tried to eat every-
thing including vegetables I did not like. We were not allowed
to go out by ourselves. One day I felt sick and the officer
told me to walk to a doctor's office a few blocks away. I
stopped and bought a hamburger on the way and immediately felt
better.

In 1985 I went back to St. Petersburg and located the hotel.
The area had changed and the building was now a rest home. Many
times I had run.-up and down six flights of stairs to join a for-
mation in front of the hotel. We were not allowed to use the
elevators. When all the tests were over we were transported to
a place a few miles north of town called Tent City. We lived
eight to a tent and we started basic training.

Tent City left a lot to be desired. It had only been in
existence about three weeks, and I understand that it was closed
about four weeks after I left for being unhealthful. At night
it got so cold I would sleep with all my clothes on. Up before

dawn breakfast was served under the lights, but you ate mostly in



the dark. The food was unappetizing and no salt was available.
I remember the sweet, green 1iquid served for many of the meals.
We marched out to the drill field as it got light and had drill,
calisthenics, and lectures. Back for lunch by which time you
had to shed most of the clothes because it was so hot. Afternoons
were spent like the mornings and dinner was just like lunch. To
get into the PX you had to wait in line for over an hour and no
food was available. After three weeks we were allowed a pass to
g0 into town. A street car ran every half hour. I went to town
once, got a good meal, and went to a movie. Luckily, I got on
the last street car coming back which had fellows hanging on the
outside. Back to camp after midnight it was hard to find the
right tent. I decided it was not worth the effort.

One day I woke up with a sore throat. I tried to get some
salt but none was available. By evening it was worse, so I went
on sick call. Tt was raining and the line was about a block long.
I finally got to see the doctor around 8 o'clock. He examined
my throat and said, "Naso-pharyngitis, sénd to hospital.” I
didn't know what that was but I figured I could get some salt
at the hospital. An hour later two ambulances arrived to take
12 men to the hospital at McDill Field. When we arrived we
were told that beds were only available for six, so the six worst
cases were taken. The ambulance driver heard that Drew Field
had a hospital, so he decided to go there., Unfortunately, he
got lost and we rode all over Florida looking for the base.

Around 2:30 A.M. we arrived and after forms were filled out I



was sent to a ward where the bed had sheets. The attendant gave
me a glass of orange juice which was the best I had ever had.
Early the next morning a nurse came in and announced that the
doctor was sick and would ﬁot be in. When she got to me she said,
"Stay in bed and rest. The doctor will see you tomorrow." So I
did as she said. The same thing happened the next three days.

I took some salt and my throat got better. Finally, the doctor
came and found nothing wrong with me,so I was placed in a recupera-
tion ward for 24 hours. I got a pass to walk around the base.

It was a nice day, and I certainly enjoyed seeing a real army
base. Since I did not have a uniform I could not leave the base.
The next day a truck arrived from Tent City with about twenty
fellows for the hospital. I was the only one going back.

A few days later I was marching in the field when a messen-—
ger came and told me to report to a certain tent. There I was
given a telegram from our doctor in Kansas City that said my
father had suffered a :heart attack and was in St. Joseph® :
Hospital. An emergency ten-day furlough was arranged,and the
Red Cross loaned me enough money to make the trip. I found my
father doing pretty well. He enjoyed listening to my experi-
ences, especially about my hospital stay. It was hard to leave
when the time came, but I had to report back. While I was gone
my group did a series of drills involving carrying a rifle. I
never carrieﬂ a rifle in my army career.

My test scores show%d that I had passed everything. I had.

my choice of schools. When I inguired about the band I was told



I would have to be assigned to a base first. I seriously thought
of going to mechaﬁics school since I knew practically nothing about
mechanics. The interviewer said that musicians usually did well
in radio school, so I finally made that my choice. It was nice
to have basic training behind me and to be able to wear some in-
signia. Before long I was promoted to PFC.

A train took a group of us to Chicago.and then west to Sioux
Falls, South Dakota. Radio school was a twenty-week course with
four hours of instruction and 2 two-hour sessions of code a day.
I was in Class 44 and was on the night shift going to school from
midnight to 8 A.M. I found it interesting but had trouble with
code. We started tests at four words a minute with 16 words per
minute necessary for graduation. We had one day off a week.
After one day of the third week I received another notice that
I was needed at home. Another emergency furlough was arranged,
and when I got to the hospital and kissed my dad he uttered my
name and that was the last knowledgeable thing he said. He
died the day after Easter at the age of 59. Mother went with
me back to Sioux Falls since a family day had been arranged
at the base. From there she went to visit my sister who was
working on her master's at Iowa State at Ames.

One of the mistakes I made was attending class the first
night I returned. Now in Class 46 I attended the same lecture
I had heard before I left. I had trouble staying awake and the
substitute teacher gave me a bad mark for the day. This kept
‘me from graduating with honors many weeks later., I also had
my flying physical exam the next morning, and since my blood

g
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the gun but stand behind it. The sound can be deafening.

Only one night were we allowed a pass to go to town. I
attended a concert by Larry Adler, harmonica player. 1 never
got to any of the casinos.

For the fifth week we were sent to Indian Pass and started
to fly in B-17's. I may have got a headache but I did not get
air sick which pleased me very much. I made the best score in
my group shooting from the top turret. Thanksgiving came that
week and we had a nice turkey dinner. I remember pulling guard
duty one cold night at Indian Pass.

Upon graduation at gunnery school we were promoted to the
rank of sergeant. I was never a corporal. A 15-day furlough
was granted. We were to report to Salt Lake City on December
24th. I remember that the train was crowded, and I had to stand
almost all the way across the state of Kansas getting back to
Kansas City.

When I got home I wrote a letter to my commanding officer
requesting a 3-day extension to my furlough so that I could be
home for Christmas. Just as we sat down for our Christmas dinner
on December 22nd a telegram arrived stating that my extension
was granted. I did not have to leave until Christmas afternoon.
We had another Christmas dinner that day.

Many of the fellows in my group had requested an extension
but I was the only one who received it. Most of them sent tele-
grams. I guess it was the letter that did it. |

At Salt Lake it took me two days to qualify on the pistol

range. I spent New Year's Eve in town.

10



pressure was too low I did not pass.

Eventually, code became easier. I got hung up on 12 wpm
for quite awhile. A new radio set was introduced into the cur-
riculum about the l4th week. Half the class (A through M) took
the training and the other half (N through Z) skipped it. The
Instructor read the sheet of instructions the fint session and
then told stories for the rest of the week. On the final exam
we were tested on the set and the entire class failed. We were
placed in Class 54 and had to repeat a few weeks. By final exam
time the set had been dropped from the curriculumrin typical
army fashion. I still had not passed 16 wpm in code, but I
took the test for 20, 18, and 16 wpm and passed 18.

The next-to-last week we spent oﬁt in the field and were
not allowed on base. One night I decided to cross the airport
to get on base and that was rather exciting, trying to avoid
being seen tranversing the airport. I think I had a milk shake
and then went back. That week I had mf first airplane ride in
the army. I was a passenger on a Piper Cub and tried to write
down some code coming in on radio. I got air sick which con-
cerned me because I-Wanted to fly if possible. I passed the
physical except for low blood pressure.

From Sioux Falls a train took some of us to gunnery school
at Las Vegas, Nevada. It was a six-week course. The first
week we worked on a .30-calibre machine gun. It was on a .50-
calibre machine gun the second week. For the final exam that
week we had to assemble it blindfolded. The thifdlweek wé

went to the malfunction range. 1 learned never to stand beside
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Chapter 2
1944 Begins

On the 2nd I got paid $39.03. All during my PFC days at
Sioux Falls and Las Vegas I got $54.00 a month. Of that $6.50
went for insurance, $18.50 went for a savings bond, and after my
father died I sent $22.00 home. Thus I never did have much money
to spend. It was nice to now havg a littlé more cash. On the
3rd I was transferred to Kearns, Utah and it snowed all day. On
the 5th I had five fillings made at the dental clinic. That
night I went to the service club and ate.a big steak dinner.

Then I got two malts and pie ala mode.

My buddies had already started the refresher courses so they
told me what to expect. I breezed through the tests and the code
and graduated on the 7th, much quicker than any of my friends.

On the 9th I was sent back to the air base at Salt Lake Cify.
‘Three days were spent on the range firing machine guns.

From here on the underlined material is taken directly from
my diary. I have eliminated most of the material which is not
pertinent to this story.

January 15--Put on the alert which is all right with me. Met

mechanic assigned to my crew. Nice fellow I think. Going to

Ardmore. Got list of crew. If my recollection is correct this

must have been Nelson.

Sunday, 16--not much all day. Had turkey for dinner. Had

physical exam but it wasn't much.

17--Left to shipping center. Met copilot, 2 more mechanics and

armorer. Seems like a good crew. Got on pullman car. Finally

pulled out. Tiresome traveling. Sleeping in upper berth.
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This was Stewart-and probably Crawford and Crowder. The @rmerer

was MclIntyre.,

18-~5till travelling. Stopped at Salida to stretch our legs. Got

magazines and cookies from USO at Pueblo. Back in Central war

time.

19-—Finaliy arrived (Ardmore, Oklahoma) around 11:00. Assigned

Yo barracks 321. Nice arrrangement at mess hall. Had three shots

and a vaccination. Warmer down here.

20--Woke us up at 6:00. Went to breakfast and Lo hear lecture

about oxygen equipment. Went Lo PX and bad milk shake, 3 today.

Went to theater and saw sex movie and lecture. Also a film on

the Articles of War. Had clothing inspection. Copilot came

over and talked to crew.

I did not record it but I recall the first time I met Rowe.
He came to our barracks and intfoduced himself. He was 6'4" tall
and made a good impression.

21--Stayed in bed until 9:15. Had 10:00 formation. Got milk

shake with August Maurer, the 1st engineer. Nice weather.

22--Up at 7:45. Had roll call at 8:40. Went to briefing which

+took 'til 11:15. Sat around barracks. Saw pilot and asked

about passes. Got ome in orderly room. Took shower and went

o town. Ate with McIntyre, armorer. Went to dance at auditorium,

Sunday, 23--Attended radio school all day. Took about 12 tests

on everything about radio.

24--Went to school again. Had to take two more shots.

25--Ate breakfast for a change. Went to school and took code

12



and listened to lectures. Have 20-word code speed now. Went to

show and saw "Gung Ho", about the marines. Went to mess hall with

Don Nelson. Ate breakfast after midnight.

26--We didn't do much in class. 'Had talks on security and pro-

cedure. Signed payroil.

27--The crew had the day off. I had to go to school as usual.

Had 2 vanilla milk shakes. Heard 3-hour lecture on liason set.

Had chicken for lunch and lemon pie. Played cards with fellows.

28--Had lectures on trouble-shooting. Crew flew in morning.

Among the papers I still have is my flight record. Rowe let
me borrow his flight record.and I listed the discrepencies between
the two records. On January 25th he flew for 4:45 but, evidently,
the crew did not fly. On the 28th he has listed 4:30 day, :30
night. My flight record lists no flying until February. Since
I mention it in my diary I should have credif for the flight. It
may be that we took off thirty minutes before dawn.

29--Finished tests and got out at noon. Ate dinner with Nelson.

Went to town at 8:30. Went to dance at auditorium. Girls from

Denton, Texas (TSCW) played in orchestra and put on program. Got

back to camp at 1:00.

Sunday, 30--Stayed in bed until 12:30. Ate chicken dinmer. Had

good supper. Went to church. Heard Chaplain Phillips. Copilot

there.

31--Went to school again. Got results of some of our tests. I

made 2 on all they gave the grades of. Exchanged my winter flying
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clothes. Went down to operations on the line. Went through plane

looking at radio equipment.

Rowe flew five hours but crew did not fly. We were designated

as Crew #2525, Section C, Flight 11.

February 1--Got up at 4:30. Ate breakfast and stood formation at

2:10. Went down to briefing and helped pick up parachutes. Took

off at 7:00. Listened to liason receiver. Enjoyed the flight.

Engine #1 started to smoke so we landed and changed ships. Listened

Lo compass up in nose. Went to armament school for 2 hours.
=0 tompass up in Lo i

Rowe's log reads: B-17F 4:15
My flight record has 2:00 and 2:15

2--Formation at 5:10. Went down to operatioms but we were standby

crew and got the morning off.

3--Slept rather late. Had formation at 11:40. Went to pistol

range at noon. Got 56%. Saw movie on first aid. Went to calis-

thenics. Went down to operations. OQur crew didn't get ship until

late. Saw movie on German planes. Finally did fly. Operated radio.

Flew over Dallas and Fort Worth. Got back at 1:15. Ate breakfast.

Rowe's log reads: B-17E 3:20
Mine concurs at 3:20.

4--Formation at 12:40. Cleaned parts of gun and saw movie on

aircraft identification. Had calisthenics. Played some with

baseball. Flying again. Didn't take off until 9:00. Had instruc-

tor with me. I checked out OK. Made six contacts in two hours.

One engine stopped on us so we landed early. Enjoyed the trip.
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Ate breakfast.

Rowe's log: B-17E Ft. Worth. Texas 2:45
Same amount of time on mine.

>--Got oxygen mask after formation at 12:40. Went to line

armament shop and cleaned guns. Took calisthenics. Most of crew.

at dentist.

6--Up early but no flying on account of no ships. Had radio

briefing. BSaw pictures on hand-to-hand combat. Want to .22

range. Did pretty well.

7--Up at 4:30. Ate breakfast and went to briefing. No ships so

we got to come back to the barracks. Slept 'til about noon.

Had two hours on position firing. Went to lecture by colonel.

8--Didn't get up 'til noon. Went to matinee with Crawford.

Saw "Miracle of Morgan's Creek”, a good comedy. Was going to

town but changed my mind. Ate breakfast at 12:30 with Maurer

and Nelson.

9--Ate big lunch. Turned in parachute and got oxygen mask

fitted. Formatiom at 11:40. Had two hours on guns. Flying

again. Weather closed down so we only flew for an hour and a

half. Transmitter off calibratipms.” and I didn't find it out

for an hour.

Rowe's log: B-17F local 2:10
2:10 on mine also.

10-~Two more hours of gunnery. Got paid $30.75. Got cold and

windy. Had radio briefing. "Watched movies. Came back at 10:00.
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Sat around talking for a couple of hours. Mess hall caught fire.

Had fun watching it. Almost got pies after it was put out. Went

to another mess hall and ate dinner.

11--Saw intelligence movie. Interesting. Gunnery exam. Open

house on post. Alot of people looking at everything. Flight 11

had pictures taken for book. Looked at exhibits. Went to show

with crew. Saw "The Flying Seéebees”. Exchanged upper for lower

bunk with Crowder.

These were the pictures for the classbook. Since Sanborn
is not included he must have joined the crew after this date.
- The pilots must have navigated on the flying up to then. Lt.
Collins is listed as navigator but this is a mistake since he
was our bombardier. Unfortunately, out crew never did have their
picture taken together.

12--Up early. Went down o fly but didn't because bombaridier

wasn't there. Corrected a facility chart. [T have no idea

what that is now.] Saw another movie. Stayed there until 11:45.

Ate at mess hall behind barracks. Heard lecture by #ing com-

mander in RAF on position flying. Went to turret school for

little over an hour.

Sunday, 13--Got up at 12:25. Swept and mopped the floor. Ate

in a hurry and went to show. Saw "Madame Curie”. Good picturs.

Raipied and sizeted. Went to chapel. I played organ. Ate

breakfast with crew. Past 1:30.
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14--Formation at 11:40. Went to carbine range. Almost missed

bus. Had PT. Went down to fly at 6:30. No ships. Corracted

facility charts again., Got checked out in turrets. Saw movies.

Our crew got ship at 11:00. Command set not working right and

What a

then I messed it up. We didn't fly. Ate breakfas:.

day! Nelson was drunk in afterpoon and piloit bawled him out.

Crawford left earity and came back to sleep.

15--Had G.I. party. Cleaned barracks good. 12:40 formation,

Had lecture on carbine rifle and then field stripped the gun.

Had P.T. Went to show after hurried dinner. Saw "Lifeboat".

Clear dayv rather cold.

16--Went to briefing. As usual no flying. Saw movies and cor-

rected facility sheet. Got told off by the tactical officer

for being late at carbine range. Pilot had Lo stay with me.

As I recall this incident I missed roll call at a formation
because I waited for mail call. The mail clerk would read off
the letters alphabetically,so I got my mail and then hurried to
the formation. The tactical officer thought at first I had missed
the formation and dressed me down for being AWOL. When I proved
that I had attended he spent about five minutes on the matter
of being prompt. His English was ﬁoor but he was right. I should
have been on time. After we walked out Rowe asked me if I had
had enough of a reprimand and I said I had. Having my pilot
theré was more embarassing than the lecture I received.

Got pass and went to town. Got ride in truck to Ft. Worth. I

drove part way. Truck driver, Mr. Daltom, invited gg Lo his house.
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Ate dinner there.

One of the girls I knew at the Conservatory, Geneva Davis,
lived in Ft. Worth. After dinner at Mr. Dalton's house he let
me use the phone to call all the Davises in the phone book.
After about thirty calls some man said that Geneva had gone to
Houston on a visit. I never did know if that was the person I

knew as I have never seen her since then.

He drove me to town. Went to service club. Stayed there all

night.
18--Stayed in bed until 1:00. Walked around the city. Got six

rides in going to Dallas. Almost went to Denton but changed ny

mind. Went to show. Saw "His Butler's Sister". Good entertain-

ment. Went to bus station. 3 of my crew members drunk. Got back

Io base at 5:15. Ate breakfast. Cold today without overcoat.

19--Formation at 11:40. Lipe armament shop for an hour. I

cleaned guns. Went to chapel. Practiced organ. Went to P.T.

Had meeting with crew. We were assigned to fly to K.C. but the

weather was bad so we just stayed in ship for an hour. Saw a

couple of good movies about the war. Left at 10:00.

This was a mission with great expectation. I figured if we
could take off the weather might close down and we would have to
land in Kansas City. It came close to happening but not close
enough. It would have been fun to show K.C. to the crew.

Sunday, 20--Had physical inspection and yellow fever shot.

Cleaned some more guns and heard lecture on identification of

ships at sea. Listened to radio. We finally flew bombing
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mission but quit early. Didn't drop bombs. Door came off ball

turret. Radio net messed up. Cleaned briefing room. Ate break-

fast.

Rowe'slog lists B~17F local 3:45 and my flight record concurs.

21--Cleaned barracks and latrine. Formation at 12:40. Lectures

on guns (oil buffer group and cover group). Had P.T. Ate and

went to show with crew. Saw "Jane Eyre". Good picture but seemed

to lack something.

22--Up early to fly but didn't get off the ground until 8:00.

1 contacted AACS station twice. I feel like an operator now.

Heard medical lecture and then had test on position firing. Left

— — e e t————

getting dark I reversed directions and got a ride [back] to

Ardmore. Went to show.  Saw "Bomber's Moon". A poor picture.

Back to bed in barracks at 11:30.

Rowe's log reads B-17F local 4:50 as does my flight record.

23-~Crowder woke me up at 9:30. Had milk shake and went to town.

Got round trip bus ticket to Oklahoma City. Inexpensive. Wrote

home from there. Played ping pong with sailor at USO. A cadet

came in and introduced me to June Porter and his wife. We went

to the Rainbow Room and danced and drank. Went upstairs to the

Beacon Club. Quite exclusive. Followed police car to a murder,

Took bus back arriving at 4:30.

One of the distinguishing marks about combat crew members
was the bright red patch they were allowed to wear on the left
front of their uniform under their wings. It was this patch
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which caused the cadet to speak to me. He needed a date for

his wife's girlfriend. I may have been to a nightclub before but
it was the first time I had ever taken a drink. Oklahoma had a
law against buying drinks but patrons were allowed to bring a
bottle in a sack. The Rainbow Room was near the top of some
tall building and the cadet knew there was gambling up on the
next floor;so he made arrangements for us to go up. As I recall
there were slot machines there and we played a few times. The
evening was quite an experience for me but I really did nof feel
comfortable. I must admit it had more action than ﬁy nights din
Fort Worth and Dallas.

24--Sleepy. Had roll call at 11:40. Went Lo gunnery class on

maintenance. Went to dentist with part of crew. Got two teeth

filled. Got back for part of radio class. Went down Lo fly but

ships didn't come in until 8:00. They had to replace liason set

50 we didn't take off until 11:10. Rough flying. Started rain-

ing. Too much static to get into net. Got QDM. Ate breakfast.

Rowe's log: B-17F local 2:00 (night)
My flight record has 1:15 on the 24th and 0:45 on the 25th.

25--Formation at 11:10. Went down to fly but pilot had cold and

couldn't go on high altitude mission so we didn't get plane 'til

late. Taxied out and taxied back. No flying as usual. I wonder

if we will ever get all our time in. Went to PX and show with

Crawford and Nelson. Saw "Standing Room Only". Good comedy.

26~--Slept late in morning. Went to show with Crawford and Nelson.

Saw "Hey, Rookie". Punk. Went to town at 9:00. Stopped in at
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dance but didn"t daincE. Went to show and saw "Hers to Hold".

A fairly good picture. Came back to camp. Had to stand on bus.

Sunday, 27--Up at 6:45. Three hours of radioc. Went to fly but

ceiling was too low. Saw movies. Started raining. Went to

chapel. Played for services. Played organ with lieutenant,

nice time.

28--Formation at 11:40. Had code and blinkers and lecture on

Q signals. Cleaned guns. Had PT achievement test--66 sit-ups.

Flying again. Easy tonight. 16 contacts in four hours. Sort

of rough. Ate breakfast.

Rowe's log: local 4:40 (night) Same on my FR.

29--Our crew was standby for high altitude gunnery mission. Did

get a ship and go on a bombing mission at 9000 ft. Got 9 con-

tacts in little over two hours. Tired. Flying is quite tire-

some. Ate big dinner. -Went to show with Crawford. Saw

"Phantom Lady". Good thriller.

Rowe's log: B-17F local 3:00 Same on my FR

March 1--Formation at 7:10. Took code for awhile. Got paid $§123.15.

That's a lot. Went to dentist with crew. Major checked my

teeth and all OK. Went on long bombing mission. Flew in for-

mation. Had radio hatch open. I about froze. Flew at 9000 fr.

over Little Rock and Tulsa. Didn't have to transmit. Wént to

show with Nelson and Crowder. Saw "Frisco Kid". I'm going to

have to stop going to so many shows.

Rowe's log: B-17F Little Rock, Ark., Muscogee, 0kla.5:10
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Formation 13 ships. My flight record says 5:10 also. Muscogee
and Tulsa are about 40 miles apart. Maybe we flew over both.

2--Down at briefing room at 6:30. Standby crew again. Saw

war movie for the second time. Had PT at 2:00. Went to show and

saw "Broadway Rhythm" with Crawford.

3--Had PT at $0:00. Played ping pong with Sanborn, the navi-

gator. I beat him. Went down to fly but out crew didn't get a

ship. Rained. Got malt with Crawford. Went to USO camp show.

Heard two singers, a piano player, Miss Iturbi, and a dancer.

Got milk shake with Maurer.

4--Up early. Only four crews flew. We were supposed to go to high

altitude but bad weather. Flew formation at 2500. Cold even

there. It got rough and I got sick. Felt better after we landed.

Laid around barracks during afternoon. Went to town at about

8:00 with Maurer. Went to show. Saw "Claudia". Got a big steak.

Stopped at dance for awhile. Tired as usual.
Rowe's log: B-17F local 5:40 formation 4 ships
My flight record has 5:40 but wrong date of March 5th.

Sunday, 5--Went to church service. First time in the morning

service since I've been in Ardmore. Had good dinmner. Standby

crew so we didn't fly. Had talk about radio logs. Went to

organ recital at chapel. HeardLt. Cass.

6--Up early for morning flight. OQur crew excused. Got pass to

Tulsa. Went to town at 8:15 and got round trip bus ticket to K.C.

Rode with Paul Smith as far as Oklahoma City. Went to Katz Drug

store and USO. Rode on after five hours there. Ate at Tonkawa.
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Changed buses again at Wichita. One hour layover.

7--Arrived in K.C. at 8:00. Nobody at station so I called home.

Vivian and Mother at train station. I took street car there to

see them. Ate breakfast at home. Took Vivian to work. Stopped

by school. Saw alot of people.‘(Ate lunch with Mother at Bluebird

Cafeteria.) Ate pot luck dinner at Criterion [Sunday School class]

dinner. Went to USO and got two tickets and ome box seat ticket

for philharmonic concert. Heard Beethoven's 4th and a Mozart

violin concerto. ~ Also a number by Gardner Read and Romeo and

Juliet Overture. Got hamburgers and went to bus station. Bus

left at 11:55. I had stay of 16 hours [in K.C.]. I guess it was

worth while.

A pass was only supposed to be good for 200 miles so I got
the pass for Tulsa which was just about the limit. M.P.'s checked
the train stations,so I took a bus and had no trouble. I remember
giving up my seat on the street car for an old lady. If our
mission to K.C. had not been cancelled we might have landed in
K.C. on Feb. 19th and I would not have felt the need to go home.
It was a full day and a memorable omne.

8--Changed buses at Wichita and Oklahoma City. Got back to base

at 6:15., Formation at 6:40. Down to briefing room. Saw movies.

Our crew didn't fly as usual. The tech sergeant said I was a

good operator. Quite tired. Ate breakfast.

9--Got up at 10:30 for inspection for mumps. Cleaned barracks

wife at PX. All the combat crews restricted to barracks. Went
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Lo briefing again but nmo flying. Saw some good movies on the

infantry. Ate breakfast with crew.

10--Cleaned latrine. Got another typhus shot. As usual went

down to fly but ceiling was too low. Stayed in radio shack for

awhile. Saw some more movies. Getting tiresome. Ate breakfast.

l11--Put new doors on barracks. Woke me up. Went on gunnery

mission. I fired from waist gun. The instructor pilot was

very unhappy about our crew. We wern't gg' the ball. Went to

show with Crawford. Saw "The Curse of the Cat People" and "My

Best Gal". The first not bad but the second sort of smelled.

Rowe's log: B-17F local 1:55 Air to ground gunnery.
My FR lists 2:00. I wonder who was piloting the plane the last

five minutes.

Sunday, 12--Early £light. Rode 1% hours and landed due to

weather. After two hours went up again. I didn't do so good.

Went to chapel with Crawford. Good service.
Rowe's log: B-17F local 3:10. My flight record only lists-
2:10.

13--Woke us up early for inspection which they didn't have.

Went to PT. Went over obstacle course. Didn't have time to

eat lunch. Went down to fly. Went on high altitude mission.

Command transmitter out--later liason transmitter didn't work.

Got pretty cold. Flew with hatch off. Ate dinner after 8:00 ?.M.

Went to PX and got black cow with Maurer.

Rowe's log: .-B-17F local 5:35 Formation 2 ships. My

flight record records no more flights in March.
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14--0On early mission but weather never opened up. Saw movies

on first aid in planes. Had physical inspection. Went to show

with part of crew. Saw "Bridge of San Luis Rea". Good picture.

Had long talks about everything.

l15--Stayed in beJuntil 10:30. Started raining and rained all

day. Walked down to briefing room in rain. Didn't have to stay.

Got wet. Went to show as usual. Saw "Stage Door Canteen" for

the second time. Will probably fly tomorrow.

16--Early mission but as usual--the ceiling was too low. Cor-

rected a facility chart. The crew went out o the ship and had

a talk. Practiced ditching. 35 seconds it took us. Crowder's

wife coming to town. Half the crew went to hear lecture on

venereal disease. Ate i a hurry and went to show. Saw "Tender

Comrade"”. Worthwhile seeing. Went Lo town. Got pineapple soda.

Stopped at "USO.
17--Had captain sign pass to g0 to Denton. Stopped by chapel and

saw chaplain. Ate and went to town. Hitchhiked to Denton. Rode

to Gainsville with a funny guy who was trying to divorce his wife.

After arriving in Denton I walked over and visited Jean Glass.

Jean Glass was another of my Conservatory classmates. The school
at Denton had been the Texas State College of Women but became

North Texas State. I'm not sure which it was in 1944. She took

me around the campus of her college. Went t a recital at her

school. A fellow fraternity member played the organ. Good re-

cital. Walked uptown and ate again. Took her home and then got

myself a room. Nice bed.
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18--Got up at 9:00. Wandered around town. Called Jean up and

went to see her again. Ate at the cafe in the school. Nice

meal. Came back on bus. Lt. Collins and Lt. Sanborn on bus.

Rained. Went down to briefing room. Saw part of movie. Got

released zarly. Had fights with Maurer. Fun.

Sunday, 19--Woke up a2t 8:00. Cold. Snowed some today. Met

Bil]

Pope &t PX and went to town. Went to First Orthodox Bap-

tist Church and SS. Nice people there. Samg in choir. Ate

dinner in town and went to show. Saw "Around the World”. Went

Lo briefing but got let go early. Went to show with Maurer.

Saw "The Purple Heart". Good movie.

20--Briefing at 6:00. Took off at 8:00. Flew over Amarillo and

Hutchison and landed at Delhart, Texas. Our crew had case of coke

and sandwiches. Just like a picnic. Took off again and flew at

16,000 back to Ardmore. Ten hours of flying altogether. I made

two AACS contacts. Pilot used liason as command set. Tired.

Ate and talked. Had milk shake at PX.

Rowe"s log: B-17F Amarillo, Tex., Hutchinson, Kan., Delhart,
Tex. 10:00 formation 3 ships

21--Formation at 12:10. Didn't get up much before then. Raining.

Saw movie. Had another fun fight with Maurer. Didn't get much

done today. Still owe 23 letters.

This is the second time I mention a fun fight with Maurer.
I cannot recall what it was all about but it was evidently fun.
22--Got up early in order to fly. Was down gglbriefing room at
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6:00. Came back to barracks and slept all morning. Went back

at 11:30. Dismissed until 2:00. Ate and talked with Nelson and

Maurer at PX. Started crew on learning code. Through at 5:00.

We thought it would be a good idea for the crew to learn
Morse code. As near as I can recall Crawford continued working

on it longer than anyone else.

23--Started ground school again. Had Jam Handy and five hours of

communications. Had an hour on ditching procedure. Went to show.

Took Maurer and Mac. 3Saw "See Here, Private Hargrove". C section

had formation. Went on 24-hour alert. Surprise! Saw Crowder's

wife. Crew was processed at 2:00. Got pair of gloves and over-

coat. Signed statement of charges for pair of socks. To bed

after 5:00.

24--Up at 10:00. Went down to fly. Was Lo go in formation but

our ship was grounded. Got another and went on high altitude

bombing mission. Only dropped two bombs. Bombardier not feeling

good. My pants and helmet were misplaced so 1 had to hold my

oxygen mask in place. Went to PX with Maurer.

Imagine this happening‘in combat!
Rowe's log: B-17F local 3:45 high alt bombing

25--Farly mission. Almost didn't get ship. Flew altitude for-

mation over Shreveport,La. 32nd state [I have been in]. Rough

riding. Wore me out. Went to lecture on malaria. Started fire

in stove. Cooler.

Rowe"s log: B-17F Shreveport, La., Monroe, La. 5:15
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Sunday, 26--On gunnery mission. I fired from left waist and

tail. Rough flying especially one big dip. Tired. Went to

PT. Played volley ball. Went to chapel. Heard Chaplain

Phillips. Wind blowing.

The big dip came while I was on my knees in the tail., I
was glad I did not have to ride there all the time. The radio
room was more stable.

Rowe's log: B-17F local, air to ground gunnery & instru-

ment calibration 4:45

27--Slept 'til after 11:00. Had formation for clean up at 1:00.

Policed area and raked ground. Down to briefing. We were the

only crew that didn't fly. Stayed around 'til 11:00. Cleaned

briefing room, Ate breakfast with crew.

28--Raining when we got up. Went to briefing. N¢ flying. Saw

movies. Went down to communications officer to see about state-

ment of charges for throat mike., Went to show with Crawford.

Saw "Chip off the old Block™. Fun. Wind blowing hard.

One incident remains in my mind and I have thought of it a
number of times. We were often flying rather lengthy missions
and occasionally a gunner would come into the radio room and
stretch out and take a nap. I recall one time when McIntyre
did this, and we suddenly hit an air pocket. I looked over at
him and he was a foot and a half off the floor and still sleep-
ing. I knew he would get a big bang out of waking up.

As I reread this it does seem that our crew did not fly
very often during our time at Ardmore. Out of the 82 days we
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vere at this station we only flew omn 24 days, about 29% of the
days. We were together albt during those days, but as I look
back now we had almost a minimum amount of training in the air.
We did fly six of the last eight days of March and this was more

similar to what we came to expect when we got to combat.

29--Captain woke us up at 10:30 and told us there was a forma-

tion at 11:00. Later he told us to g0 straight to briefing so

¥e got to eat. Only Crawford and I were the only enlisted men

out of our crew there. We went on high altitude mission in

formation. Got alot of contacts. Ate and went to USO at theater.

Nice flying today.

Rowe"s log: B-17G Bryant, Tex., Beaumont, Tex. 5:45

30--Went to supply Lo sign statement of charges but they advised

me to get a report of survey. That will save me about $30.00.

Got new coveralls and hat. Goveralls too big 50 I traded with

Zima [radio operator on crew 24]. Got report signed. Flew at

high altitude again in formation. Good ride. Went to show.

S5aw "Lady in the Dark™, Technicolor.

Rowe's log: B-17F 5:05

31--Just in time to get paid. Got $90.25. Not bad. Got a

couple of milk shakes. Told us at formation that we would be

parade tomorrow. Stopped in to see chaplain, Only five on our

crew went with three others. Flying again over Houston. I

used command and talked to other planes. Good day on radio.

Cold at high altitudes. Went to town with Crawford and got

steaks. Back after 12:00.
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Rowe's log: B-17F Houston, Tex. 5:30

In adding up the hours I flew which are not on my flight
record I find I should have an additional 45:40 for the month of
March in addition to the 15:00 listed. However, on the April
listing I find that 45:45 was listed for the previous month,
‘but it was not added to the total. I know it must have been
hard to keep track of flying time for everybody.

April 1--On formal parade for general. Went down to fly second

pPeriod. Sat around in briefing room. Two crews didn't fly and

¥¢ were one of them. Gave some code to Crawford and Sanborn.

Bill Pope came over. Went to PX and walking on the line. Got

caught in the rain.

Sunday, 2--Woke us up early but it was raining and 4 didn't

think we would fly. When they said we would I was tog. sleepy.

Told them I was going on sick call. Actually did go. Went to

town with Bill Pope. Late in getting to Baptist Church. Ate at

Qasis. Back to base for PT. Went Lo show with Maurer. Saw "The

Heavenly Body". Late again.

Maybe an explanation is due for my behaviour on this date.
I remember that I was really tired and just wanted to sleep. I
.had been in the army for over a year, and I knew I needed to
cover myself whenever a formation is missed. I reported to sick
call and was probably given an aspirin. I expect a more realistic
reason for not going to work was that it was Sunday which I always
felt should be a day of rest. One time as a boy I was honored in
church for having attended sunday School for twelve years without

30



an absence. I expect my record actually extended for a few more
years. It thus seemed proper to attend church on Sunday. That
is not always possible in the army, although I believe I did
attend church quite often, or at least as often as I could.

Some things are more important than attending church. Perhaps

I had not learned that then.

3--Al1 daj trip. Left early and flew to Galveston. Landed and

ate lunch. Went on gunnery mission firing air to air. I fired

right waist. Got five AACS contacts. Stopped again .at Galves-

ton. Went through a B-24. Arrived back after dark. Quite tired.

Rowe's log: B-17F Galveston, Tex. 10:55 high altitude
gunnery. My flight record: 10:55.

4--Slept a little later this morning. Went before tact. officer

for missing formation Sunday. [Since I had reperted to sick call

I was excused.] Went o supply and got pants, oxygen mask and 2

helmets in place of the ones that were stolen. That's better

than signing a statement of charges. Got mask fitted. Went to

town. BSaw Lt. Rowe and his wife. Had picture taken with her.

Saw Nelson and Maurer. Had picture taken with Rowe and Stewart.

Bought some socks and a tie. Ate dinner and went Lo show. Saw

"Moon over Burma". Had a good time in town. Came back fairly

early.

5--Started ground school again. Had five hours of communicatiomns,

one of aircraft rec and one of position firing. Don't learn

much at school. Went to PT. Physical fitness test again. Ate

and went to town with Nelson and Crawford. Saw "Escort Girl".
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On the back of the first picture Rowe has written:

"Taken in Ardmore, Okla. April 1944 Johnny and some girl he
picked up. (It happens to be my wife, and I had to keep an
eye on them 'cause she went for his long eye-lashes.)"

The second photo is taken in front of the First National
Bank in Ardmore. From left to right--Sgt. Anderson, Sgt.

Maurer, Mrs. Rowe, Lt. Rowe, Sgt. Nelson, and Lt. Stewart.
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Not much of a picture. Went to USO and had records made to send

home and to school. Came back on bus. May be last time I'm in

town.

6--Ground school in the morming. Had chemical warfare. Learned

about incendiary bombs. Part of an hour on radio. Went down

to briefing room. Got ship 890Z to go on bombing mission. Took

them over an hour to get plane ready. After getting to 20,000

one engine went out. Came back to field but it was closed. Told

to land anyway. Landed crgsswind and almost cracked up. Went

off runway. Good pilot. Minimum amount of damage done. Went to

show with Nelson and McIntyre. Saw "Cover Girl". Good picture.

After 1:00.

The date in Rowe's log is wrong. Nothing is listed on April
6th but on April 7th, when we did not fiy, is listed: B~17F
local 2:25. No record of flying on my flight record.

After this mission I believe the crew had much more confi-
dence in our pilot. We had to assume emergency positions for
the landing, and when we all walked away from the landing I think

we all felt more secure in the knowledge that we had an outstand-

ing pilot.

7/-—-7:40 formation. Went to ground school for two hours and then

they called it off. Had two milk shakes. Had captain talk to

radio men about complaints. Went into town and was picked up at

USO by Mr. & Mrs. Crawford, [They are the parents of Halcomb

Crawford, nicknamed "Chow", who was a classmate of mine at the

Conservatory.] Spent the evening talking. An enjoyable time.
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Came back at 11:30. Nelson, Maurer, and McIntyre came in

drunk. What a crew! Made alot of noise. Ate breakfast.

8——-Another formation at 7:40. Were told about leaving. Got

packed and got bags out'gg the street. Helped load trucks

with officers' bags. Got clearance papers filled out. Got

backage of candy from home. Cleaners didn't have my uniform

so I had to go in town and get it. Used Bill Pope's pass.

Went to dance at auditorium after going to show and seeing

"The Phantom of the Opera" again. Danced with girl I met at

church. Nice girl.

Faster Sunday, 9--Up at 5:00. Turned in bedding. Went over

to see Bill Pope. Formation at 7:00. Got on train and left.

It has been a nice stay here and I liked the camp. Played games

with Maurer. Ate two meals on train. Stopped at Eldorado, Kan.

awhile ago. Wish I could have gone to church today.

My father died the day after Easter in 1943 and in 1944 T
am sure he was on my mind.

Thus ends this phase of training. I believe the crew had
become a more effective team in the last few days at Ardmore.
Training was slow at first, but in the last couple of weeks we
had more intense guidance and practice and were better able to
concentrate on the tasks at hand. Training was not over; we
had training even after we had flown some missions. But this

was an end to the first phase of our training as a unit.
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Chapter Three
Enroute to Combat
Ten men had trained together for almost three months.
Next we are sent to the staging area in Nebraska and thence
to the east coast and overseas. This period of time takes
less than two months.

April 10~-Still on train. Uncomfortable sleeping. Finally

arrived at Kearney, Nebraska. Raining. Got assigned to bar-

racks and ate lunch. Went to war room and had lectures on what

we were to do here, Talked about our pay. Went to signal office

and telephoned home. Put call in at 7:30 and finally talked to

Mother at 10:15. She thinks she is coming to see me.

11--Up after 8:00. Picked up baggage and went to processing.

- —
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of shoes, flying boots, 6 pairs of socks, flashlight, mosguito

net, oxygen mask and wrist watch. Went through all my records.

Had to stencil clothes. Ate lunch after 3:00. Started packing

but didn't get much dome. Went to town with most of crew and

met Vivian and Mother at hotel. Introduced five of the crew

to them. Went to USO. Played ping pong and danced with Vivian.

Taiked. Walked home with them. Cold out. Snowing this morn-

ing but melted in afternoon. Heard Maurer and Nelson bringing

McIntyre in,

12--Tired. Went to radio school and had review. After lunch

1 Jjust checked in and then assorted some of my stuff. Went to

war room for some more.lectures and films. Ate and went to town
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with Crawford and Musolf [engineer on Crew 26]. Met folks at

hotel again. Introduced Rowe and Stewart to them. Ate dinner

QE hotel. Went to USO. Played ping pong with Vivian. Talked.

Lady at USQ took us riding around the town. Brought me out to

the base. I got them inside to take me to barracks. Said good-

bye to Vivian,

The people who worked at the USO were always nice to us
soldiers. They did their part for the war effort. I remember
that gas was rationed, so the ride was a nice gesture on the
part of a stranger.

13--Went to see films but didn't stay awake all the time. Called

Mother and had her come out to the base. Went to service club

and spent all day talking with her. Ate at civiiian mess hall.

Went to hear lectures on prisoners of war and escaping from Ger-—

many. Went to town with Mother and met Mrs. Yarnmell. Went down

to train station and talked. Rained. Came back on bus. Tired.

Will be the last time I will see Mother for a long time,

I have a vague recollection of the lecture about prisoners
of war. The army tried to prepare us for any eventuality.

14--Physical inspection in morning. Signed payroll. Went to

lecture at 1:00 on a little bit of everything. Ate at service

club. Went to show with Crowder. Saw "Knickerbocher Holidav".

A very poor show. Raining. Plaved cards with fellows.

15--Stayed in bed until noon. Ate at service club. Went to

show with Nelson and Crowder. 8Saw "Crash Dive". Better. Went
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o town with Maurer and Nelson. Ate a steak supper. Went to

USO. Danced with Deloras. Went to show. Saw "Passage to Mar-

seilles”. (Came back to base at 2:30. I wonder when we are

leaving.
Sunday, 16--Went to church. Sat with Lt. Sanborn. Went to town

with Maurer. Ate dinner with Ray and Mildred, his friends. Came

back early.)

17--Got paid $10.00. Bought 10 pks. of gum and box of candy. -

Went to talk about what we were to do tomorrow. Ate at service

club as usual. Finished packing.

It had rained almost constantly. The group ahead of us had
been assigned their planes but couldn't take off due to the bad
weather. With another group coming in they had to get rid of us.
I had looked forward to flying across the ocean but it was not to
be. OQur crew never really had a plane all to ourselves.

18--Got rid of baggage and bedding. Went to service club. Wrote

home. Got on train at noon. Headed east. Sleeper with three

decks. A little rougher riding but nicer 8leeping. Played cards

with crew all afternoon. Went to QgﬁgE 9:00 somewhere in Iowa,

My mother saved all my letters for the next year. I'll
include the portions which seem to be of interest now.
April 18, 1944
Two other groups are going with us. They didn't get to go
into town once while they were here. OQur group has been here the
longest of any combat men here now.
We were able to buy one box of 24 candy bars so T bought a

box of Powerhouses. Maurer and Crawford got Hersheys, but I have
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two big bars of Hershey. 2also bought ten packs of gum which
is the limit. I'll be well supplied for awhile.

We loaded all our bags on the truck this morning soO now
we just have to wait until noon. We will eat lunch before we
go. I'm at the service ciub now waiting for the PX to open at
9:00. I want to get a haircut before T leave.

We had a big snow here yesterday so it is quite wet out
today. Every time we move the weather is bad.

I went into town for the last time Sunday evening. Maurer
and I ate with another sergeant and his girl friend at the Rain-
bow Cafe. We couldn't find much doing in town so we came back
early.

The PX had some film for sale the other day with a limit of
ocne r&ll to each person. I got two with Nelson's help and I may
want you to send the camera to me after I get across. They deon't
allow you to take a camera but it can be sent to you. We still
havn't got a picture of the crew yet.

19--Did nothing but play cards all day long. Had good meals.

Took a nap. Went to bed early again. Went through Chicago and

went to bedin Ohio.

20--Woke up in Maryland after going through Pittsburgh. Went

through Washington, D.C., Baltimore, Philadelphia, Wilmington,

and part of Trenton. Played cards and read same as Xgéterday.

Arrived at Camp Kilmer in New Jersey after 7:30. Had Lo have

physical inspection. Ate big dinner. Went after sheets. It

seems like a big camp.
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21 -~Woke up around 7:30. Laid all equipment out on bed and had

inspection. Turned in a bunch of stuff. Got gas mask and had

it fitted in gas chamber. Went to PX and had pint of ice cream

with Crawford. Ate dinner. Rainmed. Had lecture on security.

Got guartermaster supply again. I certainly have alot of stuff.

22--Had final gquartermaster inspection. Went to PX warehouse

and got knife and gun. Got new flying trousers. Had practice

on escaping from a sinking ship. Heard lecture on lifeboats.

Went with officers, Lt. Stewart and Lt. Sanborn, and got pair

of low cut shoes. Finished packing. Wrote home. Mac and

Addison [gunner on crew 24] got in fight. Ate ice cream this

evening. May be last for awhile.

April 22, 1944

I don't have time to write much and even if I did I could-

n't say much. I'll write again next week and make vp for this
time. I'll use V-mail next time.
The noon meal was good today. Almost every meal is pretty

good. I wouldn't mind if they kept that up all the time. I
went to the PX and had a pint of ice cream this evening. My
engineer is mail clerk and since he is leaving soon I'11 quit
now. Don't you worry because I'm OK and never felt better in
my life, |

{Note enclosed: Please send me a bok‘of candy. with my sig-
nature and serial number. ]

Sunday, 23--Put pack on my back. Went to chapel service with

Crawford. Too late to eat dinner. Raining. Went by train
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and ferry to boat Arowa. Got doughnuts and candy bars before

embarking. Got bunk which I guess is about the best on the boat.

Getting on board the English boat we probably looked like
infantrymen. There was a group of infantry soldiers on board
with us and they seemed like a rough bunch of guys. I remember

hearing them say how much they disliked their commanding officer.

24--What a day! Woke up at 6:00 first. Got up at 7:15. Ate

breakfast, all we had was half a loaf of bread. Tug boat pulled

us out a ways. Started on trip. I was first one to get dizzy,

Feel best when lving down. Had a couple of emergency drills.

Wandered around boat some. Wish I were on dry land. I hate

this rocking.

25--Boat rocked more than ever. I didn't get up for breakfast.

Had to go on deck for inspection at 10:00. Stayed there for 2%

hours then came back and got rid of everything inside me. Got

up and ate an orange and half a potato at 5:00. Washed mess

kit out upstairs. Tired of lying on bumk but that is better

than being up. Not quite S0 hot here this afternoon. Foggy

outside at noon. I'm a landlubber. The sooner this is over

the better I will like it.

26--Felt better today. Ate some for breakfast and went up on

deck at 10:00. Sunned myself for awhile. Took a nap during

afternoon. Ate a bigger supper. Only two meals a day. Talked

to one of the boat crew members. Played cards with my crew.

my sack time., I

Not much to do. I'm sure catching up o

hope the sea is calm again tomorrow.
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27--Another good day. They got us up at 7:00. Lost an hour

during the night or gained one depending on how you look at it.

Didn 't eat any breakfast. Stayed on deck for about three hours.

Colder today. Played cards and took a nap during afternoon.

Ate big dinner. Played some more cards. To bed at 10:30.

Getting used to boat riding.

28--Didn't eat much for breakfast. Ate alot of cookies. Had

drill at 10:00. Played cards rest of morning. Took a nap in

afternoon. Didn't sleep much but did alot of thinking. What

will I do when I come back? I had better start making plans.

Ate big dinner. Went upon deck and stood by rail and talked

with Maurer. Read some. Gain an hour at midnight tonight so

we must be halfway.

29~--Same old thing. Didn't eat breakfast. Went up on deck

and played cards - with McIntyre and Lt. Sanborn. Started

sprinkling so had to quit. Came back inside and played awhile.

Dinner nothing out of the ordinary. Got picked for detail to-

morrow morning after almost missing it by acting asleep. Read.

Sunday, 30--Had egg for breakfast. Went to church service with

Maurer. Only two songs and two pravers. Like the major told

me today while looking at New Testaments, "I ought to have one

of those but not now. I'm too busy."” Read. Had good dinner.

Wrote home. Let Addison read my New Testament. Nice day today.

Feel good.

. [April 30, 1944] V-mail postmarked May 15th
Time passes so slowly here on the boat that I thought T
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would write now instead of waiting 'til I got across. The
voyage has been very pleasant so far although I was seasick
at first. I'm used to it now and feel like a regular veteran.
On board here we only get two meals a day but that suffices
for now. I've been getting a lot of sleep and so far have
been lucky in getting out of all the working details. We
have Pepsi-colas, candy bars and cookies from the PX on the

ship so I'm getting along all right. They hand out cigarettes

every day and today we got a candy bar. The Red Cross has
coffee and doughnuts for us before we got on the ship. fThis
morning I went to the church service on board. There was a

big crowd there. I guess you ought to get this arocund Mother's
Day so I hope you have a good dinner and a good day.

May i--Poor breakfast. The dinner meal is the only good meal.

Went on deck. Rather cloudy today. Played cards on deck with

fellows. Slept some during afternoon. Played cards after dinner.

Don't get much accomplished. I wish I had something good to

read. The water has been calm today. What a life!

As I recall the eggs we had for breakfast were usually
green which made them unappetising. The ocean voyage was boring.

2--Again I ate no breakfast. After boat drill I helped clean the

latrine. I washed the floors. Had calisthenics in afternoon.

Played cards with Crawford after dinner. Was latrine guard

from 7 to 10. Tiresome. Getting colder and windier.

3--The day passed about the same as usual. I went after break-
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fast and then only ate one egg. Washed the pans afterwards.

Colder out today. Got Red Cross packet with alot of things in

it. Read most of a murder mystery. Must be getting close to

our destination. I havn't seen a woman for a long time. I

hope they have some good omes in England.

4--The sea was much rougher today. After breakfast I was on

detail cleaning'gg our compartment. Talked with Lt. Stewart

for quite awhile. Crawford got me a cup of tea. Took a nap.

Got up for dinmer. Went up on deck with Crowder. The boat is

really rocking and rolling. I'm surprised I'm not sick. The

sea is quite rough.

Some of the crew members were on the detail of helping
serve the officers tea in the afternoon. They would sneak out
with some ceockies which were about the best things we had to eat.

5--Sighted Ireland today. Looked good. The sea was calmer.

Cold weather. Read most of afternoon. After dinner I went

out on deck with Crawford. Saw the sunset over the hills of

Ireland. Part of Scotland was visible too. The journey is

just about over. It hasn't been 50 bad but it was longer than

I thought it would be. Set [clocks] up an hour last night and

one more tonight.

It was comforting to see land again. Once during the
voyage it was reported that a sub was sighted. We kept watch
but never saw it. Some of the smaller boats in our convoy would
go completely under the waves and then pop back up. It was

fascinating to watch them.
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6--Arrived at last at Liverpool, England. Got in around 1:45

P.M. Band of bagpipers and brass band played. Enjoyed watch-

ing from deck. Disembarked at 3:30. Got on train and went to

replacement center I think near Stone. The countryside is cer-

tainly nice. I like England better than I thought I would.

Ate some "K" rations. Have nice sleeping quarters. Had talk

with crew members about dogs and animals. The people have

treated us fine so far.

Sunday, 7--Up for reveille. Ate breakfast and went with crew to

church but we were too late. Read. After dinner had lengthy

argument about the English and their policies. Went to orienta-

tion lecture and movie. After supper went to evening devotional

service. Went to social center. Read. Played organ awhile.

Wrote home. Full moon tonight. Very nice.

The movie featured Burgess Meredith and told us how to get
along with the English. We did not believe what he said about
women accosting us is we went to London. We thought it was a
big joke, but if turned out to be accurate. We also had a
pamphlet to read which was interesting. I think the army did
alot to indoctrinate us into the ways of the British.

Last letter continued:

I*l1 be thinking about you. I'1ll write as often as I can when

I arrive.

P.5, The crew and I have bunks instead of the hammocks most of
them have. The officers sleep in hammocks except Lit. Rowe. He
couldn't make it. We have good beds.
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[My recollection is that the bunks were stacked five high, little space]
May 7, 1944 postmarked ng 10th

It seems like a long time since I wrote you on the boat so
I will write again now that I have finally arrived bé:e in Englahd.
On the boat we couldn't write much, and we still are restricted
guite a bit, so I can't tell where I am exactly. But of course
ﬁngland isn't very big being about the size of Iowa. The nicest
part of this country so far is the pretty éountrgside. Almost
every field is_fenced in by a row of bushes or trees or hedges
and everything is so green. You can't imagine it until you see
it. The trains have the funniest looking cars, especially the
freight trains. The cars are real small, and it looks like a
toy train from a distance.l We have seen a couple charcoal trucks,
Bobby (English policeman), and alotlof bicycles. Everybody must
ride'bicycles here. So far the people have been very friendly.
I havn't been out of camp yet. We arn't stationed permanently
yet but probably will be in a few days. Wbefe we are now 1s the
nicest place we've ever had in the army. There are four to a
room and the building is quite nice. We get plenty to eat, and
they have a movie every night so things are guite nice here. T
imagine we go to school from here.

When we arrived by boat there was a brass band there *o
welcome us. Also a group of bagpipe players. They were all
women, the first we've seen for a long time. They don't guite

look the same as the ones at home.
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8--Up for reveille. Didn't do much during the morming. Walked

around outside. Had physical inspection. Got some more gas

protective clothes. Watched planes buzz the camp. Went to

social center. Read. Was to be on baggage detail at 12:30.

Listened to radio until ome truck came around 2:30. Ate break-

fast with fellows from 15th air force, then went home because

baggage wasn't due 'til morning. Full moon very beautiful.

I remember the buzzing by a P-40 which flew about 15 feet
above the ground. I'm not sure what was the feason, But it
certainly looked dangerous. I think the pilot was just show-
ing off.

9--Got to stay in bed until 9:15. Rest of the fellows went on

a hike. Read. Went to calisthenics. Played baseball. Got

money changed into English currency. Sent cablegram home. Got

pass and went out with Maurer and Schwenk. Met Davis and Perry.

Walked by pub. Met a mpice girl and I had a good time. Did alot

of walking. Came back at 10:45. Still light. Stopped at one

pub and looked in. I sort of like it here but too much walking.

The girl was in the service, I believe she was a Wren, and
she gave us a good insight into a typical English woman. In our
instructive pamphlet, which we showed her, it said not to use
the word "bloody". We asked her about this, and shé said it was
not as bad as it was made out to be.

10--Up for reveille. Went to PX and got weekly rations. Most

of crew on KP. Read. Went to movies om aircraft recognition.

Skipped formation about gas masks. Took a nap and almost missed
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dinner. Had alot to eat. Went to midweek service at chapel.

Only another fellow, chaplain and myself there. Plaved cards

for awhile. I won but I'm not much of a card player.

11--Was put on headquarters detail. Took down chairs, swept and

mopped the floor and put the chairs back with Zima [radio opera-

tor on crew 24]. After lunch I practiced on the organ awhile.

Did the same detail again. Wrote home. Went to dance at theater.

Alot of girls there but they don't compare with the American

girls. I danced with a couple of them which wasn't so bad, but

they are different from what I am used to. Talked with Maurer

and Nelson from 11 to 1.

" May 11, 1944 V-mail postmarked May 19th

As yet I have not been moved from my first f[censored] but
it shouldn't be long until I am sent to [censored]. Heanwhile
I have been enjoying myself doing not much of anything. I got
a pass last Monday night and with four other fellows [went] to
see what England was like. There doesn't seem to be a straight
road anywhere and no way to travel for us except walking so we
started out. We passed a girl on a bicycle éo we stopped her
and started asking questions. We walked around with her the
rest of the evening. She told us alot about England and we told
her all about America. I rode her bike awhile. She is a Wréﬁ
which is the English egquivalent to our Wave. She had to be in
at 9:30 so we decided to come home then too. We had walked for
four hours and it was getting tiresome. On the way back every-
body we would meet would greet us by saying "Good night". It
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sounded funny at first but they say it like we do "Good evening".
We stopped at one pub but it was just closing. The room inside
wasn't any bigger than our dining room. We got back after fen
and it &as still light out. I was on a baggage detail one night
at 12:30 for some new fellows coming in but the baggage never
came. I ate a big breakfast of pancakes which were the best T
ever had in the army and went to bed at 3:00. Ny whole crew
except me were on KP [censored]. I sent a cablegram this week.
You should have it soon. The pound notes don't fit my pocketbook.
Almost [censored] is rationed anyway.

The censor struck out four words. I'm not sure of the first
word but I think the other three were:school, Wednesday, andevery-
thing. Now it can be told.

12--Arose about 4:30. Tired as usual. Got packed and set to go.

The other five went by themselves. I went with the officers. Went

from Nelson Hall to Hemel Hempstead by train. Ate "K" rations and

then had meal when I arrived. Every enlisted man was on baggage

detail. Got put in site #3 away off from anybody. Quiet except

for the plames. Had headache and didn't feel very good, I didn't

eat supper. Took a nap. Combat is not far off now.

13--Stayed in beduntil 8:00. Went to play baseball. Officers vs.

enlisted men. I played right field. Officers won. Went walking

around base withLt. Sanborn looking at trees. Stopped at their

barracks. Got caught in rain. Went Lo show and sat with Albris

[radio operator on crew 34]. Saw "Watch on the Rhine"”. Good

picture. Listened o radio and played checkers with Leibengood

[I must mean Livengood, radio operator on crew 30].
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Sunday, 14--Got up at 10:15. Went to service in chapel. Ate

chicken dinner. Went to dentist and had teeth examined. Stayed

all afternoon at Aero Club (Red Cross). Listened to radio. Much

colder today.

15-—-Went to breakfast. It was much colder today and they don't

have any heat around here. Started to school. Just about the

same as all the rest. Talked with officers. Ate supper twice.

Went to Red Cross club and listened to radio. Donald Grant of

Look magazine gave a talk to the fellows. Still cold. Didn't

do much today.

16--Had pancakes for breakfast. The meals arn't so bad around

here. Went to school., Part of it pretty interesting. There

are times when I feel extremely patriotic. Other times I'm

scared stiff. Rained off and on. Went to show after dinner.

Saw "Edge of Darkness". Fairly good. Stopped at Aenc Club.

Still cold.

17--Too late getting up for breakfast. Meals wern't too good

today. Started radio school. Took about three tests. I

think I'11 get along all right. Went to show as usual. Saw

"Footlight Serenade”. I'd seen it before. Went to Aero Club

and played ping pong with Leibengood (?). I beat 5-4. Got

something to eat. A woman was there playing piano. The fellows

sang awhile. Some people certainly do their part to the war

effort. Rained again.

18--Had pancakes for breakfast. Went to radio school. Had some

code which lowered my morale. I don't think I'll ever pass 20

WPM. Went to show after school. Saw "Somewhere I'll Find You".
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Entertaining. Stopped at Aero Club. Played ping pong with

Leibengood (!). I won 2-1.

19--Not so cold. Went to school. Had Harwell Box getting

QDM's. After lunch we went flying for 1 hour and 40 minutes.

Got QDM. Plaved cards again. Went to show and saw "Sahara"f

I played more [cards].

The first day I was in the army a sergeant came in and got
a bunch of the recruits into a crap game. I lost about $5.00
and later found out that this sergeant and a confederate did
this to every bunch of new soldiers and was cleaning up alot of
money. I decided then not to gamble any more. However, on this
day some fellows were playing blackjack and I got involved. I
vas winning until the Red Cross lady came by and said gambling
was prohibited. Later, after the show; the fellows were playing
and I was reading. Each fellow that was dealing was losing and
nobody wanted to deal. They asked me to join and deal and on
the first hand I dealt myself a blackjack. We must have played
for about an houf, and I won much more money than I thought T
might. It was easy to play with pound notes and not really re-
alize thaf they were worth $4.00 each. Since I ended up a win-
ner I decided I should not participate in such a game again.

20--Had final exam on radio. Not bad. 1 ought to get a good

grade. Took 20-word code check and passed. Went to show as

usual. Saw "They Got Me Covered". Amusing. Went to Aero Club.

Ate and talked with Bill Dameron [a fellow classmate from. Ohio

that I met at gunnery school in Las Vegas].
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Sunday, 21--Colder today. Had code in morning. Went to chapel.

Sat with Lt. Sanborn. Had good dinner, Got 4 helpings. Went to

Grope trainer with navigator and bombardier. Interesting. Went to

communion. Stayed at Aero Club. Wrote home. Talked to musician

from San Diego.

Excerpts from letter home:

May 21, 1944 postmarked May 23rd

All this week I have been attending school. At present we
are living in Nissen huts which are not as comfortable as what we
did have but they are all right. We go from here to our permanent
base. I'm anxious to get settled again.

The weather this week has been alot different from what we
had the week before. They tell me this is typical English weather
and I can say right now I don't care for it. It is almost always
cloudy and usually rains at least once a day. It is too cold for
May too.

Before I left my last base I went to a dance they had at the
base. They couldn't alliow every soldier to get in so we drew tick-
ets and while I didn't get any, one of the radio operators, Lacey
from New York [creW 23], gave me his so I went to see what it was
like. I was lucky in the drawing when we got passes a couple of
days before that. Anyway, the dance wasn't much differeﬁt from
any other dance except that there were very few good-looking
women . They dance differently and are hard to understand when
talking. It is possible to get used to that after awhile. I

think I will stick to American women entirely.
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The Red Cross Club hefe is about like the service clubs.
I am inside it now eating a sandwich and drinking a "coke".
The food isn't bad after you get used to it, but the cokes are
weaker, the hot chocolate less sweeter and the sandwiches thinner
than any I have seen before. The food we get at the mess hall is
sufficient and usually gquite good. 'Everything at the PX is fa—
tioned. We get two candy bars a week, peanuts once a month. T
have a box of Powerhouses in my bag but it hasn't arrived here
pet. I also had two boxes of gum. My bag was lost somewhere
between here and my last base but T guess I will get it back. be-
fore Iong.

Bill Dameron from Ohio arrived yesterday and we had a long
talk about our experiences. He doesn't especially care for his
crew.

You should have seen the dinner we had today. I went through
the line four times and really got filled up. We had chicken,
potatoes and gravy and cern. It was all good. We eat on dishes
here which is better than eating out of mess kits.

Here is my routine for each day. I get up between 6:30 and
7:00 depending on how tired I am or how cold it is. We have no
heat in any of the buildings here. Breakfast is served up to
7:30. School goes froem 8 to noon and 1 to 5. I eat supper and
go to the show at 6:00. They have a different picture every
night and most of the pictures are old but 7 go even if I've
seen them before. At 8:00 P.M. I come to the club here and eat

and talk with the boys until 10 which is bed time, taps coming
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at 11. It is the same every day. Today, of course, I went to
church this morning and communion this afternoon. I took a
shower this evening so I'm feeling pretty good.' The other en-
listed men on the crew went to another place so I'm just with

the radio operators and the officers. They take care of me well
enough. At school I took a code check and was surprised to find
my speed is still up to 20. ﬁy grades are as high as the best in
the class.

We got paid the other day. I received 2] pounds, nine
shillings, and nine pence. I think that is equal to almost 585,
A pound is about $4.00. A half crown is equal to our 50¢ piece.
Shillings are worth about 20 cents and a penny 1is equal to 2¢ in
our money. There are 12 pennies in a shilling, 20 shillings in
a pound. Rather confusing at first but I think I understand it
now. Tbére isn't much to buy anyway.

Vivian, you will be interested to know that the book of
stories by Damen Runyon that you gave me has been read by about
20.people since then. My whole crew like the stories. When we
got a Red Cross package on the boat another group of stories by
him was included in Crowder's bag so we all read that book too.
His stories are all interesting.

The navigator and I went for a walk last week around the
camp. He majored in forestry and had alot of botany so I learned
alot about the trees and Fflowers a?ound here. There are alot of
hollg.trees with the leaves you see at Christmas time. When he
he gets his masters' he is going to write his thesis on ecclogy
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(look it up, I know what it is)}.

Well, I had better quit and go back to my sack (army slang
for bed). I sleep with from 4 to 7 layers of blankets on me
every night. You can imagine how hard it is to get up in the
morning. Hope to hear from you soon.

22--Cold again this morning but it warmed up around nocon. Went

Lo gunnery school. Had lecture on sights and in ~gfternoon on

the machine gun. Went to show and saw "The Immortal Sergeant"

again. Fairly good picture. Got letters from home. I is good

to get mail again. It's been about five weeks.

23--Warmer today. Saw films on machine gun. Tired of school.

After lunch we started getting tests. Had aircraft recognition

test. Got part of it. More tests on the gun and sights. Went

to show and saw “Louisiana Purchase”. Funny. Talked with

Dameron.

I recall taking the aircraft reé test with the officers be-
cause I made a better grade than they did. When we started my
grade was around 40. The test here included actual films of
planes instead of drawings or still photos. I believe my last
grade was 87 which was better than three of the officers. I do
not recall Rowe being there.

24—;Had pancakes for breakfast. Went out to skeet range. Got

2 out of 16. Then to malfunction range. After lunch went back

Lo skeet range. Hit 8 this time. Through with school at 2:00,

Went to show with Zima [radio operator crew 24]. Saw "Fantasia"

again. Some different. Ate and went to Aero Club. Talked to

Dameron for a couple of hours. Lt. Rowe became lst lieutenant.
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25--Sergeant got us up early for reveille but since we didn't

get out of bed were put on detail for this evening. We shipped

out at 8:00 on truck and train. Helped with the baggage. Found

A3 bag. Stopped for awhile at Bletchly. Ate and then rode some

more. Stopped at Cambridge and ate. Finally arrived at 388th

group. Put with O'Sullivan [radio operator crew 26] in 56lst

squadron. Ate a good dinner. Quite tired. Didn't even unpack.

Crew 26 lived in the barracks next to ours. Crew 24 was
sent to the 100th Bomb Group, the hard luck group.

26--Slept 'til 9:15. Went over to headquarters. Got paper

initialed byalot of people. After lunch we were on our way to

the flight line when we saw the rest of our crew at the mess

hall. Went and fiew for about three hours. Didn't do much.

Got one QDM. Talked with the fellows quite a bit. Got settled

a little more.

Rowe's log: 388th Bomb Group B-17G 3:00
| -56lst Squadron
Knettishall, England
My flight record states: No time accomplished at this
station during this month. ‘

27--Walked around the base with the boys. Ate lunch, got BX

rations twice and went to Red Cross Club. Took a nap. Wrote

letter home. Got Lt. Sanborn to censor letter. Talked with

officers awhile. Ate midnight chow with Maurer and Nelson.

Rowe's log: 1:10 Crew did not fly.
Finally, the crew was together and we were waiting to go

into combat. However, we had more schooling coming up first.
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May 27, 1944 postmarked May 28th
As you can see I have changed stations again, but this will

be my last move for awhile. TI'nm settled again and the whole crew

is back together again. From all reports we are in the best squad-

ron and in the best group. The food is really good and we get all
we can eat. There are a number of clubs on the base, but I havn't
been in all of them yet. Right now I'm at the Red Cross Club with
Nelson, Maurer and Crawford. My address has changed and so has

my APO number. Write my new address from now on.

Lt. Rowe is a first lieutenant_noﬁ. He was the only one of
the pilots that got it out of our group I think. He is certainly
a good pilot. We went on a training flight yesterday and had
another pilot with us who thought he was exceptionally good. As
usual there is more school to attend. We start tomorrow., T go
from 9 to 9 every day this coming week with time off to eat lunch
and dinner. fThat will get tiresome too.

They have a cleaning shop on the base and it is possible to
get a civilian living on the post to do your laundry. fhings are
pretty well set up around here and we are free to do glmost any-
thing we want. This base is certainly spread out over alot of
territory.

The weather is much nicer the last two days. It is guite
warm today.

Maurer, Nelson and Crawford had their hair cut real short.

Maurer looks the worst. I havn't done it yet but I may.
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Sunday, 28--Started school. Same thing over again. It cer-

tainly gets tiresome. Warm today. I'll be glad when school is

over.

Rowe's log: 1:00 - Crew did not fly.

29--Told us at 8:00 we were to fly at 8:30. Then they cancelled

it. Started to school again. Class of officers and radio men.

Ate with Crawford and played checkers with him. Went to Aero

VClub. After supper went to dispensary and got tetnus shot. Sat

in the barracks and talked all evening. Didn't get anything

done. Stayed up for chow with Maurer, Nelson and McIntyre.

Rode bicycles for a couple of hours.

Rowe's log: 1:15 & 2:00 Crew did not fly.

30--School started at 9:00. More about radio work. Got rations

from PX. Heard lecture on equipment. Went to show with Crowder.

Saw "Yankee Doodle Dandy". TInteresting. Another warm day today.

The weather has been good the last few days.

Rowe's log: 3:00 Crew did not fly.

31--Another nice day. Went to school. Had Harwell and final

test on radio. Did some tuning. Helped pilots on test. Went

to lecture on tactics. Went to stage show entitled "Skirts"

with Crawford. All G.I. Pretty good show. Alot of laughs.

Getting cooler.

Rowe's log: 2:00 Crew did not fly.

June 1--Cloudy today. Saw picture on -tactics. Got more rations

from PX. Turned in helmets to be fixed. More about guns in the

afternoon. Read. Went to show. Saw "Shadow of Doubt". Wrote

home this morning.
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May 31, 1944 postmarked June 2nd

I have a few minutes before the next class so T will start a
letter and probably finish it later. School has been taking up
almost fall] my time and I am getting mighty tired of going to
school. We got out last night in time to go to the last show but
that was the first time. I saw "Yankeé Doodle Dandy” which was
bretty good. There is a stage show tonight,.

The weather has been warm the las+ Ffour days. They say it is
rare to have so much good weather at one time.

We get the Stars and Stripes every day except Sunday and the
Yank every week. They have a good library here if ever I get
time to read. |

Down at the other base I used to listen to the radio guite
often but here I havn't had much time as yet. John Charles Thomas
came on Sunday as usual and T usuvally got to hear a number of the
same programs I heard at home. I guess they were a week old but
i1t was good to hear them anyway. They have a regular broadc;sting
station for the soldiers in the ETO (European Theater of Operations).

June 1, 1944 [continued]

Got up early this morning and ate breakfast for the first
time since I've been at this base. There is an‘hour left before
school time.

No package has come as yet. I would like to have you send
me something good to eat as it would come in handy at times. We

got a can of peanuts and a can of pineapple juice in our rations

this week.
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I'm enclosing a money order for $§100 which I happened to
have lying around. Use it for anything you need if you want to.
I'll be sending money home guite often from now on. I should
have got paid yesterday but we were too late in getting here to
sign the payroll so will get paid next week sometime.

I had better sigh off for now. It is colder today and

looks 1ike it is going to rain. Doesn't seem like June.

2-~Talked with Rowe on way to school. Went out to our ship--

O0ld 66. What a ship! Rather old but I think we can make it.

Cleaned guns. Went back again in afternoon. Got equipment

together again. Maurer's brother came and visited him. Went

to dance at NCO club. May go on mission tomorrow morning. Had

shower with Mac.

Rowe's log: marshaling yards Acheres, Paris, France 6:30
12 flak holes ~ Crew did not fly. |

3-——Didn't sleep so good. Washed some clothes. Had to 8o to

school but didn't do much. Had skeet shooting. Got 11 out of

25. Ate dinner twice with Mac. Went to library and loocked at

magazines. Played piano at Red Cross Club. My morale is low.

I guess I shouldn't think so much.

Sunday, 4--Hard getting EE;EE 7:00. Went to briefing and then |

out to ship. Got everything ready. Went on first mission to

coast of France. Not bad considering everything. Didn't

connect my whole suit so I got cold. Didn't feel any too good.

Radio was all right. Back by 4:30. Tired. Had interogation.

Ate and took a nap. Mighty tired.
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Rowe's log: Cape Gris Nez, Pas de Calais, France 4&:45
No démage, gun installations My flight record has B-17F
4:45. I wrote in later Wissant. In my diary I have written
in Boulogne. I am/Bffe why these places are indicated.

The first mission is the one you look forward to with mixed
emotions. Anxiety is certainly a part of the feelings one has,
and looking back now I see that one of the reasons that crews
are shot down in their first few missions may be due partly to
their mental attitude.

On this mission I forgot to snap my heated trousers to my
jacket. Thus when it began to get cold I turned up the reostat
on my electric suit which had a cord coming out of a sleeve. I
had to monitor my radio for five to ten minutes every half hour.
Everything was going smoothly when the order came to put on the
flak suit. This "suit" was made by two covered metal-woven flaps
snapped together at the shoulder. Getting it snapped was some-
wvhat of a problem. Then when my feet got cold and I turned up
the reostat another notch I suddenly realized that the pants were
not connected to the jacket. I debated on whether or not to take
off the flak suit, undo the parachute harness, and snap the two
garments together. Not knowing about how much flak we would en-
counter I decided to just sweat it out. And sweat is what I
started to do on my face while my feet were freezing. No wonder
I became sick to my stomach. Actually, the mission was an easy
one. The crew was tense but we survived. The hot chocolate we

got at interogation was welcome. After dinner I went straight to

bed.
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A publication which I bought recently is called The 388th at
War by Edward J. Huntzinger, published by Newsfoto Yearbooks of
San Angelo, Texas,copyright 1979. It starts with information
about the 388th Bomb Group geing activated at Boise, Idaho and
moving to Wendover Field, Utah on February 4, 1943.

"The first planes to arrive in England stayed with the 96th Bomb Group
at Snetterton-Heath until the 23rd of June [1943] when Knettishall was
officially inhabited by the 388th Bomb Group."

Their first mission was to Amsterdam on July 17, 1943. OQur
first mission to Cape Gris Nez on June 4, 1944 was mission #128
for the group. A brief description of each mission is given in
the book. Edward Huntzinger has given me permission to include
in this account the material about our missions.

"For the first of two missions on this day, the 388th furnished two
Groups which flew as lead and low in the 45th A Combat Wing formation.

"Formations were effected without difficulty and the briefed route to
the target was followed. Bombs were away at 1433 hours from 23,000 feet.
The A Group missed'the target and the B Group had a loose pattern on the
target area. Weather was better than briefed permitting visual bombing.

"Flak was moderate with two of our a/c suffering major battle damage.

"All a/c returned to base.”

After reading this I have decided we were probably in A
Group because I do not recall hearing anything about flak on
that mission. I thought it was an easy mission for the crew

despite my problems in coping with the situation.



Chapter Four
We Go to War
This was it! We were finally into combat. The next two

months were filled with high adventure and were probably the
most exciting times of our lives. Sometimes we were filled
with fear; sometimes it was like going on a milk run. At least,
it was better than fighting in the infantry in the mud. We got
up early and went to war. Hours of routine flying were suddenly
changed into a few minutes of real terror. One way or another
we seemed to come through and had a boring trip home. It was
interesting to see the different countries, but it was hard to
identify very much from our altitude. At nighttime we went to
a good bed and got a good night's sleep. All in all, it was a
delightful way to fight a war.

5--Got us up at 3:20 for briefing at 4:00. Mission wasn't too

bad. I felt alot better. Had pancakes and grapefruit Jjuice for

breakfast. A raid on Cape Griz Nez (secondary target). Got back

at 1:00. Slept 'til 5:00. Went to combat crew library. Read.

Went to show and saw”"Riding High". Enjoyed it. Got back to

barracks to hear we were to have briefing again at 11:30. Tired.

Didn't get to sleep. Ate breakfast. Rode in Sweetheart today.

Rowe's log: Cape Gris Nez, Pas de Calais, France 6:00
No damage, gun installations My FR: B-17F 6:00 I wrote in

French coast.

This mission was much less anxiety-ridden. We were a bunch

of veterans. This was an ideal way to fight a war. Six hours of
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flying time with just a few minutes of real danger where they
shoot at you, and then back to the base where we could go to

the library and a movie. We were lucky to get two missions in
before D-Day. D-Day started a new battle, and I got five poiﬁts
for flying before and five points for flying after D-Day. These
points were important for figuring out order of release from the

army 16 months later.

The 388th at War

Mission #130 Cape Gris Nez, June 5, 1944

"For this mission the 388th was to attack Coastal batteries in North~
vestern France. The 388th put up two Groups with 11 a/c plus 1 PFF.a/c in
each group. All of our a/c took-off between 0610 and 0639 hours. The
scheduled abortion a/c in the B Group returned to base, all others made the
mission. The weather at the primary target prevented an attack. They went
to the secondary target where bombs were away at 1019 hours from 19,900
feet. Bombing results were poor. Flak was meager with two a/c receiving
minor damage. All a/c returned to base by 1139 hours. "

6--Went out to ship named Gremlin Gus II. Put guns in and took

off at 2:30. Went over France again. The invasion started and

we were in the second wave of bombers going over but it was too

cloudy to see much. Did see sonme ships. This was the day every-

body had been waiting for. No flak was seen by us. A good thing.

Had hot chocolate and cookies when we got back after interogation.

Ate and went to bed. Slept 'til 6:40. Got up and ate supper

and went back to bed again as we expected to fly again at 11:30.

Raining some.
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Rowe's log: Luc, Caen area, France, Cherbourg Peninsula
7:30 D-Day gun installations mno opposition

-My_FR: B-17F 7:30 French coast

We had known D-Day was coming, but I had thought in Ardmore
that it would be before we got involved. We knew something
special was up because MP's were guarding the door of the brief-
ing room. The officer started by saying, "This is it! This is
what we've been waiting for." It ﬁas exciting to be a part of
such a big operation. I never could see much out of my radio
room window, but I did see some ships as we were retufning.‘ It
took the allies eleven months to finish what started that day.

The 388th at War

D-DAY JUNE 6, 1944, STATION 136

"On D-Day, the 388th flew three separate missions this day sending 72
a/c with only one abort. At 0230 hours our a/c was to lead the 8th Air
Force on the first bombing in direct support of the invasiomn.

Mission #131, Caen, June 6, 1944

"Preview of this Group's participation in the Allied invasion of
Germany"s Western Front——the coast of France, was such special orders from
the 45th Combat Wing as: 'Guns will be mamned but not test-fired at any
time. Gunners will not fire at any plane at any time unless being at-
tacked. Bombing on primary targets will be carried out within time limits
prescribed. Otherwise secondary or last resort targets will be bombed.

No second runs will be made on the primary target. Take-offs will be
accomplished according to schedule—-regardless.'

"All available heavy bombers of the 8th Air Force were dispatched in

waves to attack coastal defenses between Le Havre and Cherbourg in France.
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The attacks were in direct support of the Allied Invasion Forces which
landed immediately after the bombing of the beach area was completed.

"The 388th furnished an A and a B Group plus the low squadron of
the 452nd C Group. Our A and B Groups were the first and second wave
respectively, and the composite Group (452nd) was the eighth and last
wave. The 388th A Group led the 8th AAF D-Day attacks.
[We must have been in B Group since I was told we were in the
second wave. ]

"(B Group) 17a/c plus 1 PFF a/c were airborne by 0248 hours....
Some difficulty was encountered in forming due to darkness and because the
"Buncher' went out.

"The targets were attacked by PFF methods because of a complete
undercast. Bombing was done by groups with squadrons line abreast. Bombs

Tcinm P 18 RN £ Fon iy R .
hours from 15,050 feet for A G oup and 0703 hours from

I Y 4
ere away at U650

13,850 feet from B Group. The Composite Group did not attack and returned

with bombs.

"No enemy a/c or flak was seen on this mission. All of our a/c re-

turned to base by 1043 hours."

/-~Got up at 10:30 after about 20 hours of sleep. Took shower

with whole crew. Went to PX. Ate and went to briefing. Went

-on mission to Nantes. Got first battle scars. Flak hit the tail.

Fléﬁ“iﬁ“jéiggvjéﬁks. Longest mission we have had so far. I

S —

listened on liason most of the time. Got back at 10:45. Got

interogated and ate at mess hall. German planes flying overhead.

Tired again.

Rowe's log: Nantes, France 7:00 3 flak holes railroad

bridge My FR: 7:00 Nantes
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The 388th at War

Mission #134, Nantes, June 7, 1944

“For this mission the 388th furninshed two Groups of 14 a/c each, for
the lead and low Groups of the 45th A Combat Wing. The 452nd flew as high

Group. The target for this formation was a railroad bridge. 3 of our a/c

. oA p v i i

aborted, one because they couldn't catch up with the formation [they must W't J}_
. P ROy L
have been flying in 0ld 66], and two for mechanical reasons. “f“\P .

L
s

"Formations were effected and the briefed route to the target was fol-
lowed. Our low Group bombed the assigned target with good results and our
lead Group bombed the marshalling yards just north of the assigned target
with good results when they found that the assigned target had already been
bombed. One a/c from the low Group dropped its bombs on a bridge at Ancinis.-

"Flak at the target was moderate and quite accurate. There was no enemy
air opposition.”

8--Slept 'til 10:45. Ate lunch. Got paid 14 pounds, 8 shillings

and 2 pence. Sent $100 home while writing. Still no mail. Read

about invasion. Ate supper with Mac and then again with rest of

fellows. Got coke at Red Cross Club. Went bicycle riding with

most of crew. Found woman who will do laundry. Went to wash

room with Maurer. Raining.

June 8, 1944 postmarked June 9th Sanborn was the censor.
It has been guite a while since I last wrote but I havn't had
time to do much of anythiﬁg recently. As you can tell by the news
we have been busy lately. PThis is the first Iull we have had
since our crew went operational. I was going to send you clippings
out of the paper but that has been censored now so I will just send

you the whole paper after awhile.
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We went about 36 hours in one stretch without any sleep_but
then got 20 hours of sleep so that caught us up.,. We slept 12
hours last night so at least we get plenty of rest. The food
is still good énd we get all we want. They seem to give us all
they can'get. After each mission they have cookies and hot choco-
late for us and we get two candy bars during a mission. I've got
about a dozen candy bars on han& as I don't like to eat while
flying. We are rationed two candy bars a week at the PXx.

The missions have all been easy so far. I can't tell you how
many I've been on yet. T wouldn't have traded bPlaces with anybody
oen D-~Day. I'll tell you about it sqmetime;

We got paid again today and since there isn't anything to buy
here I'm sending home another money order. We havn’'t had a pass
yet so we can't buy anything other than at the PX and that only
takes about 2 shillings a week. We should get a 3—day pass'in
about a week.

August Maurer's brother visited him the other day. He is
stationed in a ground crew on a field about eight miles from here.

We are having the regular English weather now. It rains Jjust

about every day.

9--Stayed in bed until 10:15. Got rations from PX. Finally some

more mail arrived. Went to show with Crawford. Saw "Sullivan's

Travels". Interesting. Raining. Rode around camp on Nelson's

bike. To bed at 10:30.

10--Got us up at 1:30. Went to briefing. Another mission just

to the coast. Nothing happened. Back at 9:30. Ate and went to

bed. Slept 'til dinner time. Had steak and ice cream. Went to
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library. Read. I ought to do more of that. Went to Red Cross

Club and ate. Raining most of day. Cooler. Asked Maurer and

Nelson alot of guestions out of a book.

Rowe's log: Berck sur mer, France 4:15 no opposition gun
installations My FR" 4:15 French coast

The 388th at War

Mission #136, Berck-Sur-Mer, June 10, 1944

"The 8th Air Forcé attacked tactical targets in France. The 388th it
furnished the lead and low Groups for the 45th A Combat Wing. Both of our
Groups attacked coastal installations at Bercks.

"Our 26 a/c including 2 PFF a/c took off between 0458 and 0525 hours.
One a/c of the lead Group aborted for mec@?ﬁal reasons. 10/10th clouds in
several layers up to 21,000 feet and dense contrails made assembly difficult.
Over the target, heavy contrails still persisted and clouds covered the area.
The target was attacked using PFF methods at 0745 from 23,000 feet on a mag
heading of 125 degrees.

"Neither flak nor enemy fighters were encountered. All aircraft re-
turned to baseby 0914 hours."

Vnmail letter dated June 10, 1944 postmarked June 27th
Censor stamp obliterates the name but it is Robert

--.We got a woman that lives near here to do our laundry so
I'm glad of that. I've been doing it myself. We live on a road
going straight to town and there are alot of houses near by....
I go to the show Iin the evening sometimes. They have a pretty
good library here so I have been doing some reading. They just
got a soda fountain in at the Red Cross Club and have cokes for

sale. I wish I could get a big chocolate malt. We had steak for
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dinner last night, the first I've had for a long time. We had

chicken today for the noon meal. It is now 2:30 P.M. which
means you are just about getting up at home....I intend to go
to the evening service at the church here on the base. There is

a small one-room church built in 1864 nearby that I would like
to attend some time. It is a Methodist church.

Sunday, 1i1--Slept 'til 11:00. Ate chicken dinner. Went riding

on bicycle with Maurer. Too late for church. Went to library,

Rocker Club, & Aero Club. Beat him in Qing pong. Rode over

countryside. Decided to visit his brother at 96th Group. Cooler.

12--Started out at midnight. Took an hour tc get there. Found

him at 1:30. Stayed 'til 4:00. Rode back. Tired. No sleep.

Ate breakfast and left for London. Rede truck to Thetford and

then by train. Got to London about 10:30. Took the underground

Lo Red Cross Club. Got room. Ate lunch. Took bus to Picadilly

Circus. Went on taxi tour of city. Saw Buckingham Palace, Big

Ben, 0l1d Curiosity Shop, Downing Street, Scotland Yard and stopped

for foot tours at Westminster Abbey and St. Paul's cathedral.

Saw alot of interesting buildings and things. Went to burlesque

show. Fair. Had pretty good supper. Walked all over town but

didn't find much. A girl named Doreen sewed an 8th air corps

patch for me at a wax works. Walked and walked. Fipally took

bus back to Red Cross and went to bed at midnight.

Some of the crew were walking down the street wondering about
when would the girls come to talk to us, and a girl first stopped

and talked to Crawford. He was r&ther embarrassed by it, but we

all thought it was great fun. Then we saw the wax works, and we
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got into conversations there with the employees. Doreen would
not accept payment for sewing on my patch. The English were

friendly to us Yanks.

13--Got up .around 10:30. Went to Trafalger Square with Maurer.

A guide picked us wp and first took us to a place to eat. Had

turkey. [I remember also that we -had a dessert called roly-poly
which the guide thought was terrific, but we didn't care much for

it.] Then he took us all over London. Alot of interesting events,

Went inside two court rooms. Saw alot of the bombed area. Quite

2 bit of walking. Went to burlesque show. Better than yesterday.

Saw Phylis Dixey in “Peek-a-boo!" Went Lo dance at Covent Garden
in opera housse. Had a good time there. Enjoyed dancing especial-

ly with a2 girl named Kitty. Let Crawford 80 home with a girl,

Went to Picadilly Circus. Waliked around watching the crowd. Fas-

cinating but disgusting. Finally got tired and went to Rainbow

Corner (Red Cross), and went to sleep on a davanport.

Curiosity came close to overcoming my moral upbringing‘but not
quite. I felt guilty enough going to the burlesque shows. The
setting was unbelieveable. Picadilly Circus had hundred of G.I.'s
wandering about and conversing with a number of English girls.

The number of girls kept diminishing until only a few remained by
midnight. The later it got the more brazen the girls became.

According to the book Life published on Worid War II, copy-
right 1990, the first V-1 rocket hit London on June 13th. In all,
the V-1 killed more than 6,000 and wounded 17,000 before it was

replaced by the supersonic V-2, a 12-ton, 46-foot missile with

speeds up to 4,000 mph. The V-2 caused twice as many casualties
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as a V-1 and 1,817 were fired at England beforelaunch sites were
captured by the allies. The last V-2 hit England on March 27, 1945,

14--Didn't get much sleep. Got up at 6:40. Went to meet the

fellows at Mostyn Red Cross Club. Ate breakfast with Maurer. Went

Lo raiiroad station but train was cancelled. Went back uptown and

went to show. Saw "Meet the People", invasion pictures and start

of "Memphis Belle". Ran for train. Made it Jjust in time. Saw

MclIntyre and Nelson. Talked with them. Got back at 6:40. Ate

dinner. Tired. Went to bed at 11:00.

ct

2:00. Was to go to France

15--Got us up at 1:00 for briefing a

but Sweetheart had a bad engine S0 we aborted. Tried for a QDM

but didn't get im. Back at 7:00. Ate breakfast and went to bed.

Slept 'til 1:15. Wrote home. Went Lo Communications to see what

was wrong today with radio. Got laundry back. Packed for coming

Erip. To bed at 12:45,
Rowe's log: 1local 2:00 day 1:00 night‘aborted from mission
#1 engine out My FR: 2:20
The 388th at War

Mission #140, Beauvoir, June 15, 1944

“The 388th furnished three Groups which composed the 45th A Combat Wing
to attack a military installation on the French Coast.

"40 a/c were airborne by 0354 hours with 4 a/c aborting for mechanical
reasons....

Letter dated June 15, 1944 postmarked June 19£b Stewart was censor.

Last Sunday evening Avgie (Maurer) and I went bicycle riding around camp

and even Iin some of the small towns near here. When we got back about eleven
we found out we had a furlough! Quite a surprise to us coming on the spur
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of the moment. Nelson and Mac and the officers had already left for London.
We were too late to get the last train and the first train in the morning

was at 7 something. Augie was expecting his brother over the next morning
or rather evening so we decided to go visit him then. e left camp on our
bicycles at midnight and got to his camp at one. We talked with him and ate
breakfast there. We finally left at 4 and got back here at 5, ate breakfast
and were ready to catch the truck to %ake us to town. I slept on the train
most of the way to London. After we got there we first took a subway to one
of fhe Red Cross Clubs and got a room for the night to come. The four of us
had a room to ourselves. We first took a taxi tour thrbugh London which was
interesting. Westminster Abbey was about the most interesting. I saw the
graves of Charles Dickens, Handel, Macauley, Kipling, Chamberlain, Chaucer,
Ben Johnson, Samuel Johnson, Peabody (the only American), Isaac Newton,
Charles Darwin, William Pitt, Robert Clive and many more I can't think of now.
St. Paul's cathedral was another interesting place. Most of the kings and
queens are buried there. It was all very interesting. I'm enclosing the
baper of the places we saw. We went +o a stage show. Luckily, we found a
blace that had steak fbr dinner. That is rare in London. Went into some
wax works that evening.

The next day we got up at 10:30 and Maurer and I went walking down to
Trafalgar Square and a guide offered to take us on a walking tour so we tock
him up on it.... He took us all around and we got more facts this way. Saw
#10 Downing St. and the place where King George IIT (?) lost his head. (It
must have been Charles I.] He got us into a real court and we saw the judges
and lawyers with their wigs and robes on. They have all their courts in one
building in London. Greater London is divided into three cities. The City

of London is only a mile square with St. Paul at the center. That was the
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section hit the hardest by the bombs. We saw where the buildings had been.
Quite a large area. It is the oldest part of London and some of the streets
are real small. Everything seems so old. Saw the Cheddar Cheese tavern and
many other places where the kings entertained their lady friends. We cer-
tainly did walk alot. He charged us 10 shillings a piece which is about -
$2.00. I guess it was worth it. That night we went to a dance held in the
Royal Opera House. It was about the best dance I've been at since I've been
in the army. We had a good time there. The women were better looking too....

We had a great time in London and I hope we get to go again some time....

I can't tell you why but I may not be able to write again for a couple of
weeks. Don't worry because I'll be all right. Something special is coming up.
Maybe I can tell you after it is all over. Anyway it will be interesting.

P.S. Don't forget to save the papers for the next couple of weeks at least.

{Paper on Taxi Sightseeing Tours of London enclosed. ]

Lt. Rowe met with our crew and told us that we had been picked to fly
on & shuttle mission to Russia. We were to operate out of Russia for about
two weeks. It was secret so no mention of our destination could be made. It

was an exciting thought.

16——Slept 'til 11:15. Ate dinner. Went to combat crew library with Maurer.

Read. Got six helpings of steak at supper. Had argument about the war with

Nelson. Went to library to prove my point. Went to show with Crawford. Saw

"Playmates"”. Second time. Rained today.

17--Up at 9:15. Went to day room. Played Chinese checkers with Maurer. Ate

lunch. Went to briefing room. Had aircraft rec. Ate and went to show. Sat

on a couple of boards. Saw "Buffalo Bill"., Fair. Everybody but Maurer and

myself made staff sergeant. What a life! Read. Got 2 weeks rations from PX.
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Orders came out making Maurer and me tech sergeants and then were re-
scinded the next day because we had jumped a rank. I had never been a cor-
poral so I don't know why I couldn't have skipped being a staff sergeant.
Until the next orders came out the crew lorded it over Maurer and me because
they were staff sergeants and we were still buck sergeants.

, Sunday, 18--Briefing at 1:00. Went on raid over Bremen. Got to

see more than usual today. Quite a bit of flak. ‘Ate and went to

bed. Got up for supper. No good. Went to church. Heard English

minigster. Enjoyed the service. Read. Cooler this evening.

Rowe's log: Bremen, Germany 6:30 no damage vacuum oil
plant My FR: 6:30 Bremen
The 388th at War

Mission #141, Bremen, June 18, 1944 we gl n

"The 388th furmished two Groups as the lead and low Groups in the 45th B
Combat Wing. 40 a/c took off and effected formations after which the 5 spare
a/c returned to base.

"The route to the target was flown as briefed but because of clouds, the
lead Group bombed the secondary target which was the center of the City of
Bremen. The low Group bombed the primary target visually through 7/10th clouds.
Bombs were away at 0909 hours from 25,900 feet.

"Flak was seen at Heligoland and accurate flak was encountered at the
target.

"Bremen also sent up rockets. There was no enemy air opposition on this
mission.

"All of our a/c returned to base safely.”

[This was the first time we had gome to Germany. ]
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19--Got up at 1:30 for briefing at 2:30. Went to airfield in

France but due to the poor weather had to come back before we

got there. Were above 27,000 for awhile. Cloudy. Navigator got

lost. I had to identify, get QTIF and seven QDM's. Good practice.

Got compliments for bringing ship back. Had chicken dinner.

Went to bed. Got up at 3:15 for briefingat 4:00. Mission was

scrubbed at briefing. Went to show with Nelson. Saw "Tarsan's

Desert Victory". Had six cokes today. To bed at 11:00. Flew

Miss Lace 842.

Rowe's log: 40 miles south of Cherbourg in France 6:45
Turned back, brought bombs back from mission because of bad
weather My FR: B-17F 6:45 A/F France

The 388th at War

i 7 o o Temamn 1 10/t
Mission #1 '2, CUE,L C, JUne .!.9, 1544

"The 8th Air Force was to attack tactical targets in France. The 388th
furnished two Groups, one as high Group in each the 45th A and B Combat Wing
formations. 40 a/c were airborne between 0500 and 0532 hours. [That is fast-
er than one pef minute.] 1 a/c of the A Group returned for mechanical
problems and 2 a/c of the B Group, one for persomnel failure and the other
was a spare. Formations were effected and the formations proceeded to the
target as briefed.

"Over the Continent the clouds were 10/10th up to 29,000 feet. Just
before reaching the target area the 45th B Combat Wing leader (Captain
Cockerill) abandoned the mission because of bad weather. The A Group went
over the target but did not drop its bombs.

"All a/c returned to base by 1136 hours."”
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20--Briefing at 1:30. Flew 01d 66 again to Magdeburg, Germany.

Did a good job of bombing. Alot of flak. 20 holes in ship. Came

close to Crawford. Slept coming back. Tired. Ate and went to

bed. Slept ‘'til 7:00. Went to Red Cross Club with Crawford.

Ate and played ping pong. Finally leaving. Will write more when

I come back.

Rowe's log: Magdeburg, Germany 8:00 20 flak holes, syn-
thetic o0il plant My FR: B-17F 8:00 Magdeburg

01d 66 always seemed to come back. It had trouble keeping
up with the rest of the formation, and we would cut corners so as
to stay with the formation.

The Newsletter for the 388th Bomb Group Assn. had an article
about 0ld 66 about three years ago which I wanted to quote, but I
have mislaid the copy. |

The 388th at War

Mission #143, Magdeburg, June 20, 1944

“For this mission the 388th put up 40 a/c plus 2 PFF a/c. 19 a/c plus
2 PFF a/c of the A Grdup and 21 a/c of the B Group were airborne between 0400
and 0453 hours. Three a/c of each Group returned early as spares. Two a/c of
the B Group aborted after colliding in mid-air at 5310N--04Q0E.

"No difficulty was encountered in assembling as the formations proceeded
to the target, following the briefed course on the route in and out. The
weather was clear ai the target which was the (Rotensee) synthetic oil plant.
It was attacked visually by both Groups with bombs away at 0910 hours from
25,300 feet.

"Strike photos show that the A Group Shacked the target while the B Group

bombs were slightly over the target but all bombs were in the MPI. A/c 42~
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32004 (Lt. Patrick) was hit by flak over the target. One engine was feath-
ered and the a/c dropped out of the formation. It was last seen in the vi-
cinity of the East PFrisian Islands at 1025 hours.

"No enemy a/c were seen on this mission. Flak over the target was in-
tense, aécufately predicted concentration. All of our returning a/c suffered
battle damage. The 31 a/c suffered a total of 358 flak holes. [OQur 20 holes
was more than the average.]

"Afc #873 returned to the base early badly damaged after the mid-air
collision without injury to the crew.

"Lt. Maring in alc 42-37523, returned with a crippled a/c and belly-landed
on the field. All crew members were safe.

"Lt. Maring was KIA on a Merseburg mission, September 28, 1944 when a
Command Pilot.

"Lt. Patrick in a/c 42-32004 went down east of the Frisian Islands after
being hit by flak over the target. Ditched 50 miles no. of Figi Island. ([The
CP, N, and TG were KIA. The other seven crew members became POW's. ]

21--Didn't get to bed. Went to briefing and then to ship 123

"Girl of My Dreams". Took off at 5:35 for Russia. Bombed Ruhland

on the way. Near Berlin. Flew over Germany and Poland. Went up  suterv
' Bt f{m)
in the nose for awhile. Enemy ship flew by. Landed at Poltava ﬁ;Hpﬁ

in Russia at 3:50. Quite tired. Got assigned Lo tent. Ate and

slept some. Went to last part of movie "The Major and the Minor".

Feel like I could sleep for a2 week. This trip should be educatidhl.

M/Sgt. Wilder flew as right waist gunner.

Rowe's log: Ruhland, Germany 10:30 shuttle mission ME 109
attacked our formation near Warsaw. Target o0il refineries 2 flak
holes My FR: 10:15 Ruhland
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One of the waist gunners, McIntyre, had to stay behind be-
cause he had to go to hospital, so we took a crew chief with ué.
Over the North Sea we test-fired our guns. It was the only time
I fired a gun from the radio position. As I pulled the trigger
the gun pulled to the right and I let up just in time to avoid
shooting off our tail. ©Now that would have made a good story.
This raid involved 1000 allied bombers over Berlin.

At Ruhland we could see Berlin in the distance wheré the
bulk of the formation was going. The flak was unbelievable.
After we got to Poland my radio could no longer pick up England.
Collins wanted to listen to the radio, so I requested permission
to take his place in the nose. It was fun watching Sanborn keep
track of our position. As we passed about 50 miles south of War-
saw I strained to see it, but it was not in sight. Just as we d
passed the Russian border a plane flew by on our left. I was
close enough to see the pilot, and I remember thinking he was
flying mighty close. Also the cross on his plane was a peculiar
marking. Suddenly a P-51 flew by in pursuit, and I realized
German planes had iron cross markings not swastikas. If he had
beeﬁ firing we might not have been here today. As still one of
the more inexperienced crews on the flight we were "tail-end
Charlie”, and that is often the plane that gets hit first.

We were the second plane to land in Russia, and we parked
at the far side of the field. A Russian soldier came on board
to help us in any way he could. They got that duty as a relief
from fighting on the front lines and anything is better than that.
When we got to the tent we found he had even put the fire extin-
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guisher in the bag. He was most anxious to please us. We no-
ticed a single German plane watching us as the rest of the for-
mation was landing. Our fighter protection had already gone to

another base.

The 388th at War

Mission #144, Ruhland (Frantic-Russia) June 21, 1944

"All heavy bombers of the 8th Air Force attacked Berlin except the two
Combat Wings to hit the Synthetic 0il Refinery at Ruhland. south of Berlin.
These were to fly on the Russia. The 388th furnished an A Group plus the
low and high squadrons of a Composite Group, led by the 452nd BG. Our A Group
led the 45th Combat Wing and the Composite Group was low Group in the 13th B
Combat Wing. The two Combat Wings, plus an escort of P-51's, after attacking
the Target, continued on across Germany and Poland to land at bases in Russia.
This was the first shuttle raid from England.

"21 a/c plus 2 PFF a/c were airborned by 0545 hours.... 2 a/e of the
A Group returned as spares....

"Formations were effected without difficulty and the Combat Wings pro-
ceeded to the Target as briefed. Weather over the Target was CAVU. Bombs
were away at.1030 hours from 20,000 feet.... Strike photos show a 'shack!.

"Meagre flak was encountered over the Target, Brandenbﬁrg and Warsaw.
Moderate flak was encountered at Cuxhaven and Biala Podlaska, Poland. Our
escort broke up the attack of enemy a/c in the vicinity of Biala Podlaska.

"All of our-a/c landed at the assigned Easter[n] Command Base except
one which landed at Kiev. Flight time on this mission was 11 hours 40 minutes."

[Since I listed the exact times in my diary, 10:15 is the accurate
length of our flight.]

The A Group and Composite Group formations are listed by pilots and
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plane numbers. —§9$%§3 is listed in #6 position in the low squadron of the

A Group. A plane is usually designated by the last three digits of its number.
123 is the last three digits of 44-6123 named Girl of My Dreams.

22--At midnight the German planes came over and we had to runm

for the slit trenches. Flares lighted up the field. Lot of

fireworks. The air field was bombed and-we were just a block

away. Got to bed around 2:15. Woke EE?EE 9:30. Talked. After

lunch we went out on the field and looked at planes. Very few

planes left. Our plane had the left elevator burned off by an

incinderary. Anti-personnel bombs going off all over and we

were walking all over the field. Had another air raid scare at

dinner. Moved evervybody Lo the ogpen country. Played cards with

crew. What a life.

Soon after we got to sleep a soldier came running by the
tents blowing a whistle and YElling, "Air raid, air raid". VWe
were used to air raids and nobody moved. Finally, he shouted,
"Really, fellows, I mean it." I went to the door and saw the
flare in the sky over the air field. I helped get everybody up,
and we ran to some trenches that were about knee deep just as the
bombs began to drop. You could hear the whine of the descending
bomb followed by a big explosion as plane after plane blew up.
With each sound we huddled as close to the ground as possible.

I remember one fellow wondering if there was a cleaners on the
base as he was getting his pants dirty. We had a good view of
the whole operation, and it was bigger than any celebration on
the Fourth of July. They knew exactly where we were, and they

efficiently destroyed almost all the planes which were lined up
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50 nicely. Another flare appeared behind us and we could see
some old, discarded Russian planes, but we wondered if the Ger-
mans could tell they were obsolete. It was bright enough to read
a neﬁspaper, and we felt like we were in a spotlight. We couid
have been straffed. Russian anti-aircraft guns kept firing dur-
ing the raid, but they seemed to have no effect on the Germans.

I heard that one gun crew was hit and destroyed.

As we went across the field the next day to see our plane
a group of Russians were out there detonating the anti-personnel
bombs. They would put a rope about it, back off and yell for
us to duck and then pull the rope. One time a fragment went
whizzing by us. For a while a dog ran beside us which was worri-
some because he could have jarred a bomb and set it off.

That evening the crews all lined up to take a truck to a
place in the woods. The line was long and we saw a truck on a
different mission, probably getting gasoline, and asked him to
take us. He ‘could speak no English and we could speak no Russian.
[I recalled thinking two years before when Russian was being
offered at the Conservatory that it was one subject I would
have no use for. Imn 1951 I went to Harvard for summer school
and took two music courses and German, each class meeting two
hours daily. Russian was offered the two hours I had open so
I decided to audit the course. The first day the instructor
went through a tremendous amount of material including the pro-
nunciation of all the different letters. He gave about four
hours of homework which was more than I could handle. I never

went back.] The soldier must have figured we knew where we
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were going. We thought he knew, but after a long ride in the
country we finally got him stopped and turned around. We may
have been half way to Moscow by that time. I remember seeing
the peasants in the field. We waved at them but they just stood
and stared at us which was an eerie feeling. Americans like to
wave; so do the Germans.

Poltava had been captured by the Germans, recaptured by the
Russians, once again by the Germans and finally the Russiané again,
Even the ruins were ruined. People lived in the earth. Only one
building was left standing. Both sides had used it for a‘barracks.
The Russians really had a hard time.

The 388th at War

"During the night, the Germans bombed the airfield and 11 of our a/c
were destoyed. With a clear sky, the German planes came over, then dropped
parachute flares which lit-up tﬁe entire area for their boﬁb runs. This lasted
nearly two hours.” |

The 11 planes that were lost are listed. The damage to 15
other planes is listed. 44-6123 of the 561lst Squadron (the plane
we flew): minor damage, Flyable

A number of pictures of the destroyed planes as well as other
scenes in Russia are included in this report.

Another reference book I consulted was Flying Fortress by

Edward Jablonski, published by Doubleday & Company, Inc., Garden
City, New York, copyright 1965,
"The shuttle mission to Poltava, which began on June 21, 1944, was to

prove doubly historic. It was the 8th's first mission to Russia.... The

ground had already been prepared for the mission, which enabled the 8th to
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bomb deep inside Germany and then continue on to Russia instead of returming
to England, by General Eaker, who had lead the first such mission from Italy.

"The target, at Ruhland, was just south of Berlin and the bombing by
114 Fortresses, with an escort of seventy Mustangs, went off as planned and
the formation pushed on to the fields in Russia, located at Mirgorod, Pirya-
tin, and Poltava. The 100th was to land at the latter base, albng with planes
from other groups. They wére not aware of a trailing German He-177 which
observed their landing and then flipped away into the clouds.

"That night they experienced their second Fouch of history. Poltava
suddenly lit up under a great shower of flares and then erupted with the
bursting of more than a hundred tons of bombs. The Germans, without the loss
of a single aircraft, succeeded in destroying forty-three B-17s and damaging
twnety-six; fourteen P-5ls were demolished and others damaged. More serious-
ly twenty-five Russians were killed and one American. General Spaatz later wvirnd
admitted that the raid on Poltava was the 'best attack the Luftwaffe ever
made on the AAF.' An attempt was made to repeat the success on the following
night but not with the same success. When the time came to leave Russia for
the next leg of the shuttle, of the original force the 8th was able to get
seventy-one Fortresses and fifty-five Mustangs off the ground on June 26th."

spofprrst by o

My only comment about this report is that I do not recall !

any P-51's at Poltava. I do not think we had 71 planes leave
Poltava altogether, although the other wing did fly into Poltava
the day before we departed.

23--Rained on us during the night. Woke up first at 3:00. Got

up at 5:15. Went back to camp. Slept most of morming. Rained.

Wrote home. Fairly good supper. Back we went to the thicket,

Played checkers with Lt. Colling: He won. Talked. To bed at 10.
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Letter dated June 23, 1944 postmarked June 24th censored by
Sanborn,

I joined the army to see the world and I guess I'mgetting
my share because I am now stationed somewhere in Russia. We had
guite a trip and it was alot of fun. I wish now that I had taken
Dr, Labunski's course at school because Ilcould use it heré. I
can't say how lIong I will be here or exactly where I am, but I
thought You would like to know I'm in Russia and that I'm all
right. We live-in tents which is about like bhasic training, but
the weather is better than what we had in England. This is not
our permanent base.

The country around here is alot like the U.5. It seems
strange hearing the people talk. The people look different, and
you can tell that they are a hard-working bunch of people. we
have women doing the KP work here. Lots of them don't seem to
have shoes. I have a ruple that I'm going teo keep for a souvenir,
I'll have many different kinds of money by the time I get through.

Well, don't worry about me as I'm all right. I wouldn't
trade this experience for anything.

24--Up early again., Covered with dew. Back to camp. Went over

to some old fighters and looked them over. Shot off a machine

gun that was loaded. Had chicken and cherries for dinner. Slept

most of afternoon. Went out and looked at planes. I'm ashamed

of the Americans and their pilfering. Went to Russian dance and

movie outdoors with Nelson. A Russian soldier explained every-

thing to us in Russian.
thing to Us 11 susSSiamn.
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I heard that the loss of planes at Poltava cost as much or
more than Pearl Harbor. However, I do not think any American
lives were lost. Some Russians died trying to pull burning
ships away from others. Some lives were lost setting off the
anti-personnel bombs. Alot of planes were completely destroyed.
Many more were damaged, but some of the Americans confiscated
some items out of the planes. At the time I thought that was bad.

One time before a meal a woman on KP indicated to two G.I.'s
to pick up a garbage can of coffee and place it on the line.

They struggled with it as it was quite heavy.‘ She brushed them
aside and picked it up and carried it by herself. We were im-
pressed.

At the dance I remember seeing some instruments I had never
seen before. At the movie the Russian film would run about 10-15
minutes and then stop while they changed reels. It was hard to
understand what was happening,so the Russian soldier explained
it to us in Russian which made us laugh. It must have been funny
because he was laughing also., It was an unforgetable experience.

Sunday, 25--Went to briefing. Mission scrubbed. Back to bed.

Read Bible. Didn't do much. Ate quite a bit for both meals,

especially pineapple. Sat in tent and talked about naming ship

with crew. Cloudy.

As I recall the air field was cleared off and the other
wing of planes flew on to our field. We must have stayed on the

base to sleep. The hole in our tail was patched up.
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26--Briefing again. Had three hours before take-off. Plane

wheel fell into hole while taxiing. Got out and talked with

the Russians. They like to talk. I had fun with them. Finally

got the plane out. Flew out and over into Poland. Bombed

Drohobycz in Poland. Flew over Hungary and Jugo-slavia land-

ing at Italy. Some fellow remembered me from Sioux Falls. Wrong

base so went 14 miles more near Foggia. Ate dinmer. Tired.

Roland Nuber stationed there. Talked with him all evening. We

had alot of good times together at Las Vegas. Slept on cots in

tents again.

Rowe's log: Drohobycz, Poland landed in Foggia, Italy 7:30
Target--o0il refinery 2 flak holes My FR: 7:55 It also lists
B~17F but this was a brand new plane with all the latest equipment.

Iwo wings of pianes flew to Russia and close to 70 planes
were destroyed in our wing. The crews on those planes, I believe,
were flown out by way of Teheran, Cairo, Casablanéa, and back to
England. That would have been a great trip since it touched on
two new continents. However, I was glad for the opportunity to
see Italy.

We flew in a diamond formation behind the leader who dropped
a tracer bomb to check wind condition. We flew through the fumes
which ate up the surface of the windshield. It had to be replaced
in Italy. We flew over the Danube river so I looked down to see
it. It wasn't blue. The briefing told us about the two factions
in Yugoslovia, one with Tito and the other with Mikhailovitch. I

can't remember now which was better. I don't think they knew.
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It was fun running into old friends. I never did remember
the name of the first fellow I met. I told him we'd get together
after we got séttled, but we flew on to another base. I was glad
to run into Nuber who was one of my best buddies in gunnery school

and at Salt Lake.
The 388th at War

Mission #150, Shuttle from Russia, Drohobycz, June 26, 1944

"6 a/c from the 388th Bomb Group took off from an Eastern Command Base )
’ ‘ o

at 0900 hours. An instrument assembly was made with the 390th Bomb Group andﬁcﬁ o
three a/c as a third element in the high squadron of the 95th Bomb Group. %f“%ng?fﬁ
One a/c with the 390th aborted because of an engine failure. The five re- '
maining a/c flew this mission and landed at an Italian airfield."

The six planes and the pilots are listed. With the 390th BG

is listed Rwaqn . This was the plane flown to Russia by Botten-
XIOLJ o

field of the 563rd Squadron. It also had only received minor
damage in the raid. Plane #123, the plane we flew to Russia, is
not listed. I don't believe I was aware that we had changed planes.

27--Ate pancakes for breakfast. Weﬁt out to ship and helped Lt.

Sanborn clean guns. Had meeting in briefing room. Roland loaned

me a pair of khakis. Went to town on truck. Walked -around for

awhile looking at the city. Had doughnuts and lemonade at Red

Cross Club. Nice building. Best in town. Played ping pong.

Beat him. Went to show. Saw "China". It is more than a shame
what war does to the cities and people .. There must be an end

somewhere. I feel sorry for the Italians, but it is too late for

szmgathz.
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28--Woke up too late for breakfast. Talked. Wrote home. Went

with crew after dinner to swim in Adriatic Sea. Went by truck.

Water was warm and I had a good time. A swell beach, Must cost

alot to swim there in peace time. Reserved for air COrpsS DOW.

Fun. Coming back we stopped in town. Went Lo Red Cross Club.

Got separated and waited an hour for crew at officers' club.

Came back to camp. Had discussion withofficers. Went to show.,

Saw “"Moonlight ig'Havanna" again. Movie outside.

V-mail letter dated June 28m 1944 postmark not legible
censored by Frederick Sanbkborn 2nd Lt. 4A.C.

Once again I have changed my location as f am now stationed
somewhere in Italy. I am certainly doing alot of traveling
around Europe. It is an education in itself. I will have lots
to tell when I get back but don't arrange for me to give travel
talks.

Went into town yesterday afternoon although there isn't
much to see there. You can certainly be thankful that you live
in America.

When I came out of the mesé hall just after I had arrived
here a fellow came running up to me yelling my name. It was
Roland Nuber whom I knew well in Las Vegas. We had a good time
talking about old times. I never expected to see anybody I
knew here. He loaned me a suit of khakis to wear here because
it is much hotter than any other place I've been. The food is

still guite good, in fact, it is better than the last place.

I don't know where I will go next. I'11 write agaln before long
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and let you know my whereabouts. After being here I'm glad I'm
stationed in England. Things are much nicer there. It Iis tinme
to go eat lunch now so I will guit for now. Hope I have alot of
mail waiting for me when I get back.

29--Didn't get up for breakfast. Sat and talked during both

forenoon and afternoon. Windy and dusty. 'Got rations from PX

which included 4 candy bars and a coke. Most of crew went swim-

ming and got sunburned. Went out on line and looked at ship.

Told Roland goodbye.

30--Had pancakes for breakfast. Got haircut and shave for 15¢.

Helped Lt. Sanborn with his guns. Ate big dinner after shower.

Laid in tent having discussion with crew. Wrote Mr. Corti [clar-

inet teacher at the Conservatory who was an Italian]. Went to
town at 6:00. Went to Flagella Theater and heard Jascha Heifetz.

Played Mendelssohn concerto and a number of other pieces. It

vas good hearing some real music again although I didn't get as

big a thrill as I used to. Got his autograph. Helped Maurer

carry Nelson to tent. He was dead drunk. What a terrible way

to be,

July 1--Stayed in bed until 10:00. Talked. Went to beach again

after dinner. Had fast truck ride. Nice swim. Met crew there.

Went back to Foggia. Got doughnuts. Met Nuber there. His crew

bought radio. Went to show. Saw "Seventh Victim". Walked

around town.

Sunday, 2--Had pancakes without syrup for breakfast. Went back

to bed until 9:40. Went to church with Nelson. Stayed in bed
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most of afternoon. Went to church with Roland and his bombardier.

Talked with Maurer and Lt. Stewart.

3-~Hotter today. Felt tired all day. Talked all morning. Went

to town with Roland. Read magazines at Red Cross Club. Came

back for supper. Had steak. Went out to line and looked for his

ship. He became T/Sgt. Maurer and Nelson drinking again. Mod-

eration must be taught.

With my background I was taught the evils of drinking. My
mother was a member of the WCTU (Women's Christian Temperance
Union). To my family it was an awful thing when prohibition was
repealed in 1933. In Hi-Y (High school YMCA) we were warned about
drinking. I never had the urge and never drank except for the one
time in Oklahoma City. I remember one fellow in my tent in basic
training who had to have something to drink, so he drank hair
tonic. I believe I grew more tolerant as I grew older but never
completely condoned it.

4--Wrote home. Big dust storm came up. IToo dusty to do anything.

Went to town. Got shampoo and shave at Red Cross Club. Read

magazine. Came back for supper. Had ice cream and cake and pork

chops. Enlisted men's club opened. Talked with Roland. Listened

to radio. Had hash and bouillon with crew. Cool and windy.

Letter dated July 4, 1944 postmarked July 5th censored by
Sanborn. '

Here it is the 4th of July again. I wonder if you are going
on a picnic today. Of course while I'm writing this you havn't
even got up as i; is 4:00 A.M., but here it almost time to eat

lunch. I am still in Italy and it is certainly hot today. We
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have been here longer than I thougﬁt we would and I am anxious
to get back to England as soon as possible. It is too hot here
although the breeze isn't bad. Quite a bit of dust is blowing
about all the time. The crew and I have gone to the beach and
have been swimming a couple of times in the Adriatic Sea. The
water is warm and it is a swell beach reserved now for the air
force. We may go again this afternogn. Visited the town of
Foggia but the Red Cross Club is about the only place in town.
Jascha Heifetz, the violinist, gave a concert that I got to hear.
I got his autograph after the bprogram. I heard him once before
in K.C. We havn't been doing much of anything lately because i1t
is too hot. Right now here in the tent Nelson is making a pair of

wings from some plexiglass, Crowder is reading and Crawford and

Maurer are playing cards. We have a big tent with plenty of
room we don't need. We left our crew chief in Russia and brought
4 gunner with us who happens to speak Italian. He is in town now,

I think. They'are-building an enlisted man's club here in camp,
but it isn’'t finished yet. Wish I had some ice cream to eat or
something to read. All we éan do is talk and rest. I think
Roland is flying today. Went to church last Sunday to kboth ser-
vices. Enclosing the bulletin. Hope you are saving the news-
bpaper clippings about what I've been doing. I wrote a letter to
Mr. Corti the other day. He's an Italian. Personally, I want
to get back to England as soon as possible. Even the drinking

water is warm here. The food is good. Had steak last night.

Hope you have a good holiday.
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Church bulletin enclosed and sheet from small notebook
that says: Greetings--Jascha Heifetz 1944

One day while we were in Itély the pilot came over and
wanted to know if we wanted to fly to Naples for a visit. I

remembered the adage: See Naples and die, but I wanted to go.

We didn't go for some reason.

The Allies and Germans were fighting in Rome about this
time. In September 1945 I claimed 5 points for the Rome-Arno
battle because I was theré at the time, and we did fly out of
Italy. An officer at Ft., Leavenworth challenged my claim, but
the war was over and everybody was anxious to get out so I be-
lieve the points counted.

Seeing Italy was an interesting experience. We were told
not to eat in town because it was not sanitary. I saw a number
of plates of spaghetti in front of some houses. The town was
in ruins, alot of damage ﬁas everywhere. It gave us an uncom-
fortable feeling when we ﬁalked a distance from the Red Cross
Club. Southern Italy has always been poorer than northern Italy.
In 1951 I brought my family to Rome, Florence, and Milan for a
visit and it was quite educafional.

5--Finally the day came. Got up by 4:30 and ate pancakes. Flew

up by Rome, over Corsica, by Marseilles and bombed Beziers in

southern France. Saw an enemy fighter. Arrived at 5:20. Not

as tired as usual. Got things fixed up again. Mr. Wellington

from Kansas City Star came and inteviewed me about the trip.

Went to Red Cross Club with Crowder. Felt good. Life is cer-

tainly worth living. Cool.

92



Rowe's log: Beziers, France, landed in Knettishall 9:15

Target--marshalling yards No damage to plane My FR: B-17G 9:15
The 388th at War

Mission #154, Beziers, July 5, 1944

"For this mission five of ' our aircraft flew with the 100th Bomb Group
to hit targets in Beziers. No enemy aircraft were encountered and all a/c.{}wﬂ
returned to base safely."” £y
This account disagrees with mine in that I state I saw an o
-enemy fighter. It was way off in the distance as we were pass-
ing Marseilles, and I am sure it was not American._

Edward Jablonski in his book, of which the complete title

is Flying Fortress The Illustrated'Biography of the B-~17s and

the Men Who Flew Them, writes on page 215 that the American

airmen from England "were guests of the 15th Air Force in Italy for
awhile. From Foggia they struck at a marshaling yard in Rumania [The wind-
shieid on our plane was being replaced so we did not make this
mission. Only three crews from the 388th participated inrthis
mission.], returned to Italy and finally headed back for England, dropping
bombs on a marshaling yard, en route,”

It was exciting to me to fly over Corsica and to see the
Mediterranean Sea and Marseilles. Getting back to England was.
like getting home. We had been on a nice vacation. Mr. Welling~
ton wanted me to tell him about Russia, but I had been more
impressed by Italy. As I recall the article stated that the

flyer said the peasants were returning to the fields. I did

feel like a celebrity.
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6--Got up around 8:15 and signed the payroll. Lt. Rowe gave us

the air medal. Looks good. Got alot of mail. Read. Went to

hospital to visit Mac. Saw Wilson there too. Mac came back with

us. Turned in my radio logsheets and flimsies. Ate dinner twice.

Stopped at combat crew library.. Went to show with Pop. Saw

"Guadacanel Diarv". Felt good all day. Got two weeks rations.

‘Talked with crew.

7-—Crew moved to end of barracks. I don't like the change. Went

to library and read. Wrote a long letter home. Pilot censored

two letters and cut parts out. Mission tomorrow. Going to bed

at 11:00.

July 7, 1944 postmarked July 8th censored by Frederick H.

Sanborn, 2nd Lt. A.C.

Fipally at last I am back in England, having arrived here
Wednesday arfternoon. Twenty letters were here waiting for me
so I ought té do alot of writing this week. No package has
arrived as yet.

I'll try and answer some of the gquestions in your letters
first. My bag was found before I left radio school. It had been
left in a baggage room. All the candy bars are gone now but I'm
getting along all right with what we get from the PX. In the
Red Cross package we got on the boat we received life-savers,
sewing kit, pehcil, stationery and a book. Alsc some cigarettes
which I gave away. I havn't seen a K.C. paper in a long time but
we do haﬁe some magazines at the library and Red Cross Club. I

don't have much time for reading. You say you figure I am just
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getting up as you are going to bed but that is only if we are
not flying. We usually have briefing sometime between midnight
énd 3:00 A.M. and take off about two hours later. We havn't
flown since we got back but will probably start soon. Of course
we are expecting a pass either tomorrow or the next day for 3
days so that will be awhile longer yet. That was a pretty good
picture taken in Kearney. The navigator has been taking pic-
tures of us but hasn't been able to get them developed yet. I
saw one picture taken of Maurer and me in Russia that was pretty
good. We didn't know it had been taken. I will try and get a
copy of it.

I hope you got my letter sent from Russia and Italy. They
said they would be held up awhile. It was certainly an interest-
ing trip and I enjoyed all of it. I}ve certainly seen and been
in alot of countries that I didn't expect to see. There isn't
much I can say about the trip as yet but as Vivian said, I'll
really have some things to tell my grandchildren. Nelson and I
went to a Russian dance and movie outdoors one night. I was sur-
prised to see that the Russians dance practically the same way
we do. At the movie one of the Russian soldiers sat by us and
tried to explain everything to us in Russian which of course we
couldn't understand. It was funny listening to hinm. The Russians
seemed gquite friendly. The movie was shown by a bunch of small
reels and after we had watched about 15 of them we decided to go
back to our tent as the movie didn't seem to be getting anywhere.

Besides it was getting cold outside. We heard the movie still
going after we got to bed. It was fun talking with the Russians.
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They enjoyed it so much and marveled at the fact that we could
ride in the big airplane,

When we arrived in Italy I had just got out of the plane
when a group of fellows gathered around each one of us and
started asking questions. There were about 20 around me. One
of the fellows thought he had seen me before so he asked me if
I had gone to Sioux Falls, if I had been in Class 49, in squadron
806 and he said he remembered me but before I had a chance to ask
him who he was he was called away saying he would talk to me
later. Then the pilot found out that we had landed at the wrong
base so we took off and went to the other base so I never saw the
fellow again. I met Roland Nuber there so I had a good time with
him while I was there. I'm glad I'm not stationed in Italy as 1t
is too dusty there. We really had one big dust storm one day. I
went to- town to get out of it. The Italians are different fronm
anybody else. They have had a hard time during this war and T
feel sorry for them. They have alot of fruit and that is about
Aall. Ham was §5.00 a pound and eggs 16¢ a piece but we wern't
allowed to eat in town anyway. They don't have much water either.
The Germans took everything when they ieft. I wonder what they
will do after the war. There were alot of men just walking the
streets. In England that is a rare sight. In Russia everybody
is in uniform or at least working for the army. The Red Cross
building was the nicest building in town. It might have been a
nice town before the war but there were alot of ruins there now.

Not as bad as Russia but still pretty bad.
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The trip back from Italy was uneventful for the most part.
It felt good to be back in England. Right after I got back in
the barracks and got things straightened up again a Mr. Wellington
from the K.C. Star came and interviewed me about the trip sc you
can loock for my name in the papers sometime soon. Send me a
copy so I can show the fellows. It probably won't be anything
more than one or two sentences. After that I met a fellow in the
barracks next door named Cartwright who lives at 31st & Troost in
K.C. We talked together for awhile. Yesterday we all went to
the hospital to see McIntyre who had his tonsils taken out while
we were gone and he was well enough to come back with us so we
are all ready to go again. We were given the Air Medal yesterday
which I will send home before long. It is given upon completion
of six missions but we had that many a2 long time ago. I can't
sag how many missions I have now.

It is raining again today as usual, typical English weather.
I prefer it to the dust iﬁ Italy.

8--Didn't get to sleep at all. Briefing at 1:00. Nelson and

Maurer were acting drunk and Mac had been drinking so I refused

to fly but Lt. Rowe straightened things out. I acted rather

impulsively. Flew near Paris looking for a target. Finally

bombed a bridge. Alot of accurate flak. Slept for awhile.

Nelson and I cleaned our guns together on ship we brought back

from Italy. Slept some more. Ate dinner and went Lo show. Saw

"Sherlock Holmes and the Secret Weapon". Got paid 17 pounds,

11 shillings, 9 pence.
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Rowe's log: Mantes-Gassicourt, France 5:15 Railroad
bridge 3 flak holes My FR: 5:15 I have written in Nantes

which is evidently wrong but maybe just a typo.

The 388th at War

Mission #158, Mantes, France July 8, 1944

"The whole 8th Air Force heavy bombers were dispatched to attack tacti-
cal targets in the Paris area. The 45th A Combat Wing, with the 388th "A"
and "B", high and low respectively,. was to have attacted a supﬁly depot
Northwest of Beaumont.

"Our 28 a/c were airborne by 0351 hours. 1 a/c from each formation
aborted for mechanical reasons and 3 a/c from A Group returned early because
of inability to locate the formation. Formations were effected with diffi-
culty due to the hours of darkness, and the Combat Wing never did get together.

"The B Group followed by the A Group crossed the enemy Coast at the
briefed point. Approximately 12 miles inside the French Coast the B Group
encountered meager but extremely accurate flak from Cleres. The Group
leader and his right wing man went down from this attack. Two other a/c
were so severely hit that they had to abort. The B Group reformed with the
deputy lead taking over the lead.

"The primary target was completely cloud covered and was not attacked.
The A Group attacked a railroad bridge over the Seine River at Mantes-Gassi-
court. The B Group attacked railroad tracks in the vicinity of Yvetot.

"No enemy a/c were seen. Meagre flak was encountered over the targets.
The flak at Cleres which shot down two of our a/c also caused major damage to
6 a/c and minor damage to 5 others.

"Lt. J. Klein was killed by flak. [4 others were wounded. ]

"18 a/c returned to base by 0855 hours."
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[The crews of the two planes shot down are listed. One crew
with 1st Lt. R. E. Gill as ﬁilot on their 13th mission, all became
POW's. Lt. Fisher's crew was also shot down at 0645 hours by flak.
The left wing caught fire and the a/c blew up. P, CP, RO, BT, LW,
and TG were KIA. The N was MIA. The B and TT are listed as ESC
and the BW became a POW. Both planes were in the B Group--Low.]

In the chart of the formation in #6 position in the middle
squadron of the A Group--Lead is —%%%%g e ATeon S e

Sunday, 9--Got in on the very last pancake for breakfast. Went to

church with Maurer, Crowder and Crawford. Another English minister.

Had a poor dimmer. Our crew got 3-day pass. Had to stand on train

all the way. Got room at Royal Hotel with crew. Walked around

Piccadilly Circus. Feet tired.

10--Got up about 9:15. Left hotel with Ermest. He was going to

Cambridge. Went to Piccadilly Hotel and got room for 2 days at ome

pound a day. Swell room and. swell bed. Went to Red Cross Club

and got doughnuts. Met Crowder there. Roamed iaround awhile.

Saw old crew 29. Met crew and Lt. Stewart. He bought us clothes.

I got 4 pair of shorts. All ate dinner together. Went to show

and saw "Up in Arms". Good picture. Ate supper and went to

dance at Covent Gardens Royal Opera House. Stayed 'til 10:45,

Roamed around Piccadilly Circus. What a place. Went to bed at

12:15.

11-~-Felt good to sleep in a good bed. Got up at 9:30. Got

doughnuts and coke for breakfast. Saw George there. Went over

to Royal Hotel. Got Maurer and Nelson. Ate lunch together.

Took them by show. I went to see "For Whom the Bells Toll".

99



Good picture. Well worth seeing. Went in penny arcade. Ate

supper. Went to Covent Gardems again. Had good time dancing

with one girl called Angel especially. As I was getting on sub-

way Dorothy, Errol and Tess picked me up. Ate chow with them.

Took them to bus stop. Walked arcund and talked to some of the

commandos. What a town! I've found out alot since I've been in

the army.

I remember telling Maurer and Nelson about‘Danny Kaye's
picture "Up in Arms", and Maurer went to see it and told_me after-
wards how much he enjoyed it. I really have no recollection of
being picked up but I guess it was easy to do. Despite the
blackouts alot of people were out walking. They knew where to
go in the dark better than I.

12--Stayed in bed until 11:30. Too bad I had to get up. Went to

news theater. Saw latest news on the screen. Got doughnuts and

coke. Went to station and got train back to Thetford. Ate

supper. Went to bed early. Didn't do much today.

I recall that a hotel valet woke me up and said, "It is six
o'clock"”, and then left. I rolled over and went back to sleep.

There were a number of news theaters in London which showed
war news and other items of interest. They were not expensive,
and I thought it was a good.idea.

My second trip to London was not as satisfying as the first.

13--Woke us up at 01:00. Had pancakes for breakfast. We flew

scheduled abortion. Got back at 9:00 as we didn't go on mission.

Went to sleep. Got up for supper. Went to show with Crawford

and saw "Seven Days AShore". Wrote home. Rained.
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_Rowe's log: local over chanmel 4:00 Scheduled abortion
My FR: 4:00
The 388th at War

ol
1

Mission #161, Munich, July 13; 1944 @?{/iﬁz' 2

"For the third day in a row, the lst and 3rd Air Divisions attacked
Munich.... 2 a/c of the A Group aborted for mechanical reasons and 4 a/c of
the B Group aborted--one for mechanical reason-—one as a spare [this must
~ be us]--one because they could not locate the formation and the other re-
turned after being hit by flak in the Brussels area on the route in."

Letter dated July 13, 1944 postmarked July 14th censored
by Walter G. Collins 2nd.Lt. AC

Since I last wrote you I have been to London again. Last
Sunday we learned at noon that we could get a pass that after-
noon so we left about 3 in the afternoon arriving in London that
evening. The first night the six of us stayed at the Royal
Hotel but the next day we broke up. Crawford and Crowder went
to Cambridge. I stayed the next two nights at the Piccadilly
Hotel and left London Wednesday afternocon. You should have
seen my hotel room. I decided to be extravagant for once so I
really spent guite a bit of money. The room cost $4.00 a night
{one pouﬁd), but the bed was nice and soft and I even ha& a
private bath. I slept late Iin the morning and then would go

to a show., In the evenings I went to the dances held at the

Royal Opera House. It was like a real vacation and I had a
good time. Ate most of my meals with the fellows.. I saw "For
whom the Bells Toll" and "Up in Arms" at the movies. Next time
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I may go to a play. I might decide to go to Scotland, but I
know it is fun to go to London. I know my way around pretty
well now. I saw a number of fellows I knew while in London.

l4--Briefing at 1:00. Pancakes for breakfast again. Went on a

long mission to southern France. Dropped supplies to the French.

Interphone system went out. Got back at 1:30. Ate and went to

bed. Slept 'til dinner time. Got package from home. Full of

candy and peanuts. Good. Heard Beethoven's lst concerto for

piano over radio at Red Cross Club. Took shower with Grawford.

Cloudy.
Rowe's log: St. Julien, France 10:00 No opposition--

dropped guns and ammunition to French partisans. My FR: 10:00

French installations

The 388th at War

Mission #162, Area #4, Southern France——Support of the Marquies, July 14, 1944

"The 3rd Air Division was dispatched to France on a special mission in
support of the French Marquies. All a/c were loaded with C-3 type bombs.

"The 388th furnished three 12 a/c Groups which compose the 45th C
Combat Wing.

"Our 36 a/c were airborne between @@40 and 0423 hours and there were
no abortions. Some difficulty was encountered in forming due to darkness;
after which, the briefed route to and from the target was followed.

"The target area was clear and the briefed recognition signals were
easily recognized. Bombs were away from the préscribed altitude as follows:
A Group at 0920 hours on a heading of 15 degrees. B Group at 0930 hours on

a heading of 360 degrees and the C Group at 0932 hours on a heading of 345

degrees.
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"Strike results show excellent results for all Groups.

"No enemy fighters or flak were seen on this mission.

"Our a/c returned to base at 1338 hours."

The chart of the formation has —%%%% , the plane we fl?w to
Russia, in #3 position in the six planes in the middle squadron
of A Group Lead.

The 388th Bomb Group Assn. publishes a newsletter and in the
April 1990 edition mention was made of the three missions that
carried materials to the French. 62 crews were involved and Ed
Huntzinger requested that crew members who had participated in
one of the missions to write him. There was a chance that the
French government would award the Croix de Guerre to those indi-
viduals. I wrote him and gave the names énd addresses of our

& ~Ff &+t
15 of ti

crew members. I also wrote some about my recollectio ie
mission.

I recall seeing some men on the ground scurrying out to get
the parcels the planes had dropped. ﬁe were flying at a very low
altitude and the parcels had parachutes with static lines. My
most vivid memory is about having to hold on to the walkway in
the bomb bay and lean out and pﬁll in the static lines which were
flapping outside. Luckily we did not hit an air pocket.

If our interphone system went out we evidenfly didn't talk
much on this mission.

In the July 1990 issue Ed writes that only a little more
than half of the men have replied. He wants to hear from the

rest so they can send their names to France. Now if we can just

go to France to receive the award.
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In the January 1991 issue a letter is printed which Ed
received from the Foundation du Memorial de L'Escadrill Lafayette.
Russell M. Porter writes that "there is a cut-off date on all World War
1T awards.... the Croix de Guerre is not a blanket sort of decoration. This
is awarded usually on a unit Commander's recommendation, for specific endea-
vors.... I willtry to investigate a little further, and have seen on one occa-
sion, where there was a national commemoration. There is no automatic appli-
cation for award of the Croix de Guerre...”

It looks doubtful that anything further will develop along
this line. I did notice a picture on page 221 of Jablonski's

book Flying Fortress with the cabtion: "The French present the

Croix de Guerre avec Palm to members of the 100th who took part in the drop

to the Marquis. ILieutenant Colonel Bennett is the recipient here.”

i5--Up at 9:00. Went to PX and got ratioms. Got package from

home. Good to eat candy and peanuts again. Got 123 assigned to

us. Went to radio school with Crawford and then Lo gunnery school.

Talked with crew. I have a good crew. We have a good time together.

V-mail letter dated July 15, 1944 postmarked July 21 censored
by Frederick Sanborn.

Have just enough time to write a short letter. Got your
rackage today and so I'm sending my thanks. It was good but it
isn’'t all gone yet. I've been passing it out and it went pretty
fast but I managed to hold some of it back. We went to school
all afternoon. I have to go to bed now as W; have briefing this
coming morning I think. I'm getting in guite a number of missions.

Do you know where the Municipal Auditorium is? Well, I am too.

[I refer to 13th street in K.C. We had completed 13 missions.]
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Got a ship assigned to us today. It is named Girl of My Dreams
which seems like a good name for it. I wonder if you would send
me a couple of pairs of tech sergeant's stripes. They are scarce
around here. I want the green stripe on a black background

(called OD stripes). Also more candy would be appreciated.

Have got to guit now to get this censored before the officers get
to bed. Will write more soon. Got Zaundry today, also PX
rations. Got a can of tomato juice this week. That's all for now.

Sunday, 16--Briefing at 2:00. Long mission near Mumich. Stutt-

gart I think. Got back at 1:30. Poor dimnner. Went to bed and

slept 'til 6:00. Ate chicken supper. Went Eg_churéh. Got coke

and cup cake. Wrote to Vivian. Plenty tired.

Rowe's log: Stuttgart 8:30 Center of city--no damage to
plane My FR: 8:30

The 388th at War

Mission #163, Munich, July 16, 1944

"The 388th furnished two groups to fly lead and low in the 45th A Com-
bat Wing Formation.

"18 a/c plus 2 PFF a/c of the A Group and 16 a/c of the B Group were
airborne between 0515 and 0540 hours. 1 a/c of the A Group aborted for

mechanical reasons and 1 returned as a spare.

"Formations were effected and the briefed route to the target was fol-
lowed. At the IP, the formation encountered a front up to 30,000 feet and
was forced to make a left turn and select another target. Stuttgart was
attacked through 10/10th clouds by PFF methods. Bombs were away at 10:15

hours from 24,100 feet.
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"Flak over the target was moderate to intense and fairly accurate.
Meagre flak was encountered at Brussels and Ludwigshavern.

"All a/c returned to base by 1356 hours."

Letter dated July 16, 1944 postmarked July 18 censored by Sanborn
Dear Vivian,

With all the letters I have here from you it is more than past time-I
should write to you. You seemed to have got quite a bit of traveling done
last month and I bet you saw alot of interesting things. I would prefer to
see America first but it locks like I am getting a glié;e of the world first.

We got back from a mission this afternoon at 1:30 which is about as
late as we ever return. We were expecting a big dinner but when we got to
the mess hall all they had was lunch ham and potato salad. That is the time
when you feel like it isn't worth the effort. I went to bed and slept until
six and then ate a big chicken dinner so I guess that makes up for what we
had this afternoon. Church service was at 8:00 and I just got back from
there sc it is now 9:30. If we fly tomorrow which we probably will I had
better go to bed again before long. Two of the crew havn't got up yet.

No doubt you have been wondering if I have been keepipg up with your
handkerchief collection. The first time I went to London I walked into one
of the biggest stores they have and asked for one and was told that I would
need ration points. Everywhere 1t .was the same. Just by luck, the last time
I was there I found one in a military store that they would sell me without
points, so I will send it along when I can. It isn't much but at least it
came from London. In Italy there wasn't any to be found. The nearest thing
I saw was a small table set which cost around $10.00. Prices are terribly

high there and they havn't anything much to sell anyway. We almost had a
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chance to visit Naples and I thought I could find something there but we

didn't get to go. Russia is even worse. They don't even have any stores.

In fact there isn't much left to the town. I did get a‘small piece of a

parachute that I can give you. I think it is nylon but you know more about

that than I do. I'll send a package home on<of these days and include alot
‘

of things.

You would have liked to go swimming at the beach on the Adriatic. The
water is warm and the beach was at least a mile long. It was a swell beach
and we had a good time in the water. I got a little red but it is about gone
now. It is next to impossible to get a tan in England bacause the sun seldom
comes ogt. It was quite warm todéy which is unusual.

You arn't the only one that stayed at Hotel Piccadilly because I did
too. Only difference was tbét I was in a larger city than you were. You
cught to come to London sometime. I'm sure you would enjoy it. I know my
way around pretty well there now. It is fun riding the subways. They have
escalators about 3 stories long and some of them go at a pretty good rate of
speed. Then if you run down them you are really traveling. It is inexpensive
too. I don't ride the buses much because I don't know where they are goiné.
It is fun riding on the top deck. They have more taxis in London than in
New York I think.

Received the package of candy yesterday. It sure tasted good. Send
some more If you can. I imagine it is guite hard to find candy there. We
get 3 candy bars a week (one Hershey and 2 English bars)} at the PX.

Well, I had better guit and get this up to the officers barracks to get

it censored tonight. I'm rather tired and want to get to bed.

17--Got up at 9:00. Went with Crawford to Red Cross Club. Ate dinner. Had

briefing at 3:00. Already tired. Went '_1_:_Q France not far from Paris. Flak
.
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was close and accurate. QOur bombs wouldn't drop. Came back and dropped them

over the channel. I got 2 QDM's. Tired. Got back at 11:00. Ate at mess

hall. Back to barracks atl12:40. No time to sleep.

Ship No. 434. While putting in gun the adapter flew off and hit me in

eye and mouth. Did quite a bit of bleeding.

I still have a scar over my right eye where the adapter flew off and hit
me. Too bad I could not claim a Purple Heart.

Rowe's log: 5:50 Maulsunoy, France Flying bomb installations 2 flak
holes My FR: 5:50 My notation of French coast is also correct.

The 388th at War

Mission #164, Houppeville, July 17,1944

"The 3rd Air Division dispatched its forces to attack pilotless aircraft
installations just inside the French Coast. The 388th furnished two 12 plane
mations which flew individually. Wing formations were not effected for
the mission.

"12 a/c of the A Group were airbornme by 1757 hours and 12 a/c of the B
Group by 1809 hours. None of our planes aborted. The two Groups formed
without difficulty aﬁd proceeded to the Targets as briefed. The weather over
the Target was CAVU and each group attacked vissually. Bombs were away from
the A Group at 2035 hours from 23,000 feet. Bombs were away from the B
Group at 2042 hours from 22,900 feet. Strike photos show excellent results,

"Lt. Pohl in a/c 42~-37849 landed safely at this base after his entire
crew, except the co-pilot, had bailed out over the field. All crew members
are safe. The ailerons of the aircraft had been shot away by flak and Lt.

Pohl gave his crew the choice of bailing out or staying with the plane for

an emergency landing. All of our a/c returned to base by 2305 hours.
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"No enemy a/c were seen on this mission. The A Group encountered meagre
but accurate flak at Cleres. The B Group encountered moderate and accurate

flak at Rouen and St. Martin."

18--Briefing and out to the ship. Flew in 098. Went to Kiel,

Germany. Kluth flew as pilot. Not much happened. Got back at

11:00. Ate and went to bed. Got up at 6:00 for supper. Still

tired. Going back to bed.

My FR: 6:30 Kiel

Flying two missions with no rest in between is tiresome.
Rowe decided to ground himself but the squadron provided us with
an extra pilot, Donald B. Kluth, who had been a copilot on a Dﬂﬁjiimf
crew that had been picked to be a lead crew. [I recall that our
crew was asked if we wanted to be a lead crew which meant losing
Stewart. We voted against it. Lead crews oniy fly the big mis-
sions and we were anxious to complete our tour as soon as possible.]
Kluth was bumped off his crew so the CO could fly. He had checked
out to be a pilot so was available for us. We did not know we
would get to fly with Kluth again on our last mission.

My recollection of this mission was that I had to open and
close the gas tank valves a number of times. Gas was consumed
from the iuner tanks, so it was necessary to open the valves of
the outer wing tanks so that thz gas could flow into the inner
tanks. These valves were hard to operate and were located in
the back of the bomb bay near my position. To operate them I
had to disconnect my intercom, oxygen , and heated suit. In a

few minutes I had to return to close the valves as the inner
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tanks were full. On both missions with Kluth I had to leave my
position a number of tima2s. Col. Kluth now resides in Madison,
Wisconsin.

Now the crew had as many missions as Rowe who had flown a
mission before we started. Rowe was our good luck charm.

The 388th at War

Mission #165, Kiel, July 18, 1944

"On this day thz lst Air Division was assigned targets in the Peenemunde
area, the 2nd Air Division was assigned the Caen area of France, while the 3rd
Air Division was sent to Kiel. The 388th furnished two groups. The A Group
was the high Group in the 45th A Combat Wing while the B Group was the high
Group in the 45th B Combat Wing.

"17 a/c of the A Group and 18 a/c of the B Group were airborne betwaen
0428 and 0501 hours. 1 a/c from each Group aborted. Formations were effected
and the briefed course to the target was followed. After the Wing left Eng-
land, 10/10th clouds prevailed over the entire route. The PFF equipment in
the A Group was not functioning and the Wing did not get into position to bomb
on the2 markers of the preceding Wing. Our A Group returned with their bombs.
The B Group attacked the primary target with bombs away at 0842 hours from
25,300 feet.

"No enemy fighters were seen. Flak over the target was moderate.

"All of our a/c returned to base by 1123 hours."

19--Another briefing at 1:00. Getting monotonus. Flew in 098

again, Little Donna. Didn't take off until 5:10. Bombed

Schweinfurt. Got 23 flak holes in ship. Two came in radio room

and one in bomb bay. Back to eat. Went to bed. Slept 'til 8:00.
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Went to Red Cross Club with Mac. Back to barracks. Tired. Two

other crews in barracks on pass.

Rowa's log: Schweinfurt, Germany 7:20 Ball bearing plant

23 flak holes Mj FR: 7:20
The 388th at War

Mission #166, Schweinfurt, July 19, 1944

"Some 1200 heavy bombers were to take part in attacking targets in south-
central Germany on this mission. The 388th was to furnish the lead and low
Groups of the 45th A Combat Wing. This was to follow the 4th Wing which was
in the lead for the 3rd Air Division.
| "17 a/c plus one PFF of the A Group were airborne by 0527 hours. 20 a/c
of the B Group were airborne by 0542 hours. 1 a/c of each Group aborted plus
one spare returned to base.

"Formations were effected without difficulty and then a mid-air col-
lision caused one a/c in the B Group to go down over Bury St. Edmmds. The
formations then proceeded to the assigned target as briefed. Patchy clouds
covered the entire route, but it was clear over the Target. Bombs were away
at 0936 hours from 25,000 feet A Group and 0938 hours from 23,300 feet on the
B Group. The PFF a/c leading the A Group was reported to have been hit by
flak on the bomb run and the formation became slightly dispersed and many
of the bomBs missed the MPI. Strike photos show that the bombs from the B
Group were on the factory just to the west of the assigned factory.

"No fighters were seen on this mission. Flak was intense over the
Target. A

"Lt. Maring in a/c 42-30195 "Blind Date" made an emergencﬁ landing at

"Honington as the plane received major flak damage.

111



"Afc 42-30851 "Little Boy Blue" was cut into by the props of the plane
below when a/c #851 dropped down in the formation, at 0800 hours over Bury
St. Edminds at 15,000 feet. It was cut just forward of the waist windows.
The forward part of the plane spun into the ground and exploded while the
tail section fluttered earthward. One waist-gunner and the tail-gunner were
able to parachute safely and returned to base. When they returned to base
to be interrogated, the S-2 officer (Lt. Ratcliffe) said it was hard to be-
lieve this story.

[The other eight'members of the crew were KIA. A more com-
plete story of this event is found in the 388th Bomb Group Assn.
Newsletter of April 1990.(Vol, 42, No. 2).]

"32 a/c returned to base by 1258 hours."

Rowe

In the chart of the formation ‘ET6§8 is in #5 position of the middle

squadron on the A Group.

20--Got to sleep later. Briefing at 4:00. We were scheduled

abortion. Flew half way across channel and then came back. I

would have liked to have gome on. Got back to base at 10:00.

Showered and went to show. Saw "Don't Get Personal”. Wrote

home. Went to dinner and Red Cross Club with Crowder. Four of

the crew went to 96th Group.

Rowe's log: over English channel 3:20 Scheduled abortion

My FR; 3:20
The 388th at War

Mission #167, Wetzler, July 20, 1944

"The 388th furmished 28 a/c.... In the B Group. 8 a/c were airborne

by 0630 hours flying high squadron with the 452nd B Group which flew low
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Group in the Wing. 2 a/c of each Group returned as spares with no aborts.”
In the chart it mentions Aborts--Rowe,

We had flown every mission for seven day, July 13-20, with
only July 15th off when the Group did not fly. This is a pretty

fast pace.

Ve-rmail letter undated [July 20, 1944] postmarked July 27th
censored by Bob Stewart

Have just enoughrtime to write a V-mail letter as I must get
to bed before long. We have been flying gquite regularly and T
must get my sleep or eise I feel tired all the time. The weather
has been nice lately for a change. It still gets real cool every
night which doesn't make it seem like summer. I got your letter
written July 6 yesterday in which you told me about the article
in the paper. I hope you include the article in the next letter
as I would like to see what it said. It isn't every day that one
gets interviewed. Did you receive my letter I wrote about the
trip? Four of the boys have gone over to see Maurer's brother
this evening. I decided to write letters although I didn't get
much done. One of these days I'm going to take a day off and
get caught up. Well, there isn't much more to write about.
nothing exciting has been happening that I can write about. I
had better take this up and get it censored and get to.bed. wWill
write again when something interesting happens.

21--Maurer woke me up at 6:30 for a practice mission. Had pan-

cakes and tomato juice for breakfast. Cloudy and started to rain

so we didn't fly. Went back to bed. Slept'til noon. Ate lunch
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and wrote letters. After dinner I went to library and read a

book "Ladies of Luxury" by Helen Z. Smith. It wasn't so good

but made me do quite a bit of thinking about what a terrible

condition this world ig in. I used to think the U.S. was bad

off but after seeing some of the other countries I find the

good o0ld U.S. is not doing so badly after all.

22--Again the engineer and I went on practice mission with pilot

and navigator. I flew in nose. Flew all over England. What a

life! Ate and went to bed again. Sgt. Wilder visited us in

barracks. Went to chow. Sat around in barracks and talked

with crew. Didn't get much done today.

Rowe's log: local 3:00 Practice formation My FR: 3:00

Sunday, 23--They got Maurer and myself up at 5:30 for practice

mission but briefing wasn't until 7:30. Flew in formation at

18,000 ft. I stayed in nose. Learned about the Gee box. That

kind of mission is fun. Slept most of the afternoon. Ate big

dinner. Went to church with Maurer, Crowder & Nelson. Nice

- service.
Rowe's log: local 3:30 Practice mission My FR: 3:30
On one of these practice missions we were flying around
England when, at my suggestion, we headed north for Scotland,
but the weather closed in and we had to turn around. I enjoyed
these missions which just included the two pilots, the navigator,
the engineer, and the radio operator. |

24~-Woke us up at 7:30. No briefing. Went straight to plane.

Flew in 289. Bombed the front lines in France. Flew over the
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target for about an hour. Got back at 4:15. Ate dinner and then

went again later. Quite tired. Had headache while flying. Was

glad to get down. Stopped at library for awhile.

Rowe's log: Saint Lo area Cherbourg Peninsula, France 6:30
Enemy front line troop concentrations No battle‘damage My FR:

6:30 French coast
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The 388th at War

Mission #168, St. Lo Area, July 24, 1944

"On the 24th of July the whole 8th Air Force was dispatched to a target
West of St. Lo, France for saturation bombing to aid a break through of our
Ground forces in that area. The 388th furnished three Groups, composiﬁg the
45th Combat Wing.

"35 a/c were airborne between 0910 and 0940 hours and there were no
aborts. Formations were effected and the Wing proceeded to the target on the
briefed course. [Maybe the pilots were briefed.] Weather in the
target was hazy with broken skies causing the Wing to make four bomb runs.
Bombs were away at 1311 hours from 16.000 feet on a mag heading of 325 de-
grees. Meagre accurate flak was encountered in the target area along with
10-12 rockets. We were the only Wing in the Division that dropped its bombs.

"In all the Groups of the 3rd Division the total battle damage was 21
minor and 1 major to the a/c with no casualties.

"All of our a/c returned to base by 1603 hours.”
In the chart ~%?ggg is in #3 position in the middle squadron of the C

Group. No battle damage to our plane although the plane in #4 position had

3 flak holes.
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25——Got us up at 7:30. No briefing. Flew over France near St. Lo. Bombed

the front lines. Backed up by entire 8th air foree. Got back at 1:30. Ate

and got rations. Went to barracks and was called out again. Another mission.

Flew in Little Donna both times 098. Cruised around up to 28,600 ft. before

we got above the clouds. That is the highest I have been. Scrubbed the

mission. Came back and ate again. Began to feel tired after a while.

Rowe's log: Saint Lo area Cherbourg Peninsula; France 5:40 Same
local 3:00 mission scrubbed after climbing over 28,500 overcast
My FR: 5:40 St. Lo area & 3:00

I believe that the report of this mission said that some bombs dropped

on our own troops. Despite this, according to the Life book World War II,

this is the day the Allies began breakout of Normandy.

On the second mission that day I seem to recall that.we were to form at
10,000 feet but it was overcast, so the order came to form at 15,000. We
kept going up but it remained overcast, so they scrubbed the mission. I
tried not to think about hundreds of planes circling in the fog.

The 388th at War

Mission #169, St. Lo Area, July 25, 1944

"For the second consecutive day the 8th Air Force sent its forces to a
tactical target nmear St. Lo, France.

"The 388th put up three Groups of 12 a/c for the 45th A Combat Wing. No
a/c aborted for the second day in a row. Formations were effected and the
briefed route was followed to the target. Bombs were away at 1031 hours from
13,000 feet. Strike photos show a very tight pattern covering the target.
Bombing was done from 3,000 feet lower than briefed because of clouds.

"No enemy fighters were encountered. Flak in the target area was meagre

-
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‘and inaccurate. One of our a/c in the C Group had self-inflicted damage caused
by the premature exploding of a fragmentation bomb at bombs‘away. There were
no casualties.

"Brigadier General Kissner, 3rd Division Chief of Staff, and members of
his staff accompanied persomel of the 388th on this mission.”

The book does not mention the scrubbed mission later in the
day.

26--Stayed in bed until 9:30. Didn't get any mail so decided to

write some. [Wrote five letters.} Not guite so far behind now.

After dinmer I went to library. Read awhile and then went to

Red Gross Club. Got cup cakes and cokes. Rode back on bicycle

with Nelson.

6]

27--Didn't get to sleep because of talking in barracks. Briefing

2:00. Went to ip 098. Ready to f£ly to Stuttgart. Mission

n
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scrubbed at 5:30. Went back to barracks and slept 'til 11:00.

Got letter from Vivian. Ate lunch and got cokes. Went to

school. Heardlecture on security and supposed Lo have one on

guns. Went out to ship and .removed guns and cleaned them.

After dinner I wrote to Vivian. Went to library and read.

Leatter to Vivian dated July 27, 1944 postmarked July 28th

censored by Robert M. Rowe.

Right now it is 7:20 in the evening and it is raining real
hard so I thought this would be a good time to write a letter.
This is the kind of weather I thought woﬁld be prevalent all
the time but we havn't had very much rain. It is cloudy most of

the time but doesn't rain too often.
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We went to school this afternoon but of course we didn't
learn much. We are getting to feel like veterans now. The time
has passed rapidly since we have been here and perhaps it won't
be long beforewe'll be through. I'm anxious to get home again.

As yet I havn't had anybodé to sew my stripes on. The
lauvndry lady is going to sew on a couple of pairs on my jackets,
but I don'‘t have the right kind of stripes for my blouse and
shirts. I'm hoping you send me some before long. You cught to
see all the ribbons I have across my chest now. You'll be able
to see me coming a block away. |

I am beginning to get caught up with my mail again. There
are only 11 letters wailting here to be answered.

wWill probably go to the Aero Club (Red Cross) la%er on- this
evening and get something to eat. We can get sandwiches, cup-
cakes, cokes, tea and coffee there. Almost like a corner drug
store although I still miss the milk shakes. I'm going to get
five in a row when I get back to the states. We had ice cream
for dessert which wasn't bad. We get it about two times a week.
Some of the meals are poor but usually we have plenty to eat.

Not much has happened recently and since Crawford is going
to get his mail censored now I will guit so he can take this
letter with him.

28--Briefing at 2:30. Listened to German news broadcast before

take-off. Flew to Meuseburg [actually Merseburg], Germany. Not

much flak. Not a bad trip. Got one QDM at 250 miles. Got back

to the sack at 3:45. Slept until 9:00. Went to Red Cross Club
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with Maurer and Nelson. Back to bed at 11:00.

The trip wasn't as easy as I thought.

Rowe's log: Merseburg, Germany 8:30 oil refinery 5 flak
holes My‘FR: 8:30 Merseburg

It was enjoyable being a radio operator., I could listen to
other stations at times and often get good music. It was possible
to pick up Axis Sally at times and get some good jazz. Listening
to Sally was always good for a laugh. Collins liked to listen on
~ the radio, and I enjoyed going to his position. It had the best
view although to sit there during landing was a frightening ex-
‘perience. On a mission I often stayed listening to my radio,
especially if a message was coming in, so did not communicate
with the other members of the crew who usually stayed on the
intercom channel. I did nctice that if the mission.was relative-
ly easy the crew did alot of talking and even singing. If the
mission Was-rough the crew ﬁas more subdued. Most of the time
the crew worked well together. We all had a job to do and we did
our best.

It may not have been on this mission but one event stands
out in my mind. We were on our way to a target-when I looked
up and saw a plane flying direcfly above us. From my position
I had a‘good view up but only a small window on either side. On
the earlier models the hatch was left open, but in later models
the compartment was more enclosed. On this occasion I called
the pilot who called the leader who called the plane and the

plane moved back to its right position. I had forgotten about
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it when we got to the IP (initial point) where the formation is
on the bomb run, and I looked up and there was the plane again,
this time with its bomb bay doors open. I could see the bombs.
Again I notified the pilot, and it seeﬁed like it took forever
for the plane to move. I just knew those bombs were going to
hit us, but the plane slid over just a bit and the bombs went
by our wing. The disaster was averted. |

One other process that cause anxiety when I thought about it,
so I tried not to think about it, was our take-offs at night or
in the daytime in foggy weather. Some of the missions we were on
had a thousand planes involved. The planes took off at specified
intervals of 30 seconds, and a procedure was followed by all the
planes, climbing up to the altitude specified for putting the
formation together. I never heard of any collisions during this
procedure, but I'm sure there must have been some. One collision
occured on the runway one day at our base when a landing plane
ran into a gas truck. The driver of the truck was killed. I
expect he thought he had an easy job, but the war caught up with
him.

The 388th at War

Mission #170, Merseburg, July 29, 1944

"The 1st and 3rd Air Divisions were sent to attack a synthetic oil re-
finery of I. G. Farbenindustrie in the Merseburg-Leuna area. The 388th fur—
nished two Groups, the lead and the low Groups in the 45th B Combat Wing.

"18 a/c plus 2 PFF a/c of the A Group and 20 a/c of the B Group took-off

between 0500 and 0527 hours. 3 a/c in the A Group aborted, 2 for mechanical

reasons and cne because he could not locate the formation.
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"After forming, the Groups flew East diagonally across Europe on a
briefed flak~free course to the IP, where the course was changed to a East-
West for the bomb rim. Two sharp right turns were made at the target and
RP and the same route was followed on the return to base. Due to cloudy
conditions at the target, PFF methods were used with bombs away at 0941
hours from 24,000 feet. The bombs in one a/c of the B Group hung-up and
had to be jettisoned South of the target at the RP,

"One ME 410 was observed in the target area but did not attack.
Meagre flak was encountered at Koblenz and Kassel with. accurate flak at the
target.

"25 a/c suffered minor damage and 1 a/c major damage.

"Sgt. E. R. Finn was wounded.

"All a/c returned to base by 1358 hours."

In the chart —%?ggs is in position #5 in the high squadron of the A
Group Lead. 1In the list of battle damage 42-97098 from the 561st Sq. has
5 holes listed.

29--Didn't get much sleep. Back to Meuseburg [wrong again] again.

Quite a bit of flak. That makes 21. When we got to the barracks

at 3:00 we found we had a pass. Rained. Took laundry to Mrs.

Hubbard. All but Crowder and officers went into Thetford.

Walked around awhile with Crawford. I should go to visit some

other city but it isLondon again. Got on train at 11:30.

Rowe's log: Merseburg, Germany 8:30 oil refinery 4 flak
holes My FR: 8:30 Merseburg Total flying time in July--98:40
The 388th at War

Mission #171, Merseburg, July 29, 1944

"For the second consecutive day, lst and 3rd Air Division forces were
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dispatched to the I. G. Farbenindustrie synthetic oil plant at Leuna. The
388th flew high Group on both the 45th A and B Combat Wings.

"The A Group had 20 a/c airborne between 0535 and 0554 hours. In the
B Group 19 a/c were airborne between 0520 and 0532 hours. All a/c of the A
Group attacked the Target, while two aborted from the B Group for mechanical
reasons. After forming, the Groups flew Southeasterly across Germany to the
IP, where a turn was made to a west-east bomb run. Clouds covered the Target
but black smoke in the Target area indicated direct hits. In the vicinity of
the RP, the A Group was attacked by 30-50 ME 109's and 8-12 FW 190"s. Only
one pass was made before our escort intercepted. Lt. Boyce in a/c 42-39866
was attacked by 3 ME 109's from the rear, setting fire to the two inboard
engines. When the fire broke out, he peeled off and went into a dive and
disappeared into the clouds at 14,000 feet. The copilot and navigator were
able to bail-out and landed into a barley field, and were captured immediately.
The Germans at a near-by base said that seven bodies were in the burned air-
craft. After this five minute attack, the Group followed the same route home
as on the way to the Target.

"Bombs were away at 1006 from 26,000 feet. The B Group made its own
sighting and did not bomb with the Wing.

"36 a/c returned to the base by 1354 hours.

"The only flak encountered was at the Target and was intense and accu-
rate. 2 a/c had major battle damage and 21 a/c had minor damage. Sgt. G. J.
Mead was wounded and one crew is missing. Claims are two ME 109's destroyed.

[The members of Boyce's crew are listed. All are KIA except the CP and

N which are POW's. ]

"Lt. Fitzpatrick returned in a crippled a/c and while it was being re-
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paired, an a/c from Fersfield making an emergency landing hit his a/c kill-
ing the crew chief, Orson Wells and mechanic Joe Haine. Lt. Paulson in a/c
42-97873 Flying in the high squadron. came back with nine 20 mm holes in his
aircraft.” | '

In the chart listing the positions in the formation, Rowe is listed in
#6 position in the middle sguadron of the B Grouﬁ.'

From July 13th through July 29th our crew flew on every mission the
388th BG flew plus two practice missions. |

V-~-mail letter dated July 29, 1944 postmarked August 8th
censored by Frederick Sanborn

Just going to write a few lines as I'm leaving tonight for
a 3 day pass. I'm not sure where I'm going but I'll tell you
about it when I get back.

I wish they had postponed it until after pay day as I don't
have any too much cash on hand but I guess I can't spend so much
this time. |

Got a letter from Aunt Maude yesterday. I should have
written some letters this afternoon, but I didn't have time.
I'11l write when I get back. I'm getting caught up as I havn't
received much mail lately. Got letter from Chester [fraternity
brother] who is now stationed in France.

It has been raining all day. Guess I'll take my raincoat
with me.

Well, there is nothing much more to write about so I'll

guit. Will write when I get back.
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Sunday, 30--Arrived in London at 3:15 or thereabouts. Took taxi

to Piccadilly. Got eggs and toast. Walked. Left fellows and

went to services in Westminster Abbey. A guide gave us a real

tour of the abbey. Enjoyed it. Got hotel room at Royal Hotel.
0

Marble Arch at Hyde Park. Listened to speakers and

=
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watched ball game. Interesting. Met Eileen. Ate and talked.

To QgJEE 9:00. I'm tired.

My diary had less space for Sundays than for other days and
it seemed like more happened on Sundays than on other days. Af-
ter the service at Westminster Abbey the guide took a few of the
service peopleée all through the abbey and told us alot of interest—
ing stories. I remember one about a king who had dreamed he would
die in Jerusalem. He suffered a stroke at the abbey and was taken
Lo a room. When he awoke he asked where he was and was told he
was in Jerusalem, the name of the room, and thus he died fulfilled.

Marble Arch was a big subway station and Hyde Park was full
of people on soap boxes declaiming everything under the sun.
Anyone is allowed to speak their piece in Hyde Park. One fellow
was just reading the Bible. Most speakers were pretty emphatic
about their subjects. As I left Hyde Park and was walking down
the street, suddenly everyone began yelling and screaming and
running. Overhead a buzz bomb flew over, and I watched it as it
flew from right to left. When it ran out of gas it would fall
and explode, but this one flew over and disappeared. Only a
few American G.I.'s were left on the street. I can't remember

how I met Eileen, but I made arrangements to meet her again the

next day.
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31--[my future wife's 15th birthday] Stayed in bed until 10:30.

Went to Rainbow Center. Then to show. Saw "Murder in Thormton

Square” which is called "Gaslight” at home. Pretty good. Went

to Berkley Square. Back to hotel. Shaved and met crew members.

Went to Marble Arch and met Eileen. First we went to a pub and

then to Yankee Doodle for a steak. Took a cab for show. Saw

"Going My Way", a good picture. Went to another pub. I didn't

like it. Took her home to a subway station. Came back to hotel

and talked with Rowe and fellows. Tired. Getting headache.

Eileen claimed it was her birthday but I doubted it. She
probably said that to each fellow she met. She really wanted to
stay in the pub and drink, but I wasn't interested. I felt sorry
for her when I saw that she lived in a subway station. Alot of
people who had lost their homes lived in the station. Some of
the stations Were'quite crowded. I guess this was one of the few
dates I had while in the army. As I recall a V-2 rocket exploded
a block away from where Maurer and Nelson were staying. That was
scary. |

August 1--Got up again at 10:30. Got doughnuts and coke again at

Rainbow Club. Went to news theater. Fairly interesting. Got on

subway to go to St. Paul's but decided it was too late so we went

on to the train. Read om trip back. Ate and read mail when I

got back. Went to Red Cross Club with Maurer and Crowder.

Talked for quite awhile,

Got paid 27 pounds, 4 shillings, and 4 pence.
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2--Briefing at 10:30 for a change. That's more like it. Flew

near Paris to Mery sur Oise. It was the worst mission yet. We

A@Maﬁﬁh*got over 200 flak holes. The right elevator was all ripped up.

6

™
%ﬁ;ﬁaﬁalt was rough. I was more scared today than ever before. Liason
e )
Yo 7w - receiver wires shot in two. A dynamotor caught on fire. Yet we

v #9% " were all umhurt. I guess we're lucky. Had a good time talking

I

fn s g~
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about it afterwards. Got a package. of checkers and candy. Lt.

-
. o ERT

S, 7

Rowe brought us another oak leaf cluster.

Sat in pilot's seat for awhile.

Rowe's log: Mery-sur-oise, France 6:50 Flying bomb storage
dump Over 200 flak holes. Half of right elevator shot away.
My FR: 6:50 Paris

This is the mission which, other than our last mission, I
remember most clearly. 1In the fall of 1989 Life Magazine re-
quested some war stories for publication. I wrote up a summary
of this mission and then had a hard time reducing it to the re-
gquired 500 words. I received a letter sfating that they had
received my story, but it did not get published. Now I shall
try again since I am not limited to 500 words.

It always seemed like France had more accurate gunners than
those in Germany. We used to joke about Hans and Fritz looking
up at the formation and saying, "Let's get engine #3 on that
second plane." In.Germany it was usually a barage of shots, and
we just flew through it. Some of the guns the Germans used were
controlled by radar, and it was found that if we released littie

packets of tin foil it caused the guns to shoot at the cloud of

- tin foil behind the formation rather than the planes. Thus, on
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the bomb run, it was part of my duty to push these packets of
foil, called chaff, out through a vent in the side at a parti-
cular rate of speed. When a piece of flak landed smoking at my _
feet the rate of dispursing the chaff incfeased; In the bomb bay
on this mission we were carrying four of the biggest bombs,
called blockbusters. It worried me that they were a big target
for the flak and that I was mighty close. From the IP to the
target the plane was to flﬁ straight and level which presented

an easier target for Hans and Fritz. We could feel the ship get-
ting hit constantly as the flak was quite ‘intense. Finally,
Collins called out, "Bombs away!" and nothing happened. Nelson
reported on the intercom that the bombs were still in the bomb
bay. At this point the plane received a direct hit in the right
elevator and the plane went inteo a2 spin. I remember Rowe telling
Collins to get the bombs out, and Collins must have pushed an
emergency button or something because the bombs went out much to
my relief. Nelson followed the bombs and saw them hit a French
farmhouse, We probably blew up the whole farm. Such are the
fortunes of war.

Rowe was working to get the plane on an even keel. Mean~
while I tried to call the waist or the ball turret on the inter-
com and got no answer. For some reason the door to the waist
was closed. The pilot told me to check on them. As I opened
the door Nelson was motioning me that he needed a fire extin-
guisher because of a fire in a dynamotor. I got him the extin-
guisher and then reported to the pilot about the fire in the

waist. My radio was not working. We had fallen out of the for-
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mation and were by ourselves. The plane was flying straight now,
so the pilot decided to check on the damage. He passed my posi-
tion and went into the waist. Since my radio was inoperative I
went up to the pilot's compartment, and’ Stewart invited me to sit
in the pilot's seat. When Rowe returned I was fljing the plane.
It was the only time I had ever had such an opportunity. How-
ever, Rowe had seen that our vertical stabilizer had been tilted
to the left and we were in danger. The enlisted men all gathered
in the radio room with their chutes in case of a real emergency.
With my radio out I was unable to help, but our navigator got us
back, and We‘even got home before the rest of the formation did.
Since they didn't want our plane to mess up the runway with the
other planes returning we had to circle the field until everyone
else had landed. Then we landed and it was a good landing. Qur
pilot deserves alot of credit for bringing us through with no in-
jury. The tail position was really riddled, and Crawford was
noticeably more nervous. Some time previous, it had been‘decided
that one gunner would remain at home so the back three gunners
alternated. Nelson was the only one small enough to fly in the
ball turret easily so he always flew. In case of an attack I was
to go to one of the waist guns. The radio compartment gun was
ineffective anyway.

It was a memorable mission. I believe they had to scrap the
plane since it was in such bad shape. I seem to recall thinking
that we had flown with this ship once before and had some trouble,

so it was a good thing it was now out of commission.
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The 388th at War

Mission #174, Mery-Sur-Oise, August 2, 1944

"The 388th furnished two 12 a/c Groups which flew lead and low of the
45th B Combat Wing, plus 3 a/c.to fly with the 452nd BG in the 45th A Combat
Wing.

"12 a/c plus 1 PFF a/c of the A Group and 13 a/c of the B Group took
off by 1307 hours. The 3 a/c flying with the 452nd took-off at 1310 hours.

2 a/c from each of our Groups aborted.

"Formations were effected and the briefed route to the target was fol-
lowed. Favorable weathef conditions prevailed over the target and it was
attacked visually. Bombs were away at 1705 from 22,900 feet. Strike photos
show excellent results for the B Group with the MPI being covered by a tight
pattern. |

"The only flak encountered was at the target which was very accurate
and intense. No enemy fighters were seen. Six crew members were wounded by
this flak.

"One a/c was shot down with the others returning to base by 2008 hours.

"ILt. Balboni in a/c 42-97171 was lost due to flak. The nose of his a/c
was blown off and the bail-out alamm was given. Everyone got out except the
copilot who crash-landed the plane southeast of Pontoise and it was 70% de-
stroyed. The crew was being shot at during descent, and the pilot was se-
verely wounded. He later died in a German Hospital near Paris. The engineer,
T/Sgtf‘}urfaro, was also wounded and was in the same hospital. He was still
in the hospital when the Germans fled and Sgt. Furfaro was taken to a French

home until turned over to the American forces. The rest of the crew were POW's.
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"When captured, the first stop for the enlisted men was Beauvais,
France, then to Brussels, Belgium, Oberslau, Germany, Wetzlar, Germany, St.
Wendell, Germany and finally to Stalag IV. They were marched out of Stalag
IV on February 6, 1945 and maréhed through 92 villages until liberated on
April 26th at Bitterfield, Germany by the 104th Infantry."

This group must have been processed much like we were a few
days later. We ended up in Stalag Luft IV also.

3--Letter came from home with clipping in it about [my] going to

Russia. Looks good to see my name in print. Had briefing at

1:00 and after putting guns in and getting almost ready it was

scrubbed. Played cards with crew. Came back to barracks and

wrote home. Ate supper. Had ice cream and cake. Went to Red

Cross Club with Nelson. Full moon tonight.

Letter dated August 3, 1944 postmarked August 4th censored
by Walter G. Collins, 2nd Lt. A.C.

I have received five letters from you since I last wrote so
I had better start writing again. I got back from pass Tuesday
evening but this is the first chance I've had to write. .Yester-
day we didn't fly until the afternoon so I didn't have any time
for writing. We were supposed to do the same today only it was
canceled. Now‘if they let me alone for the rest of the after-
noon I may bé able to get something done. The letter I got to-
day was the one with the article about me in it. I have three
letters written later than this one so it looks like they just

hold up some letters. My name looks good in print.
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The pictures you saw at the Uptown were probably the ones
taken of the 15th air force when they went to Russia. They went
to Russia before we did but my group was the first to go from Eng-
land. In fact our prlane landed second out of the whole bunch.

Dr. Labunski's [DPirecter of the Conservatory] son must be in the
same wing I am although I didn't éee him. - He and I must have
arrived here near the same time. They did take some pictures of
vs In Russia although I don't know whether I am in any of them or
not. They took pictures of the briefing but I doubt if they
would show that.

Yes, I have more than one air medal now but instead of giving
the medal more than once they give an oak leaf cluster. I have
two cluéters now and may have another before the week is up.

My base pay Is new $114.00. Flying pay is 50% so that is
557.00. Overseas pay i1s 20% of base pay or $22.80 making a total
of $193.8Q. I send $55.00 home, $§18.75 for a bond and $6.50 for
insurance which leaves me $123.55 for spending money. I never
have received that much money yet because while I was a tech
sergeant most of July the actual orders didn't come out until
July 15th and that is when the money begins. I think I made just
about S§100 this month. They are having a big bond drive over
here so I bought a $50 bond and think I will save the rest for
awhile Iin case we get a furlough to go to Scotland. It is nice to
bavelmoney.

You asked whether I had spaghetti in Italy or not. The

spaghetti I saw them making in the streets wasn't the kind I would
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want to eat. Besides the army doesn't want the soldiers to eat
in town in Italy. You can't imagine how dirty everything is.

I heard one girl sing af the Red Cross Club there that had the
same technigue I was taught, but she was singing American songs.
Seems like everything is for the Americans and it is hard to get
the true nature of the people.

Today is the warmest we've had it for quite some time.

There is no telling when and where we go on a mission. We
may go to Russia again but I really don't know. We never know
where we are going until we are briefed about two or three hours
before the flight. we did know about the Russian trip before
because we had to pack a few things for the journey. I like the
long missions usually better than the short. I don't get as tired
as I used to because I'm getting used to it now. One time we
flew seven days out of eight although two were practice missions
and I wasn't too tired. Of course you can’'t get much done when
you fly that often. It is fly, eat, sleep, eat, fly, eét, sleep,
eat, etc. You lbse track of the time and day. I think our crew
has been very lucky. Do you know where Ruppert Stadium is?

[The ball field in K.C. was located at 22nd and Brooklyn. This
was my way of indicating 22 missions.]

It would be all right to have the Star here [Kansas City
Starj but I doubt if it would be worth while as I don't have taoo
much time to read and besides by the time they got it started I
might be getting ready to leave. Send it if you want to. The

English papers arn't much good.
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will tell you about my ¥rip to London in my next letter.
It is supper time and I'm hungry. I hear we have ice cream and
cake for dessert. We have ice cream about twice a week. The
meals are usually good but I hear we have stew tonight. Will
probably go to the Red Cross Club later on this evening and get

a couple of sandwiches and cup cakes.

will write again in the next couple of days 1If they don't

keep me too busy. I had a good time on my pass and will try and

tell you all about it.

4--Briefing at 6:30. Went to Hamburg, Germany. Got about 15 to

20 flak holes. Lt. Rowe got hit in foot. Lt. Stewart took over.fli&ﬂ%j

Wonder what will happen now. Took a nap. Going to midnight show.

Feel pretty good.

Rowe's log: Hamburg, Germany 6:30 o0il refinery 16 £flak holes,
wounded by flak in left foot.

This is his last entry until he resumes flying at Hendricks
Field, Sebring, Fla. on Feb. 7, 1945. Total dual time 245:50

solo 447:25
My FR: 6:35 last entry A total of 13:25 in August, 242:00

to date

I was on my radio listening to the strike report when I
heard that Rowe got hit. I reached for my first aid kit but was
informed that someone had taken care of it. After bombs are
dropped the leader radios in a report, and I usually make a copy.
Monitoring the radio I was often off the intercom.
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Business was conducted on the intercom. I was often
off the intercom listening to my radio. To reach me one had to
press the call switch. One time they forgot to notify me to put

on oxygen until we were at 18,000 feet.

Roger wilco was the official response to a message on inter-

com. It meant Received, will comply. Our crew used the words

Rodney Wilcox instead.

The 388th at War

Mission #175, Hamburg, August 4, 1944

"The 388th furnished the high Group in the 13th A Combat Wing. 2 addi-
tional a/c flew with the 452nd Bomb Group to Oslebshausen.

"Our 21 a/c plus 1 PFF a/c were airborme by 0917 hours. 2 a/c aborted
for mechanical reasons. Formations were effected and a course over the North
Sea was followed to the target area. Bombs were away at 1323 hours from
26,000 feet. Two of our a/c had mechanical difficulty in the target area
and dropped their bombs on a target of opportunity. Strike photos at Ham-
burg show poor results but the two a/c that dropped later state that a rail-
road line was destroyed in the town of Bederkesa.

"Moderate accurate flak was encountered at the target with 17a/c re-
ceiving battle damage. Lt. R. Rowe was injured by this flak.

"All a/c returned to base by 1551 hours."

5--Didn't get anything done today. Laid around and ate candy.

Read for awhile at Aero Club. Got laundry back. Went to éupper

and show with Crowder. Saw "Once Upon a Time". Funny. Ate at

Aero Club.

If Rowe had not been shot we probably would have flown on

the mission to Magdeburg on August 5th.
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Chapter Five
The Last Mission
Some of thé crew went to the héspital to see Rowe on Satur-
day. I thought I would go on Sunday. I was glad I got my laundry

back on Saturday.

It was common knowledge that when a crew has someone wounded
or killed on a mission they are given a seven-day furlough. Crews
were also awarded a seven-day furlough when 25 missions were com-
pleted. We were close with 23, so we knew we would get seven
days off one way or another. Our squadron had two crews on pass
due back at midnight. Usually a crew got back just before mid-
night and had to go to briefing almost immediately. It had hap-
pened that way with our crew. All we had to do was wait until
- Sunday and get our furlough for a week. We had talked about go-
ing to Scotland. We had been to London three times, and it was
getting to be a hot spot with all the V-2 rockets coming in.

Fate intervened. The call for crews came in before midnight, and
the squadron had a quota to fulfil. If a crew on pass came in
late gnd missed a briefing they Wouid be declared AWOL. The
squadron decided to let our crew fly with Kluth as pilot again

to satisfy their need. OQOur crew did not find out that we were

on alert until late, and some eof .them had started celebrating
early.

Briefing may have been as early as 5:00 A.M. or soon after
that. When the curtain over the map was removed and Berlin was
shown to be the target, I think we all had a premonition. One

should not go to Berlin with a 7-day furlough in your pocket.
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I remember going back to the barracks after briefing and putting
my recent pay in an overcoat pocket. Crowder was stirring (It
waé his turn to stay home.), and I told him to get a letter I had
written censored for me. I thought of telling him that I had a
feeling about this mission, but I decided not to burden him with
my problems.

The crew checked out their parachutes, and I left my billfold
in a locker and rode a truck out to the plane. We got the guns
in their position and gave the plane a complete check as usual.
Sometimes we had to wait for an hour or more for the pilot to ar-
rive. Some of the crew were dozing. They had had little or no
sleep. I recall that I spent the time waiting by talking with
Stewart. T believe it was the longest conversation I had had
with him. Finally, the pilot arrived and we started on our 24th
mission without Lt. Rowe, our good luck charm.

Soon after takeoff I checked on my radio and found that the
Germans were jamming the frequency. A message was coming through,
but it was next ‘to impossible to decipher anything. Now and then
a letter or two could be made out. The message was repeated over
and over, and since the procedure was always the same I kept try-
ing to get it down on my log. Finally, about two or three hours
later I was getting more and more of it. Suddenly, the intercom
said, "Pilot to radio.” He wanted the valves on the outer tanks
opened. I had a feeling of deja vu. After that chore was accom-
plished I returned to the radio and almost had the message com-

pleted when I was asked to close the valves. I did as I was told,
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and finally, with much concentration I completed the message.
Then it was decoded, and the message said to switch to a new fre-
quency without the interference. This was entered on my log, and
I felt that when the logs were examined by the radio chief he
would mention to me that I had received the message earlier than
anyone else in the group. I was really proud of this accomplish-

ment.

Qur plane was flying the #3 position off the left wing of

in the southeast
the leader. Since we were bombing a tank factory/part of the
city going northwest we were immediately to turn left after the
bomb drop so as to avoid flying over more of the city. At the
IP the plane began to bounce around, which meant it was close to
the explosions and getting hit by fragments of flak. This is the
worst time of the mission, but a2 sigh of relief came when Collins
called out, "Bombs away." The bomb bay doors shut, and I went
back to my radio to listen for the strike report. A big explo-
sion occurred, and I looked up to see the front wall of the bomb
bay in flames.

I have relived these moménts many times, and I have talked
to everybody who was on board for their viewpoint of what happened.
I shall try to give a description of what happened.

Lt. Kluth was piloting the plane from the right seat, the
copilot's seat, because it is easier to do solwhen flying #3 posi-
tion. Some one told me that the leader had called us and said
to move over, as we were flying so close that the leader could

not turn left. There is a report called the Missing Af/c Report
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which states that "a/c #098 went down in the target area after bombs away.
Reports are conflicting on the cause of the plane's loss, but apparently the
oxygen system of the a/c was not functioning. The plane went to a lower alti-
tude because the pilot reported crew members fainting from lack of oxygen, and
some crews claim hearing the a/c call for fighter escort. When last seen, the
a/c was under control going down. Some crews claim the a/c was on fire as it
went down. Possibly two chutes were seen."” This report is one sheet of
the 388th B.G. Air Force Mission Report for August 6, 1944,

Let me digress. A letter to Stewart dated 2-10-1979 from
Collin's daughter-in-law states:

Dear Bob:

Enclosed is the 388th B.G. Air Force ﬂission Report for August 6, 1944,

I used it to verify Walter's claim for compensation, because, as you
know they had him marked down as M.I.A. and somehow never got aroumd to chang~
ing him in the records.

Anyway, it was sort of hard to get and now that he is gone, I thought
perhaps you might want it. I know he would want you to have it as you were
remembered affectionately by him always and you might enjoy reading how ac-
curate your mission was, etc. Walter enjoyed reading the intelligence report
which was only recently declassified, and so forth.

I hope you find this interesting and enjoy reading it. If you do not
desire it, perhaps The Eighth Air Force Historical Society may make good use
of it.

I just couldn't bare to throw it away, I remember Walter explained every
part of the mission to me and he shared happy moments about those days as I

hope you will too.
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My very best regards to you and your family.
Love,
(signed) Colette T. Hawkins
(Walter's daughter-in-law)

In August of 1986 my wife and I attended an Anderson reunion
in western Kansas and then drove to Pennsflvania to see my daugh-
ter and to Comnnecticut to see ﬁy sister Vivian. On the way home
we stopped in Newport News, Virginia to see Stewart. He was the
only member of the crew that I had not seen since that fateful
day. He showed me these papers which I was éo glad to see and
he said I could take them and copy them, which I did and then re-
turned the papers to him. Stewart was rather reticent about talk-
ing about the last mission but did say he may have passed out.
This was the first I had known this, so perhaps we did have oxy-
gen problems before we were hit. I shall come back to the papers
later, as some interesting facts are included which I can relay
on to the readers.

First, the report about this mission in Huntzinger's book:

The 388th at War

Mission #177, Berlin, August 6, 1944

"For this mission the 388th furnished one Group of 22 a/c for the 45th
Combat Wing. 3 a/c aborted for mechanical reasons.

"Formations were effected without difficulty and the briefed route to
the target was flown. Berlin was bombed visually. One of our planes was
hit by flak over the target just after bombs away.

"18 of our a/c returned to base safely.
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"Sgts. Churchill and Tinney on Lt. Creagh crew were wounded.

P i1st Lt. D. B. Kluth POW T3 e

cp 2nd Lt..R. S. Stewart 24 POW

N 2nd Lt. F. H. Sanborn 24 POW

B 2nd Lt. W. G. Collins 24 POW

TT T/Sgt. A. Maurer 24 POW

RO T/Sgt. J. H. Anderson 24 POW

BT VS/Sgt. D, I. Nelson 24 POW

WG S/Sgt. R. McIntyre 24 POW [He did not have 24 missions. ]
TG S/Sgt. E. Crawford 24 POW

"Lt. Kluth in a/c 44-6088 "Fortress Nine" [I believe we were flying in
098, "Little Domna".]} was hit by flak just after bombs away in the area of
the flight deck. The oxygen tanks exploded causing a fire at which time the
pilot gave the bail-out order. The crew's regular pilot, Lt. Rowe, was
wounded on the Berlin [should be Hamburg] mission two days before."

Incidentally, the last combat mission flown by the 388th
Bomb Group was Mission #306 to Landsberg, on April 21, 1945.

Now for the information gleaned from the papers sent to
Stewart by Collins' daughter-in-law. The first eight pages pre-
sent A. Statistics, B. Operational Summary, and C. Intelligence
concerning the mission. Rather than try to copy just the rele-
vant parts I shall reproduce all eight pages. On page 1 the sta-
tistics show that over 1000 heavy bombers flew that day. On
pages 2-3 the pertinent material is on the Third Force. Page &
indicates the photo reconnaiésance. Page 5 gives weather recomn-
naissance and starts the intelligence report. Page 7 gives the

damage to enemy installations. Our results are listed first.
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FERICD: 0001 hours 6 sugust 1344 to 2400 hours 6 Adgust 19%40.

_ © Lipsses
Missions Disp. Sortiss Atks, Tommace Claims E/4 Ai N/E 0T Totals

Heavy Borber Atkse 20 13824 1217 1027 264240l 0-L-8 A 4 18 L 2 28
Fighter Escort 16 741 649 0 0 32274 0 00 9 g9
2-C-1. G :
Fighter Sweeps 0 0 0. 0 0 0-0-0 0O 00 0. o
Fighter Bombing = O 0 0 0 o 060 0 0 0 G 0
Fhoto Recon. 31 31 3 0 0 O_-O-O 0 0 0 0 0
Weather Recone 11 11 11 o 0 000 0 00 0 o0
Alr Sea Rescue | 20 20 20 0 0 0-0-0 C 0 0 o 0

Specitl QOperations 41 Ll ) 0 0 0-0-0 0 0 _Qr 0 o
| Yotals 135 2026 1869 1027 24%4.4 31-G-15A 4 18 4 11 37

. 2-0-4 G

+ Includes 16 spures (4 used), '
++ Does not include tormage of 75 B-17s attacking Gdynia.

B, OFERATIONAL SURRLEY _

le PDorber Attacks

23 cambet wings (646 B-17s, 536 E-24s - 1182 s/c) dispatched in five forc
egainst 13 industrial targ.ts in north central Germiuy, Poland and seven MNoball
turgels in lrance. Five Noball targets not attecked. 1027 a/c dropped 202l .l
tons GePo and IeB., visually, oh all other zssimed priruries and other targetss
E/a opposition: two atiecks by approxirmately 25 e/a at Genshagen and Berline
Claims: O-4~8s Losses: 28 z/c (17 B-17s, 11 B-245)e

First Force: 11 cambat wings (414 B-17s) dispatched to attack aero-
engine works, piiotless a/c plant :nd a/c nscembly and component plent in the
erlin areas 390 a/c drcpped 916.8 tons GeF. :vd IaBe on the thres essigned
primaries and other tarzets at 1223 - 1257 hours from 23,500 - 26,000 fects Lecf-
lcts dropped wt Brandenburge Buitle dimege: 8% minor, 22 mrjors E/a opposition
10 FW-190s end Ne=109s attacked at Genshagen. 50 - 75 e/u seen south of Humburg
buy no attacks, Clodms: 0-0-3, Losses: 11 B-17s (7 to A4, & to 44 and B/L).
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Fighter Supzorts TFour groups (1So P-51s) dispatchez. Up 0841 - 0931
hours, doim 1413 « 1527 hours. 168 cortiss. One grap siroed Gutersloh-
Legdcburg ereae B/a opposition: 15 plus 1is-102s mnd Do 2175 sgen newr Schonfisl -
end Strasbowrg 4/Fe Four He-10%s snd one 7o-190 bounced nosr Brondonburg.  Copba
Lieh two Me~1095 scuth of Brandemburg. 30 plus 1e~109s engazoed SEoof Huamburg,

" Claimsy  19-0~2 ziv. Losses: 2 P~5Lls 1o Wwimown Icasonse

Datails of bomber at’cacks as Tolloss:

. Tons

fssiegnod Tareehs ‘Disputchad  Attucked " G.Ps ZI.B. - Results

Brandoiburg (a/c assembly) - 148 126 232.5  69.7 Goocd

Brandenburg Opel (piloiless 76 69 ‘1348  25.0 Good~Very Good
' a/c) ’ | .

. Genshagen (aero~cngine) 120 174 283.0 119.3 Good

Ofher Tarcets '

Stendal o/F _ : 12 300 © Good

8 17/0s ' ' 2 22.5 Unobserved

Totals - L1k 390 702,8 214.0

Secend Trorces Two cambat wings (73 B-17s) dispatclied to attack FW-190
assembly plant ot Gdynia and. to procsed to bases in Russia on completicn of bomb-
ings. V5 &/c attaocked assigned torget and londed ot Kastern Canmond bases.  Come
plete details unaveilibles Battle domage: 21 minor, 2 major. Claims: C-2-2,
Losses: nil, . :

Fighter Support: Three groups (160 P-51s) dispatched. Up 0850 - 0945
hours, dovm 1345 - 1545 hours. 154 sorties. E/a opposition: combat with 30 -
40 Me~109s at Schweriner Lskes LO Me-109s znd IW-190s sighted 2t Neummsicr,
Combzt with 50 wlus s/e e/a at Exvelbersz. One group (64 F-51s) escorted bombers
10 Russin, ond lended safely. Cloims: 7-2-3 air. Losses: 5 P-51s to unknown
reasons (two believéd in Russia). .

Detadls of attack as follogs:

"Assimnzd Target Dispoatened Attncked Tons Results
Gdyni: /Ralkeacl (FW-190 essembly) 78 75 Mot avzilable Very Good

> Third Force: Three combat wings (154 B-17s) dispatched to attack tank-
engine and aero-engine assembly plants in Berlin. 139 g/c-dropped 331.6 tons G.P
and L«Bs on beth assigned primeries and other torgets at 1233 ~ 1240 hours fram
22,000 = 25,000 feet. -Leaflets dropped over Berlin. - Weather: CAVU at targes,
2/10 - 4/10 en routes IMak: 1oderate to intense, barmige sand iracldnr; accurate
on some groupse Battle damcge: 87 minor, 16 majore E/a opposition: 6 1ie-109s
ind one /=190 mede one attack on lead group in torget 2res. 15 Jet-propellod
a/c sighted in Helmstedt area but no atiscks., Claims: 0-2-3. Losses: 6 B-17s
(3 to 44, 2 to unlmovn causes, 1 croshelanded in U.K.)e

Fighter Supports Three groups (14 P-51s dispatched. Up 0905 ~ 0923

kours, down 1515 - 1523 hours. 107 sortics, E/a opposition: combet with 8




Bounced cne Me--k10 cveér Ereszels Tproe groups strafed )

s/e e/e MB of Bremeno
Clodins: L-7~0 air, 2-0-4 grcund.

south of ‘Berlin and Inrbury and in Breimen orcs,.
Losses: one F~51 to wnimomm reascns.

Detrils of bowber atiacks as follors:

. - . . tons
£ssiomned Margats . Distatched Attacked (,P. - Jule Resulis
Barlin/Wicderscivie (tznk engines) 57 L5 .. 71,2  35.0 Gocd
Berlinficaienfelde (aero-engine) 97 83 .  155.3 L42.5 , Good
Other Tavrets .
Nordholz 4/F . L 705- 92,5 .Unobsezved.
6 2,0s - . : 7 12.5 . 5.0 TUnobserved

Totols . 15L. 139 2Lbe5 8540

' ¥ourth Force: Six cambat wings (445 B-24s) dispatched to atteck torpedo
vorks at Kiol and six 0il instsillstions in the Hocburg area. 399 a/c drepped
1118 tons G.P» ind IeB. on 11 sssigned primaries ond other torgets at 1152 - 121
Lours frem 21,000 - 26,000 feets Leaflets drnpped over Harkurg and Schuloua
Veather: C.VU in torget aress. Swmoke screen =t Kiel restricted visibhildi<sye
Flak: intense, accurate ot Hemburg, both predicted ond barrzze typees Battle

. observed in Hearburg area bui no agtacks.

damages 262 minor, 28 majore E/a opposition: . nile
Cloimss nils Losz=zes:

ihy 3 clush-landed in U.K:)e

Tighter Support; TFive groups (1?3 P-47s, Ll P-38s - 217 a/c) dispatched.
%/a opoositicn:

Two P~47s bounced by four Me=109s Si of

Up 0915 - C946 hours, down 1422 - 1502 hours. 196 sortiese.

ccobat with 2 Me-109s south of Iamburge

Severs) Me-410s and JU-88s
11 B-24s (8 to

Hxrburg. Cleinss 1-0-2 aire. Losses: one P-47 to unlmown reasonSa -

Deizils of berber attecks as follows:

Tons ]

Assitmed Toroets Disnztched - 5tte~c1-:e§3. .C_..Pf. T~ Be Rasults

arturg (Bhenopia) 0il Refinery 66 62 162.5 -Good
Farburg (fbono) 0il Refinery 36 33 88.5 Very Good
Homburg (Rhenanpia) Oil Refinery 71 61 718 Very Gocd
Kiel Torpedo Works 9@ : 53 84e5 -8545 Poar
Haiurg (Sculicmen) 0il Refinery 36 32 9065 Poor
Horfmerg (Schilau) 031 Relinery 78 72 2030k Very Good
Homburg (Dutch Petroleum) 60 5l 155,83 Very Good
Qther Tarrsets

Iemingstedt 0il Refinery 23 635 ~ Good

L T/OS 1 12.0 Uncbserved

Tota2ls LL5 359 1103245 B5.5

LS R




FIfth Foves: One corbat idn. (91 £-2i2) disputon:d fo atiick seven
Lobull torgsisz, pive targiic not stteciiod Leosuse of weatior. 2 v/c dropped 58
tens G:Pe on tuo aopipned tarsets ot 1229 = 1236 hours fron 22,500 ~ 23,000 fect,
Vo by 9./10 in RGBT avca with breals i cloud. - Flols: measiy, ineccursie,
Batile Lmngol 9 wminen, O majors T2 cprozition: nil. Claimgy - dle Lozsez:ni

ne group (2 ¥-47c) dizprichod. Up 1003, cowm 1431
4 . e 3

O T
Sceort wneventful, (Clodmss nil, Looczes: nil,

trzzimed Trrrcts Dicvusched  Aftncled Tens G.Po Rasults
¥oret de Sg. Sei 13 IFot Attacked

Vil des Joneo “ 13 Mot Avtacked

Lo Briquoteric 13 ot sttacked

Mot Gournogy 14 Hot atteckad
" Mawt Ceuvaire 13 11 2605 Poor
Ste Getric-sur-Fonbaine 13 13 31a5 Gocd
2ty Jéin des Caxdernay 2 Bot Jthacked :

Totals ) ' 91 - 2l . 58.0

2e Fightzr Pscort

16 groups (197 P-475, L P-33s, 500 P-51s - 761 2/c) dispatchzd o
cscort bembers attacking + gets in Gerueny, Poland ond Kobeil torgets in the
Pz de Calodis arese Up 0843 - 1059 Inurs » Sovn 0931 ~ 1545 hours. 649 cortiese
F/a oprosition: comb:is with :pproximately 125 - 150 s/c wnl w fewr /e 2/c in
Branen. Hemburg, Drandenburs: “reas; ond norta of Borline TPour groups cirui'nd
trunsportetion facilities necr Liagdeburs, Hezburs and v erdun, ond groos 4/Fs
south of Berlin, Claims: 31-2-7 wdr, 2-0-k grovnd. Losses: 9 a/c (8 p-5ls,

1 P47} 221 to unlmows roasons. '

in addition %o e/a desfroved cn the ground, strafing cloims includes

. Destrovord Danweed
3 locos € locos
5 tenle errs 36 - 40 goods wazons
2 geeds imgens '

Je  Pishisr Sweeps '

Lo Fimhier Brobine

.-i.“h:':_.]. o

5« Photo neeonnissenge

31 o/c Cicpatched on photo recormtizsance rissicns. Feur 2/c foiled
to cbi.in photos., 19 F-5e dispw.tched on 2 wd 1233 i i e
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2 by e/t L00 bursts of wecussie, blacl

Leriinye m.: I-‘- B8 dint rcentc-

—— - v !
cver els A1 o/c .L-.-i.‘rr’cnl s Tely

6 Tendh ¥ Rezory issnce

19 u’ﬂ d:."pmtuhel on weather nissicn. 18 were succussfule Four Mos-
quitces, wic T~17s; one B-25 &13p'1+01'1u.J. 28 wenther scouts t'or speninl cperntions.
Pisal P~Eis p_h_]_ cne Hosguito disgatehed zs wenther u.cou'ts Ter babing opertions
Larely.

T50 Hosguitovs dispuitched over Brest end Honovers Al o/c returned

20 a/c (i2 P~iiTs, 8 Pa“l:) digpatchal on Alr Sea Rzscue operaticns,
¢ connieted rouiine =-p0wlng vork and reported no diifching "ﬁc.z.cxs::t « Eighl
ttamted an uwneaccessTul interception of a Dinish fishi nig vassel, Vhich an
3¢ vies momn Yo have picked up part of 2 bomber crew fron en sivborme
&

orf ihe Frizian Islemdse All o/c returned safolve

» Smnegiol Owerations

6 B~17s (ropped leaflets over tro tarsets in Bellan2 mnd 16 torgets in
Prance, A1l /e retorned sis'uly,

13 o/c dispatched on special operatica.. 11 o/c returnel safely,
16 a/c dispaiched on spoeinl operzticn. 4All &/ returmed safcly.

Ca -.El II\;" :1\ C"l

le Eoerw Adr Onnositicn

Due to effective fighter Sll‘(‘TJOI‘u, hzowyr barbers enr‘cunterecl only two
slight ati.cls althoush the G...F. put forih its ;o '\"Lesb cifort in the past

three duyas Oi strategic bambing.

Tphe lead group of the lost wing ati-cldng assembly plonts in Borlin we
tt cked w 51x I'=—-_r.09.s and one ¥/~120, Ii/: mode a single cituck from the rear
and vwere reported as "not ogmressive’s  Cluinms were O=2-3 for no losses.

-1 7s attaclci_n:_ Genshazen encountered 12 Ni=1903, 6 1e=109s ond 1 JU-88
in the tarzet areae _J/J moce posses both from the .t:il and head on from above,
in groups of 4 - 6, on the low box of the cecbat winge, The atiacks were persi, s==
tent; fightcrs coaring in throwsk their om £i:lk, and were made both upen <he
box as a whole and on the stiwglers vhich ked been hit by flske .Cladms vere
0-0-3 for losses of fuur B-17s to cambinctiun of B/4 end ah,

Other ber ber forces sighted e/a but experienced no aitackse 50 - 75 e/a
Lere ::-'m couth of Inmburg. sever:nl Ix'L-"‘u{.._C‘-.- 2nd Ju-88s in Homhurg area, 15 - 20
s/¢ ¢'n over Liel Boy, and 15 Jet-propelied g/ in the Helmctedt _ru-‘. The Jot-
1:r-;)pc,-i-'.1u.1 &/o rermined in the vicinity of 4> formviicn for sboud 15 rinutes
cbut &l not altaciks & B-17 pgrowp reportcd i Ltirg 6 - 10 o/e,bolieved jet-
vropelled, Just before the tariet of Gencthi-en.  ifo atte cl wure made Bt con-
truils vnd other distinctive chersetorisiics c.used crevs o belicve the o/t 1o
te jui-vrup:lied,
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Sunporting fiznter

Groups cscorting first 1z
anld De-217s5 neer a.nfwc
{ 3

12~3i03s5 o u]:'-'?---

rs 1"“:[‘01‘1::.:]. cembat: with approximately 125 ~ 1 50 e/a.
r5t rorce B-17s inh the Bzirlin arean

id and Strosbourg 54/, 30 ke-109s s
naur Bos :ae._.,u.:g Cirims were 1
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i P=hL graup disp c'bed. to escort B-17s attocking Gdynia, rendezvoused.
with swrong baber Torce, '\ml supperted ovher B-17s in the Berlin aress One
squadron encommiered 30-= LO —1095 &t Schweriner Lake at 1200 houtrs and
cnother sgundron had eanbat with 50 plus s/e c./a. at Havelberg. In additicn, 40
Fi=190s and lie~109s werc sighicd near Neummnster, but no cambatie

. fmother P=51 g roup engaged 6 - 8 s/e e/a noptheast of Bremen and one
Lewl10 over Pronzleu vith clairmsg of 4=0-0, P-)...T’s escorting. B-24s attacking Kiel
. encom. ered eight Me-109s, vhich dived ito deck from JU,000 feets Two of these
& Wers engaseds The same group encou.:rcered four he-109s SO‘Ll‘hh‘."eSu of ‘Iamburg.
Cl.__'LI:La were I=0=2,e .

2. Plak
Brendenburg - modernte, inaccurate to accurcies
Genshagon -~ intense, insccurate to accuraieo

Leu.,;,olmd - meager, inaccurate,
. Cwihaven - meager, inzccurate.
© .+ Vescnmmde ~ modercte, inrccuratce
Hordholz~ medger, inaccurate to acourstes
Bremervorde - modercte, inazccurate.
Otiendor? - meager, incccuraie,
Hamburg zrca - several rockst bursise
Berlin -~ moderate to intense burrzaze and tracking fire.

3o Obscrvations

Adrficlds

35 plus v/l a/e on grass fields two miles southwest of Oldenburge
2 o/a believed jet-type sighted on 4/F two miles south of Oldenburge
25 plus t/e a/, on 4/F exst of Mezdeburge
Runvay 1ew1gg.hen°d and activity scen on A/F five miles west of Rensburge
B rmunmay at Neumunster and Woltenkirche 4/Fs are being lengthened
coproximately 200 yards on east erds
Extended runways on 4/Fs at Luneburg and Jevers
20 plus u/i e/a on Melun 4/F. .
Iaew A/F tmder consitruction at 531:1‘4«-1233& o
Constructicen work on 4/Fs at Inbeck, Kicl and Echeznf‘orde pnoto,émphnd.
Runvrey described as one ond one half as long as the average heavy bomber
rz__n—r“y Observed 15 miles scuthwest of Homburse
Uncharted £/F at 5350M-0958%.
A/F under construction at 53588-0935E.
" 5/F under construction near Bed Broustedt at 535511—0055
A/ under construction .n.'ch czmouflzzing wb Rensberge
4'\/"“3 two mmrmys under construction, 2 plones on Tield at 5418N-0932%
A/ under construction at 531.21-09527%,
4/ zeconsiructed at 53351=0954E,
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Mowly censtructed ! OL;O oot ran suen on Schumborn Ioslond,
15 hutetopsed ships, wlach 1033:91 1like 2/c o “II‘l-.._a_, zuem % 5343 -0000z,
Gl zuers ne (1..,_5_.) ‘t;) 8 “'l-!.'l tazd 4..'.:) .t 53 ’).\T“UL} 0 .
Cry Lcu‘f‘l:'x,-jgcd bwdlliings viith azts over inem in woods at 53L39-0443F and
52LE1-091, 31

G - _L"’ Oil tarls one mile east of Grundeich painted vidte, 17 oil storage
t:'rr_’-:s at Stede,

Sone built=up areas ohserved resambling powcr rlont ¢n Neuwerk Island,
Yeir Burrocks observed nenr B:d Sooder; 2t 5I50N-101°7,

uch shippiug observed in braboers at Eremasrhsven Cuxbeven and orea of

- ?L‘l ‘pa l'
Sexrelhlizhisat Kiel, Ecknerford, Schicssiz, Lundern, Rensbers, Ost CEITIOOT,

Schledsma. 2y wrd Slnshoms

'—J b—]

Lo Dazere 3o Fuetw Instollationss

Hcderseiiic (tanl:-ernimines) ~ Qool Resul to

l-.h

Forliy

&0 prttirms blonketed the torget ond o third probably cxtendel into i,
Eizht hits by GP bonbs noted on the two moin b.*.._u.:l.st and four hits on smaller
buildingses Nearly IT/I recelved ot lexst Grelve bursts, wnd two hitoc seen on

hizhwry brid:zc over aiver,

Berlin/finrienfelde (aero-enrine wurks) « Good Resulis

Three out of five groups attacking hit the farret ares. Difficult to
check extent of lasgt pattern and estimate cl a2cs  One group 12dd tisht pattern
in center of turget; blimlicting most of hewiiy built-up part of arens fnother
dronrding sli;ll’cly .shor sery, covered the aljoining Friiz VWerner J.Ge and the
Sicnes & Holske £eGo  Proboble tlvit the veory large building in the formor wes
soverely ity 411 of the buildings in the toriset aren probably received hits
Or nesr-prlissclis :

Conshor ren (wre-gnmine) - Good Ue-sults

Ten coneentrotions of GP bubs, five concentrztions of IB cover mout of
farget area. Sqoke in area vwrovents \..u_*\lu. tu zzsecsinent, However, domage 4o
tnis tergot oppears severcs Hits were mode on following instellations with GP
buzbss 11 workshops, 1 storuaze building, 1 ofice builling, 1 conteen building,
2 engzine tust Deds, Hits swere node with TT B on the fullowing: Technical school,
2 work szhops, 1 stores and orffice buildinge :

nrondenburs {(Onel) (37T & Pilotlesz o,c) = Good to Very Cood

ions of (P, one cuncentretion of IB in tarmet arcae. Direct
talletions:  mcdn asssbly building, 2 2rex bullu'.'.ngu, 1 u/i
feet, 2 mediwn sized uw/i buildings, power plont, 12 small

its z.7n in the fuetory purldng arce which held a censider-
).

time of

IMive concentrati
mits oy folloiing ins

building - 75 x 350
tudildinsss  Dircet hi
(Ble mamiecr of vehicle
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~rderbors (Gvado) (He-177 Louorbly ond Comonent) — G—C‘C-J. Posulis

£ ONIOTNTE

.ﬂ

Intense sncke over taryst ores provents canpleie acccesonent of demnges
Direob hits seen on 1"01:' giring bulldings: 4 cssombly buildings, 8 werk shops,
1 mochine-un range, 1 stores wilding, 2 sfc shelters, 4 rats cor wovk shor
these huw bemdng dntensely Jndioat Ting probuble use as poriion of foclorye

zndal. A/F - Good u.nsm ts

&pprexdiriately 200 bombs bursiing in northwest henger b..r:' c‘cs area
;0 hongers - 470 direct hits each. Five barracks. bu'l_ld.'l.n reoe ived dlrc.Co

n’ L..:D

Ii-:zrburr? (I«fbmo) (ciy Reﬁmemﬂ ~ Very Cocd Resultse

T.*.r'nt covered. by good puttern of bombs. Large fires burning 2t end of
attaclza

Harbure (Rhenania) (0il R-\finerv')' ~ Yoy Cood Resulisa

3 Rrserous patterns cover trrget. Severe fires seen burning in lote
vhetos over tarset,

Hanburs (Thenenis) (0il R 53 mer_‘y\ ~ Verv Good Resulis

4t lexst six pattermns of P and I3 borbs 'burst squcrely on 't roet or lost
in sacke of fires that started srmedistely :fier 1st Squadren attacke Ficree
fires scen to be buming late in ottacik.

Herlbure ( Deutsche Petroleum) - Very Good Results

Lt 1e4.='{, five patterns of GP and IB bursis are seen to strike :PI ond ine
nediate torget oresa. Fires ssen to be burning fiercely. . .

II.;&-J-JJ{_(SVI ienon) (011 Refinery) - Poor Results

Ho hiis cn the torzet arez,

Kicl (Tcmedo Wrorks) = Poor Results

Due to ne.r.vy Smoxe screen largsly obscuring Kiel aren, bursts paurtinlly
unobserved, One pattern seen fo burzi ceross }PI arez near east entrince Kiel
Canzle Both sots of locks ot this euu of Gan2l covered by (P patterns, with

probability of some donrge

Eeaini lt Qil Refinerv - Good Results

One very zood pattern-of GPs burst squarzly across iPT.

Harburs (Sckmulau) (0il Refinerv) - Very Good Results

Six priterns of CP tnd IB bursts complotoly cover the MPT ond targct

orons  Loarge fires scen burndng o7 end of sttocke

10E:  The forumoing is bised on preliminnsy reports and is not to be wssd for
recerd TAIMIOBCEES . )
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Most of the rest of the sheets are 8% X 14" which makes them
difficult to reproducelfor this project. I shall copy the perti-
nent material.

"...SECRET...

INTELLIGENCE...

THIS PLANT TOGETHER WITH THE MAYBACH PLANT REPRODUCES THE
GREATER SHARE OF TANK ENGINES FOR THE USE OF THE REICH WAR MACHINE.

THE MAYBACH PLANT HAS BEEN HIT TWICE BY THE R.A.F. AND VERY
RECENTLY BY THE 15TH A.F., AND IS COMPLETELY WRECKED. AS A RESULT
THIS PLANT REMAINS THE LARGEST SINGLE PRODUCER OF TANK ENGINES IN
GERMANY WITH ANY OTHER PRODUCTION NOW BEING ACCOMPLISHED ONLY BY

SMALL DISPERSAL PLANTS..." Next page:

1. B. TARGETS:
PRIMARY: GN 5052
MPI: 040030 PHOTO SORTE E/138
SECONDARY AND LAST RESORT: TO FOLLOW
2. A. FORCE REQUIRED:
388A - 17 A/C PLUS 2 P.F.F. ALSO 6 A/C LOW SQUADRON FOR
96 COMPOSITE.
452A - 18 A/C PLUS 1 P.F.F. ALSO 6 A/C HIGH SQUADRON FOR
96 COMPOSITE.
96 - 6 A/C PLUS 1 P.F.F. FOR LEAD SQUADRON OF 96
COMPOSITE ALSO 1 A/C FOR DIAMOND OF HIGH SQUADRON
OF COMPOSITE.
B. GROUPS WILL FORM AS PER 45TH C.B.W. INSTRUCTIONS 55-1-9
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3. A.

X.

388 - LEAD
96 COMPOSITE - HIGH
452 - LOW
(1). BOMB LOAD:
ALL A/C 388 AND 96 COMPOSITE 10 X 500 G.P. 1/10 X 1/100

ALL A/C 452A GROUP 10 X M17 TI.B.'S

(2). TRAIN INTERVAL ~ TO FOLLOW

(3). FUEL LOAD - MAXIMUM PLUS TOPPING

 (4). WEATHER A/C - 388

5. A,

B.

(5). ZERO HOUR - 0900 D.B.S.T. AT OFFORDNESS

(6). ORDER .OF WINGS - 45, 4, 92

PYROTECHNICS : R/T CALL SIGNS:
388 - Y.Y. VAMPIRE YELLOW
96 COMP - R.R. VAMPTRE RED
452 - G.G. VAMPIRE GREEN
ALDIS LAMP COLORS - NORMAL
V.H.F. RECALL PHRASE:

"KILL THE UMPIRE"

Next page entitled BRIEFING NOTES ON BOMBING OF 6 AUGUST 1944

...3RD DIVISION

B-17'S 154 A/C WERE DISPATCHED AGAINST TARGETS IN BERLIN

OF WHICH 45 A/C ATTACKED A TANK FACTOR%'WITH VERY GOOD RESULTS AND

83 A/C ATTACKED AN A/C-ENGINE FACTORY WITH GOOD RESULTS. FLAK WAS

MODERATE TO INTENSE AND FAIRLY ACCURATE AT TARGET. 6 ME 109'S AND

1 FW 190'S WERE SIGHTED WHICH ATTACKED 1 GROUP FROM THE TAIL.

CLAIMS ARE 0-2-3. 5 A/C ARE MISSING (3 TO AA AND 2 TO UNKNOWN )
WEATHER WAS CAVU.
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FIGHTERS

753 A/C DISPATCHED. LOSSES 9 A/C ENCOUNTERED APPROXIMATELY
150 S/E AND T/E IN BREMEN, HAMBURG, BRANDENBURG, BERLIN
AREAS RESULTING IN CLAIMS OF 31-0-5 (AIR) 2-0-4 (GROUND)

A map of the route in and out of Germany is included on page
153. It shows how the route avoids most of the flak areas except
Berlin. The IP (Initial Point) and T (Target) may be too small
to identify , but T is in Berlin and IP is at the turn just before.
This map is evidently a detail of a larger map.

The foliowing two péges are copies of the S-2 Report and the
MISSING A/C REPORT. The listing of the number of missions by each
member of the crew is probably correct. It seems unlikely that
Kiuth had the same number of missions as most of us, but it is
possible,

The next two pages [the first has its heading cut off so as
to fit onto the page] comprise the Flak Report by Lt. Davis T.
Ratcliffe. All planes are shown to have been hit by flak at the
target. One ship in Group B, #989 with Lt., Meagher, is omitted.

A three-page report lists the battle damage for the planes
from the 388th on the raid. All planes received from two to
fourteen flak holes. Again ship #989 is not listed, but on their
interrogation form they list battle damage as 4-5 small holes.
Thus no one escaped without some damage. It did not seem neces-
sary to copy this report.

A confidential operational narrative report states that
"STRIKE PHOTOS SHOW EXCELLENT BOMBING RESULTS FOR THE A GROUP

WITH THE MPI WELL COVERED."
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CONFIDENTIAL 388BG A-173-D

SS8TH A AND GXXX B GROUPS INTELLIGENCE REPORT ~ BERLIN - & AUGUST 154%
1. HONE ' '

2. EXTENSIVE SHIPPING ACTIVITY AT MOUTH OF ELBE RIVZR AND AT CUX-
.. HAVEN, BREMERHAVEN, WILKELMSHAVENG TO 12 T/E A/C AT LUNEBURG
A/Fa AN ARMY CAMP WAS OBSERVED AT 53 DEGS 18 MINS N, 25 DEGS
17 MINS E. SMOKE FROM HAMBURG ROSE TO AN ALTITUDE OF 15,922

FEET,. . ' ' '

SEVERAL UNIDENTIFIED A/C ON A/F AT GARDELENGEN,

¢-BALLOON BARRAGE AT HELIGOLAND. ' :

37 TO 42 CIRCULAR OIL TANKS WELL CAMOUFLAGED BETUTEN TWO SMALL
LAKES AT 53 DEGS @1 NIXXX MINS N, 13 DEGS 38 MINS E.

NE OF BERLIN, A SMOKXE SCREEM AT BAD FRIENWALD., .

18 UNPAINTED SHIPS THAT LOOKED LIKE BIG BOMBERS ON A/D JUST TO
EAST OF MAGDEBURG. ' :

NEAR HAMBURG, 4 P-515 STRAFED A TRAIN, LEAVING IT BURNING WITH
A BLACK SMOKE AS IF FROM OIL. 3 SILVER A/C ON A/F AT BURG.

3. 2 B-175 WERE SEEN TO GO DOWN AT THE TARGET. 1 WAS SEEN ON THE
. GROUND BURNING. THE OTHER WAS GOING DOWN ON FIRF. NO CHUTES WERE
SEEN. . _
AT 1241 HOURS, 1 B-17 ROLLED OVER ON ITS BACK IN A STFEP BANK
TO AVOID A COLLISION WITH ANOTHER GROUP. IT WENT DOWN AT TEXXX THE
SECONDARY TARGET IN A SPIRAL SPIN, NO CHUTES WERT SEEN. e
3 B=175 VWERE SEEN BURNING ON THE GROUND IN THE ABEA OF 52 DEGS
21 NXXX MINS N, 13 DEGS 22 MINS F. '
EETWEEN BRANDEHBURG AND BERLIN, 3 ROCKETS HIT AN UNIDENTIFIED
B-17 , CAUSING THE SYXXX SHIP TO DISINTEGRATE, ,

) -~
4o, EXCELLENT FIGHTER SUPPORT.
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On an OPERATIONAL REPORT - STATISTICAL SECTION under A/C LOSTit has
only the number 1 listed under By reasons unknown. This implies that
the authorities were uncertain what happened to our ship. The
report continues with more information about the mission.

TIME OF ATTACK 1233
ALTITUDE OF ATTACK 25400
BOMBS DROPPED

a. Number 110

b. Size 500

c. Type GPs
PERSONNEL CASUALTIES

a. Killed

b. Wounded 1

c. Missing 9

d. Rescued
BATTLE DAMAGE

a. Minor 9

b. Major 2

c. Salvage O

Next is the Reporf of the Operations Officer, Major Andrew
A. Chaffin, on the mission of 6 August 1944 to the Commanding
Officer, 388th Bombardment Group, APO 559. Unfortunately, the
copy is difficult to read, especially the second page, because
of the mirror image of the print is also visible. Since this
SECRET report is interesting I shall copy the pages.

I have retyped the formations mentioned in the report for
easy reference.
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These two charts give the original placement of the planes

in the formation and the eventual arrangement. Both groups are

given. 388A was the lead Group for the 45th Wing. 388B was the

low squadron of the 95th Group flying in the next wave. The ones

in boxes either did not take off or else they aborted the mission.

Each of these planes filled out an S-2 Abortion Report. For A Grbup:

Schneider Ship 202 563rd Sq.

Brotemarkle Ship 878 560th Sq.

McFarlane Ship 123 561st Sq.

Fitzpatrick Ship 787 560th Sq.

did not take off - mag drop on both
left & right mags. #4 engine

turned back at 0943 at 10,000 alt.
Pilot was ill - gas fumes in cockpit
were intense. Landed at 1118% with
bombs.

turned back at 1026 at 16,000 alt.
Pilot was ill. Bombs were jettisoned.
Landed at 1130.

furned back at 1040 at 13,000 alt.

#1 engine intermal failure - Symp~
toms were o0il blowing out of breather

& extreme roughness. Subsequent

163



check showed ground metal in oil
cunc {[sic] Bombs were jettisoned.
Landed at 1125.

Head Ship 091 562nd Sq. turned back at 1114 at 22,000 alt.
#2 engine throwing oil, smoking,
vibrating. Loss of power due to
RPM drop. Made a 180 went out over
water & circled back on a 90° head-
ing to the A/F at Nordholz. Bombs
fell short of aiming point. Some
bombs hit the road. Aimed at a han-

gar 6 grouped together.

For B Group:
Price Ship 778 563rd Sq. did not take off no report

At the end of each mission each crew went to an interrogation
session, and included in the papers that I have are all these
sheets for this mission. I was interested to see what the crews
had to say about seeing.our plane go down. TFollowing are the per-
tinent comments following FRIENDLY ATRCRAFT I0ST OR IN DISTRESS.

Plane #1 Samson with Lt. Col. Henggeler (PFF plane) did not .
fill out form. The pilot.is from Squadron 413 in another q75&;
group. Ship #760. _

Plane #2 Oswald (also PFF) from Squadron 413 did not fill out
form. Ship number not available. -7

#3 Kluth Ship #098 from 561st Sq. MIA

#4 McFarlane aborted and was replaced by Gierach, ship #328,

56lst Sq. Comments: B-17 blew up over target, Group behind-no chutes
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#5 Brinegar Ship #434 561st Sq. Only an X listed.

#6 empty slot

These five planes were flying at 25,000 feet and bombs were
away at 1233.

In the low squadron #1 Fiﬁzpatrick aborted and was replaced

by Sherman Ship #062 560th Sq. Comments: one B-17 down over

target Far away (2 chutes) 2 B-17 from other div. seen burnming over

Berlin.

#2 Ong Ship 617 560th Sq. Comments: 2 B-17's at target (1 on

ground burning and 1 going down in flames - no chutes

#3 Kellenyi Ship #523 560th Sq. answer to question Was it a

good formation? loosened before bombs away as #098 pulled out. Next

answer: None with chutes Lost #4 engline over target. Came back on 3.

#4 Porter Ship #844 560th Sq. 1 B-17 over target turned over in

air - went into flat spin - 3 chutes was without Gp - off to right

slightly from high squadron circled about 5 times 4 engines running.

1 B-17 blew up near ground as going into dive - after bombs away - from

Gp behind us

#5 Brotemarkle aborted position empty

#6 empty

This squadron of four planes had bombs away at 1233 at 24,800
feet. |

In the high squadron #1 Head aborted and '‘Beatty Ship #599

took his place Comments: 1 B~17 go down over target 1 chute

#2 Morse Ship #685 Both Beatty and Morse were from 562nd Sq.

Comments: 1 - Bl17 down over target chutes (2 possible)

#3 Riddle Ship #210 563rd Sq. 2 -B-17 down over target
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#4 Little Ship #039 560th Sg. A/c not from group down over target

no chutes (burning)

#5 Schneider did not take off

Richards Ship #861 562nd Sq. scheduled to fly #4 says they

flew higher and to right of formation Comments: B-17 hit by ground

rocket from group ahead, SW bart of city. Went down in ball of fire,

1236 no chutes

This squadron of five planes had bombs away at 1233 and altitudes were
from 25,000 to 25,400.

To summarize the A Group, 14 ships were flying, two gave no report and
one was shot down. Out of the 11 remaining one made no mention
of a plane down, eight saw one plane go down and two saw two planes
going down. Of the number of chutes seen five saw no chutes, omne
saw just one, two saw two chutes, one saw three chutes, and one
made no mention of chutes plus the one no report. Richards states
that the B-17 was hit by a ground rocket and that is possible.
Porter reports that 1 B-17 over target turned over in air and went
into a flat spin. Tﬁis is certainly possible, but I have not
heard any crew member mention turning over. The flat s5pin seems
correct. Three ships report a fire on the aircraft in distress.

Following this group of planes comes the next wave which
included the 388B Group flying the low squadron. They dropped
their bombs at 1234 (one ship writes 1254, probably a typographical
error, and one plane states 1333, an obvious mistake).

#1 Patten Ship #873 £63rd Sq. one B-17 from wing ahead down

(under control) 3 chutes
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#2 Meagher Ship #989 563ra Sg. 1 Bl7 down in front & to right No
chutes. Landed a bit SE of Luchenwalde. 1236 1Bl17 went straight down
over target. No chutes.

#3 Chimenti Ship #745 563rd Sq. B~1l7 went down at 1236 over tar-

get Flat spin——No chutes 1244 west of Berlin B-17 blew up no chutes

#4 Maple Ship #106 563rd Sq. Comments: a/c peeled off over tar-

get said he had lost oxygen and crew was passing out. plane down in

flames. Crew observed 1' chute ovef target.

#5 Saunders Ship #996 563rd Sq. over target at 12:40 3 B-17s

burning on ground approx 52°21:13°22" 1 B-17 at 12:41 to avoid collison

with another group, made steep bank, rolled over on back, went down in
spiral - at target S. of this group - no chutes seen - last seen headed

down At 12:45 approx. ? [word indecipherable], B-17 .

broke up & on fire - no chutes

#6 Price never took off.

Out of these five ships three saw no chutes, one saw one,
and one saw three. A plane rolled over on back as noticed by
Porter in A Group, but since Saunders times it at 12:41 I doubt
that this was our plane. The most chutes that were seen were
three (two ships, Portef and Patten, saw three chutes). One
undoubtedly was McIntyre. The other two were Crawford, Kluth,
or Sanborn. Since the plane went into a flat spin after four
had exited the plane the formation was too far away to see other
chutes. Information from other groups is not available.

I have always thought that we received a direct hit by an
anti-aircraft gun, but one report states the plane was hit by a

rocket. The hit, whatever it was, was evidently in the oxygen

system.
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After all of that I am less sure I know what happened than
when I started. All that remains now is to give my story of the
events as I recall them. Memories can be wrong, yet some of my
memories are still vivid and will remain soc.

My first reaction upon seeing the flames in the bomb bay was
to grab the fire extinguisher which is located on the wall above
my radio. I had a little trouble getting it off the wall, and
suddenly over the intercom came Stewart's voice with a forceful
and meaningful intonation, "Bail out, bail out." My position is
supposed to exit the bomb bay, but the doors were closed and the
switch was on the other side of the bomb bay in the flames. I
decided to go to the rear door instead. I forgot to stop and eat
the rice paper with all the code information on it, but I did re-
member to pick up my parachute which I carried on the way to the
rear.

Maurer, the engineer, stationed immediately behind the pi-
lots, had his fire extinguisher out ready to operate when he
heard the bail out command. He dropped it and, like me, decided
to exit the rear entrance. Lt. Kluth, surrounded by flames, said
he pushed the bail-out button, which rings' a bell throughout the
ship,‘and then departed. No one faults him for this because it
is every man for himself in an emergency.

Qur crew had often discussed what we would do in an emer—
gency. A Reader's Digest article had related how a ball turret
gunner had been unable to escape his position after a direct hit,
and one of the crew members told him over the infercom, "Don't

worry! We'll take this last ride together.” We thought that was
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ridiculous. Besides, how did anybody know that happened? We all
agreed that in an emergency situation it was every man for himself.

I never heard a bell, but it may have rung. Lt. Sanborn had
his fire extinguisher working when he saw the pilot leaving the
plane. He immediately exited the plane after the pilot. Craw-
ford in the tail pulled the emergency hatch in the tail open and
dove out head first. McIntyre in the waist went to the rear door
on the right side and tried to open it. He then remembered it
had an emergency handle which causes the door to come off, so he
pulled it, but the door was off the latch and remained in place.
He said he put his head down and pushed his way out. He pulled
his rip cord immediately, and it took him about an hour to reach
earth. I thought we were flying at 26,000 feet; this altitude
was in my mind. (On the official report it states the altitude
was 25,000 feet.) Four of the crew members had left the plane
and probably the first chute was McIntyre's. I have often .
thought that with ten more seconds three fire extinguishers might
have put out the fire. Howeve;, it was not in the cards.

As I went through the open door to the waist I had a full
head of steam going. Nelson was coming up out of the turret, and,
as he reached for his chute, I ran into him knocking him back in
the turret and sending me sprawling on the floor of the waist.

I thought I might have hurt him because I hit him pretty hard.
As I struggled to my knees I watched him get out of the turret,
put on his chute, and take a few steps toward the rear. The

plane then went into a spin, and Nelson fell in front of me. We'
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were pinned to the floor and could not move. We both struggled
to no avail. Nelson, later, said he heard the engines going
faster and faster and the sound going higher and higher. My
past life flashed through my mind, and we both decided to quit
struggling and make our peace with God.

Suddenly, relief! The pressure was lifted! Nelson went
directly to the door, and as i watched he didn't just go out, he
disappeared instantly. Still on my knees I finally got my para-
chute attached to my harness. Maurer appeared at the door to the
waist. His first thought was that I was wounded. I yelled to
him inquiring as to the condition of the plane. Since we both
had our oxygen masks on we could not tell the other one was speak-
ing. I remained awa? from the door, and Maurer went directly to
the door which was still jammed in place. - Then I noticed that
the back of his fatigues was covered in sparks. He had been in
the flames. When we went into the spin he was half inside the
radio room. He thought he felt the rubber melting on his flying
boots. He figured he was about to burn to death. Needless to
say, when relief came he was anxious to leave. I reached out to
hit his back and stomp out the sparks, but my hand hit only air.
He, too, just disappeared.

Nelson, later, said he remembered a lecture which said to
free fall until vou can distinguish the leaves on the tree. He
did this, felt a big jerk, and then landed immediately. He was
in a garden without his boots and couldn't run through the weeds

and stickers. He was captured almost immediately. Maurer, after
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pulling his rip cord, found that one leg strap was not fastened
so he was falling at amn angle. He could feel the warmth on his
back but could not reach it. Upon landing his parachute fell
‘over a clothes line, and he was attacked immediatdy by a bunch
of ruffians who gaVé him a real beating. When I next saw him he
had an arm in a sling and his face was all puffed up.

After Maurer left I realized more than ever that this was a
serious situation. I knew Maurer would not leave if there was
any hope. It was then that I realized that I would really have
to jump. I went to the -door and looked out the window in the
door. There I saw the tail just to the right. There was no way
you could go out without the tail hitting you. HNelson and Maurer
were probably knocked out falling to their deaths. I looked back
te the radio rcom and saw smoke now entering the waist. If the
thought of my flying jacket, left in the radio room, had come to
mind I know I would have gone back to get it, It was a nice
leather jacket with a circular brand mark on the sleeve. For-
tunately, I never thought of it until later. The immediate |

question was how to get out without hitting the tail.
As I pondered this problem and tried to get up enough cour-

age to jump, I was leaning against the door and the door fell off
and I went with it. I never saw or felt the tail. A tremendous
blast of air hit me, and I saw one of my flying boots going
straight up.. Next I felt my socks coming off. I still had.both
hands on my chute, the wind was on my back and my feet were flap-
ping above me. I counted to ten three times and thén decided to

look over my shoulder at the earth. It was there all right, but
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it was.spinning. If I pulled the ripcord while spinning it might
get twisted and not work right. I took my left hand and put it
out to the side. It did slow my spinning, but it felt that if I

put it down I would fall face down. I decided not to do that.

. The thought occurred to me that if the chute doesn't work I could

take it back for a new one. That's an old air force joke. It
became necessary to know if the chute worked. My right hand
pulled the handle, and I practically died right then, because the
handle came off in my hand. I had not expected that. I must have
a defect. While this thought was occurring the chute opened, and
I was jammed into my harness with my arms slightly raised. All
sound ceased. I looked up and the chute was going back and forth
above me. I realized that it was I who was moving, but it didn't
look or feel like it. I looked out on a pretty country scene.
I could not see Berlin anywhere. I turned a 360° turn and saw
off a ways a parachute just reaching the ground. That must be a
crew member. When I landed I would go over and get him, and we
would walk back ﬁo England together.

At first, there was no sense of movement at all, but the
ground began to move closer, slowly at first and then more rapid-
ly. The worry of running into electric wires came to mind, and

I tried to spill my chute to see if I could direct my falling.

I bad nc strength at 211 to do so with my arms in their set posi-

tion. I would go where the parachute would take me. I saw no-

body. I seemed tc be alonme, Later, I figured that I must have

‘opened the chute around 10,000 ft. We must have fallen at least

R
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a mile in the spin. ©None of us had any idea how long we were in
the spin. As I came closer to the ground I began to.view the di-
rection to go. I landed with a big jolt and sat down hard in the
middle of a grassy plot surrounded by a small hedge. My chute
fell in front of me and collapsed. I had recalled that it was
wise to keep your back to the wind. I took off my harness and
vent to feel my nylon chute. Nylon was rather new, and I appre-
ciated the packer who had done a good job. A narrow cinder path
ran on one side of the plot. I left my chute and went over to
the path.

On the other side of the path was an orchard of trees about
3 to 4 inches in diameter. Beyond the hedge was a grain field
with some trees about a mile in the distance. I would have to
hide my chute and then go meet my buddy, whoever he was. I did
look up in the sky, and it appeared to me that the plane had
exploded.

What had happened to the four officers was unknown at that
time, but I knew the five enlisted men had bailed out. Collins
told me later that he tried to knock a héle in the plexiglass
nose in the;hope that the wind would then blow out the flames.
After the spin he jumped. He landed in a tree and refused to

come down at first until someone of authority arrived. The..co-

pilot was missing for quite some time. Perhaps he didn't make it.

one told us much later that he was in a hospital. He had pulled
off his gloves and the flames had burned his hands and face. He.
still has the scars, but they were not bad when I saw him in
1986. In reconstructing the events Maurer, Nelson, and I decrided

that it must have been Stewart who pulled us out of fhe spin.
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It was an action that saved our lives. When I first got back to
the states I wrote out a recommendation that Stewart be given a
medal, but as far as I know nothing came of it. Even after talk-
ing with him in 1986 and knowing that the events were painful for
him to talk about, I am convinced the plane could not have recov-
ered on its own. His actions saved the lives of four of his crew
members as well as his own. I, for one, am eternally grateful.

I started down the path to my right and I had gone only a
few steps when I could see a farmer coming toward me on a bicycle
carrying a rifle. I retraced my steps and took stock of the situ-
ation. The trees in the orchard would offer no protection. The
only place to hide was the hedge around this plot of grass.

(This plot was evi&ently left to accommodate someone who para-
chuted.} Hiding behind the hedge was too obvious and would not
delay detection very long. The only other alternative was to

run across the field towards the trees. It seemed similar to a
rabbit running from a hunter, and I decided that would not be
very smart. My safest course was to go and meet him. The farmer
dropped his bicycle and came rushing at me. The rifle turned out
to be a pitchfork with which he procesded to lit-me on the hesdd.
The ¢wo of us kept circling. He was talking in an agitated way,
Bats t¥ied to cowmunicate that I was the friendly type. Soon a
S§1£ié£'iﬁ uniférm‘cgme runiking up felling, "Pistoiet, pistolet,"
with' the dccent on the first syllable. I respondéd; "Nein,

1) o

bt

o

&)

pistolet. Te was éarrying a1big butcher knife, and I could see

heliwas -a private, - He didn't look intelligent encugh to be a
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corporal. After he was sure I had no gun (I had decided never to
take my pistol with me.), he calmed down and went through the
things I had in my pockets. This included my escape kit, a list
of phrases in foreign languages, a New Testament, and that was
about all. We went back and picked up my harness and parachute,
and proceeded to march me down the path. ‘Soon we came to a
clearing with a number of houses grouped around an open area.
About a dozen people gathered around, and they began to ask some
questions. I had taken German one summer, but my use of the
language was very limited. I asked for my phrase book and turned
to the German section. Here everything IAread did not apply to

my situation. There were phrases such as I am wounded. Where is

a hospital? I turned to French (two years of high school French)
and saw what I wanted. "J'ai soif." (I am thirsty.) Someone
said, "Francais?" and I said, "Nein, American." Some one was

sent into a house and came back with a glass of trinkwasser.

I was grateful. I believe I had skipped breakfast that morning.
Then a boy spoke up, "How old you?" When I replied, "21", he did
not understand. I indicated 21 with my fingers which he trans-

lated to eins und zwanzig. Everyone responded, "Nein" or shook

their head. They thought I looked much younger. When they dis--.
covered the boy knew some English they'aéked him to ask.me numexny -
ous guestions. HRe evidently 6n1y,had spﬁé English iﬁ sghoglﬁéqgﬁ
had trouble talking so I could uﬁderébanﬂ. Then a big map¢inﬂgg},
black uniform arrived-and took charée. He wrote everything;dOng,

in a book and finally had me pick-up;éll‘my bélongings ahdlwa;kﬁg
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with him out to the highway. He had a bicyéle which he pushed.
After.we had walked about a mile he said something to me and
patted the seat of the bicycle. I looked puzzled so he did it
again. I figured he wanted me to ride the bicycle, so I threw
my right leg over, and he pushed me back and said, "Dummkogf!"
Ihis I understood. What he wanted was for me to put my big bun-
dle, parachute and harness, on the seat. I did so and said in

my best German, "Danke schdn."

We came to a town named Grossbeeren, and a number of children
bﬂgaﬁ to taunt me and throw rocks. I Was-glad when we finally
arrived at an office where we waited a few minutes for an officer
to arrive. The soldier who captured me was there and gave his
report. I understand that a reward is given for a capture of a
prisoner. A sergeant reported on my property which included a
G.I. watch(which I never got back because it was G.I.) and my
Air Corps bracelet. The sergeant knewrsome English, and he asked
me what the bracelet was. I tried to explain it when he then said,
"Talisman?" I.thought that was as good as anything so I said,
"Ja, talisman." Finally, the officer completed his report, and
1 was placed in the custody of the sergeant. We proceeded to
%alk to tﬁe'trgiﬂ statio ,l'The sergeant knew some Freunch also,

e

“H9Y betfween: the three lenguages we comunicated prebt -well., We
oy .k

“'got on. one train and then. tranzferred to another. At .dne busy
BoETation we had to wait, and .a circle of people: survotnded us, I
“ntided that the circle vas.getting smaller.. Gne man carrying a

brizfiase (most Germinsigsemed. to. carry a briefuiasé which con~
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tained their lunch), was very outspoken, and he kept threatening
me with his briefcase. I kept moving away, but there was no es-
cape. Suddenly, he lunged at me with the briefcase over his head.
The sergeant came up to him and yelled in his face. The man wilt-
ed and went to the back of fhe crowd. I was grateful to the ser-
geant. We made seven different trains. ‘A Hitler jugend was on
one train. He was about 16 years old and was wearing a Nazi arm-
band and short pants. He made a number of disparaging remarks
and pinched me when the sergeant was not looking. Finally, we
got on a double-decker bus which was pretty crowded. As I was
ascending the steps I heard someone say in English, "It is a

good thing you have someone with vou."

We arrived at a jail, and I was placed in a cell. That
evening I got 2 slices of black bread, a piéce‘of meat (liver=-
wurst?) and coffee. I was never a coffee drinker and not hungry
enough to eat the food. Eventually, I nibbled on the bread but
could not eat it. Then I met Nelson and got to talk for awhile.
A guard gafe me a coat to wrap up with at night. It was quite an
eventful day.

August 7--In the morning a guard motioned me to pick up my dinner,
and I carried it into another cell. Here was Collins. [ showed
no sign of reccgnitidn; but I laid dqﬁn the ﬁépd.and.saiﬂ;,fﬁ?ré
is your breakfast." He told me 1ater ;eLWduld:ﬁbt,touch_g;.;ﬂﬁe
said he could see where mice had nibbied-pntitw, Iineverhﬁp;d;bim
that I was the moﬁsewl‘Then I saw Maurer with his manj:hyhté;in—

cluding a burnt -hand. We got a half hour of: exercise ig};@g.ﬁg
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courtyard. The sik of us--Maurer, Nelson, Collins, and I and
two other Americans--got on a truck and went to the Berlin depot.
Alct of péople were walking around, most of them in uniform.
They would salute with either hénd, or if they were carrying

a rifle -they would sharply turn their head. to the side. It was
humorous te see them, but we decided not 'to laugh. Tt reminded
me of «Chaplin's film "The Great Dictator". The depot showed
signs ¢f destruction. We walked tlrough the station with two
guardé. The guards treated us well. I remember gettinga German
equivalént of a LIFESAVER. I remember the smokers among our

- growp. pessing a cigarette back and forth until it was impossible
te hold it We were wlloved to talk, and the train traveled all
night. The train was crowded so it was hard getting to sleep.
It was codidér that night.

We érrivedrin Frankfurt just before dawn, and Frankfurt is
as good a place as any to stop the narrative. I have the rest of
the story all written out for tbe next eight and half months, but
that story can be put in Part II. it has taken longer to type
thiz than I expected. If I had had more time the story could
have been shorter.

I-waﬁi to-guote the. source book once moze.

ihe 386th at War

Misgion #212, -Colbgne, . Oetober 17, 1944

© ¥, Resch in afc 43-38578 was ﬁagging behind from.the time the for-
mation: went bﬁer Belgitm ¥ntdi it.mas hit by flal: mear the RP. .The a/c was

on fire and dove 3,000 feet below the formation:puttifig the-fire out. ILater
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the a/c was seen to explode at cloud level.”

| All the crew membefs became POW's except the ball turret
gunner who was KIA. Everyone was on their first mission except.
the top turret gunner wholwas credited with 25 missions. His
name was T/Sgt. D. [evidently.a mistake. It should be.G.]
Crowder. Pop, as we often called him because he was older than.
the rest of us, deserves alot of'credit for finishing up.his.
tour of duty and then volunteering for another. He wanted,to;
be an enginéer on a plane and it.lodké like he got his wish at
least for one mission. As luck would have it he showed,up'ét Cae
Stalag Luft 4, and we had a big reunion.- He was . in a different
compound from the rest of us, but we managéd to‘make arrangeménts
for a meeting in the hoépital,

Crowder will miss our next reunion. I -just received word
that former Fire Chief George T. Crowder of Selma, Alabéma
deceased on March 5, 1989.

On page 16 of this lengthy missive (I originally thought it
would be about 80.pagesu) I mentioned how we had our pictures
taken for a classbook at the 222nd Combat Crew Iraining School
at Ardmore, Oklahoma. Probably most of the crew members have a
copy of the book. In case one.does not and for the rgcord I want
to include the pictures of the.crew sinpé I have no other_pic—

tures. This is the way we loocked 47 yeérsfggof;giigﬁsh'ﬁ;h@@;@?;

pictureof Sanborn, the navigator,*éogthi%qcbuld be more complete, -

These pictures are probably the images wé& haye kept,iﬁ-dﬁ;;mgﬁgs'

Lot R e

for almost.a half century, oo S N
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Y. G. Coliins
Rotert M, Rowe Robert §. Sr:warr _=:_‘_u'c".1"—n August W, Maurer
' ; ? Navizater SoemasminfE

ot glteranr—F

CELTEn Speonz bLiporemzn —OF

S

CREW No.:2525

I TR
George 1. Crowoer Zrreyd Crawt :rcl H err . H ‘l'm'rn D:::nils _'_ ::E-IS:"‘
e
L “‘\" v '
i, . Al Ardmore the combat crews were in three sections: Section
PN . o 2

Athgd 41 crews, B section had 56 crews, and_C section, our contin-

,;,gentj had 56 crews. The numbers of the crews in C section ranged
from 2518 to -2573. ﬁe were Créw,ES&S or simply 25. The enlisted
m@m in. creys 2518-23 lived in ome barracks and 2524-29 were in the
next barracks. Thus we got to know the members of these crews
best .. o4

5@5é§:¢@ikﬂﬁwrﬁﬁﬁfgﬁﬁpPEHEd.to many of the crews, ‘but only

~» Cxgw:2518 never finished ‘trairing. I have

Qiéngéﬁneﬂ bgfote thﬁ%éﬁéé% 2524 was assignad go—mhe 100th Bomb

Grodp ad d ‘gbt Shot' dowstfon their. first mi¥sion. Only.a waist

A8disn suIViva“laﬂf?becamﬂ ‘@ ledder Iwthe ghurch coun-
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cil in Stalag Luft 4. He became an authority on the life of Paul,
the Apostle. I believe our experiences changed the lives of many
of the men in the combat crews including our o%n'crew.

Crew 2526 on the other side of us was with us in thé 388th
in the 561st Squadron although we seldom saw them. In looking

through The 383th at War for mention of Lt.'Sartenb the pilot of * -

2526,1 was surprised t¢ see his name listed a number of times,.
Most of.the reports on missions- do not list the crews. The fi;§t
listing is on the Schweinfurt mission of July 19th. On July 20th
they flew to Wetzler, and we flew an aborted mission. On July
24th the target was St. Lo. Sarten flew #2 position and Rowe
flew #3 position in the middle squadron of the C Group. I never
knew, or at least do not remember knowing, that they were close
by. However, Rowe gave me a picture of our plane dropping bombs
on a mission, and it also appeared in the Newslettér of the 388th
Assn. The large lettér H on the, tail indicates the 388%h:36mb5
Group. I haveé noticed on most of the pictures of B-17's on TV they
never show the tail. The number of the plane is also visible==

Q 297289. The only time we - flew this plane was on the.missidn%
to St. Lo. The proximity of the photographer would indicate

that Sarten or someone on his crew took the picture. It is’a.’ -
great shots. I-believe I.can see Mclntyre“at-thé;wai&thiﬁdow.
Nelsonwhqs“his,turret pointed so he can‘watch;the«%émDSﬁﬁﬁRéﬁég_
and;Stewarui;ﬁnoat~@istinguishablg,.wGollingiisytoggling;pgg%?he_
bombs with. Sanbozn.right behind Him. ..Present-but pﬁgqggga§é3§§

Crawford, Crewder, Anderson, -and, Maurer,.a-crew working togesher.
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v 18th:Mission

2w #3 pesition and Rowe - #5 position

mhe next deyv the.positions were

r'd

reversed on the return to Meuseburg

W

ugust lst while s e Werefln ;London . Sarten: flew with a
'commahdf@iloﬁﬁoﬁ.aﬁmissioﬁ?tgﬂcap@yusﬁppﬁies-to,thezﬁérquies in
southert: France .

On August 14th they flew to Ludwigshaven in #1 position of

A.nw1123 WEs*ioéﬁ”bﬁf b run when a plane aboveé dropped down and
cut the rudder off. The a/c then Wéﬂt?ddﬁn dut5df5ééﬁ%fol,{ A/e" #1326 con-

tinued with the formation."
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The names of the crew .are llsted as MIA . except for the pilot,

Lt. Sarten, and the radlo operator T/Sgt. L. L. 'L’f Tivan, who

were KIA. |
I had always . thought that they were shot’ ‘dotn 'h.éhéié next-~
to-last mission, but I was Wgong. They went down ten days after
our crew did with six more missions than-we had. Only five of
the crew in their pictures at Ardmorefﬁere on their last mission.
It may be somewhat unusual for a trew to remain intact through
training and combat. I wonder if any of_the crews in C Section

CIC SR

at Ardmore ever finished their tour of duty; f | o

On page 7 Hunt21nger wrltes "Of‘ e ore than 450ﬂcombat cr 7S
to pass through the 388th Bomb Group, 138 were m1551ng in ;SLiSh overZZOO.
completing their tour,:and.over 100 returnlng ‘to theJStates at the end of the.
war in Europe: : Many of the men, that were- shot down returned 0 ‘the Group

before the war ended as escapees or-POW exchanges, and these men:wereﬁeentﬁr

A e L e
= e

to the States. - ,;m-fafjf“i Tt EFal
"In the first 100 'missions the Group lost=83 crewe.A The remalnlug

206 missions, the Group loSt-SB creus Several went. to Sweeden ; One yto.;

Switzerland and some.had to ditch in the North Sea or EngllshZGhannel;"»~*ﬂ

On page 261 of The 388th at War figures are given. for- the

casualties of the bomb group. On the next page: e have repro— x

duced the statlstlcs for the three.months we VRTe: there plus .

the totals Multlply these numbers by the‘number of groups




ESC  TOTAL
i 12
22

& gures August s s TThE % i1 SRS v S s
1 27 8 o 46 *

1979 flgures August 1944

=)

- 5 7 ".:' 1 #’%M' AN .“ i B PR N ;
45 142 259 521 15 406 _ 1201
= s S R L . R L

'1979: 1gur . July 43—Apr. 45 162 '524.‘;' - 78

"Fletch" Juiy 4 1990 Your Poltava v151t was more exc1t1ng than ours'

w3 . Ty
Aﬂ‘.;w;%q\.yw

gator_kept notes on eachiml_51on,‘so it was 1nterest1ng to me
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when they flew the same: m1551ons as we did. This occurred first

on thelr mission #4 (our 13th)‘where we dropped sugplles to.th

LR B

2

Maquis (I believe this is the accepted spelllng.

wrote an 1nterest1ng review of the m1531on.

t—

- el —'b—-;E

miles southeast of Paris on July 17th

x

Our

1nstallat10ns nearby.

southeast of K1el (Hemmlngstedt)

) "‘sL .
b

picture.

] r;:w\-—

The pllot gave a len'thy a;oount of the second day s

feather #4 engine, and they could not keep up Wlth thelr group

On August 4th the bombardler wrltes about the HE bur

. . 1::-- . ".-..
[ - . 4 ,.,_ . .

Inlssxlon “It was a 1ong over-water hop Saw'no flak until, e, hlt'the

target area and then 1t hlt us. Belleve they have stoppedhthr0W1ng up flak.lnh ;

shells—-lt comes up

4 ":" R "’..' Tt
equ1pment and it seemed to work f1ne
- . - i - ’N H
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- FEom 4t " Our report shows poor results, butjthe‘pilot writes,
Ihe r&mﬂim'wsre good. ™

'FiﬁaIIy,'cn“Our:last~missibn'we'went to Berlin while they
proceeded o an FW 109 factory near : Gydnra. -After they .hit the
target they wbnt on to Poltavarrnﬁkus51a | '

They flew thelr 1ast mlssidn, #35 tu”Fulda;}Germany on
December 27th . 80 ‘some of ‘the. crews dld complete thelr missions.

That exhausts my mater1a1 as, I am sure this - tome has ex-
hausted you ; If I. can get 1t dupllCéDEd‘ln tlmerfor our reumnion
on August 19th 1n Valley*Fsrge, PA: then 1t Wlll .be za success. I
‘am loqklng forward to our reunlsnaand seelng each of you. We
“Spent 200 days tralnlng, worklng,zanu flylngttogether. “During
that tlme we had many unforgettable experlences.r I“thank you for
your part 1n maklng thls recountlng of a short peéziod of our
11ves an engoyable experlence I -am -gure I have onitted some
events whlch yout recall wrth satlsfactlon, s:and I’have included
~'some materlal whlch had better béén: left -out . %Egcuse my faults;
th1s Was a. labor of love. | T

.Tmo-of“our crew-members; quiins andﬂCrdwder, have ‘gone to
thelr reward No response has been received from McIntyre and
Sanborn I cannot get*an address for MeIntyre or a phone number
for Sanborn.; That leaves Rowe Stewart Maurer,. Nelson Crawford
and me. May I w1sh each of you a long life Wlth good“health and

much happlness We -are- some of the luckiest people in the

world.
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MISSIONS PERFORMED BY ROWE’S CREw

BOMB GRoOUP OUR MISSION / DATE / TARGET / PLANE /ALTITUDE / RESULTS

MISSION
128 #1
130 #2
131 #3
134 #4
136 #5
140(#6)
141 #6
142 #7
143 #8
144 #9
152 #10
154 #11
158 #12
161 (#13)
162 #13
163 #14
164 #15
165 #16
166 #17
167 (#18)

168 #18
169 #19

170 #20
171 #21
174 #22
175 #23
177 #24

6-4-44 Cape Griz Nez /0ld 66 42-30778 / 23,900 / Loose pattern

6-5-44 Cape Griz Nez / Sweetheart 42-3262/ 19,900 / Poor

6-6-44 Invasion Coast / Gremlin Gus II 42-30595 / 13.850/ Second wave D-Day
6-7-44 N; antes, France / War Weary 42-3199¢ /' ?/ Good resuits

6-10-44 Berck-Sur-Mer / Old 66 42-3 0778/ 23,000 /PFF

6-15-44 Beauvoir, France/ ménoﬁom:#w-wmmw bad éngine, aborted mission
6-18-44 Bremen, Germany/ O1d 66 42-30778/ 25,900/ 7/10% clouds
6-19-44 Cognac, France/ Miss Lace 42-39842/ 29,000/ abandoned missjq
6-20-44 Magdeburg, Germany/ Old 66 42-30778/ 25,300/ shacked the target
6-21-44 Ruhland, Germany/ Gir] of My Dreams 44-6123/ 20,000/ “shack’
6-26-44 Drohobycz, Poland/ Sack Happy 42-97873/ with 390% B_G.

7-5-44 Beziers, France / Sack Happy 42-97873, with 100%2 B.G

.m bridge over Seine
7-13-44 Munich, Germany/ Haughty Hazy 11 4297289, scheduled abortion

7-14-44 Southern France/ Girl of My Dreams 44-¢ 123/ supplies to Marquis
7-16-44 Munich, Germany/ Gir] of My Dreams 44-6123/ 24,100/ on Stuttgart
7-17-44 mo%cos.zou France/ Heavens Above 42-102434/ 22,900/ excellent
7-18-44 Kiel, Germany/ Little Donna 42-97098/ 25,300/ 10710 clouds PFF
7-19-44 worSoEE:u Germany/ Litfle Donna 42.9709g/ wmuooo\mmmr% dispersed
7-20-44 Wetzler, Germany/ T jti]e Donna 42-97098/ scheduled abortion

7-23-44 practice mission 3 Y . formation flying at 18,000

7-24-44 St. Lo areq/ Haughty Hazy 1T 42-97289/ 4 bomb runs ag 16,000
7-25-44 St. Lo area/ Little Donna 42-97098/ 13,000/ tight pattern covering target
7-27-44 missijon scrubbed

7-28-44 Mersebur : Germany/ Little Donna 42-97098/ 24,000/ PEF method
7-29-44 gowmmwﬁm\ Little Donna 42-97098/ 26,000/ B Group made own sighting

8-2-44 Zma\.mﬁ-ou.mmu France/ Heavens Above 42-102434/ 22,900/ excellent

8-4-44 Hamburg, Germany/ 1 jitle Donna 42-9709g/ 26,000/ poor
8-6-44 Betlin, Germany/ Littie Donna 42-9709g/ 25,000/ excellent



Missions flown by OLD 66, 42-30778

Flew 85 missions from Sept. 26, 1943 1o August 13, 1944. For the
388" Bomb Group it was from mission #24 1o mission #182,

Rowe ‘s crew flew the plane on their first mission on June 4, 1944 to
Cape Griz Nez, France; on mission #5 on June 10, 1944 to Berek-Sur-Mer,
France; on mission #6 on June 18, 1944 to Bremen, Germany; and on
mission #8 on June 20, 1944 to Magdeburg, Germany. It was the second
most often flown plane used by Rowe’s crew, Only LITTLE DONNA was
flown more often.

Sarten’s crew flew the plane on their first mission on June 5, 1944 to
Cape Griz Nez, France and on mission #5 to Portaubault, France.

OLD 66 had a reputation in the 561 Squadron of being a slow plane

but still dependable,
1 thought I had a photo of OLD 66 but have not found it yet.



Missions flown by SWEETHEART #42-3260

Flew 62 missions from July 24, 1943 to March 30, 1945. For the
388" Bomb Group it was from mission #2 through #289.

Sarten’s crew flew the plane to Amiens, France on June 12, 1944,
They aborted the mission because of problems with personnel.
Most often it was flown by crews with the 561 Squadron.



Missions flown by

Copyright © 2003 by 383th Boriba

GREMLIN GUS IT #42-30595

This plane flew 54 missions from August 15, 1943 to D-Day, June 6,
1944. For the 388" Bomb Group it was mission #9 through #131.

Rowe’s crew flew this plane on D-Day, June 6, 1944 to Caen, France

in support of the Allied invasion,
Group it was #131.
F. J. Henggeler flew as Co

our third mission. For the 388% Bomb

mmander on the 49 mission in Gremlin

Gus II with Bohne as pilot. The mission was on December 24, 1943 to the

Crossbow Target,




Missions for WAR WEARY #42-31996

No picture is available for this plane. It flew 93 missions from
February 24, 1944 1o November 6, 1944,

Rowe’s crew flew mission #4 on June 7, 1944 to Nantes, France. This
was mission # 134 for the 388% Bomb Group.

In my diary I wrote that we flew in Jakes Jerks, but I found out over
50 years later that this plane was shot down in May. I do not know how I
made this mistake. Now the information is on the internet.
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Missions flown by A

The plane flew 54 missions from November 30
1944, No complete picture is available but the photo
damaged from a hit. The plane was attached to the 560%™ Squadron. We
normally flew missions in planes from oyr squadron —561% Squadron.

Rowe’s crew flew in this plane on June 19, 1944 to Cognac, France,
It was the 388" Bomb Group mission #142.

, 1943 to August 4,
shows how the tajl was



Missions flown by GIRL OF MY DREAMS #44-6123

This plane flew 35 missions from June 6,1944 to August 16, 1944, 388" missions

#131 to #184.
Rowe’s crew flew on their mission #9 to Ruhland, Germany on June 21, 1944 ang

brother Neale Musolff and hope to be able to meet him in person at the reunion of the

388" in Savannah at the end of this coming August,
Many of the crews had 3 picture taken in front of a plane. Rowe’s crew never did
have a picture of the entire crew. A picture of Sarten’s crew is included since they did

have a picture taken,
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Missions of SACK HAPPY #42.97873

This plane flew 77 missions from June 15, 1944 to February 24, 1945,
388" #140 to #264.

Rowe’s crew flew in this plane on their second lap of the shuitle
mission from Poltava, Russia to F. oggia, Italy, their tenth mission, on June
26, 1944, The target was Drohobycz, Poland. Tt was mission # 152 for the
388" They continued to fly the plane on the last lap of the shuttle from
Foggia, Italy to Krettishall, England on July 5, 1944, The target was
Beziers, France. It was mission #154 for the 388™

The plane evidently was assigned to the 563" Squadron as it was used
most frequently by crews from that squadron.

No photo of the plane is availabje but here i3 the plane after jts last

mission.



Missions flown by STAR DUST #42-102559

This plane flew 94 missions from A
1945, 388 missions from #98 {o #266.

Rowe’s crew flew the plane on Jul
France, their mission # 12. It

No picture is available.

pril 24, 1944 to February 26,

y 8, 1944 1o Mantes-Gassicourt,
was #158 for the 388% Bomb Group.






Missions of HEAVENS ABOVE #42-402434

This plane flew 33 missions from July 6, 1944 1o Sept 24, 1944,

Rowe’s crew flew a mission to Houppeville, France on July 17, 1944,
their 15 and another on August 22, 1944 to0 Mery-Sur-Oise, thejr 23 The
388™ missions were #164 and #175. On page 128 I thought that we received

they worked on ready to fly.
Sarten’s crew flew their 17t mission in this plane to Munich,

Germany on July 13, 1944,



missions. They were:

# 388" MISSION ROWE’S CREW # TARGET

165 Kluth as pilot 16
166 17
167 scheduied abortion

169 19
170 20
171 21
175 23
177 Kluth as pilot 24

Kiel, Germany
Schweinfurt, Germany
Wetzler, Germany

St. Lo area, France
Merseburg, Germany
Merseburg, Germany
Hamburg, Germany
Berlin, Germany

—_—



INSERTION

Qur crew had some unusual adventures during the time-
we were operating out of England. We had three 3-day passes,
which I used to go to London. When our pilot got shot in the
foot on Mission 23 we knew that a 7-day furlough would be
available. Our plans were to go to Scotland. All we had to do
was wait until the crews who were on pass returned to the
base at midnight Saturday night. The Eighth Air Force
decided to have a big mission and go to Berlin. The squadron
had to furnish its quota of crews. The call came in around
10:30 on Saturday night so they assigned our crew a
substitute pilot and put us on the list to go. I recall thinking
that we should not fly to Berlin when we had a 7-day furlough
almost in our pocket.

- Surely, our last mission was the most traumatic mission
we had. Our entire life was changed in a short moment and
the plane we were flying was shot down. Our lives from then
on were completely different. We all became prisoners of war,

My second book relates my experiences as a prisoner of
war. The time I spent in Stalag Luft IV was a real learning
experience. 1 would not trade that time for any comparable
period in my life. Ilearned so much that I was able to use
later in my career. The bad time came when we left camp and
walked for 53 days across Germany. I was able to stay at
Stalag XIB at Fallingbostel while the main body of men in the
Air Corps had to march on for over another month. All in-all I
was the luckiest member of my crew.

Next to that last mission in importance was the mission
we flew to Ruhland, Germany, just south of Berlin, and landed
in Russia. It was the first shuttle mission flown from England..
A group had flown from the 15th Air Force in Italy previous to
our flight. The 388th decided to make the shuttle mission the
main topic of the reunion held in Savannah in 2002. I wrote.
up the story of the mission and submitted it to the program
chairman, but he did not pick it for presentation. My pilot,
Robert M. Rowe, had written an article about the mission,
which was published in The Kingstonian on August 1, 1984.
He sent me a copy so I think it is worth reading. Here is the
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article:
NEWTON -- Newtonian Robert M. Rowe, Main St., took

part in an extraordinary combat mission to Russia 40 years
ago this summer. - _

‘A former captain in the Air Force Reserve, Rowe piloted
one of the thousands of planes that flew in. support of an
invasion forces at Normandy on D-Day. A few missions later,
he and his crew were chosen to take part in the Russian
adventure. : _ - ,

- Several weeks after returning from that flight, he was
wounded by enemy gunfire over Hamburg, Germany. He
spent two months in a hospital in England and then returned
to this country.

- The following is his own story of the adventure in Russia:

"Forty years ago this summer, a group of Flying
Fortresses of the U.S. Air Force participated in what was the
longest three-way combat mission ever flown in Furope. It
also marked the first time American bombers from England
had ever landed in the Soviet Union.

At the time this feat was accomplished, the American Air
Forces in Europe were reaching their peak of power. This had
been a long, difficult and bloody endeavor which had seen
thousands of our planes and airmen lost in battle.
| Following the reorganization of the Eighth Bomber |
Command in mid-1943, the raids against Hitler's fortress were
stepped up dramatically. In the following few months, battle
after-bloody battle togk place in the flame-filled skies over
Europe. These were the days when our large bombers had to
go in alone. Our fighter planes at that time did not have the
range to fly the full distance. Ironically, during this same
period the Luftwaffe was at its fighting peak.

Industrial targets located in such cities as Bremen,
Leipzig, Marienburg, Brunswick and Regensburg were the
prime objectives. The Germans put on their most vigorous
defenses to protect the all-important ball bearing works at
Schweinfurt.

In December of 1943 our North American P-51 Mustang
became operational. This plane; at that time, had the utmost
in firepower and maneuverability, but most important of all, it
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had the range to accompany our bombers anywhere in
Germany. , , .

It was these 'Little Friends', as we called them, that
- accompanied us all the way to Russia. The mission to the
Soviet Union was designed to prove to Hitler that no part of his
empire was any longer immune to attack because of distance.

We took off as part of a force of more that 1,000 B-17 and
B-24 bombers and as many fighters. This was just weeks
after D-Day, and the target was Berlin. It was a beautiful,
clear day for flying. Many of the groups encountered fighter
opposition and heavy anti-aircraft fire over the target. After
dropping our bombs on an oil refinery outside Berlin, we
continued on to Russia as one of 100 out of the bomber forces
of 1,000. The others returned to England. We flew on across
Poland, just on the outskirts of Warsaw. We were attacked
there by ME-109 German fighters, but our accompanying P-
51s soon dispersed them.

As we crossed the Russian border, we were greeted by
Soviet fighter planes. They escorted us over the Iarge Dnepr
River and then on deep into the Ukraine. The Russian
landscape, from the air, looked much like any other country,
interspersed with fertile farmlands, forests and glistening
bodies of water. |

Our fighter planes landed at Piryatin and half the B-17s
at Mirgorod. The remaining 50 bombers, one of which was
ours, touched down at Poltava. :

Our planes filled the sky with their wheeling traffic
pattern and the thurider of their motors. We came in so
rapidly that as many as five planes were on the wire mesh
runways at one time. We cleared them swiftly to make room
for the remainder. Newsmen, who had arrived in Russia a few
days earlier, provided a genuine welcome along with many
Soviet citizens. Some bouquets were tossed by Russian
women officers, and greetings such as ‘Allo Joe’ were heard.

The first suggestion of trouble came while the crews were
still telling their stories to intelligence officers. Oft in the
distance, an anti-aircraft battery opened up. Too high even to
be seen a German reconnaissance plane had followed the
bombers about 400 miles into Soviet territory. Shell bursts,
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like puffs of cotton in the sky, traced its.course. Some of the
officers dismissed the firing as practice. Most of us were very
weary afterl4 hours in the air in a 30-ton bomber, and were
ready to tumble into the cots set up in tents near the field.
Many didn’t even take time to eat.

Shortly before midnight, sentries with whistles, alerted
the camp. We listened then slept some more until suddenly
the guns were firing from every direction and the area was
lighted like day by the flares dropped by the Nazi planes. We
left the tents with one jump and scattered in all directions. I
don’t know how many times my feet touched the ground, but I
kept going until I tumbled over a rock pile. I tossed enough
rocks out of the center of the pile so I could crawl into it.
There I stayed. '

‘The next two hours were a nightmare. Back and forth
came the Nazi bombers, picking out targets they had missed
on earlier runs. The light and medium anti-aircraft that
hammered continually seemed not to disturb them a bit.
When one wave exhausted its bombs, another took its place..

The tent area was so close to the field it is only a miracle
that there were not countless casualties from stray bombs. If
the Germans had chosen to deliberately attack the tent area, I
shudder to think what would have happened. . Fortunately for
us, they were concerned only with our bombers,

The early morning light disclosed a sickening sight. We
walked out onto the field, surrounded by the broken sagging
skeletons of B-17s. Only a cluster of motors and twisted
propellers marked where some had been. Most of us had
seen, for the first time, what it could be like on the receiving
end of a bombing raid. Out of the 50 huge bombers we landed
at Poltava, only six were in condition to be flown out.

Before darkness fell the following day we were all
transported by truck to a point several miles away where we
slept in the woods. This was a precautionary measure in the
event that Nazis returned to bomb the tent area. They did not.

This did give us an opportunity to see a little of the
Russian countryside. There were some peasant farmers in the
vicinity who wanted to be friendly. The language barrier
prevented us from conversing with them except by signs and
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smiles. They wanted us to accept tokens of their friendship,
but we had been instructed not to accept anything because of
their poverty resulting from the ravages of war. Generally, this
part of the Soviet Union was, at that time, a picture of . .
desolation.. Most buildings showed the effects of war which
had been fought there twice. First, when the Germans
marched in on their way to Stalingrad, and again when they
were routed by the determined Soviet forces. .=

Our visit to Russia came to an end four days later.
Although our plane had been destroyed in the holocaust, we
were assigned to fly one of the other Fortresses on the second
shuttle leg to Italy. The remaining crew members, who were
stranded without planes, were flown back to England by Air
Transport, via Iran, Egypt and Spain. Those of us in the six
planes joined the other 50 that had landed at Mirgorod. They
had not been attacked. We flew over Poland, where we
dropped our 5,000 pounds of bombs on an oil refinery, and on
over Hungary and Yugoslavia to Foggia, Italy.

We found it very hot and dusty in Italy in July and after a
week there we were on our way back to England. Our target
on the third leg of the mission was a railroad marshalling yard
in southern France. It was refreshing to return to the cool,

green English summer.” '

Who am I to dispute what my pilot wrote? Still I have
some different remembrances from some of the events. I
clearly saw the German reconnaissance plane after we had -
landed. The official flight time to Russia was 11 hours, 40
minutes. My diary says the time was 10 hours, 15 minutes.
The plane we flew to Russia was Girl of My Dreams, M123. It
was not destroyed by the German bombs but returned to our
base and flew other missions. It was the plane last used by
Sarten and his crew on mission to Zeitz on August 16t when
the plane above dropped down and cut the rudder off. There

were no Survivors.
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AT R T e SEEL

This picture was taken in Poltava, Russia on June 22, 1944,
Maurer is-on the left, then Anderson plus familiar faces on the
right, probably men we knew at Ardmore. We are looking at
the airfield with all the destroyed planes. -

John Chopelas of Killeen, TX corresponded with me in 2008.
His plane was destroyed by the German bombs and he had to
get back to England with a big group of fliers. He sent me
some pictures he had of the destruction done in Poltava. They
were too small to be used here. At the time I was
corresponding with him moving pictures of two planes landing
in Poltava were displayed on the 388t website. Since we were
the second plane to land on the field I tried to identify the
landing plane as ours. The numbers were never clear enough
to read. I could not say for sure it was our plane.
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A GI mess sergeant and his Russian KPs waiting to serve
what they called “Americanski Vodka” — cocoa to you. The girl
on the right is wearing the sarge’s jacket.

The opportunity to visit Russia was an educational
experience. The Russian people had a hard life, but they still
enjoyed what pleasures they had. Here even the ruins were
ruined. The original plans had been that we would operate
from the airbase in Poltava and attack targets unreachable
from England. Instead of two weeks we were only there five
days.

Flying on to Italy we spent nine days, sometimes
swimming in the Adriatic Sea. I enjoyed seeing Italy more
than Russia, but I did appreciate the opportunity the Air
Corps gave me to see those counties.
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ADDENDUM

Ever since I wrote my war story I realized that I-did not.
have all the right information on some of the events. I always
thought that I would take the time to rewrite the story and
maybe try and get it published. Once when I was in Kansas
City I contacted Francis J. Henggeler who was the lead pilot of .
the last mission we flew to Berlin on August 6, 1944. "Hank",
as he is known as, agreed to write an introduction when I was
ready to proceed.

Dick Henggeler, his son, is now the Historian of the . .
388th'Bomb Group and was a big help to me in trying to get
all the facts straight. His father died recently so my plans to
include his contribution have changed. Ed Huntzinger had
our crew flying in "Fortress Nine", 44-6088 with Lt. Kluth as
the pilot. Our regular pilot, Lt. Robert Rowe, confirmed with
the ground crew that we flew in "Little Donna" that day,
number 42-97098. In the plane mentioned in the secret report
of the mission, which I included in my story, it was numbered
44-6098. Perhaps the number of "Fortress Nine", 44-6088,
caused the confusion. I have talked with Dick and he said he
would try and get it right.

While in prison camp the four of us that were of Rowe's
crew often talked about the events of our last mission. Five of
the crew had left the plane and the other four were in the
plane when it went into a spin and movement was impossible.
The only key to what really happened was to know what:
happened to Stewart the copilot. When I met Stewart again in
1986 at his home he was reticent about talking about his
experience. Even at the crew reunions in 1991 and 1994 I did
not learn much about what happened on the flight deck
during that mission. In 1999 I wrote to him and asked some
specific questions that would help if I ever decided to rewrite
our adventure. He responded and answered all my questions.
Here are the questions I asked and the answers he gave.
Question #1: Do you recall needing oxygen before we got hit?
Did we request fighter escort? Answer: The oxygen system
was not functioning because there was a direct 88 mm hit
under the flight deck and as a result the oxygen supply tank
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under the co-pilot seat exploded. The explosion caused a fire
ball on the flight deck and Kluth turned on the auto-pilot. It
was at that time I called through the intercom to bail out. I do
not remember seeing Kiuth after that. I stood between the -
pilot and co-pilot seat to get my parachute. Since I had
removed my oxygen mask I felt that I was beginning to lose
consciousness. My thought was I had to bail out before
passing out. I crawled to the nose hatch and bailed out. _
Because of the lack of oxygen I pulled the parachute ripcord as
soon as [ jumped from the plane. I remember seeing the chute
open and since I was at 24 or 25 thousand feet altitude I
passed out. I floated down to about 1 thousand feet before I
regained consciousness. I was passed out from high altitude
until I was almost on the ground. I was captured by 3
German soldiers riding toward me in a "J eep"? 1 do not
remember Kluth reporting crew members fainting for lack of |
oxygen. I do not remember and I know that neither Kluth nor
I called for fighter escort. From the time we were hit by flak
there was no conversation except to bail out. There was no
time for that because of the fire ball and the extreme heat on
the flight deck. I do not recall needing oxygen before we got
hit.

Q. #2: We were flying #3 position on that final mission.
Piloting the #1 plane and leading the formation was Col
Henggeler, who was sitting in the co-pilot's seat. Maurer, I
think it was, told me that the leader called us and told us to
move over so they could turn left. Do you recall that
happening at all? Maurer said it did. (When I was in Kansas
City in May of '97 I called Henggeler on the phone and asked
him about the mission. I don't believe he was aware that our
plane went down. He did say yes when I asked him if he .
would write an introduction to my book.)

A: I do not recall that the leader told us to move over so that
they could turn left. '

Q. #3: Sanborn told me that he had started using his
extinguisher when he saw Kluth leave. Maurer was set to
operate his extinguisher. I was getting my extinguisher off the
wall when I heard you say, "Bail out, bail out," in a forceful
manner. If another 15 seconds had elapsed there could have
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been 3 extinguishers on the fire. Could that have made a
difference? :
A: With 3 extinguishers there may have made a difference but
the heat & flames on the flight deck-- no one would have been
able to stay at the controls. _ o

Q. #4: Maurer left the plane just ahead of me and landed in
the city. I went out 30-45 seconds later, and after pulling the
ripcord I saw a chute a few thousand feet below me off to the
side. Iwatched it until it hit the ground. That chute had to be
you.. How long was it before you were captured?

A: The chute you saw below you to the side could not have
been me since I floated down from high altitude and I can
imagine it took a long time. Ilanded in an open ploughed field
and there was no house or people near by. The German
soldiers had been watching me and they were there justaslI
hit the ground. They drove me to an army base and I was
given first aid treatment at the clinic. Later that night I was
taken to the big hospital in Berlin. . o

Q. #5: I feel badly about never seeing or contacting Kluth
again after he left Wetzler. Did you ever contact him? Do you
know when he died? Do you know when Collins died? The
letter from his daughter-in-law was dated 2/7/79, so it
happened before that. I tried to contact the Collins family
when I was in Miami in '91 but had no luck.

A: Inever did see Kluth and I never did contact him. I don't
know when Kluth died. I don't know the date of Collins' death.
I wish that I could help you. .

Q. #6: The last time I talked to you, you thought that perhaps
you had passed out while in the nose of the plane. If you did
then you probably were lower than 22,000 when you jumped.
Officially we were flying at 25,400 when we dropped our
bombs at 12:33 P.M. Do you recall the spin? That took a few
seconds or minutes.

A: In question #1 I explained that I passed out (not
completely) while on the flight deck. I should not have said
that. I passed out in the nose of the plane. I do not recall the
plane being in a spin. I assumed that the auto pilot kept the .

plane under control. .
Q. #7: [l was under the mistaken impression that Kluth was
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sitting in the co-pilot's seat so as to see better to fly the #3
position off the leader's left wing. Stewart told me that Kluth
was in the pilot's seat on the left and he was in the right seat.]
I wonder why your left hand was burned worse than your right
hand when you were sitting on the right. You probably used
your left hand to get your chute. ‘ :

A: T can't explain why my left-hand was burned more than my
right hand. It could be that I used my left hand to get my
chute. : S -

The next questions were about his bow experience and do not
pertain to the main issue. : L
Q. #10: We first heard that you were alive on Sept. 22nd ‘when
Addison, the waist gunner on crew 24 (at Ardmore) assigned to
the 100th BG (bad luck), came in and said he had seen you.
Do you remember him at.all? He broke his leg when he
landed, so must have seen you in a hospital. I believe he was
shot down on his first mission.

A: Tdid not know Addison. He may have seen me in the.
P.O.W. Hospital, but I don't remember talking with him.

In a final comment he writes: "In the papers that Colette.
Hawkins, Collins' daughter-in-law, sent to me our aircraft was.
identified as a/c 44-6098. I have always thought that our
plane was called "Little Donna'. This is the first time I have
heard of the name 'Fortress Nine'." '

" Robert Stewart died in April, 2003. Our pilot, Robert
Rowe, sent me an e-mail on April 10, 2003 and it said,
"Although we knew him for only about six months out of a
lifetime, those months were probably the most memorable we
ever experienced. He was a fine man, a good friend, and a first
rate pilot. We always worked well together and helped one
another when and where it really counted. May God rest his

soul." ‘

Since six bombers were shot down over Berlin that day
there could have been as many as 54 parachutists in the air
that day. The one I saw on my way to earth was not Stewart
so it must have been Collins, the bombardier. All nine crew
members got out of the plane. The last four of us spent the
night in separate cells in a Berlin jail. The next day we took a
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train from the Berlin depot to Frankfurt and ended up at the
interrogation center at Oberursal. -

On page 178 I write about the truck ride to the Berlin
depot with three of imy crew and two other American fliers. We
rode the train all night arriving in Frankfurt at dawn. Seated
next to me on the train was a blond headed soldier of whom I
was a bit suspicious so we did not talk much. When I received
the information sent to me by Roland Geiger in April, 1999 I,
realized that one of the men who answered his questionnaire
had a similar story to mine. I wrote him, Winfried Riemer, of
Brillion, WI and found that he was the one I was worried
about. Here is what he wrote to me on May 16, 1999:

I had flown 25 missions with Lt. Muehlman’s crew and we
were awarded a 3-day pass to go to Scotland on August 6,
However, I was drafted to fly because there was a shortage of -
radio operators on that day — so instead of a 3-day pass to
Scotland I wound up with a 9-month “furlough” in the

Fatherland.
I met most of my crew again at Wetzler where we

received new clothes and other supplies. Three of the five who

Jjumped before the spin came into Wetzler a couple of days
later. Sanborn and Stewart were both burned enough to be
sent to a hospital. Collins and Kluth were sent to Stalag Luft I
at Barth the next day. The five enlisted men were sent to _
Stalag Luft VI at St. Wendel. Mcintyre left Luft VI early to go
to a hospital, but we saw him again in Stalag Luft IV near
Gross Tychow. Crowder also was at Luft IV but in a different
compound. I was the first of the crew to be liberated and first
to return to the US.

: It was 2001 before I finally relocated Mcintyre in
Columbus, GA. I had lived in Columbus for 13 years and had
moved to Florida after retiring in 1982. My wife and I visited
Mac and his wife in their home and I gave him copies of the
books I had written. In a couple of years his phone no longer
worked. His wife had died and he had remarried. His new
wife called me after [ wrote him a letter. Again the phone has
now been disconnected. Maurer and I are probably the only

ones still alive from our crew, |
Soon after I moved to North Carolina it occurred to me
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that I had never consulted the MACR, the Missing Air Crew
Report. I do have a slight recollection of getting an MACR but
it was not about our plane. The invoice lists the MACR at
$28.00 and shipping at $2.00 for a total of $30.00 dated
September 08, 2009. The report did not have a lot of new .
information but it did contain items of interest. On May 7,
2010 I wrote a letter addressed to Augie Maurer and Mclntyre
describing what it contained. My explanation is still a good
way to describe what the document contains. '

1. ORGANIZATION: Location ETOUSA Command or Air
Force 8th Air Force :
Group 388th Squadron 561st Detachment None

2. Specify: Point of Departure Station 136 Course
Berlin, Germany ' A S
Intended Destination Station 136 Type of Mission Combat

3. WEATHER CONDITIONS AND VISIBILITY AT TIME OF
CRASH OR SEEN LAST REPORTED: Weather conditions good

4. GIVE: (a) Date 6 August 1944 Time 1235 and

-Location 130 20' E - 520 20' N ' of last known whereabouts of
missing aircraft. _ .

(b) Specify whether (X ) Last sighted:; ( ) Last contacted by
Radio; ( ) Forced Down; ( ) Seen to Crash; or { ) Information
not available. . ,

5. AIRCRAFT WAS LOST, OR IS BELIEVED TO HAVE
BEEN LOST, AS A RESULT OF: (Check only one}: ( ) Enemy
aircraft; (X) Other circumstances as follows: See interrogation
Report on reverse side .

6. AIRCRAFT: Type, Model and Series B-17G ; AJAAF,
Serial Number 42-97098

7. ENGINE: Type, Model and Series 1820-97 ; AAAF.
Serial Number (a} SW-005752 |
(b) SW-007166 ; (c) SW-012345 ; (d) SW-012258

8. INSTALLED WEAPONS (Furnish below Make, Type and
Serial Number)

(a) See reverse side

9. THE PERSONS LISTED BELOW WERE REPORTED
AS: (a) Battle Casualty Yes or (b) Non-Battle Casualty No

10. NUMBER OF PERSONS ABOARD AIRCRAFT: Crew
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9; Passengers None ; Total 9 (Starting with pilot, furnish the
following particulars: If more than 10 persons were aboard
aircraft, list similar particulars on separate sheet and attach
to this form). . | ‘

Here the Crew Position, Name in full (Last Name First),
Rank, and Serial Number are listed. The print is a bit blurred,
especially the serial numbers so I shall omit this section.

The Date of the Report is 8 August 1944 and it is signed
by Earl W. Sweeney 1st Lt. |
Statistical Officer S

On the back of the sheet is a list of Cal..50 machine guns
ont Plane 42-97098: ' |

The number and manufacturer of 13 guns are listed. I
can only recall the location of 11 guns. . We must have had two
extra guns that day for some reason. I doubt it..

Next is the Interrogation Report which reads:

A/C No. 098 went down in the target area after
bombs away. Reports are conflicting as to the cause of the
plane's loss but apparently the oxygen system of the a/c was
not functioning. The plane went to a lower altitude because
the pilot reported crew members fainting from lack of oxygen,
and some crews claim hearing the a/c calling for fighter
escort. When last seen, the a/c was under control going
down. Some crews claim the a/c was on fire as it went down.
Possibly twoe chutes were seen. _ :

This is the same paragraph found in the Missing A/C
Report found on page 155. The testimony of Stewart, the -
copilot, contradicts some of the information listed. It must be
difficult to try and keep the records of thousands of planes
without making mistakes. I do not understand how this
report was formulated. _

Every prisoner of war has a story, some better than
others. Included next in the MACR is a Individual Casualty
Questionnaire which has been included by mistake. Itisa
report on 2nd Lt. Edward Reichel, a bombardier, filled out by a
crew member named John Taber. It is an interesting story
that Taber relates so I shall include it here.

Did he bail out? yes
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Where? Quer Berlin Germany Aug. 6, 44 . : ,
Last contact or conversation just prior to or at time of loss of
plane: He assisted and told me to jump.

Was he injured? yes -- in stomach

Where was he when last seen? At Hermann Gearing [sic] Hosp.
in Berlin : '

Any hearsay information: None - All witnessed by myself
Any explanation of his fate based in part or wholly on
supposition: He died the next night supposedly from his
wound after a very pecular incident which i shall explain on
reverse side — Lt. Reichel was of Jewish birth and i ‘do not
believe he died from his wound. "

Total number of missions of above crew member: Approx 25
Dates and destinations if possible: This information could be
had from our pilot - H, H. Hatfield 604 1st Ave. Asbury Park

Md.

By: John D. Taber
2324 Beech St.
Baton Rouge, La
On the reverse side is the following information:

' Lt. Reichel and myself were operated on at the same time
in the same operating room at the Hermann Georing Hosp when
i awakened the next morning at 10:30 A.M. Lt. Reichel was in
the second bed from me, there being ten yanks in this same
room. Shortly after the Hospital Commandant his under Doctor,
three nurses and one attendant walked in went straight to his
bed and asked him if he was a jew. Then they turned and ask
every other man in the room if Lt. Reichel was a jew. Each man
said No, He is an American. They disagreed loudly with a lot of
jabbering among themselves, then left.

Lt. Reichel and myself had some conversation, but due to
security reasons very little. He seemed in very good spirits, and
could move about in his bed. That evening a nurse came with
glucose for him inserted the needle, and in fifteen minutes he
was asleep and never awakened. He died at 1 1:00 P.M. that

night,
I hope what i think is not so, at any rate, it has never

been told before.

Your Truly John D. Taber
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This sordid story gives an insight into the workings in the
enemy's hospital. One reason I included it is because on
another sheet of paper I found the following: - g

Air Force Hospital 1 /111 (Berlin) Berlin-Reinickendorf-
West, 14 August 1944
Administration/Hospital Admission Spendamer Weg 42

We, /A Phone 49 23 71 -App.
292 : |
To Research Centre West REGISTERED.

(16) Oberursal/Taumns; near Frankfurt am Main

Enclosed money and personnal property of
wounded American Prisoners of War is submitted for
1. Flight Officer Robert S. STEWART
Incl} *  [my copilot]
2. Flight Off. Frederick N. SANBORN (1
Incl.)* [my navigator] ' :

(1

Brought in without money, personal property or
equipment are: .
S - 3. Lt. Edwar REICHEL
4. Lt. Virgil CARNEAL **
5. Sgt. Alvin BERNSTEIN ***
6. Sgt. Edwin GAVIN ##**
7. 8gt, Joe GARZA *¥¥¥x
8. Sgt. John D. TABER *####%
Registered letter substitutes for receipt of
acknowledgement.

Yes, two of my crew, Stewart and Sanborn, copilot and
navigator, were in the same hospital room along with Taber
and Reichel. This last sheet indicates that they were
transferred from the Berlin Hospital to the one in Oberursal.
They were listed as Flight Officers but they were both
Lieutenants. These sheets are probably American translations

of German records.
What I do not understand is how Reichel is included if he died
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in Berlin. Evidently, my two crew members were asked if
Reichel was a Jew. I wonder if they remembered the incident.
If I can find the time perhaps I can investigate further and .
satisfy my curiosity. The fact that the two, Taber and Reichel,
had about the same number of missions as we did may have
contributed to their inclusion into our MACR. I do have their
pilot's name and address but I guessed at his initials.

'The next few sheets confuse the subject. They are

evidently of a different plane. Since at least six planes were
shot down that day it would be easy to mix them up. The date
of August 6th is the same. The time is listed as 1250 and the
plane is a B-17F. I believe that Little Donna was a B-17G.
The types of engines and serial numbers are different. A
marking on the aircraft was special lettering "Betty and Al". Of
the crew 2 are prisoners, one is wounded and 7 are fleeing. It
must be a completely different plane. The plane crashed in
Berlin at Zehlendorf. :

On page 7 it states that the following listed American
prisoners of War being transferred to Oberursal /Taumns
today (August 8):

1.)Off, KLUTH, DONALD B.

2.) Sgt. CRAWFORD, Ernest

3.) Sgt. INTIRE, Robert J. ( Serial numbers
are given.} ‘ |

These are our substitute pilot, tail gunner and waist
gunner. (Name is Mclntyre) . :

On page 8 it gives the information about 2nd Flight Off,
Frederick N. SANBORN
He was captured at 1300 and sent to Air Force Hospital
Berlin-Reinickendorf,

Page 9 is about Flight Off. Robert S, STEWART, captured
at 1330 and sent to Air Force Hospital Berlin-Reinickendorf.

Page 10 is about S/Sgt. Robert J. MCcINTIRE, captured at
railway station Berlin-Lichtenfelde-South

Page 11 concerns 1st Fl. Off. Donald B. KLUTH,
captured at Frederickendorf, 3,5 km south Berlin-Marienfelde,
at 1300.

Page 12 is about S/Sgt. Ernest CRAWFORD, captured at _
Frederickendorf, 3,5 km south Berlin-Marienfelde, at 1300.
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The last two were evidently together, _
Page 13 concerns Sgt. John D. TABER from a downed B-

17F at Berlin-Zehlendorf 4, Jaegerstrasse 20-22, wounded,
captured at 1315. L o

Page .14 gives place of crash of B-17F as Berlin-
Zehlendorf f,4, Jaegerstrasse 20-22. Markings of craft:
unidentifiable (special letterings Betty and Al) Equipment: not.
found. Frequencies unidentifiable, radio set completely
destroyed, hit and burned, completely destroyed. :

Page 15 is about 2nd Lt. Walter G. COLLINS connected
with the crash of a Boeing B-17F which crashed at Berlin-
Zehlendorf 4, Jaegersteig 20/22 at 1250. He was captured at
1315 at Berlin-Stalmsdorf, Schlieffen-Kausarne. He is
identified with the wrong plane.

Page 16 concerns T/Sgt. W. August MAURER connected
with the crash of a Boeing B-17F which crashed at Berlin-
Zehlendorf 4, Jaegersteig 20/22 at 1250. He was captured at
Teltow - Hannemanstr. at 1315, , -.

Page 17 is missing. It could have been about Nelson or
me.

Pages 18 and 19 are telegram forms about the capture of
enemy aircraft, the marking of the craft: unidentifiable,
special lettering "Betty and Al". Message sent to Research
Centre Wets, Oberursal/Tau?as from Hq. Airfield Tempelhof
Receiving Unit. '
This definitely was not our plane.

Page 20. IDENTIFICATION TAGS

1. WALTER G. COLLINS with serial number

- 2. DONALD L. NELSON with serial number

3. JOHN H. ANDERSON with serial number
This is the last of the numbered pages. The next page has a
listing of 10 men with their serial numbers and rank. Nelson
is listed as a Sgt. instead of a 8 /Sgt. and S/Sgt. John D. Taber
is included as if a member of our crew. Two of the officers,
Stewart and Sanborn, are listed as being in the hospital.

The next page says that the plane was claimed by 1st
Flak division. It is about the other B-17 F which is mixed up

with our plane.
The next page is blank with the notation that On this
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page only pencil marks 12

Next comes a listing of the nine members of our crew, all
of which have been capt'd and sent to Dulag Luft. Stewart
and Sanborn are indicated as wounded with date of 8 /23/44.
At the bottom of the list is the name of John Taber under first
supplementary report of 15 Sept. 1944 A date under his name
is 10 Nov.14 ? (maybe it should be 447?) According to my
records I arrived at Dulag Luft at Wetzlar on August 11 and
left with Nelson on August 14. - Maurer, Mcintyre and -
Crawford left a day later. Perhaps the Sept. date was about
Taber. - :

The next-to-last page is a German form which is not
translated. It lists the nine crew members (my crew) from a
plane simply called Fortress. | -

The final page is a map of northern Europe indicating the
route of the mission similar to the map I have on page 153
showing the approach to the target was from the east flying
west with a left turn immediately after dropping the bombs.

That concludes the papers:in the MACR most of which

were duplicated.

In 1996 while I was in Kansas City I contacted Col,
Henggeler who was the Command Pilot of the final mission I-
flew on August 6, 1944. Later, I wrote him a letter with
questions and he graciously responded on 7 March, 1996, It
does shed some light on some of the questions [ wanted
answered. He also encloses a chart of the formation used by
the 4th Bomb Wing on their missions. On the second page he
explains the use of PFF planes and why their briefing papers
were not included with the other crews. The planes came from
a different base. I shall try and add his letter to this report,
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10843 Summit St.
Kansas City, MD 64114-494
7 March 1996 :

Mr. John H. Anderson
P. 0. Box 13753
Mexico Beach, FL 32410

Dear John: -

Thanks for your letter of Feb 10, '96 which was very interesting an8 stirred
up many memories. The mission to Berlin on Aug 6, 1944 was aﬁong ways back,
however, I'll try to answer your questions to the best of my memory and with
what gther info I was ahle to dig up.

The mission to Berlin on Aug &, 1944 was the 177th mission of the 388th BC.

The target was a Tank Factory located in the Eastern part of Berlin along a river.
The bomb run from the IP to the target was in a westerly direction. The weather
was clear and the visability unlimited, so a visual bemb run was made rather than
using the PFF's radar equipment. Through bombs away it was a generally typical
mission for such a deep penetration into a heavily defended area. Twenty-two a/c
took off for the mission, and three. aborted -for ‘mechanical reasons. - Nineteen a/c
went over the target and dropped their bombs. = Shortly after bombs away it was
reported that a/c #3 of the lead flight of our group sustained a flak hit. There
also was a possibility this a/c had a fire on board caused by the flak hit.

During all this period we were in the process of meking a left. turn to the RP.

" Alsp while in our turn to the RP, I noticed another CW of B-17's south of us
flying in a westerly direction.” They were drawing a heavy barrage of flak, so I
elected not to get any closer to that area, thus cut short our turn of 90 degrees.
This explains your statement "Did not turn 90 degrees to left, because of barrage
to the left". As I recall it was during this time frame that a/c #3 left the
-formation and started its downward decent still apparently under control of the
pilot. Assuming that the oxygen system had been knocked out,The pilot needed to
get to a iower altitude as,scon as possible. IT the pilot reported his emergenay
or plans over the radio, ghad no knowledge of it. As I see it,in the emergency -
your pilot must have faced, he tad immediate decissions to make: could he continue
in formation? must he descend to lower altitude immediately? must theplane be
abandoned? These are split second decisions which require positive attion. IF
the a/c is to be abandoned, the pilot must give the bailout signal and then check
by intercom (if is working) or is some other manner that all his crew members got
the signal and are able to bail out, before he leaves the plane. It would appear
unlikely, given the seriousness of your emergency, that the pilot made any effort
to make contact by radio. Dutside of radic communications, the crew members would
be the best source of what all went on during your emergency and at what altitudes
you all bailed eut. Who was first out? Who was last out? Etc.?

I do.mot ever recall that asc #3 or any other a/c was flying so close to the lead
a/c that it could not make a turn to the left. If so it would have been told to
get backinto its proper’ formation location. No two a/c in the group fly at the
same level. There is a 50 ft, vertieal separation between each plane in the group.
(I've enclosed a chartishowing the formation make up of a bomb group, which will
better explain what I'm trying to say.) In a group formation turn,an a/c if
necessary can slide in or out as need be to stay in formation.

As tocthe best seat position, I would.not have beem in the best positicn to observe
a/c #3. . As commamder of the group/wing, I rode in the right hand seat (Co~pilats),

the look out for enemy fighters,

c
=]

Alrcraft #3 would be to the left and below the lead a/c. Now I could see the #2 a/c

od gur flight as well as the high sguadron (lead Gp) and the high group, On most
missions the lead a/c had a control officer fly in the tail gunners position. He
could keep the commander informed about a/c in tﬁg groupwand the wing, as well be
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Now for some comments on the PFF (Pathfinder) planes. Some time in the fall
of 1943 all B-17 & B-24 groups of the 8th AF were ordered to send a plane and a 7x
crew to g RAF station called Alconbury. The project was classified, but there the
crews were trained to bomb by radar. Each plane was equiped with a radar (Mickey).
In Nov 1943 the 8th AF began using PFF planes to lead group formations when it ap-
peared that the weather conditions wouldn't permit visual bombing of the targets.
The PFF plane and crew would arrive at your station in time to sit in on the brief-
ings and.to add any further info they might have. The command pilot would then f1y
with-the PFF plane and crew. Now if the weather was clear over the target the bomt
ing was usually done visually.The radar aperator may help to set a good courge in
from the IP to the target so that the bombardier could eoncentrate on getting a
good rate and drift set. When we returmed From the mission the PFF plane and crew
would drop off the command officer and then return to Aconbury. This was why you
did not find pilot, etec. reports with the 388th BG Station reports, Their reports
would have been made at their Headquarters at Alconbury. I went to all the debrief
ings after the missions I was on. I gave a verbal reportabout the mission. My
comments would have been imcluded in the operational narrative and SUMMAry .

I gathered from comments in your letter that the oxygen system of your plane
had been knockedout. You never did say if the pilot ever gave the bailout signal
or called on interphone (assuming it was operating) to tell the crew to bail out.
Ed Huntzingers' book (The 388th at War) indieated that all got out and were POW's.
However, it looked like you were flying short of a Waist Gunner. Was this. true?

I mentioned earlier the term Combat Wing (CW).. A CW in flight is three BG's
in formation, On the Aug 6, ‘4% mission the 388th flew lead at flight level 25,000
feet, The lead a/c fléws at that level while the other a/c of the group were
stacked vertically up and down. (see enclosed chart). The High group flew at the
26,000 foot level and a/c stacked as in the lead group.. The Low group Flew at
the 24,000 foot level with their a/c also stacked as in the lead group. It was
very lmportant that each group maintain their proper Tlight level to permit the
CW the ease of maneuvering especially in heavily defended areas. The leader of a
CW never varied altitude or speed. The oniy maneuvering the CW did was to vary
direction. The tightness of the turn, the direction turned and the number of dea
grees turned always varied. The leader always alerted the other two groups of a
turn and its direction. It was always necessary when flying in or near heavily
known defended area to constantly maneuver the CW to keep the gunners on the
ground confused. This defensive type formation also proved to be the best defense
against enemy fighters. Again maneuvering was a very good defensive action to
take especially if the Fithters were making head on or tail attacks.

I hope I've providéd yoﬂ some useful information. This letter has ended up a
lot longer than when first started it. Should you be in K.C. this Aug or any othe
time please give me a Call, We're listed in the phone hook.

Also thanks for mentiongéng my wife (Dorothy). She has made a lot of improve-
ment since her problem in Sep and also From a vascular problem she had in Jan.
Our duaghter-in-law has had radical surgery, has had considerable Chemo treatments
and is now having radiation and chemo treatmerits simultaneoosly which should be
completed in July. Her daoctors are up beat on her pragress.

Sincerelyéyours,

.‘1? j//,««*"
Fran . Henggeler
s
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This ends the first volume of my experiences in the
service of my country. I do believe that my crew and I
had some bearing on the war even though we sometimes
missed the target. We flew our missions in a couple days
beyond two months. My biggest regret was not getting to
go to Scotland. That is a part of the fortunes of war, All
in all it was a grand experience and I am proud that [
was able to serve my country.

The second volume I entitled Life as a P. O. W.
because it relates my adventures in prison camps. My
imprisonment lasted eight months and ten days. Except
for a couple of days I write about my doings as a prisoner
which does give one a different perspective on life. One
does learn to be patient while a prisoner. I believe that I
continued to serve my country and support the morale of
my fellow prisoners.

After liberation it took a month and a week to get
home and start my 60-day furlough. Now read volume II.

Addendum O
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DEDICATION

For this opus I want to dedicate it-to my sister, Vivian
Anderson Putnam, who has been a great sister for all these many
years. As a big sister she always took good care of her little
brother. She was always a help and a guide to me‘and she had as
much musical talent as I did, although I got most of the credit.

I know she contributed to the war effort in many ways. She
did her part as an employee of Pratt & Whitney Aircraft Corporation
where she was a Chemical Investigator in the chemical research de—
partment of the plant, perhaps the only girl in the U.S. who held
such a position at that time. She was chosen to make a tour

through the factories of the east and north to collect new data

.
iif regerd to som
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proviems peing studied in the pw laberatory.

D

She wrote me often in the service, sometimes when she was
dead tired, and kept me informed of the events at home.

In rereading her letters here are some of my favorites:

A letter written on Dec. 30, 1944 which T received during the
summer of 45 after I was home states, "Here another year is élmost
over. Looks like I will be home alone drinking lime rickey.n®

That is a poignant scene.

Another was written Feb, 1, 1945, "Last Sunday at the Can-
teen a boy asked me if I could sew so ended up sewing a buttoﬁ
on his overcoat.” Another small contribution was made to the
war effort.

On March 9, 1945 she wrote, "Certainly enjoyed the trip to

Leavenworth last Saturday for your awards. We will have a lot to
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"t whying he was sorry I wmissed

tell you. Mother received a picture of it yesterday. You wil1l

be proud of it." Yes, I am proud of it. The picture shows an office

" pinning the Air Medal with 3 oak leaf clusters on my mother. The

picture is in a frame along with the medal and is on the wall of
my room. Vivian was always there for bur mother and me.

"During the summér of 1947 I went to Storrs, Connecticut to
sing three songs at my sister's wedding and then-walk down the

gisde and give her away to Paul Putnam. She had started teaching

* . at ‘the University of Connecticut in 1945 and has remained in Storrs

* ' gyer since.

(While I was in New England I drove up to Boston and then to

Plaistow, N.H. to see Robert Rowe. He had moved to Rhode Isiand,

"but I saw his parents and had a talk.  He sent me a letter later

T b
LILIle }

I served my country but in her quiet way she did her part for

“her country too. I doubt if she has ever received much praise

fgr her accomplishments. She is gifted in many ways. Her latest

“.project has been quilting. Her master's degree from Iowa State

was. ity Textiles and she is very knowledgeable about the subject.

She became a world traveier late in life and has been almost

everywhere.

~Fdr¥ all her talents and accomplishments and her 11fet1me

.-
L

- support to me I salute her.
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INTRODUCTION

Arrangements have been made for a 50th-year reunion of the
crew to be held at the 388th Bomb Group Association meeting in
Richmond, Va. The meeting starts on August 23, 1994 and ends with

a banquet on Saturday the 27th. This may be our last chance to get

together. Rowe wrote me in March that he was recovering from hip

replacement surgery but thought this would be a good time- to meet.
Nelson, I believe, is the oﬁly one who has not retired and: . has a
busy schedule, so I checked with him and he put it on his calendar.
Rowe wrote again on June 13th and said he would contact the others

and also write to John Henningsen, the crew chief, and Marvin
Wilder, the line chief, who also flew to Russia with us. Rowe
plans to get to Richmond on Thursday, Aug. 25th. Stewart .wrote
me -on June 22nd and said he planned to meet Rowe cn Thursdaj.
Maurer called and is also planning to arrive on Thursday. So it
looks like this reunion will be more successful than the Yast one.

I have not seen Maurer since he visited me in the hospiteal: tent

in Fallingbostel. Now we plan to room together for three nights.

Sanborn has health problems so he may not be able to attend. At

least we have him located. He was lost to us for awhile. I'm sure

the 5 or 6 of us will have a great time:. When ¥ocu get to be our

age something is always happening to our Lealth. We shall grab

the opportunity while we can.
Robert J. McIntyre is still missing. He had originally lived

in Wilkinsburg, Pa. so I sent a card there but it was returned.
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When I visited my daughter in Allentown, Pa. I went through a

number of telephone directories from Pennsylvania in the library
and located four people with that name which I then wrote in April
with no success. My daughter told me about a new computer program

called ProPhone for the Eastern Region and she got a printout con-

taining 17 names. I wrote cards to all 17 in July. 7Two people

phoned me: from Darien, CT (born in 1948) and Shapleigh, ME (father

died 2 Years ago but was not in the army). Two others responded by

letter--a newsy letter from Trafford, PA and a simple "Sorry, I can

not help you" from Gloucester, Ma. Then I discovered that the library

in Panama City had ProPhone. However, only two listings were given
and I had already contacted both. I'm not sure what to do next.

My letter to Ernest Crawford in Los Angeles this spring was

returned. UHis phone number has been given to someone eise. T put

his name in the ProPhone and 66 listings were given. It is evidently
a popular name. I have written my niece who lives in Los Angeles
and I wrote the editor of the Los Angeles Times to see if they could
find cut what happened to him but neither responded.

I last talked to Ernest in 91 and he thought he could come to
that reunion. The desk at the hotel said he had made a reservation.

He did not appear and I have had no further contact with him other

than to sén& hin a'c0py of my first book about our flying experiences.

On July 11, 1947 I was visiting in Arkansas ang drqye to Memphis
%%ere.Efnest was living. I drove out to see him but he had just left,
I attended a show at the Memphis Open Air Theater and then went back
to see him. Just before T decided to leave he came home and we had

a2 nice talk. On the 16th T went back to his house and met his
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mother, sister, and other relatives. -He took us to dinner z% a
drive-in. Then we got his girl and went to MOAT for alperformance
of "Robin Hood" by Ve Koven. Ernest paid for everything;

On my way back from an interview in Athens, Ga. where I was
hired by the University of Georgia I stopped in Mamphis again.

I called Crawford but he was on vacation in Chicago. I have not
seen him since.

I never did see the enlisted men on the crew again until our
last reunion when Nelson showed up. I did telephone them from time
to time, usually on August 6th. I first heard about the 388th
BG Association from Maurer about a decade ago. |

About two months ago two new friends who accompanied me on my
trip to Germany and Poland near the end of April sent‘me a beauti-
ful plaque with the insignia of the United States Air Force.
plaque reads: John & Jack Anderson In Memory of Our Return to
Stalag Luft IV to Replace Bad Memories with Good Ones 1944-1994,
Jack & Norma Sites. Jack worked with the doctor in the hospital
group on the march so I probably ran into him ¥omewhere along the
trek. He lived in Barracks 7 in C Lager. We had a great time on
this recent trip and I like the sentiment expressed. My bad
memories are fading and the good memories come more easily now.

I was a prisoner for 8 months and 10 days and +then it took. 1 month
and 8 days to get home. My total timﬂ.overseas was almdét 13
months.With this volume I have reported on almost every day.

This rendition of our activities is incomplete. Té-do it

right T should have got some input from sach crew member. Just
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reporting my diary entries is not very exciting. Again I think

"I could have done a better job if I had taken more time. (More

than fifty years?)

However, the task is complete. I hope at least part of

this recitation will revive some memories for you.
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Part 2
June 16, 1944
Can I do it again? The first part of my story turned

out to be 186 pages, and I was able to make enough copies

for each member of my crew. We had our reunion at Valley Forge

in 1991, but only four of us, Rowe, Stewart, Welson and I
turned up. I gave each one a copy and sent a coﬁf to Sanborn,

Crawford, and Maurer. McIntyre is still among the missing.
Collins and Crowder are deceased.

Now the crew. is planning on a 50th-year reunion in
Richmond in August of this year. I shall try to get the
second part typed up and reproduced so that copies will be
available for the reunion. When I wrote the first part I

went ahead and wrote the second part, so it is all ready to

- — -——— o~ - =1
also want to add

t
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T
go, except that T may need

some about the trip I took in April of this year to the
Stalag Luft IV campsite.

This should be my last opus. It has been alot of work
but also alot of fun. Alot of memories have come back and
now I can lay some of them to rest.

Summary of Part I

Part I was a review of our crew's training in Ardmore,
Oklahoma. We went to the'staging area at Kearney, Nebraska
and then to Camp Xilmer, New Jersey. By boat we were trans-
ported to England and after more training were assigned to
the 388th Bomb Group, 561st Squadron where we flew our first

mission on June 4, 1944. A total of 24 missions were flown



before we got shot down on August 6, 1944, oOur pilot,‘lst
Lt. Robert M. Rowe, received a piece of flak in his foot
on the mission to Hamburg two days before, so he did not
accompany us on the fateful last mission. Berlin was the
target for the last mission.

I believe I was the last one out of the plane after
we were hit and I landed in a field-just outside of Gross-
beeren, a suburb of Berlin.

On April 27th of this year my son Jack and I took a
taxi from the Penta Hotel in Berlin to Grossbeeren to see
if we could locate the spot where I landed. After 50 years
it was a real longshot. The taxi driver, Wolfgang, spoke
good English and was very helpful. We stopped in the center
0f town and consulted a map displayed there. I ﬁas not sure
of the direction I came from in 1944, but I do recall making
a left turn in town. One empty hotel i1ooked vaguely familiar.
I saw numerous examples of patchlss of small trees. 1In April
they were in bloom. I had thought they were fruit trees in
August '44. I saw numerous hedges and a couple of small
paths so I seemed to be close. Mainly, we were looking for
‘a semi-circle of houses where I was interogated by the resi-
dents until a2 policeman arrived. We stopped and talked to
one old gentleman, but he had only come to that area in 1948
so would not know about me. We finally gave up the search,

but I was satisfied to have at least tried.



The first night I spent in Germany was in jail. T left

the next day, first by truck and then by train, with Nelson,
Maurer, Collins, two other American GI's, and two guards,

arriving at Frankfﬁft early the morning of August 8th. This

was where I stopped the narrative in Part 1. Now I continue
with the events of the next nine months.

8 Soon after dawn or maybe just before dawn we arrived

in Frankfort. We had to change stations, and as we walked
down the street the people were going to work and many made
comments which were not complimentary. Alot of ruins were
evident,Abut Frankﬁé}t was a big and busy town. We walked

for a2 long time and I carried one of the guard's suitcases.

Finally, we took another train and then a street car,

t the interogation center. I was placed

£
Y
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alone in a room in the basement where it was cold and damp.
-I was wearing my fatigues and was barefoot. After a couple
of hours I was thoroughly chilled. A fellow came and apolo-
gized for the treatment. He said they were extra busy and
hadn't meant to leave me downstairs so long. I was placed
in a room with a nice bed and an open window. I thought
that this was more like it. I.could forgive their neglect.

A short time later I was taken to the interogation officer
and given a Red Cross form to fill out. It started out
innocently enough--name, rank, serial number, religion--

but went on requesting home base, name of group and sqguadron
and CO, home town, next-of-kin, military training, name of

crew members and 6n and on., I filled out the first three



blanks and gave it back to him. He said that I should
indicate religion. What if I died? Wouldn't T want to
have the proper burial service? I mulied this around for
awhile and finally wrote down P for Protestant. Then he
said that three bodies had been found in the wreckage of
the plane. They needed their names so they could notify
the next-of-kin. I knew four of us were alive and six haag
exited the plane, so I figured it was possible that three
were dead. However, I told him my orders were just for
name, rank, and serial number. Then he stated that unless
I cooperated I would be returned to the cellar, It was a
good selling gimmick. I listed the names of the crew but
would go no further. He insisted but I refused.

I have read and seen on TV alot about psychological
warfare and prisoners being forced to reveal military se-
crets. Revealing the names of my crew members has been one
of the big regrets of my life. I can rationalize and say
that they already had the information, but the interogater's
argument that they needed to notify the next-of-kin seemed
to justify my decision to write down their names. I did
not want to go back to the cellar. While T didn't sell my
birthright for a bowl of porridge I did not act like a true
American soldier. I regret my decision. One of my crew
members told me later he was shown a list of the crew members.
This is the first time I have admitted it.

I was sent to a new room, not downstairs but not with

a nice bed and open window either. It was solitary confinement.



It was a small room with one barred window with opagque

glass and a hard bed. That day I had a bowl of soup for

lunch and bread and butter for gsupper. I sat in my room
counting cracks in the ceiling and wall and did alot of
thinking.

Since I had no paper or pencil I was unable to write

down my activities for a number of days. When I finally

got the opportunity to write I tried to recall my thoughts.
Paper was scarce and I didn‘'t have much space to write.

When a piece of paper got filled I would put it in behind

the binding page of my New Testament. This was eXamined

at least twice, but they did not find any contraband. My
diary in England was sent to a warehouse. After the war
was over they returned it to me. I took the time to tran-
scribe my notes to the 1944 diary but never did the 1945
notes. Even then some of the notes were blurred and un-
readable. I still have the 1945 notes but after 46 years
(I wrote this in 1991) alot will be largely indecipherable.
Meanwhile, I'll plunge ahead with the notes I transcribed

into my diary after the war, probably in 1946.

9 Stayed all day in solitary. A long day. Took a nap in

afternoon. You can certainly think of alot of things by

yourself. The day went by slowly and was very uneventful.

10 Got to wash and shave.Got interogated again for radio

information. I was asked for the call letters, but since

they changed them every day I could nct help them because T

had forgot them. They asked me about my squadron CO D¥ name



but I did not tell them that he had been shot down the day
before we arrived at Knettishall. They did not know every-
thing.

They asked me about a long-nosed B-17. I figured they
were talking about a B-29. I understand the Air Corps left
one B-29 out for them to see. They asked about radar. I
was truthful when I told them I was ignorant about that also.
I think they learned nothing from me this time.

First a civilian and then 2 sergeant [did the intero-

gation]. Left the flea center and went to open camp near by.
Talked with fellows I knew at Ardmore. Had a little mere to

eat (tea and bread). Slept in barracks.

10 This center was in Oberééel and most POWs went through

the same process I did. Left on train at 8:30. Took a long

time to go a short distance. Arrived at Wetzlar in afternoon.

Dulag luft. Maurer and Nelson there. Talked with them and

other fellows. Took shower. Had dinner in mess halli. Red

Cross food much better. Good meal. As I recall my first

meal included salmon right out of a can which my folks used
to eat but I would only eat in croquettes. This time it

tasted real good. Still felt weak. Got shoes and clothes

from gov't. I got British airman uniform. It just happened

that they were issuing British uniforms that day including
hlack shoes with hobnails. The other crew members got GI

clothes. Got package of everything you need from Red Cross.

Good for them. We were asked if we had an aged, sick parent.

If we did we could send a notice that we were a prisoner.



I decided not to do so. I wrote a card home.
Kriegsgefangenenpost
Postkarte

On the back is Kriegsgefangenenlager. My writing is

printed caps.

AUGUST 11, 1944 DEAR MOTHER--I TOLD YOU I WOULD BE ALLRIGHT.

THERE IS NOTHING TO WORRY ABOUT. I AM SAFE AND ENTIRELY 0.K.

DON'T WRITE ME AT THIS ADDRESS. WILL WRITE LETTER SOON. RED

CROSS TREATING US FINE. HAVE PLENTY TO EAT. YOU CAN GET

READY TO SENT BOX. SEE RED CROSS ABOUT IT. _SORRY IT HAPPENED

THIS WAY BUT NO NEED TO WORRY NOW. MORE DETAILS LATER. LOVE-
Note by Mother: Recd. Oct. 27

12 Got up for first breakfast. Was on detail digging for

ayhile Sat around and talked with fellows. Had roll call

twice a day. Meals pretty good. Went to library after dinner.

Got a book on Beethovem: by Sullivan. Read guite a bit.

13 Sunday No [work] details. Went to church after good

breakfast. Nice service. Enjoyed singing. English warrent

officer in charge. In afternoon Mac, Crawford and Kluth

came in. Talked with them for awhile. Sanborn's hand hurt.

No word about Stewart. We were pretty anxious. A week in

Germang o

These were the first four out of the airplane so evidently

they landed fairly close together. After the next day I never

saw Kluth again.

14 Helped clean up barracks. Collins and Kluth left.
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Read book. Nelson and I are on shipment. The officers were

sent to Stalag Luft I near Barth. I have a book entitled

The Yankee Kriegies by Colonel C. Ross Greening and Sergeant

Angelo M. Spinelli which shows pictures of baseball gamés in
uniform, basketball and volley ball games, sixteen men jammed
into a typical officers' room, typewriters, vegetable gardens,
a library at Stalag Luft I containing 15,000 volumes, and
many other examples of hardships. I am sure they had hard
times also. "Every prisoner dreamed of making a successful
break for freedom, but although many tried, only a few suc-
ceeded."

About 100 men were ordered to this formation. The officer
in charge (American major or colonel, I forget which) called
me to the front and said that since my name was first on the
list I was to be in command of the group. Then it was pointed
out that a crew chief, a master sergeant, had flown on a
mission with a crew and had been shot down and he was the
highest fanking non-com present. Thus I came close to having

a command but not guite.

Ate and marched down to statiomn. Got on train and got Red

Cross parcel for two. Train compartment crowded so it was

hard to sleep.

15 Rode all day except for stop in station. American bombers

bombed Frankfort while we were there. Saw some planes get shot

down. This was always worse to see when watching from the
ground than it was in the air, although I don't believe I

actually saw a plane go down while I was flying. The planes



that were in a spin reminded me of our experience and you

kept hoping to see some chutes. The planes that just fell always

seemed to me to be the worst situation although that may not

be actually correct..
With the Red Cross parcel we were able to eat pretty

well. Had enough to eat. Took a nap. Got some kind of salami

from Jerry alsoc beee: which I didn't touch. I was pretty

much of a prude in those days.

16 Arrived at St. Wendel. Walked through town to camp.

First to arrive there. Got searched again and all canned goods

Had to eat gquite a bit of it. Nelson bunked

were -oopened.

below me. Talked with him for awhile. The camp was not

completed yet so we were placed in a large, garage-like

building. I seem to recall having to stuff a gunny sack with

straw? to be used as a mattress.

17 Finished up Red Cross food. Helped unload beds from

truck. The weather is rather hot. Bread for breakfast,

soup for lunch and bread for supper. You get sort of hungry

after awvhile.

18 Sat and talked with Nelson. In afternocon Maurer,

Crawford and Mac came in to camp. Good to see them. Helped

eat their parcels. It is good to have friends. Things could

be worse.

19 Didn't do much all day long. The soup for lunch and

supper were guite poor. Washed and shaved. Washed Clothes.

Need a haircut. Alot of extra time on my hands. Camp going

better. New latrine tomorrow.




20 sunday Up at 6:30. Was on detail making beds. Missed

part of church service. Had better dinner. Potatoes in

soup. HWrote card home. Wish I could receive mail. A

little more soup for supper. Had argument about wine with

-Knox on next bunk.

AUGUST 20, 1944 aM AT PERMANENT BASE SO YOU CAN WRITE TO

ME HERE. I.JUDGE IT BEST NOT TO SEND A PACKAGE AS IT WOULD
TAKE TOO LONG. WE GOT CLOTHES AND SHOES FROM RED CROSS. THEY
TAKE GOOD CARE OF US.  THE FOOD WILL GET BETTER WHEN R.C.
PARCELS COME. WE HAVE LOTS OF TIME ON OUR HANDS. HOPE

WAR IS OVER SOON. THINK ALOT OF HOME NOW. WILL WRITE

LETTER THIS WEEK.
Received_on Feb. 3.

21 Up at 6:00. Read Testament some more. Had fair lunch.

Played carads. Washed. After dinner I helped peel potatoes.

Met fellow from K.C. Ate a couple of raw potatoes and

felt better. I would not eat raw potatoes now in Germany,

but I did not know that then.

On August 21st my mother received a form letter which
stated that an overpayment of $90.00 was made to her in
excess of the amount due based on the military service of
above named soldier (me). The amount due the Government
should be promptly refunded by cash or money order, payable
to the "Treasurer of the Uniter Statesg.,"

An undated telegram arrived the same day or possibly

the day before with the time indicated as 1202P. It reads:

10



THE SECRETARY OF WAR DESIRES ME TO EXPRESS HIS DEEP REGRET
THAT YOUR SON TECHNICAL SERGEANT JOHN H ANDERSON HAS BEEN
REPORTED MISSING IN ACTION SINCE SIX AUGUST OVER GERMANY
IF FURTHER DETAILS OR OTHER INFORMATION ARE RECEIVED YOU WILL
BE PROMPTLY NOTIFIED=
J A ULIO THE ADJUTANT GENERAL
That is sort of a double whammy. I do believe the

ones at home had a harder time than we in the service did.

22 Worked outside of camp shoveling dirt into a hole.

Felt weak. Wrote letter home. Slept a little while. Quite

hot. Took a cold water bath. Food fair. Cabbage in soup.

Plaved cards.

Just outside of camp was a tremendous hole, probably

then abandened. According
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to the Genevan Convention sergeants who are prisoners-of-war

do not have to work but may have to supervise work. At our

camp everybody was a sergeant. We talked it over among our-

selves and decided to protest the work assignment. The Ger-
mans cut us out of a meal saying, "No work, no eat." We met
again and decided it would be wise to work or at least give
the appearance of working. A work detail was out filling up
the hole most of the daylight hours, but we didn't work hard.
It would have taken months to fill up that hole.

Letter written August 22, 1944:

The weather here is much the same as. it is at home.

Some of the days have been quite hot but I don't mind it.

We have lots of time on our hands but no doubt we wiil

11



start having classes, etc. soon and that will give us some-
thing to do. The enlisted men of the crew are here with me.
You couid write to Lt. Rowe at my old address. He didn't
make the trip. T wilil certainly have alot to tell when I
get home. Here's hoping it will be socon. Havn't heard any

news recently. Hope you didn't worry too much. There wasn't

anything {else] I could do. I may be home by the time this

arrives. I imagine it takes at least 3 months. Had a
sweater given me by Red Cross——cdnway Chapter. I wonder
where that is. I even have pajamas, bedroom slippers, over-
coat, toothbrush and powder, towels and almost everything
else I need. The Red Cross certainly deserves alot of credit.
I will have to tell you about my trip to London when I get
home. I attended services at Westminster Abbey. I have
my New Testament with me and it is being read by éomeone
all the time. I'm glad I have it. We are only allowed 2
letters and four postcards a month. There isn't much I can
write about. 1I'll tell you about everything when I get hbme.
Hope I have alot of good things to eat when I get there.
There isn't anything to write about so I'1l1 sign off. Will
write again before too long. Don't vorry about me as I am
alright. At least I'm not spending any money so I'll have
quite a bit when I get out. See you soon I hope.

Received Feb. 9th (over 5 months later)

My Gefangenennummer (POW number) was 4005.
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23 Had to go on detail shoveling dirt again. Worked harder

———

this time. Had jam on bread for both breakfast and supper.

Soup not so good. Didn't do much afterwards. Helped make a

deck of cards. Hot todavy.

24 Stayed in bed most of morning. Went on detail putting

beds together. Not hard. Took cold water bath. Wrote to

Aunt Maude and Uncle Pat. Got Red Cross parcel. Had 2 bowls

Morale much higher. Felt good.

f soup for supper and salmon.

On Oct. 26, 1984 my cousin, Charles Patterson, wrote me
a letter and stated: "First, enclosed is a letter from you
to my folks written in 1944 when you were a POW and found
recently when Lora & I were going thru some old pictures.

Thought you'd like to have it."
Letter dated August 24, 1944 addressed to Mr. and Mrs. C. A.

Patterson, 1830 Walker (I guessed at the address), Kansas City, Kan.
I had just started a letter to you while I was still in

England but I didn't have a chance to finish it so wilil

write another from Germany and hope that it reaches you

before I get home. I can't say too much about my life here

but we get along pretty well. There is not ﬁuch to do and

plenty of time to do it. I guess I'm stuck here for the

duration but perhaps that won't be too long. Being a prisoner

of war is something you think about but never Figure it will

happen to you. My crew was fortunate in many ways and I will

have alot of experiences to relate when I ‘get home. I'm a
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member of the Caterpillar Club now. The food we have here
is not too bad and the Red Cross helps us quite a Bit. They
donated alot of supplies that we needed and life is much more
enjoyable because of them. I will cértainly appreciate them |
after this. I'm looking forward to the big dinners we will
have when I get back. Hope I am there for Christmas. The
weather here is similar to that at home. It is even better
than what we had in England. I will have to close for now.
Take good care of my family until I get back. Mother has

done too much worrying already. Personally, I think this
is an interesting experience and besides I'm saving alot of
money. Sincerely your nephew.

This was received Feb.2nd.

25 Up :early. Played cards during morning. Rained. Chow

was late. Soup was good. Had a couple of air raid alerts

during day. Last one during supper. Food is plentiful

now. Talked with fellows. Good fellows. Had haircut.

Maurér and Nelson had all their hair cut off about this
time. I never had the nerve to do it although I envied them
for doing it. It made them look more like prisoners.

Meanwhile, back at tﬁe base, the 388th Bomb Group was
entertained by Glenn Miller and his orchestra. I would have
enjoyed seeing that. I believe he disappeared on a flight

to the continent soon after this. This was the day the

Allies liberated Paris.
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On 25 August, 1944 Major General Ulio sent a letter to

my mother.

' This letter is to confirm my recent telegram in which
you were regretfully informed that your son, Téchnical
Sergeant John H. Anderson, 37,502,787, Air Corps, has been
reported missing in action over Germany since 6 August 1944,

I know that added distress is caused by failure to re-
ceive more information or details. Therefore, I wish to
assure you that at any time additional information is received
it will be transmitted to vou without delay, and, if in the
meantime no additional information is received, I will again
communicate with you at the expiration of three months. Also,
it is the policy of the Commanding General of the Army Air
Forces upon receipt of the "Missing Air Crew Report" to con-
vey to you any details that might be contained in that report.

The term "missing in action" is used only to indicate
that the whereabouts or status of an individual is not immedi-
It is not intended to convey the impression that

ately known.

the case is closed. I wish to emphasi=z that every effort is

exerted continously to clear up the status of our personnel.
Under war conditions this is a difficult task as you must

readily realize. Experience has shown that many persons re-

ported missing in action are subsequently reported as prisoners

of war, but as this information igs furnished by countries with

which we are at war, the War Department is helpless to expedite
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such reports. However, in order to relieve financial worry,
Congress has enacted legislation which continues in force
the pay, allowances and allotments to dependents of personnel

being carried in a missing status.

Permit me to extend to you my heartfelt sympathy during

this period of uncertainly.

Sincerely yours, J. A. Ulio Major General The Adjutant

General

26 Had air raid during night. Bombs fairly close. After

roll call I washed clothes. Another air raid. Slept part of

afternoon. Another alert at supper. Food like oatmeal today.

Tomorrow we eat good.

The food like oatmeal was barley. We had it often at the
next camp. During an air raid alert we were not allowed to
be outside.

After my mother received the telegram she wrote to Ardmore
for the names and addresses of the crew members. She received
this letter dated 26 August 1944:

Headquarters 222nd Combat Crew Training Station Army
Air Field Ardmore, Oklahoma

Dear Mrs. Anderson, Reference your letter of 21 August

1944 requesting the names and addresses of next of kin of other

Officers and men on your son's crew.

The following is a 1ist of crew members at the time they

departed this station. It is quite possible that it was
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subsequently changed, as they went from this station to

‘staging area prior to their departure for overseas:

Lt. Robert 8. Stewart
Mrs. Francis S. Stewart
2911 Woodcliff Avenne
Richmond, Virginia

[sic]Lt. Robert J. McIntyre
Mrs. R. F. McIntyre
1108 Belmont Street
Wilkinsburg, Pennsylivania

Cpl. Ernest Crawford
Mrs. Cora Crawford
Cotton Plant, Arkansas

Sgt. George T. Crowder
Mrs. Ila B. Crowder
Route 1, Box 25

Selma, Alabama

Lt. Frederick H. Sanborn
Mrs. Frederick H. Sanborn
739 Gosden Street

San Marcos, Texas

address crossed out and replaced by

9 So. Madison
Staunton, Va.

Sgt. Donald L. Nelson

Mrs. Carl A. Nelson

52 France No. Camden Station
Route #6, Minneapolis, Minn.

5gt. August W. Maurer
Mrs. A. W. Maurer
Lake Nebagamon, Wisconsin

Mother has written in:
Mrs. L. H. Collins
120 N.E. 56th St.
Miami, 38, Fla.

Very truly yours,

Kenneth D. King
Captain, Air Corps
Adjutant

In the yearbook or whatever it should be called that we
received form Ardmore I found the picture of Kenneth D. King,
then listed as First Lieutenant, Assistant Base Adjutant. He

evidently got promoted in rank and position.
On a piece of note paper Mother made a list of the crew

members and their positions. This includes Robert M. Rowe Pilot.

I believe Méther wrote to the next of kin and I shall include

their replies as they arrived starting Sept. 9th.

Roll call at 9:00. Went to

27 Sunday Stayed in bed late.

better. Ate alot of food for dinner. Siept

church. Could be

in afternocon. Air raid twice,

Ll would feel better. Got another

28 I should accomplish more.
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Red Cross parcel. Still had some cheese left from last one.

Plaved cards with crew.

29 Cooler. Ate breakfast. Had jam on bread and coffee.

Roll call. Had soup and milk for lunch. Soup and milk and

corn beef for dinner. Rained some. Not enough to do.

30 Cloudy and cooler all day. Stayed in bed most of

morning. Maurer sick. Took a nap in afternoon. Started

to think of music., Wrote to Vivian. Had air raid as ususal.

Card written to my sister Vivian August 30th:

Hello from (censored word) [undoubtedly the word is
Germany]. This is a nice cool day so I think I will take
the day off and sleep. There is nothing to do anyway but
talk and sleep. That gets monotonous after awhile. How
are you getting along at home? WNot working too hard I hope.
I'm looking forward toward the time when I'll be home again
eating a lot of everything. Want to be home by Christmas
anyway. Hope I get my souvenirs back. Take care of every-
thing at home. 1It's a good place to be.

Received Jan. 27th

31 Cold and cloudy all day. Played cards. Slept. Meals

fair.Hope we aren't here too long. Talked as usual.

September 1 Air raids off and on all day. Six raids alto-

gether. No bread for lunch and not much for supper. Laid

in bed and thought alot. I wish I had something to do to

take up time,
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2 Rained all day long. Got two siices of bread for

breakfast. Soup no good for lunch. Opened up can of salmon.

Had spinach for dinner. Slept in afternoon. Washed. Quite

cocl. Talked alot.

3 Sunday Cold night. Windy and cold but finally warmed

Lp in afternoon. Air raid lasted a11 morning. Talked with

August. Dinner was late. Read Testament. Had two cups of

coffee for supper. Sat in sun awhile.

I was not a coffee drinker but this coffee was made
from grain which was not unpleasant. I liked it better than

the tea which had a slight peppery taste and which we had

occasionally.

4 Sun came out and it got warmer. Soup was terrible for

gat

dinner. Shaved. Got headache and laid down. Couldn'g

Supper. Nelson gave me aspirin. Felt a little better.

Walked around. Went after coffee for breakfast and bread

in afternoon.

This was the day we got to use the latrine in the new
camp. I remember the toilets were different from ours at
home but better than the outdoor facilities we had been using.
The camp never got opened. A Camp near Lithuania had been
called Stalag Luft VI but the Germans had closed it ang
moved the prisoners to Stalag Luft IV. T have heard that
those prisoners rode a boat part ways and had some bad ex-
periences before they reached Lurt T1V. This camp at st.

Wendel was also called Stalag Luft VI which Created some

confusion, but it never really opened. ' J



In the distance we could see a highway and a number of
trucks and tanks were moving toward the interior. We heard
that the Allies had rushed across France. Information was
scarce, but we did hear alot of rumdrs. Actually De Gaulle
entered Paris on August 26th, British armoured columns
entered Brussels on the 3rd, Antwerp of the 4th, and then
penetrated into Holland.* |

Each of us felt that the war was nearly over. 1In
Worid War I the Germans had capitulated rather than fight
on their own soil. It looked like they were rushing back
home. fhere would probably be one more big battle and then
Germany would surrender. Everyone took a date for the end
of the war. Many picked dates in late September or October.
I picked October 4th. The most pessimistic fellow picked
November 1lth for obvious reasons. We talked about a mass
escape but it did not seem feasible. T ﬁould judge that
there were about 400 to 450 prisoners at our camp.

5 Air raid lasted all morning. Went after potatoes for

dinner. Had plenty to eat. Tanks getting close so they

evacuated camp. Marched down to railroad. Got on box car.

Quite crowded 46 men & 7 guards. Plenty of bread and butter.

Plaved cards.

*History of World War II, A.J.P. Taylior, Editor in Chief,

first published 1974 by Octopus Books Limited in England.



We were not surprised to have to leave camp. There
were a number of Italians around camp who were workers but
they did not work very hard. If we.had ever gotten into the
camp it would have been a nice set-up, but that was not to be.
The freight cars in Europe are smaller than the ones

in the stétes. I remember reading about them in the first

World War when they carried guarante hommes ou cing (huit?)
chevaux (40 men or éaggrses). In my car the doors were in
the middle and the guards sat by the doors. Each end was
fenced off with barbed wire and 23 men were on each end. Our

shoes were removed and placed in the middle. Thus we had

more passengers than they did in the first war.

6 Morale pretty high. Nothing much to do but we -did alot

7 Still going. Alot of destruction along the road. Ate

some more from Red Cross parcel. Guards treat us pretty

fair. We laughed alot. Nothing will beat us. How wonderful

to be an American,

Telegram dated Sept. 7 6:50 PM to Mother states:
REPORT JUST RECEIVED THROUGH THE INTERNATIOWAL RED CROSS
STATES THAT YOUR SON TECHNICAL SERGEANT JOHN H ANDERSON IS
A4 PRISONER OF WAR OF THE GERMAN GOVEENMENT LETTER OF INFOR-
MATION FOLLOW FROM PROVOST MARSHAL GENERAL= J A ULIO THE

ADJUTANT GENERAL

8 Ran out of parcel food. Ate alot of bread and butter.

Feeling fine. Had fun arranging different ways of sleeping,

You can get used to anything.




At one stop we got out of the train and went a short
distance away. Fighter planes were in the vicinity and

could have straffed the train. I thought it pretty decent

of the Germans to get us away from the danger. They could
have let us just "sweat it out".
9 Arrived at Kiefheide. Got shoes back and walked 40

Inside camp

minutes to camp. Processed and searched again.

1 met alot of old friends. Talked with Bill Sewell. Other

3 crew members came later. Had potatoes for supper. Slept

in tent. Cold.

As we were standing naked being searched we were in
alphabeticai order. The fellow behind me had a Jewish name.
4 tall German guard came up to him, picked him up and threw
him against the wall. It was one of the few brutal acts that
I saw in camp.

When newcomers arrive they meet with the leaders of the
camp and are given tips on how to act. Information about the
war is exchanged. When we came we were placed in ﬁents in A
Lager or compound until they finished C compound. About
8,000 prisoners were enentually in camp there, 2,000 to a
D compound held some 500 British airmen, but every-

compound .
one else was American. I since have learned that about 10,000
men were there including some Canadians, French, australians,
Belgium, and Polish airmen. The camp had opened up in May.

A few Russians did some dirty jobs around camp, and it was

forbidden to talk or give anything to the Russians. Two roll
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calls were held each day. Each compound governed itself
although a German officer was present at each call. It was
necessary to salute the officer if you passed him. More
about camp when we get to C compound.

Letter dated Sept. 8, 1944 postmarked Cotton Plant,

Arkansas Sept. 9;

yu:aknhmeaaﬁ&ewﬁe;hxesoamrmw.b@fﬁutt&ﬂsfmwamdmthﬁsrulhmh
fmrymamdya1&£rsu1asuﬂlasnmﬁ. Iamsoghﬁ3@uﬁétmybqrﬂmrhan£uyjs

agﬁneCmimﬁmaﬂmramihx;mwergﬁmnneaJmmam%;mmmﬂe,aniI]quwyamsnanm

doethauﬂ’ﬁrxﬁmuamisabletok@ﬂntsacraitnst: "Our dear boys" at all
times and wnder all conditions. Maythelcn:d‘mstmtlledayofajmt&xighbeas
gaaaﬁreﬂlnaﬁmft&au.pnmmsanibdngomrbqslrmeagﬁn. Hope you teve had good news
fnmfiCamiﬁﬁlaruzapdbysmEu Whm]?hweﬁmﬂsrjnﬁxmnmxllsmﬂlwr&eymun
are & you do the sanp. ﬁwwmelnniuw&;xnamdh&p}@uamiI,ismyhuﬁ&epﬁmau
Ietnehanw&umyu1a;dnwmm}mulamaﬁxﬂrrnaﬁ. ﬁnmﬁsﬂxwmﬁﬁmgm2=3ﬁramim

- Mrs. Cora K. Crawford
23



10 Sunday Up at 7:30. Had coffee and ?_for breakfast.

Went to church service. Tech sergeant gave a good sermon.

Enjoyed it. Talked with Bill. Went to evening service.

Hear English padre. Good. Slept with Crawford.

Letter dated Sept. 10, 1944, postmarked Sept. 11
Minneapolis, Minn.:
Dear Mrs. Andersan, IanhEiymrlaxETQE.Sgt.ﬂE!%haﬂiIangEﬂinlE
aﬂetobﬁlinuwehmefmimrrﬂm;h)uﬂly01amih;eyu1hweraxiwﬂ1ﬁesma,
Wégm;atﬂqyankmtnﬂesﬁmhgﬂxnisa;rﬁnrrin@ammy,Zm]sﬁtwekmwwhﬂe
be is and that he is alive. That is so mxh to ke Hankful far. I do hope you got the
sare news and that he is alright. I hope all the boys are safe and a1l o.k. I am going
ﬂawrhetotﬁeo&armxnxsamimydmgﬁxmdndam'&n@;wﬁb,isgdmgbohﬂpne
aut. Iwﬂl]ety01hnwamrﬁrﬂernaﬁZ[ga:amih;eyuzwﬂlcbthesae. Yours

traly, Mos. Carl Nelsm

11 Went after food today. Rained part of day. Had soup

for lunch.

Letter written September 11, 1944:

Once again I will let you know I'm getting along alright.
In fact we have been having some good times. Played baseball
tdday although rain broke up the game. Yesterdav we had a
tech serg. give a good sermon in the morning and a British
padre talked to us in the evening. Men are much more religious
I've met a number

here than I've ever seen them in the states.

of fellows I know, among  them being Biii Sewell, the fellow I

brought home with me from gqunnery school. We spent most of
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Yesterday talking over our experiences. The enlisted men
of my crew are still together. We made a deck of cards and
played alot of different games. The food is still qgood and
I am getting plenty. We have some books to read now so that
will help take up time. I wish I had some books I could
study. Maybe I can find some among the supply. It is getting
cooler here and will probably be winter before long. Wish 1T
were home at this time. School haé started I suppose by now.
Hope to be home for Christmas if not before. Will write a
card again before‘long, Don't worry about me. T'm all OK.
Received Jan. 27th
For the next five days I have no entries in my diary.
I got out the fiimsy pieces of paper which were the original

sritin and only an occasional word was identifiable.

12 Got Red Cross food. Did alot of trading.

14 Qut of bread.

15 Walked around camp. Peeled Potatoes. Catholic mass.

16 Cold. Walked,.

Letter dated Sept. 13, 1944, Postmarked Sept 18th
Benton City, Wash.

Desr Mrs. Andersm, Rxnﬁﬁd;yxm]euzryaﬂzniqx As you will note we are in
Wesh. Have been here 2 moths now, Fﬁllhakaﬁmghaeibrcmfhnein[ﬂer@hgamn,
Wis. in about 2 weeks. Wéwaegﬁaiuaharfnmjuuamihaeimeadtesxscfimeoﬂnr
mﬁhﬂsﬂh)hmgnanhedtﬁammﬁmginadja1mmiam We feal very tedly about it, hat
I]ENesommhlmpaﬂBtheisaLhezmdwmlu We just can't give up.

szre tase he was at. F@aamohmezaamwmoisaixaspxt;ﬁhm:hltméMnﬁEsinSm

Pacific, Nuqmyhaﬂﬁsinﬁmmaﬁcnndu.&meyuzwﬁnda}ﬁt. Aot 2 weeks before

aa)



we received the telegram fram the govermwent, we received 2 letters from August's ro. in
England.  In koth of them he talked about Angie being further fram howe and 3t womd take
loger to get letters from him. B:blnammedtst}atremssnemmdbermﬂrg
from him as son as he ooild get mail oat fram there, Also tiat he was sure that Angust
was safe and well. Si:mt!mvehaverarivaiseverallettas'frmhﬁnarﬂinmm
asaxrestsleiss:remgustissafearﬂwewiuhel'earhgfrmlﬁm. Now we halieve
they are prisoners hut maybe we are wrang.

Pkfig:reﬂ‘atJake(ﬂat'san:minﬂngla:ﬂ)l‘asta]ksitomrecftleﬂiers
ofplamﬂatdidmhmfm&ntnﬂssimarﬂlﬂsirfmnatimﬂatfecmmtﬁ@rtto
s, Wmevermgebotherinfonmtimrusaﬂitmtoywimediately.

Will just copy a bit of Jake's letter of Aug. 11. He writes—"I have a little
news far you a bit of it you may bave heard about before now. If not ' you will som,
but: don't vorry about: it, as every thing locks and sands dmy to me.  Have gobben a
littie news about Aurie (mrust’s nickname) and From wat T ooy about it hats safe amd
ell. M'tnmzyahmthjmasIausxe}EmJ_lbedﬁy. Will let you know about him
as som as I get all the dope or hesr from him. Should get a letter from him within
rﬂdsfarveétsifrraﬂgatsﬂlm:ghdcay." Now this is part of his letter, since then
mlaveseveraloﬂmsalltellixglsmttovmy, Bt e is sure we will ke hearing
fmhgiesmastnmngetnaﬂmt..Sbwedofeellrekrmstlﬁxm}eczn'tmm,
I do hope this conforts you  a bit. Of course T know how you feel., But as layg as mothers
cankeepfai&with@odl’mszel*ewﬂldot}ebﬁtformrlmedm. all we aan do
mvisgxayﬂﬁyarevejlatﬁaafe,arﬂvﬁ]lhereb.medtomsomifitbe@od'swﬂle
Phlﬁvemdaverylnrdthirgmhaarmgmmmbeforehztwiﬂmod'smmmm
gotten through it and I'm sire we will this aiso, We lost aurr only girl in 1935. Se
msﬁﬁs,abemtiﬁﬂgtlaﬁofmzseﬂndaﬂhgofﬂaefadly. Boys (we have 5)
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all tho't a Iot of their sister. But God does know best I'm sure of that now. I would
appreciate hearing from you again.  If you write after oct. 1 plesse address ws at Lake
Netegamn Wis. Ifyulmduaanlkryu:mﬂlraxhlslrmeatEEtalC&yﬁmﬁ_ I s=aw
ﬂEEhdCnssyaﬂenhybm:gm:uayliuﬂeinﬁxmmkn. GahaynrlaBlRaiCnEs,yUJ
mqwgetsmein&mmmkn.IImEtckseamihxeanipaywﬁhyulﬂntnw;wulban+
tumed safely som. I remmin Mrs. A. W. Marer

Letter dated 14th Sept. 1944 postmarked Sept. 15,

Richmond, Va.

Dear Mrs. Andersmn, YO.IrletteraquJthhrec'darﬁreauyl'maEi’medIl‘Bm't
answered before now. I appreciate you writing so mxh.

ﬁs:Inxnhedthesamauﬂqxanmg;Zhdthm:hawam:bm1almgfﬁhahutmy
sx. A it was a terrible shock to me, ﬂEJmmxnIinwrtammemﬂsquris,alﬂE

6&1QEngu&Echyyuz'haierwaswrﬁma1u3ne]:nxﬂdaluaqyamfnnr&evhrnqt.
FrisxEr of the German Gov's, HﬁI[ﬂrqﬁtnq&eyu:mnkimiﬁamﬂtEu

follaow. But to date T have not rec'd it.
Imlannﬂﬂaedamigmxiubknmfﬂntheisalhe. IhEereﬂatifhﬁsﬁﬁunEs
haihaalaxﬂmsthafwxudhawas&ﬁedsameh1hﬂam3m.
Iaknra?dajeﬁerfmm?hrnqt.s@ﬁgthm:ﬁnmpnteundereittdEsfmm
tu:toﬁmeennmbstoga;anrhﬁdmmﬁalﬂmmGEmEnGmﬂt,ahxmzxﬁxnas. If you heve
mx1mcﬂzmym5a§easyah.Hﬂspusﬂﬂebythmrntbﬂlhgcntatﬁmeanetme,ﬂat
ibmmrtme1agmrﬂ:h£rorgd:arqnn:ﬂmmau;&ehqm, Idoﬁﬁitmumlﬂntﬁmq

are all safe.



Have you heard fram any of the other boys' Mothers? T would like to write them.
But wonder if they have rec'd a message that they are prisaners.

I hope and pray that you have rec'd the same telegram as I hawve, and that this
. awful war will som end and they will be back vith us. Hope to hear fram you again soon.

Sincerely, Franoes Stewart

17 Sunday Nice day. Went to church service as usual. Very

interesting. Good stew for dinner. Took a sun bath with

Sewell. Went to evening church service. Crawford sick.

18 Another nice day. Went to Bible study and prayer aroup.

Heam story of Samuel. Began to feel sick. Lasted all day and

night. Potatoes for supper. Went to dispensary and got some

pills.
Letter dated Sept. 18, 1944 postmarked same date

Memphis, Tenn.

Dear Mrs. Anderson, Ianwn&hgthh;ﬁrnymummubts.GxaCnmﬂxd,uEGxun
Flant, Ark.

Shenazﬁedyurczniyaux&w;aniweanaaagmdyuzgd:ﬂre5men&5qpvecﬁﬁ,
that Jomn is a prisaer. H;h;hxiu)ﬂﬁnkcf1msnhﬁng1rnxnms,tntasyuisﬁd,we
have a lot to be thankful for, just knowing they are alive. We too hope that the crew
can be together.

WEakmlEdaJEUErfnmb&soA.W.anxcffﬂta1&ky,ﬂmh.y&ba&w. i
was a very nice letter and we were indeed glad to get it.

Mom hed a letter from the War Dept saying it would prokebly be fram ane to three
mnths before we oould get the address to write them. As son as we get Emest's we will
smditﬂayn,amidnmdyuzgichhrsfhstamditﬂawspman.

Idavthnwibenﬂﬂdyalhlhﬂ'kx&xykntwehmezasmﬂlra&xdﬁmahys

tede and Emest sent it to her. Jon was ane of the btoys that help meke it.. SO even
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&n@mwedkhﬂzmxttmahyswedohweomam:uncfthﬁrvukzsnﬂmﬁah
Mrs. Andersan, T went to take this qoportinity to thank you for having written to
Mom. ﬁ:rJeuerWﬂ;agmﬂbcmﬁmtinlrr.YbJsaeQEis}dndofokimﬂlnrhsﬂfh
isn't s0 qgood either. mfamnejtnsaﬂeitjs]tmdonaquthxstoraxiwammslﬂm
that, and believe me, my heart goes cut to them.
IaﬂshqeanipzyﬂMmtﬂdwm:mﬂlsmnheowraniﬂmycmlsnnomehme.
Please write when ever you can. Sincerely, Ovie Crawfard
19 No entry.

20 Peeled potatoes. Went to library gnd got book on Milton.
Talked

Talked with Bill. Met a couple of Fellows from K.C.

about o0ld times. Feel good. Nice weather.

- 21 Not readable,
Letter dated Sept. 21, 1944 Postmarked same date

Dear Mrs. Andersm, T received your letter and I thirk it vas very nice of you to write -
amigxdﬁenamsofthahﬂsadteaeswh)maetheczafmmhxsoft&asme;ﬂae. I
nmiﬂfnaerewxlﬂnqmtofitasJ?anhxtpni@rhsywﬂhtherexcfd@rﬁmﬂy. I
nxahaiabaaxanalﬁxt.&htﬂuﬁgnendnn:msa;xﬂnmrcfwmrﬂa1aw&k
Lmﬂrlinrahaia]euzrfhm1hepuwu¢¢mm§algarmﬂ.azﬁngthﬂ;ﬂaydkhﬂzhxw
tbanmecfthaampasyd:s:ha&ﬁdittaesat1Emtﬁm£enumMSfm:ﬂBtu3ume
throxh. Iahm:suﬁvaia]eﬂarfunﬂts.anerbm:axnnﬁngtDIEtLﬁMa:QETEs
not heard that her son is a prisoner., Mr. Montyre bes a cousin stationed in Fogland
Whjiswﬁhiﬁegnnmimzwofthaaufﬂxueamiheisgumgtowrﬁetousamiﬂﬂlus
wvhat he can. Pb?qewte&reme:ﬁd1iadexxtuasnmaﬁngasiﬁlﬁdaaﬂneechy;nssof
m;[k&hamiumttosaamysmlhﬁ:wﬁsuﬂdlrttninﬁxmusumﬁlwehaxdfnmfhewm:



degertment. T bave a son in the navy someshere in the Pacific and another eon o was in
the Infantry ut was given a medical discharge last October but who is married now. T also
hmeimooﬂmrsxnsﬁhsaa;samelensauisamnyansamitm:chqm&xswﬁaaqxszne
10 and 13 yrs. And they sure keep me busy far which T am very thenkful for as soetimes
Is&nttoﬁmnkamiIﬂﬁm(IQlhxemymhﬂn'&twewﬂijmxlnwaU)hweﬁﬂﬂlmﬂ
pray and hope that this war will be over soon. T heve a bodk of the 222nd Conbat: Crew

that Robert sent me and all the boys' pictures are in it. Robert was 20 yrs. dld on Aig 7th
the day after he was reported missing. Iwﬂlcmmernwhxmgﬂntﬂmrﬂnmymagﬂnn |
Sincerely, Mrs. Raymnd F. McIntyre Wilkinsburg, Pa

22 Rained most of the day. Maurer and Nelson came over.

They said Addison of crew 24 had come in and he had seen Stewart

which was good news. Had sore throat and was hoarse most of day.

Addison was a waist gunner on crew 24, assigned to the
100th B.G., the hard luck groupn. His story was really dra-
matic. They were flying over the target on their first mission
when the tail was blown off. He looked down at his feet and
he fought the other waist gunner, Sawaya, for the chute which
was lying there. He put it on and went out the open end of the
plane breaking his leg upon landing. He Wés the.only member of
his crew to survive; He was a changed person from the person
he was in Ardmore. 1In C compound he became a member of the
church council and was constantly studying the Bible. He be-
came an authority on the l1ife of Paul.

23 Read guite a bit. Went to morning Bible Study class.

Beginning to have cold. Walked around compound with Biiil

Sewell. Got more Red Cross food.
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Letter written September 23, 1944:

As long as I have ﬁnother lette; to write I wiii try
and find enough to fii1l the whole page. T have two cards
left to write this month. It is sufprising the number of
friends I have met here at this camp. We have had good
times talking together. One fellow lives next door to
Cottinghams_[Mr. Cottingham was the principal of Benton
elementary school and 1iveé about three blocks from my
house] and another fellow was in Gene's choir. [Gene Christy
was one of my good friends at the Conservatory ] Just heard
yesterday that the copilot was safe so that means our whole
crew is ok. The officers stay at a different camp. We re-
ceive Red Cross food pretiy regularly now and with what we
dre rationed we have encugh

biography of John Milton this week. Also attend some of the

Bible discussion classes each day so I have Plenty to do. Don't

hear much news but still hoping the war will be over soon.
I wrote to Bob Havighurst this week. I wonder what he ig
doing now. Hope we can have our annual party together this

year, [Bob and his sister Martha spent New Year's ave with

my sister Vivian and me for a number of years. He was a great

person and a fine friend.] Wish I could hear from you soon

and to learn about the happenings at home. I guess I missed -

the last package you sent. [Here 3 sentence has heen blacked
out. I have no idea of what I wrote that had to be censored.

It was probably the most interesting sentence in the letter.])
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Well I should do some of my washing today so I will quit for

now. Will write again next month. Alot of things can happen

in a month. Perhaps the war will be over before iong. Tell
everybody hello for me.
Received Feb. 12th

24 Sunday Went to church. Read some. Talked in afternoon. Had

two roll calls in evening. No evening service because of no

interpreter. Talked in barracks.

25 Rained most of night. Got windy during day. Played cards.

After lunch our tent piaved baseball. Had good dinner. Much

colder. Still have cold. Peeled potatoes. To bed at 7:00.

26 Got up early. Got coid in morning. Read. After lunch

the men living in “tents moved to new compound. Rained. Now

in barracks with crew. Will be better. Wrote cards.

One event occurred in A compound that I did not mention in
my diary, or else it occurred on a day that I cannot transcribe
which is mow likely. Two or three plahes of German origin
came flying over the camp. They began to do acrobatics and
we were all watching them when one of the planes did not pull
out but plunged into the ground a short ways off from the camp.
Instantly a cheer went up and the guards in the towers got
visibly more nervous. I décided not to cheer. We were all
told to go inside.

As I recall Crawford and I were in the same tent todgether
and Maurer and Nelson were in another tent. I believe that

McIntyre had gone to the hospital. When we moved to C compound
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I was first sent to Barracks 5 to a double room. Maurer and

Nelson and, I think, Crawford were in Barracks 1, room 3. I

talked to someone in their room and he agreed to swap. It was
nice to have the four of us together again. I believe McIntyre
was in Barracks 5 for awhile and was at a hospital or a different
camp for awhile. We had twenty fellows in our room until four
more were added in danuary. Maurer was elected Room Leader.

One of his main duties was to divide the bread ratibn. [Since

I have been in the Stalag Luft IV organization I have received

a list of names of the individuals who were in Room 3. Tt would

be fun to get them together again.]

27 Lots better sleeping ingide. Started a card tournament.

Another cold day. Washed clothes in afternoon. Warmed up some,

Read some. Plaved more cards.

Someone had a pinochle deck and the crew decided to play
until the end of the war. Maurer and I were partners against
Crawford.and Nelson. The losers were to take the winners to
dinner after the war. T had never played pinochle before, but
it is a good card game. After a period of time the score was
5,000 to 3,000 or thereabouts in favor of cC & N. They wanted
to know if we wanted to guit, but we were just getting started.
Bidding is important and we soon learned to guess what the
partner had in his hand. When the score reached 30,000 to
25,000 in our favor we decided to give it up. There was no
chance C & N could ever catch up. Incidentally, the winners

never did collect. TIt's getting late fellows.
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28 Nice day. Walked around compound with Grant. New

fellows came into compound. Played some cards. Maurer and

I :are partners. Fell behind. Talked to Addison. When will

war end?
Two roll calls were held each day. Other than that we

were pretty much on our own. One of the best activities was

to meet some one new and walk around the compound getting

acquainted. Each person had experienced an unusual series

of events which led him to this place. I had it easy com-
pared to a lot of the stories I heard. I remember one fellow

parachuted into the Zeider Zee. That was a place I had read’

about in grammar school. King, one of men in our room, was

with the French underground for a long time. He tried to
get into Switzerland but was unable to make it. The French
then took him south and he was captured going across the
Pyrenees. In our compound he was in charge of the record
players; we eventually had four or five in the compound.
When one got broken King would bring it to our room for re-
pairs. Thus we often had music in our room. One of the most

popular records we had was Bing Crosby and the Andrew Sisters

singing Jingle Bells.,

29 Another fair day. Spent a long time in roll call. Got

deck of cards and pencils and red cross food. Things could

be worse. Played more cards. It can't be long now.

At roll call we all stood in front of the barracks in
rows of five. The guards would count each side of the

compound, barracks 1 to 5 and 10 to 6. Then they would total
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up the count as they walked back to Der Hauptmann (the German
captain). If the tally was not correct they counted again.
Some days roll call lasted over an hour. A search of the
barracks came when it was decided some one was missing. I
remember one poor fellow had fallen asleep and no one had
awakened him. I expect he spent some time in solitary con-
finement. Only a couple of times can I remember when the
weather was so bad we had roll call inside.

We were locked in the barracks at sundown and lights
were out about nine o'clock. . Shutters were placed over the
windows. We often had conversations going in the room after
lights out. The barracks were built about 3-4 feet off the
ground so it was impossible to dig a tunnel. Dogs roamed
in the compound at night. We were 2 short distance from
the Baltic Sea, but it would be hard to cross that sea.

30 Cloudy. Played more cards. After lunch which was

sauerkraut we played a game of Monopoly.Fun. Maurer and

I forged ahead in card game. Still have cold.

October 1 Sunday Played cards again. Shouldn't do it on

Sunday. Had good meals today. Visited Grant in barracks

Y. HWent to church in afternoon. Nice service. Played

monopoly. Full moon soon.

2 Misty outside all day. Walked around compound by

myself. That is good for thinking. Wasted whole avening.

Clocks set back an hour. Wait til Wed.

Since I had picked Oct. 4th as the day the war would be

over I was looking forward to that day.
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3 Walked around. Read. Peeled potatoes as usual. Had godd

soup for lunch. Potatoes for supper. Got part of Canadian

Red Cross parcel. Some of it is better. Last day I hope.

Except for Thanksgiving week and Christmas week we were
on half-rations of Red Cross food all the time we were in the
camp. A standard food package issued by the Red Cross to POW's
weekly included the following: 1-7 oz carton of Type K 2
biscuit; 1-8 oz carton of processed cheese; 2-4 oz bars of
ration D chocolate; 5-packages containing 100 cigarettes;

1-4 oz tin of soluble coffee; 1-12 oz tin of corned beef;

1-15 oz carton of dried fruit; 1-6 oz tin of liver paste;
1-16 oz tin of whole milk: 1-16 oz tin of oleomari{ne; 1-4 oz
tin of orange concentrate; 1-12 oz tin of pork luncheon meat;
1-8 oz tin of salmon; 2-2 oz bars of odorless soap; and 1-8 oz
carton of white lump sugar.

In camp alot of trading went on every time we got some
Red Cross food. Cigarettes were our medium of exchange. A
box of prunes cost one pack; a can of powdered milk cost four
packs; a chocolate bar cost a pack; Spam went for a pack: some
parcels had raisins instead of prunes, they cost a pack and a
half; some times prices would fluctuate but normally you could
make a deal for what you wanted.

I omitted a card which was dated Sept. 27, 1944‘postmarked
Sept. 28, Minneapolis:

Tear Mrs. Andersan, Wagm:qm:uﬂqyam53t.9ﬂ1§wﬁg1xnwa3a;rknmx, That
is a lot better than not hearing at all. T sure hope and pray they can all awe hare som.
No we dm't have the address of the pilot or the boredier. T sre do hope you can write

again ad I will do the same if & when we gt any more news.  Sincerely, Mes. Carl Nelson
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4 Figured war would be over today. Ate alot ail day long.

Peeled potatoes by myself for awhile. Went to morning devotion

class and then to choir practice after lunch. Felt good. Nice

clear day. Made cake with Crawford.

Peelimy potatoes was almost an every day chore. More about

this later. Crawford wrote home about this cake two days later.

5 Got Jerry jam and cheese today. Got room to peel spuds

before roll call. Went to morning devotion service. Clear

day but windy and chilly. Laid out on blanket for awhile.

Had part of cake. Quite delicious. Played monopoly.

Undated letter postmarked Oct. 5, 1944 Miami, Fla.
alﬁxmm:Zhd,wexeaﬁmaruxdﬁhmcnrsau Zﬁlt.Wﬂba:G.GﬂlﬁB,WEIMSﬂng

auiaLLﬂrammilstmnatsthm:uehmeladshrsfmm: ime,

IcnﬁadxdfhaﬂaiCnBs,hqﬁm;mﬂlxqﬁngfm:ﬁzﬂrrinﬁxmmjunamisnehr&ﬁ
heard our prayers, for it vas at a Red Cross desk, shere T found a M. Tavid, wo is the
wife of Colael David, Oanmrxdixgosficerofme%smambcmpofﬂeﬁgrmmm_
inotl'ermrds‘ "C.0. of our boys' autfit. o

I felt indeed fartunate, for Mrs. Tavig is very yory, loveable and understanding
amiﬁﬂthqpyuammecamaxiﬁﬂlmyaEWMDhaiaanﬂcmeumhrharBﬂl%cnmmﬁ
and we immediately berame friends, &E;mmmfdtowr&ebot&aﬂﬂamﬂ,ﬂﬁtvmy
ewmﬁg;aﬁlmmeaiqxnkﬂ.nxmaﬁu&mtmenamscfcxavmmbasEmdthﬁrlnmeaﬂnsas
amisammaﬁntpxﬂﬂﬂein&mmmkaEtnmdgmﬁa:ﬁx'LB,ofcw:Wﬂt.

h1ﬂnnﬁxmmewerarﬁedaJhdtdaxanng.&h,wmxethakﬂtkualﬁd
reparted 2nd 1. WAlter G. aﬂlﬂr;a;pdsaerofﬁaroftheGamanbexnmam, We
Jater received a letter confimming this telegram and giving us an 'wstated’ prism cap,
inotlﬁrmrchﬂleyl'ﬂdmtmceivedﬂ:ermeofﬂecmp. ‘ B



Yesterday Mrs. Tavid called, and she tad heard from Colonel David, also had
ranes and addresses of cvew members and infometion. I know that you are anxiously
vaiting for word ard irmardly grieving as to the possibilities of informmation that
you nay already heve, being a litkle bit indefinite, so we are staring what knowledge
we have received throwgh the boys' mnmwfiQIHﬁMitmmmYm.

*chip went don Aug.6, 1944 over BERLIN , GERVMANY* -Ship went down, under

cantrol, apparently axyoen system was not fnctiming. Possibly two dutes were ssen*  This
group Tas hed two presidential Citations and the 388th Banb Graup hes just completed its
200th Brbing mission, had Ted fever loss than any other gromp, and every men a tre
soldier and credit to the Eighth Air Farce*

O Walt has been awarded the air medal and two clusters and was pramted to
1st IT. Agust 18th ~ went down on his 22nd mission - was regular Baiardier on L.
Rokert M Rowes Crew.  Fram location given us where the ship went down, we can only
presums that cur boys are prisiere of a camp locsted in Berlin, this of couree is only
a presumption on o part.  We understand they are treated more kindly in Berlin,
;artiaﬂarlysﬁmﬂeeﬂissoverymarmsight,letmptaytratﬂnthyim't
too far away. befare ar boys will be home again.

T know that it shouldn’t be, tut sanehow it is rather difficuit for me to write
this letter. The fact that o Waltwmild want me to amtact the loved anes of his Bxddies
and give them what consolation T am able to, does meke it a little easier, bat frarkly,
it touxches a most tender, aching spot in my heart - as surely it must in the hearts of
most ‘moms and dads. ' |

Our family consists of anly four - Walt who is 23 and now a prismer, B who is
21 an a NAVY NIGHT -FIGHIER Pilot, getting ready to check aut at a Rode Island kese, for
the Pacific - and that just leaves 'mom and dad' hoe alone.

Itaueta}mﬂn'mwldn'atﬁrﬁmﬂemnmbersﬁstmﬂiftydm,

there are other loved anes who are interested, won't you please stere this letter with them.



Itwﬂlbaacmﬁrtu)hnwﬂntﬁnrmazanhaiﬂﬁshanx,akbwmﬂnryn
hmeaqrﬂzﬂerin&mmmkn,ﬁnrbﬂqyamzmdwewﬂlagxaﬁauﬁlemim;ﬁmmyuh

Sincerely, Marion (ollins

6 Went to morning devotion after roli call with Crawford.

Also to choir practice after lunch. Brought hymnal back to

barracks. Sang alot. Had good chow. Plaved cérds. Got

salmon. Good news.

Choir practice was now scheduled for one o'clock on
Moﬁday, Wednesday, and Friday. Having a hymnal made ﬁy job
a lot easier. The good news I mention was probably about
the war., I probably thought I would never forget it, but

fifty years later I have no idea what it could have been.

7 Peeled potatoes again as usual. Went to morning devotion.
Nice service. Plaved cards most of day. Had air raid.

Maurer and I are way ahead of Crawford and Nelson. Soon 1 hope.

8 Sunday Swept the hall. Went to church service. Sat with

choir. HeardiPadre Jackson. Was to sing in afternocon but had

roll cail at wrong time. That interupted the Catholic mass

too. Walked and talked.

Two English padres took turns coming to our compound for
serviges, Rev. Anthony H. Jackson was from the Isle of
Guernsey and Rev. G. Rex Morgan was from South Wales. The
Catholic priest was Rev. 7. J. E. Lynch who later lived in
Southhampton. I believe. these men had been captured at Dun-
kirk. Padre Jackson was a dynamic, interesting speaker who
always had something vital to Say. Padre Morgan was quiet

and reserved and a lot different from Padre Jackson,
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On this Sunday I recall Ehat the Catholics were having
their service outside and Rev. Lynch was officiating. There
is a point in the mass where the priest is obligated to con-
tinue no matter what happens. The Germans waited until that
spot and then called roll call. The priest remained at his
improvised altar for over an hour without moving, waiting for
the boys to return to the service. I admired his courage and
perseverance.

In C compaind we had a church council which met weekly
or oftener to plan the protestant services in the compound.
Morning devotions were held daily. One or two church services
were held on Sundays. Later, Bible studies were held when the
padre could come and we had Sunday School near the end. One
memher of the council was designated each Sunday as back-up
speaker in case one of the padres did not appear. The boys
who did preach did a fine job 6f it. The members alsc took
turns leading at morning devotion. In my notebook I had each
memﬁer of the council write his name and address: Fred G.
Anderson of Minneapolis, Minn.: Cloman D. Bogart of Sycamore,
Ohic; Calvin D. Churchill of West Haven Conn.; Brian H.
Cleworth of Minneapolis, Minn.; Charles M. Doss of Morris,
I11.; Curtis L. Snell of Red Top, Mo.:; Robert B. Conrad of
Schuyler, Nebr.; Harvey Rueschman of Greentown, Ohio; John K.
Jones of Springfield, I1l.; and Rex L. Hayes of Alexander, N.C.
I was a member of the council by virtue of my position as choir

director. This was a good group of fellows.
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9 Went to morning devotion. Watched football game. Went

——

to choir practice. Arranged hymns for [morning devotion].

Played cards. Cloudy day.

We had a tournament between the ten barracks in football.
Since I was not a football player I helped make up some yells
for Barracks 1. & game always had a good crowd. I do not
remember Barracks 1 ever vinning a game.

10 Choir sang at morning devotion. I Sang one verse solo.

Washed clothes during rest of morning. Had good soup for

lunch. Watched football dame.. Warm- day. Plavyed cards.

11 Warm night. Peeled spuds 48 usual. Went to morning

devotion. My temper almost broke at breakfast. Went to

choir practice. Heard alot of shots. Played cards. Good

meals again.

I have no recollection of my problem. Tt may have had

something to do with peeling potatoes.

12 Nice day. Went to morning devotion then beeled potatoes.

Watched football dame. Good game. Towers test fired quns =1}

¥e had to move arcund. A fellow brought victrola into room

and played records. Enjoved it.

13 Cloudy and cold. Went to morning devotion, Waiteq in

line a1l morning for library book. Got "The Thirteenth:

Greatest of Centuriesg" by Walish. Read. Went to choir

practice. Had roll call at night.

This was a good book which impressed me a lot. I used

information from it many times when I was teachlng music

history years 1ater. -
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The building we called the Red Cross building was located
just to the left of the gate in the middle between the two rows

of barracks. It housed the kitchen and a big room which we used

for church services. The library was located in one corner of

this large room. It must have been a popular place if I had to

wait in line all morning to get in to get a book.

14 German broke up devotion service for awhile. Peeled spuds.

Read most of afternoon. Had hamburger for supper. Good. Got

Red Cross food. Read some more. Thirsty.

For every meeting a German interpreter had to be present.

On this occasion we must have started without him, so he broke

it up when he arrived.

Our meat ration was rather slim. It was normally included

for permission to save
up the meat ration for a week and give everyone a hamburger.

It was delicious and a big help to morale.

15 Sunday Went to church.

16 Went to morning devotion after having barley for breakfast.

Brian Cleworth gave the talk. Very good. Read. Took over the

choir at choir practice. Watched football game. Lockup at 8.

17 Rained all day long. Went to morning devotion. Read

most of day. It is an interesting book, well worth reading.

18 Rained again. Went to morning devotion. Finished book.

Went to choir practice. Sounded good. New fellows came in.

News not too good. Taught Crawford some music. Wrote letter home.




This letter never arrived. This ig probably not the

postoffice's fault.

19 Peeled spuds. Went to morning devotion. After lunch

watched a hypnotist. Good show. Cleworth brought me new

hymnals. Played cards. What is next?

The hypneotist was the son of Mark Warnow, a well-known
orchestra leader. He put one fellow under and had him regress
to the age of five. He had trouble tying his shoes and ¥as ‘bash-
ful when asked about girls. He even talked with a youthful
voice. When told he had wet his pants he started to cry.

One or two fellows could not be hypnotized. It was a good show,.

20 Had blanket inspection. Went to morning devotion. After

lunch had choir Rractice and then quartet practice. Filled

Sack again. GOt more rations. Played lcards. Arranged

music for] quartet.

21 Foqgy in morning. Quite cool ail day. Went to morning

devotion. Went to Bible Study class. Padre Morgan in charge.

Got a lot of hot ‘water for coffee today. Time goes faster now.

22 Sunday Cloudy a1l day. Peeled spuds. Went to church.

Choir sang hymn. John Jones gave the talk. Read aloud a

German magazine. Had long talk about music with Alec Palmer.

Very interesting. Got music Pupil. Rained. -Had. good crowd

at evening service. Choir sang again.

Alex Palmer was interested in the different temperaments

(tunings) in music, and he was working on a new system. I had

never studied much about that aspect of music, but T enjoyed
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listening to his explanations. 1In later 1ife I studied it a
great deal and would like to be able to talk with him again.
I am sure he prodded my interest in the subject.

In my notebook he wrote Alex (instead of Alec) Palmer.

He was from Detroit.

I was beginning to be busy which made time pass more

rapidly. I am sorry I did not record the name of my first

student in camp (other than my crew members). Since no
music manuscript paper was available I took cigarette package

wrappérs and other labels and drew staff lines on them. This

was a mundane and uninteresting chore, but it was necessary

to demonstrate musical ideas to my students. T alsc made

‘arrangements for the choir and quartet. I did get some

white sheets of paper later which made the job a bit easier.

I still have the copies of the parts of a Couple of my arrange-
ments. My biggest project was to try to write out the
Hallelujah Chorus from the Messiah. T had sung the soprano

part as a boy and the bass and then the tenor after my voice

changed. It wasn't too hard to figure out the alto, but then

it had to be arranged for male voices. I never completed the

project. I expect someone has made an arrangement for male

voices. I would like to see it.

23 Gave prayer at morning devotion. Had pupil in music in

barracks 9. It is interesting to work in music again. Went

to choir practice. Watched football game. Interesting. Had

Addison and another fellow for music lesson. Room sang hvmns.

Read. Good day. ,
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24 Six months overseas. Went £o morning devotion. ate early.

Had classe§ a1l afternoon. Enjoyed teaching music, 1 ought ¢

get more pupils. Played Pinochie again. Make cake and also

SMeargoo. Wrote &g Vivian.
== ¥lvian.

Card written October 24, 1944.

¥ou so T will write another. I wonder if you have received any
word from me yet. It will be interesting td compare dateé when
I get home. T guess you are sti1l making quite a bit of money.
My pay continues at the same rate untiil 1 leave here, 71 have
quite a sum saved up by now. Must go andg bPeel some spuds now.

Received Feb.1i0

Making a cake was a lot of trouble but they usually were
delicious. My best concoction was what I called Smeargoo. T
grated up a g 2 biscuit and a square of g3 chocolate bar, Put
in some pPowdered milk (a quarter can if I could afford it),
water and sppe Sugar. Next T cut Up some prunes and broke
open the pits and cut up the nut-like Seed inside. It hag sort
of a cherry flavor. fThen T let it set overnight. In the morn—
ing it was absolutely delicious. at first it was g3 rare treat,
Later I would trade some of my food for the ingredients ang
make it almost every night. Since 7 didn't smoke T hag 2%
Packs of cigarettesg T could trade immediately, While I was in
Athens, Georgia in 1948 a ﬁeteran student ang T méde up a batch
of smeargoo, but it was not nearly as good as I remembered it.

25 Prepared lessons. Had class after morning devotion, Had

plenty to eat. Choir practice, Sounded good. [Started] book
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Travels of Sir John Mandeville. Walked with Nelson.

26 Wrote letter home. Took Nelson to morning devotion.

Waited for Padre for Bible study but he didn't come. Had

quartet practice and then two lessons. Talked with Nelson and

Maurer about old times.

This was another letter that did not arrive.
My crew and sometimes my room would participate in a

game such as naming all the cars you could name. We all got

along pretty well.

27 First real cold day ¥e have had. Peeled potatoes inside.

(probably in the washroom). Worked with fellows on music.

Had choir practice. Air raid came 50 we had long practice.

Played cards for quite awhile.

28 Much colder. Stili not too bad. Went o morning devotion.

Only had one lesson today. Peeled potatoes in washroom. Got

part of British parcel. Had friendly fight with Nelson.

Played cards again. A waste of time.

29 Sunday Not quite so cold. Peeled botatoes. Went to church.

Choir sang pretty good. Padre Jackson gave a good talk. 470

there. Had talk again with Alec Palmer. Had two lessons.

Played cards Worked with Maurer on music. Not So cold.

30 Cold zgain. HWent to morning devotion. Had about six

lesons today. Keeps me busy. Had choir practice. Time

passed rapidly. Plaved cdrds. Wrote out guartet music. More

work with Maurer. Tired.

Card dated Oct. 30, 1944 postmarked same date Robbinsdale, Min
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IH%MMmmMMMMMMmmethMMﬁ
that you hed heard from your sm too. w;gizacxﬂfnthmﬂEowmbaﬂEE%haEmgz
hit we didn't get it till Cct. 16. We also have Don's address, we got at last Fri. Oct.,
27. Iwﬁ%rﬁenyulga:wnrsavsyu:wmﬂdwrﬁalslﬁsadh35sasIwiu.&mdyul
nn%shmidllpmjtinaJEuEritwﬂlbealﬁikamxepdmﬂethﬁvey.:ﬁnzmim

Mrs. Elesnor Nelsm
31 Had bad time sleeping. Not 50 cold. Peeled potatoes.

Had lessons again. #ad quartet practice. Got seconds for

iunch. Good soup. Plaved cards again. Maurer and I ¥ay ahead.

Letter dated October 31, 1944 postmarked same date Miami, Fia.
Dear Mrs. Anderson, ThmmssoweqrmxhibryamJeﬁzroftheﬁh. We enjoyed it
amd it was mst wlome. Ifeﬂ.atﬁtguUtYahntnd:udthgtEﬂrethE;the,bm:ﬂﬂt

n@hﬂgtﬂéﬂﬁ!ﬁsani%ﬁ,aﬂiﬁe%&%ﬁgissehaﬁamiaﬂzakmgtﬂe.

Mrs. Nelsmn, thetallhmtglner'smtharmdamxdfmnhimrsayingﬂﬁthems
"hm:skkorwuxﬁaiamiﬂnttmeﬁxdisguﬁ,thmhsh:ﬂnlhdcnxsﬂ the card vas dated
m;ma;mh,aﬁsnlﬁdhqnsafhmm&gfhmcnrﬂﬂbéumaﬂzréﬁmnﬁngﬁmakstﬁﬁ
CHEsnaxhg—ﬁdszeraEWn;+n&xﬂzniﬂnttkamﬂlehjn<nMngamiaménmﬂis
atanahmst'Hznkmﬂl'whxeeémamrmscmnxrmﬂzmdvay]imﬂe,ifamnvmsgaxﬁg
tqujxm:ﬂﬁsthe,sozeﬂlydmvtemnm:u)harintmemnrﬂxme,bw:wﬁtMQissn
hard.

w;hmelndnofmihxwmniﬂxmimeebwtaminlouﬁialm:mmeofthaampwhxe
the boys are teing held. Hawe you? b&s.Mﬁszlsﬂdﬁhmsmewmsgﬁn;hamdtau)ﬁx
ad tell you that she had heard from her Do,

ﬂerammlﬁmcbrmthwett.Rme%lrmaaﬁhxscm'matofkﬁﬂispahms
lzumsehewwsmxlﬁhm:m?ﬂE(leatihethE:ﬁrmmtdmmo We have heard since that



he vas womnded on the mission of the day before and was amfined to the hospital for foot
wond (f1ak) and a replacement Pilot was with our fellows. I have heard from his mother
and in writing to her this noming, told her that T was giving her address to e crew
menbers 'nest of kin' and hoped she would hear from them. Some teve requested ter address
ard I do thirk that it helps so mich to keep in ctact. Our fellows would want us to and
I know it; address—-Mrs. Bma B Kluth—833 3, &.Smm,mim.m. (Mother
of) 1st It. Damld B. Kluth, Pilct. Plesse write to her.

Now same how— Colanel David gave me the address of Robert S. Stewart co-pilot
next of kin as: Mrs. My Am Stevart, Willaming, Oregon (wife) and T wrote to her.
Tmagine my surprise to leam that te is not the Stewert I want, hut was also talen as
prisaer of war of the Gemmen Gov't an July 31 and the a.m. thet my letter arrived, she had
received a card from her hilhy saying that he was o.k. and not to worry, things are as well
as could be expected ete., but what a coincidence to get her address by mistake — and T
Farticiianly wnted the co-plicts address for wWalt talked of him 80 often and used to

Faiete
sperd liberty in Tindon with him. When I noticed the nest of kin address and it said

(wife) I rardly thouht tiat he was married, for Walt had related several incidents Bob
had told him that reminded him of ’his mm' etc., so will you please send throuwh the
'tmeaddressofzzﬂLT.Rd:ertssnewartm-pilotamxmnbesogatefulforit. I
dmn't thirk any of the others have been reported as wonded, did Mrs Stesart way whether
sericusly and whether it stated the canp ar hospital?

I do remenber - when Walt called hore the second time - from Keamey —"just to say
Good-bye again and ancther thing Baby - if ever there is any report thet cores through
about me, don't you believe ane word of it - do you hear? All you heve to do Hoey is
k@mpxayﬁgtl'ﬁblmttadcincxﬂpieceetc”"arﬂvﬁmIswlds:!alnztl‘ﬁmcauirg
tack the second time, he hed thet fumy little laugh thet vas supposed to cawince you
that he wasn't worried, but being a 'mom’ T knew what was in his  heart — and he said®
gosh ane of the fellow's wother is here and T Yad a herd time convineing her tist her
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liuﬂeﬁdﬂownasgahgtnlxcxk.gxh,t&aepanwmms—znwramﬂxrwhm:[aﬂdahlm
a@rnymi,'cmsaitwﬂllnthabzkamdyulﬁmecﬂecf'mylﬂika&ﬁ@ﬂ“aﬂlnlas

to say 'good-bye to his daddy agmin. %iuylnxﬁkg;ﬂhnm,Iwundlﬂetntnxhk;&ns—
for ever thirking about being a Bmiardier”

Snehfﬂﬁsleuﬂrisalﬁtmbedupanihlhme'ﬁmﬂy'ﬁyka—jui,nmbﬁng
alasthethlgh3txmeahxm,guxstmwuahxﬂma:[anakﬁtnumLknEnm!ﬂﬁsnunﬁng.
vemrndﬂﬁrtylettersmummﬂmng.aﬂamdage—aﬁluﬁasmm&nt&e
perscral. belangings and clothes will also ke retumed.

Our little Navy Night Fighter pilot hes his Fit. Fost office mnber in New York, so
wn't ke loxg. Ir&ﬂhrmstru1akmg,Rkasadowrueagﬁn-nalsun-—mﬁznmmhx
qm]bbamiﬂﬂtinyarpnwms.amikxkshxawewﬂlhmecxrhwshmeintmefm:
Christmas. Wﬂilﬂnrﬁastkﬁﬂ(ﬁ?gmﬁtdéﬁs,Shremiyfﬁg(blﬁns

P.S. T have not heard fran Mes. (hlce W Sarborn 739 Garden Street, Son Marcos, Texas —
wife of the Navigator.
ﬂrn}munatmzlmx13ﬁngh&ndfnmﬂ%s.Cmmkr,Ilqnwﬁmmlanﬁsontmamrwat
Anhnna#225tutthaloﬂnuﬂ.unddciESIttJistlﬁs:rmeascneoftbecmarmmbas,

Imzmzmnakngnmn}mukmmmks.Amkmxn,shreyuzmx ‘aur Walt' while in Kearngy,
Iamenﬂnﬂnga;ﬁdnmecfhmb—ﬁxrym-—gggggggﬁgnamjgcneofhk;WiﬁﬂeShmkﬁ
Ihgyﬁbmﬁyamihafshxﬂ1&5?&3tngimrzmdwekmmwmm:aethnQWUltmncmtahigm.

November 1 Went to morning devotion . Worked again on lessons.

Had phonograph in room. Hean] some records. Had choir practice.

Padre was supposed to have meeting but didn't come. Got stove

Worked with Crawford and Maurer.

put in room. Played cards.

Letter dated Nov. 1, 1944 postmarked same date Pittsburgh,

Pa. : -
Tear Mrs. Anderson, Inxnhedyamczniyammdmrmﬂtﬁshmpytoh&r1mm:ym
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had heard from yor son. I received a card from Robert on Oct. 9th which he Tad written an
Agust 14th. I also heve received the name of the camp and the labels to sent him a bax.
Mrs. Oollins wrote to me and the pilct of the boys' crew wrote also. The pilot Tt. Rowe
had been wounded in the foot an the previous mission and is in the hospital. Ampother
pilot tock them up that day. Robert my s is at Comp Stalag 7A Gemmany #4238. I certainly
was thrilled the day T received his card and recognized his printing. Have you heard any-
thing mare fram Mrs. Maurer as T havn't. So far I know that the co-pilot Tt. Stewart,
Tt. Walt Collins, your son and my son are prisoners of war. Sincerely, Mrs. R. F. MoIntyre
P.S. I also ted a letter fram Cpl. George Crowder of the crew and it was written in England
0 T wrote back and asked him how he came to be in England.

Don Nelson wrote home first of August 9th, McIntyre
wrote on August 14th. This letter indicates he was at a

different camp. He arrived at Dulag Luft in Wetzler on Aug.

- — Ta

. -
irsct carad was written om Aug. 1ith. I do not know

Fh

13¢h. ™y
when Maurer wrote his first card.

2 Had good oatmeal for breékfast. Went to morning devotion.

Had Bible study with Padre Jackson on The Hound 0f Heaven. Very

interesting. Had gquartet practice. Read part of Shakespeare's

Twelth Night. Had cocca. Good.

Card dated Nov. 2, 1944 postmarked same date Lake Nebagamon,
Wis.

Dear Mrs. Anderson, Received your very welame card. ﬁ;u)&newehmernthﬂ
any ward from Avgust. Did get a nice letter from their pilot. He was not on the mission
that day. T also got a letter from my son in England, he Ies talked to other men ¥ were o
that mission and they think the toys are in Switzerland as they rediced beck +o the other crews
that they vere heading keck to England. Will write you a letter in a day or two with all he

said. I am Sincerely, Mrs. Marer
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Letter dated Nov. 2, 1944 postmarked same date Staunton,

Va.
Deaar Mrs. 2nderson: —'ﬂm:ywverymmmrﬂelebberaxﬂcardabmtmrbcys.

AsymseefmntheabmeaiimsIlmeMarxiﬂatTEsk@tnehSy.

I know about what you do, Iguas.I]Emeaiamdfhm1mmﬂ:imaiAq;Zﬁh. I did
gi:nenxkEiMm1ﬂEFhrD;t.ﬂntnodﬂﬂ:ﬁncﬁdnda an evening propaganda
bnndzstimnnrpmﬂtycurgammnmntsﬁdtt.F.H,Smtnn1umssﬁﬁaﬁngfnmuxrnﬁ
&egreehnmmﬂermﬂarﬂface. He must. heve been in the hospital being treated
hxmanq;&mEmqu;Zﬁhwnmlﬁscmﬂimswﬁt&n. Fred's message put heart into me,
He, too, spoke of the Red Cross and all it did far them, I am trying to write to Fred
ewnrnwhxmseanadﬁeaswasgﬁmncnlﬁscmﬂ, Stalag Tuft #3. He may never get them
hm:agtlhanladthesmeempxknmh &rtu&mﬂisinﬁnesmeomp. She showed me
Mtowﬁtearﬂlcbtaﬁﬂdt}eprimrofwarfcmsmﬁantryﬁgtogetﬂlmgh. This
girl said her letters reached her husbard 0.K. Tt is 2 very oomlicsted bisiness. Trene
are a million rules! Ifymlnveazytrmmewﬁtﬁgmmycﬁgetmn'saddresslwiu
be glad to ass an WAt T have learmed,

Yaimkmtwnuetntﬁefhﬂﬂﬁngadk&s. sk for their panrghlets.
MErimanxoelsforPriaIersofI‘hrA%'n.ZﬁgDelm:areAve. Buffalo, N.Y.

They are a great help in meny vays.

Iwﬂl}xeqamtammthywarﬁﬂmalotformcard, It helps to know
about the crew, Qrpmungitau;agﬁkrwegm:apkhxeofmmthqmaEﬂ.

Best Iuck and good wishes. Sincerely, Chice Sanbomn

3 Led morning devotion. Talked about the picture of The

Last Supper. Had a couple of pupils. Chow was late. No

choir practice. Had bacon and eqgs. Went to entertainment

in Red Cross room. Had blum pudding for dinner. Talked.

51



I recalled that I had read that the same person
posed for the figures of Jesus and Judas in da Vinci's
Painting, so I related the story at morning devotion. The
entertainment program may have been the first public perform-
ance of our jazz band. I do not remember for sure. The Plum

pudding probably came from a British R.C. parcel.

Letter dated Nov. 3, 1944 postmarked same date Minne-
apolis, Minn.

Dear Mrs. Bndersan, SﬁneIlnmamjﬁzntmmczniu:ymbté.Amkmzn,wahwe
received Don's address and his labels from Washingta, D.C. We got his address last wesk
ard ve teve already sent him a box and cigarettes. I do hope you tave heard too.  Wesn't
it wonderful to get that card Mrs. Andersm? Jum:bosaafhﬁr}nnhmﬁﬁngisenaghﬁdr
me to know he is all right.

T wrote a letter to Mrs. (hllins tonite as T heard from hor today. She stated
that Lt. Rowe vesn't the pilot at the time they went down as he was in the tospital with
a wounded foot. Did she write and tell you that? Te pilot was It. Kluth. His mother
lives at Mrs. Bwm B. Kluth 833 A So. 8th St. Manitowac, Wisc. Maybe you would like to
write to her. Do let me know when you get your son's addvess as T will be amdious to koo
if they were kept together.

Iwﬂl1d:wnkmwifIh&xwmymmerem;aﬂhqetoharﬁmmyulxam.

Sincerely, Mrs. Eleanor Nelsm
4 Addison let morning devotion. Took bath instead of going

to Bible study. Got accordian and -practiced awhile. Had choir

practice. Sounded good. Maurer started writing music. First

exXample not so good. Nelson got a card from his wife. Maybe

I'll get mail scon.
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A few instruments had come into camp and among them

was an accordian. My sister had played accordian, and while

I was at the Conservatory a fellow student offered to teach me

accordian. I took ten lessons and two piecés that I worked on

were "Skaters Waltz" and "Funiculi--Funicula". I practiced on
these numbers and also some hymns, but the results were not too

good. I believe it was this same instrument that one boy'carried

with him on the march across Germany. I hope he got to keep it
because it was rather heavy.

It was difficult to teach music with no keyboard instrument
with which to play the examples. The accordian did not help
much with this chore. Maurer eventually went through most of
the music course without being able to hear the examples he

wrote. I wonder how many times that has happened in the teach-

ing of music theory.
Don was always the lucky one with mail.

5 Sunday Nice day again. Went to church. Padre Morgan spoke.

1 led choir and congregation. Nice service. Talked with Alex

Palmer. Went to afternoon singspiration. Choir sang again.

Played cards. Washed out some clothes. shouldn't work on

Sunday.

6 Raining. Went to morning devotion. Got library books.

Had choir practice. Sang alot. Had one class. Got Red Cross

rations. Nelson got seven cards from home. Had fried potatoes

and spam. Hot in room.
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7 Rained most of day. Went to morning devotion. Sqt. Doss

sewed my sack for me. Talked with Padre Jackson and Churchill.

Got haircut which I certainly needed. Played cards. Life isn't

bad here.

Padre Jackson had used the poem The Hound of Heaven in a

Bible study and we enjoyed it so much we wanted him to enlarge
on it and he said he would at Sunday service. He asked me to

find some appropriate hymns which depicted Christ as someone who

follows after a person such as is implied in the poem. I remem-

ber, especially, his telling me not to use the hymn "Lead On 0

King Eternal". I looked through the available hymns but could

find nothing appropriate, so I just picked generally accepted

hymns for the service,.

8 Went to devotional service. Brian Cleworth gave good talk.

— —=

Played solitaire. Read some. Had choir practice. Had one

lesson. Ate dinner. Fried some potatoes again. Baked a cake

during day. Helped Crawford. Maurer finished ﬁiece.

If the stove in the room was not being used we could cook

on it. Fried potatoes in a little butter made an excellent meal.

You may notice that no potatoes have been peeled lately.

g Had roll call early. Padre Jackson came for Bible study.

Very interesting discussion. Had quartet practice. Read some

of book about Alfred Tennyson by Walter Ware. Played cards.

This was probably the time the German interpreter:did not

show up. Padre Jackson decided to continue and quoted passages

from the 01d Testament which he felt depicted the Germans and

the Russians.. I believe it was from the book of Daniel. As I
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read Daniel now he must have referred to the beasts in
Chapter 7, but I have forgottén the signifigence of the

pPassage. He made it rather exciting.

io0 Went to morning devotion. Waited in line al1 morning

with Nelson for library book. Had choir practice and quartet

Had one class in music. Played- cards again after

practice.

lockup. Had big discussion.

11 Armistice Day but nothing happened. Rained all day.

Had both roll callsg inside. Read some. Worked with Crawford

and Maurer. Read Some more. More rations came in. Had fried

potatoces again.

12 Sunday Went to church. Choir Sandg a group of numbers

but didn't do s good. . My fault I quess. Padre Jackson

gn. Taiked with Palmer. Read more

of book "The Mysterious Universe" by Sir James Jeans.,

13 Snowed last night but most of it gone by morning. Cold,

Went to morning devotion. Went to library. Got new book.

Wrote letter home. Had choir practice. Good group there.

Had another class. Talked with Maurer. More rumors.

Letter dated November 13, 1944:;
Time has certainly been passing rapidly lately. I guess
that is because I have been so busy. My music Cclasses are
still going although I give the Pupils a day between classes
now. Maurer is about as far advanced as anybody. We have two (
accordians here and I have been doing some Practicing. I may

start playing for church. The choir is :8ti11 going. Yesterday
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we sang 4 numbers before church began and then one during the
service. Also sang at the afternoon service. That keeps me

busy too. I'm high tenor (?!) in a quartet which sang yester-

day. I'm writing an arrangement of "The Bells of St. Mary®

for the Catholic choir. May use it too. I will have to start

on Christmas music before long. Nelson got seven cards from
home last week so I should get some mail soon. One of the cards
mentioned that you had written to his mother. The last one was
dated Sept. 26th. I try and read a couple of books a week. Read
some Shakespeare and an astromomy book. Have one now on "Organi-
zation and Administration of Secondary Schools". It is rather
deep. A new and better group of hymnals came in which we are
using now. Could certainly use some music manuscript paper. Had

irst snow last night. All gone today. Beginning to get

Iy

our

cold but we are ok. Time to eat now. Hope everything is aii

right at home. I‘mlgetting along famously. Till later
Received Feb. 13th

14 Been down 100 davs. Quite cold today. Led morning devotions.

Talked about north star. Read. Talked with Palmer about new

scale. Interesting. Talked with church council. Read poen

"The Hound of Heaven". Listened to records.

This time I do not remember what I said but the north star

is a provocative topic.

15 Another cold day. Went to morning devotion. Read. Had

choir practice. Quite 2 number there. Went to communion service.

Padre Jackson in charge. A nice service. Bought prunes. Lights

went out.
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16 Not guite so cold. Went to morning devotion. Fixed

salmon patties. Went to Bible Study by Padre Jackson on

Talked with

the tabernacles. Gave Snell a music lesson.

Palmer again. He's an interesting fellow. Cooked some

Brunes. Talked after lights out.

17 Went to morning devotion. Wrote card home. Started

writing music. Went Lo choir practice. Not as good as it

should have been. Had one lesson. Read. Talked with

fellows. All about girlfriends.

Most of our conversations centered around food. I

noticed that when we got enough to eat the topic of conver-

sation usually turned to women.

Card dated November 17, 1944:
Another card to 1et you know I'm getting along OK.

Went to communion service a couple of days ago. Just like

the ones we have at home. The choir sang quite a bit. Just

got a soloist which will help alot. Going to start on Christ-

mas music soon. Have been working on a new system of music

with another fellow. I wish I had taken some physics some

time or other,.
Received Mar. 10th

18 Getting cold again. Went to morning devotion. Read.

Renewed book at librarv. Had another lesson. Began to snow.

Got more Red Cross food. Made 2 batch of goo to eat for

breakfast. May get colder. Took bath.
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19 Sunday Not so cold again. Rained most of day. Went to

church. Padre Morgan spoke. Choir sang "Come Ye Thankful

People come". Meals were'good today. Talked with church

council. Good fellows. Read. Helped Maurer with music.

20 Nice day. Went to morning devotion. Read. Ate lunch.

Went to choir practice. Had 16 there. Getting better. Had

church council meeting. Lasted over an hour. Missed lessons.

Washed clothes., Copied music for trumpet. Lock up at 4:00.

One of the records we had was Harry James' version of
"The Carnival of Venice" which Wés 2 theme and variations
on the well-known tune. Our trumpet player, whose name is
now forgotten, wanted to see this on paper so I tried to

transcribe it for him.

21 Windy. Went to morning devotion. Had church council

meeting. Peeled spuds. Ate early. Worked with Snell.

Had guartet practice. Went and talked with Padre. Rained.

Had jam session in barracks. Finished book "The Story of

Music" by ? .

22 Another fair day. Had morning devotion in Red Cross

room. Wrote new arrangement for choir. Had good choir

Padre Morgan

practice. 17 there. Organ came into lager.

came in for awhile. Had trumpet or rather cornet lesson.

Good for me. Talked.

As I recall morning devotion was usually held in
Barracks 9. It was unusual to meet in the Red Cross Yoom.
One piano and three pump organs came into camp. I

would have loved to have had the piano, but I believe it
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went to B compound. Nevertheless, the small organ was a big
help in future arrangements and for accompanying the congre-
gation at church services. Tt was a big help to me. There
were a number of fellows who could play.

My trumpet player friend gave me a lesson in response
to my writing out some music for him. I had taken trumpet
for -a semester at the Conservatory. It was another fun

activity.

23 Played organ for morning devotion. Went to Bible Study

with Padre Morgan. Read. Talked with fellows. Nelson got

2 more cards. Mother notified Sept. 7th. Crawford's birth-

day. Made more goo.

24 Crawford led morning devotion. Rained. Practiced organ.

O
Q2
o
3
fead

Had choir practice. Gave lesson +

fellows. This has been a good experience,

25 Still raining. Went to morning devotion and Bible Study

with Padre Morgan. After 1uﬁch I practiced in Red Cross roonm

on organ. German soldiers heard me. Began to get full ration

for this week. Had jam session in barracks. Barracks was

searched but nothing was taken.

The Red Cross room was our main meeting place. The
library was located in one corner of this room. The Oorgan was
portable but was usually left there. This day I was praﬁticing
with a lot of fellows in the library and a couple of Germans
also in the room. I wrote about this incident in an articie

for the Reader's Digest, Humor in Uniform, sometime in the

early fifties. It was not picked for publication but here it ig.
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In Stalag Luft IV American prisoners-of-war were rejoicing
over a new pump organ which had just been brought into the
compound at Christmas time. As one of the American sergeants

was playing Silent Night, a German guard remarked, "Ach! Stille

Nacht", and motioned that he would like to try and play it.
The sergeant got up and the CGerman played the carol quite well.

Turning the pages of the hymnal the sergeant asked the guard to

play other tunes: Hark! the Herald Angels -Sing, Away in the

Manger, and Glorious Things of Thee Are Spoken, all of which

the German ihmediately recognized and played. The talking
of the other American prisoners in the same room abruptly

stopped when they turned in amazement to see the German playing

the one forbidden piece, The Star-Spangied Banner.

26 Sunday Nice day. Fairly warm. Went to church service in

wash room. Padre Jackson spoke. I played the crgan. Helped

Baier on clarinet. Had long service. Had roll call. Read

"Buried Alive", a novel. Talked with Nelson.

Many times Nelson and I would sing together. He would
sing the melody and I would harmonize. He liked country music
which includes more intervals of 4ths and 5ths, so he liked it
better when I included them. T, personally, preferred using

3rds and 6ths, but I enjoyed trying to please his ear.

27 Got a2 G I blanket. Led morning devotion. Musicians had

an. Had good choir practice. Had

meeting. Helped move the org

church council meeting. Read. Started another book. I have

lots to read but not enough time to do it all. Wrote letter

home. Guess I won't make it home for Christmas. -~
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Letter dated November 27, 1944;
Another letter to finish out the quota for this month.

Havn't received any mail yet but should do so soon. Nelson

got five more cards last week. You had written them again

saying you were notified Sept. 7th. That's pretty good time,

just a month and a day. Had a good church service yesterday.

A small organ similar to the ones in the states came in and T
played it for the service. The choir is much larger and we
will start on Christmas music next week. I think we will
have a Thanksgiving service. The food has been better this
week. We are getting a full Red Cross parcel this week. The
days are geﬁting shorter so we spend more time inside the
barracks. More musical instruments are coming in all the
time. I intend to use them for Christmas. T started taking
trumpet lessons again. Played the clarinet awhile Yesterday.
The weather hasn't got too cold yet. Seems unusual for this
time of year and this far north. I'm supposed to get a glee
club up now in a couple of weeks for a Christmas program. I
don't know when I am going to find time to do everything I'm
supposed to do. At first this was like a rest camp but I
don't have much time to rest now. It looks like I won't'be
home in person for Christmas but maybe we can celebrate when

I do get home. Merry Christmas to both of you and also a
Happy New Year. 1I'11 be +home before too long a time. Don't
worry about me because I'm ok and getting along fine. Crey
members ok.

Received Feb. 26, 1946 ('1) -
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28 Beginning to get colder again. Went to morning devotion.

Read some more. Carried the organ again. Had a harmony

lesson. Had quartet practice. Read. Made more goo for

breakfast. Talked some more. Do alot of that.

29 Colder. Went to morning devotion. Read. Had council

meeting. Got more rations. Went to choir practice. Had

organ ? . Early roll call. Made some manuscript paper.

30 Thanksgiving. Had bath. Had barley at 10:00. Read.

Finished part of book yesterday Organization and Administration

Cleared wash room for

of Secondary Schools by Harl Douglas.

church service but didn't have it. Watched football game

awvhile. Had stew after practicing organ. Potatoes at 7:00

P.M. It's been a good day. Thanks. Put belt in pants.

We expected tc have a church service Lo celebrate
Thanksgiving. Padre Jackson later apologized for not coming
as he did not know Thanksgiving was such an important holiday

for us. He discovered our meaning of Thanksgiving in the other

compounds and was sorry he did not make it for us. We had alot

for which to be thankful.

Sometimes meetings were held in thé washroom building
which was next to the latrine building. I eXpect everyone
had to stand for those meetings.

Letter dated November 30, 1944 postmarked same date
Miami, Fla. ‘

Dear Mrs. Andersan, I am just getting letters off to the crew members' mothers
and enclosing a letter form that is addressed to cur Walt. Won't you please write him a

little note and sign it "Jdm Anderson's mother”. I know it will meke Walt most heppy to
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Imr.frunymarﬁitwillbeamnfortbonealsn.
Anaﬂcsingacard,plsasegiveden'saddremsowenaydnphﬁnamte. You

didsayhemsinStalag#4thfaﬂedtogive1xshisrrismerofmrmnberarﬁwiﬂuzt
ﬂlat,Ican't@tﬂ'enEiltlmxgh, Fé}mreradacardfrmmtaﬂitmsdatedmgmt

Iansotlﬁrﬂ{fulthatnehaardandasyu:saidabthdn'scard-jvsttosaehisvhtmg

or printing gives us such oanfort.

his whereabouts, Babistl'ebmﬂnrﬂnisﬂnnavalaircnrpnight—fighter. Ch gosh,
b:twemso?amyarﬂtmrﬂ{ﬁﬂforjmtﬂnsefewlims.
}ﬁsaddresfmlmedfrmﬁhshh'gbamiﬂﬁnafewchysmﬂﬂmﬂemmmls
ard tobacoo 1abels arrived. Isa'rbﬂemrcellaheltoﬂntﬂlffaloMYOﬂcmmm,
fee]irgt}atma_psﬂgmdmamﬁmg_ettmnvs&m@aﬁtueqﬁdmn Please
anseﬂenﬁsla]maﬁmg'keys'htnyfﬁgersamsomldthismnﬁrg,mwgtypﬁg
aJittlediffiaﬂt,AI\DTTISU\TH]ALEtRTPTOECHHE'H—HSGIE
ITBveafafoﬂErmbestogetoff,soforgiveﬂeslnrtxmsofthisletter. Please
saﬂden'sadiressarﬁsmefurtlHrmsifymlmeany,mﬂdlwetolmrfmnym.
and write to Walt. Arﬂ@'tforgetcurBdaarﬁﬁbltinmmayers. Sincerely, Marian (olling
P.S. Mrs. Andersan, Ididtl‘ﬂrﬂcyUJfartllepicmceofGJrRhltarﬁJdn—»itnEHIItsomm

toustobeablebok:aq)it, Thenk you again.

63



&

Picture of Lt. Walter Collins and Sgt. John Anderson taken
at Kearney, Nebraska.

The second photo is of my mother and sister Vivian and me,
taken at the same place in Kearney, Nebraska probably by

Lt. Collins.

December 1 Went to morning devotion. Practiced organ. Wrote

music for organ, cello, and violin. Had late chow and choir

practice. Sounded good. Got manuscript paper. Started music

class in barracks. Make cake with Nelson. Tasted good.

Finished The Robe by Lloyd C. Douglas. Good story.

2 Another nice day for December. Nelson got 2 more cards.

Went to morning devotion and then to Bible Studv. Rehearsed

with the violins and the organ. Had glee ciub practice. Did

fair. Another jam session in barracks. Had one class in

afternoon.

64



The Catholic boys had a choir also and I heard them
practicing some Gregorian chant. I could hear some good
voices so I decided to have a glee club that could use the
good voices in both groups--Protestant and Catholic. Choir
practice was M W F and glee club was T T S, all at 1:00 P.M.

The jam sessions began to sound better and better. It
wasn't long before we decided to have a program and feature

the jazz band.

3 Sunday Choir sang "Bells of St. Mary". Did fine. Got

alot of compliments. Had barley to eat. Padre Morgan gave

good talk. Went around getting college songs. Started

copying music. I certainly keep busy,

The rendition of the "Bells of St. Mary" went well. I
had written out the parts in the key of F but found that that
key was too high. I wrote the two violin parts and the cello
part in the key of D and that worked out well. I still have
all the music we used for this performance. The string parts
are written on manuscript paper:; the organ part is written on

the back of a Chesterfield wrapper first and then transposed

to a large piece of paper. All my work sheets and the
verse melody for the soloist are written on rough greenish
gray cigarette wrappers which even then were hard to read.
The choir parts are written on manuscript paper using all the
space available--4 lst temor, 2 2nd tenor, 2 1lst bass, and 3
2nd bass. Evidently some students made the copies. The

cellist was Charles E. Becker from Sheridan, Wyoming.
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The 1lst v1011nlst rewrote his part and put in some bowings.
The other two parts for 2nd V1011n and cello are in my writing. .
.
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For the glee club's first performance I decided to make
an arrangement of college football songs. I went around to
the different rooms in the barracks and found people who knew
the words and music to the football songs of the universities

in the mid-west. It included Minnesota, hats off to thee,

Indiana, my Indiana, the Notre Dame song, On Wisconsin and
maybe some others which I do not remember now. In the Indiana
song I was not sure which was correct: "We're all for you" or
"Hﬁrrah for you". I arranged for a trumpet to accompany the
glee club and supply the musical modulations between the pieces.

4 Went to morning devotion. Copied choir music. Had choir

practice. Had nice crowd there. Helped ? council meetihg

after practice. Had a music lesson. Started copying music for
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room 12. I f

Evidently, I didn't have much manuscript paper. I thought
it was nice of Nelson to veolunteer to draw staff lines on paper.
The reference to room 12 confuses me. As you walk into

the barracks the odd numbered rooms are on the left and the

even on the right. Room 3, our room, was second in line. 1

am sure that there were only ten rooms occupied in each barracks.
At the back of the barracks a wash room was on the left and the
latrine was on the right. If the wash room was numbered it
should have been room 11. Maybe there was an ocuter room just

outside the latrine. I do not remember.
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5 Getting colder. Went to morning devotion. Copied music

all morning. Had glee club practice. Beginning to sound good.

Had music lesson before and after roll call. Had another

trumpet lesson. Didn't do much. Talked with Ray.

6 Snowed for a couple of minutes. Went to morningdevotion.

Talked with Addison about Christmas play. Washed hair and took

bath. Had 2 good choir practice. Had music class in barracks.

Copied more music. Had trumpet lesson.

7 Had long roll call. 1Inspection of bowls and cups. Went

to morning devotion. Didn‘'t get any lunch. Suppossed not to

get any dinner. Had good glee club practice. Got hoarse talk-

ing with Maurer and Nelson. Had fish for dinner. More rations.

One of the duties we had every day was to peel a bucket of
potatoes in the morning for the dinner meal. Each room solved
the problem in different ways. In some rooms everyone would
peel two or three potatoes and be finished in about five to ten
minutes, or two or more people could be assigned the task in a
rotating manner. The job wasn't too bad at first, but when the
weather got bad it was a cold, disagreeable job. It was possi-
ble to do the peeling in the wash house, but it was unheated
there and nobody liked doing it in the cold. Some fellows in
our room had other duties such as sweeping up, or caring for the
stove, or collecting the coal briquettes, bringing the food to
the room, etc. Peeling the potatoes was one of my chores
which I did almost daily for quite awhile. Then we found that
if you went to pick up the potatoes late enough the supply had
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run out. It became the norm for our room to just skip the
task altogether. Our trangression of the rule was found out
and was brought to the attention of our governing council.
They decided to omit us from one day's food rationing and
eliminate our coal ration for some period of time (I forget
exactly). We had it coming. Our sins had been found out,
and we took our punishment. We stayed out of our cold room
until bedtime.

8 Rained some inside by my head. Led morning devotion.

Had one lesson. Helped both Andys with play. Had choir

practice. Didn't do so good. Couldn't sing so good. My

voice getting hoarse because I've been singing too much.

Had music class in barracks. Crawford started Bible class

inside.

Locked in at sundown there was little to do except play-
cards and talk. I had begun to teach a music class in my
barracks, and Crawford decided to start a Bible Study class.
I think I was the one who decided to start with the book of
Proverbs and take a chapter every night. 1 was proud that
Crawford had decided to be in charge.

9 Raining again. Went to morning devotion after getting up

early and copying music. Had short choir practice with instru-

ments. Went to Bible Study with Padre Morgan.. Talked about

Romans.  Had glee club practice. Had Bible Study in barracks.

Didn't get much done in writing music.
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10 Sunday Went to church. Padre Jackson gave 2 good sermon.

Choir sang “"Send Qut Thy Light® by Gounod. Got 2 pair ofsocks.

Went to afternoon song service. Brought organ into barracks to

write out arrangement but only played songs and hymns. Went to

Bible study in barracks. Wrote card home.

This card never arrived at home.

I have the choir parts for this anthem which I just copied
out of one of the song books I had. 1In o;der to maximize the
use of the precious Manuscript paper the string parts were
written on the back of the "Bells of St. Mary" parts. Each
vocal part has just two lines of music and covers both sides of
the paper. There are copies for 4 1st tenors, 5 2nd tenors,

5 1st basses, and 4 2nd basses. All the vocal parts are in
the key of F. the key in the songbook. However, the string
parts are in D, the actual key of the performance. I saved
all these parts because I thought I might be able to use them
again when we arrived at a new camp.

11 Cold again. Went to morning devotion. Worked on music

awhile. Had choir practice. Sang Christmas carols. Had

church council meeting. Went to Bible study in barracks.

Hoover led the discussion. Nelson's wvedding anniversary.

Made a schedule to follow for next 2 weeks.

One of the fellows in our room was Harold Hoover from
Columbus, Ohio, and he was gung ho about the Bible study.
After about a week he expressed dissatisfaction about the
project. He said he thought we would be able to come up

with good explanations for the problems he encountered
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in the Bible. Our discussions were not solving his problems.
I tried to explain to him that even one insight was worth the

trouble. Nothing comes easily, and wisdom is acquired after

trying many times.

12 Snowing when we got up. Went to morning devotion.

Worked on play with both Andys. Had glee club practice.

More work on play. Got note from McIntyre who is in hospital

here. Crowder is ip lager A. Rowe went back to the states.

What a crew. All but pilot in Germany. Went to Bible study

in barracks. Wrote out music.

I have in my possession a very beat-up piece of prisoner
stationery. The printing on it is fading and some of the folds
have obliterated the words. This is the note from McIntyre
addressed to Crawford. I'll try tg transcribe it.

At the top: I'm in ward 13 -..SuUrprise of your life, George
Crowder is over in A lager (bks 7 rm 3) with me. He was shot down in Oct.
on his 26 mission. Here is a bit of damn good news. Stewart is a P.O.W.
and not dead as we believed. Anderson, Stewart's mother heard from them
sometime in Sept. Bill Broad was shot down not long age. He should be
in this [camp] some place. Tell aAddison I said hello and not to WOrry
about that money I owe him. He won't need it for awhile. I sure was
glad to hear he was 0.K. I have been all over this damn Germany since
I left camp for __? . I got to this camp on the 12th of Nov. so you see
I've been around a good bit. Has any of our crew heard from home yet?

I havn't because I've been moving so much since I've been a P.O.W. I'm

in the hospital now with the same thing I had back in Ardmore. George
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and the rest of the boys send their best wishes. Try to answer this right
away by means of the medic or one of the boys going to the hospital. Your
pal Mac

It is no wonder that we had lost track of Mac. Crowder
had become an extra gunner in the squadron after we did not
come back and finished his tour of duty at 25. He had always
wanted to be a first engineer so he volunteered for another
tour and got shot down on the first mission and ended up in
our camp in A lager. That is a real coincidence.

He deserves a lot of credit for his contribution to the

war effort.

13 Went to morning devotion. Service about Padre Jackson

who has left. Ground covered with ice._ Helped Reisman with

solo. Churchill came over and helped copy music. Had 22

there for choir practice. Early roll call. Started on more

music. Had harmony class in room 12. Had interesting Bible

study in barracks. Talked.

The rumor was that the Germans moved Padre Jackson be-
cause he was too outspoken. He was a great person; we were
sorry to lose him.

Near the back of my notebook I have written some notes
which came from a Bible Study with Padre Jackson. It is

entitled 7 Dual Calls

Abraham "Faith" Gen. 22:11
Jacob "Sacrifice" Gen. 46:2
Moses "Holinesgs" Ex. 3:4
Samuel "Service" I Sam. 3:10
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Martha "Knowledge" Luke 10:41
Simon "Suffering” Luke 22:31
Saul - "Glory" Acts 9:4

I am glad I have this remembrance of him.

14 Cold day. Had to talk with Tom Edwards so didn't get

to morning devotion until later and left early. Peeled

potatoes. Had early glee club rehearsal. They sang at

program at 1:00. Sounded pretty fair. Fairly good program.

Brought organ into barracks. Played and Steve sang. Had

Bible study.

Early in December the Germans built a stage in the Red
Cross room with extra lights. This may have been because
the Germans had renewed vigor, the Battle of the Bulge began
two days later, or maybe they just decided to be heipful.
Tom Edwards was from New York and was a promoter of sorts.
He had arranged for the program to be performed, and we had
a full house. The glee club sang the collection of football
songs and the audience responded vigorously. The medley ended
with On Wisconsin with the words "fight, fight, fight, we'll
win this game". I was taking a bow in front of the group on
stage when the interpreter said to me, "It is forbidden to sing
fight song.” I told him it was a football song, very common
in the U.S. He said, "Who gave you permission to sing fight
song?" I pointed out Tom Edwards and then led my group off
stage. As I recall the jazz band also played and there must

have been some other acts.
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It was nice to be able to bring the organ into the barracks.
Barracks 1 had the medics' room just to the right of the front
door, room 2. GSteve énd Ken were the medics, the only British
prisoners in C compound, and they 1i§ed in that room. Sick call
was held in their room daily after morning roll call. Steve had
been shot down in September 1939 so had been a prisoner for over
five years. He had been all over Germany and had finally ended
up here. He had learned about pharmacy and thus became a medic.
He had a nice voice and he sang a number of songs from a hymn
book which I still have called Best-loved Hymns containing 177
pieces. I alsoc have The Blue Book for Male Voices Twice 55, but
it was less useful. William Stevens was from Leeds, England.
The other medic was Ken Warren who was from Plymouth, England.

15 By far the ccldest day yet. Heard that it was 23 belovw.
=Y AT Was z2 2elow.

Heavy wind. Went to morning devotion. Copied music with

Churchill again. Had choir practice in Red Cross room. Made

cake with Maurer and Nelson. Almost got into argument with

Nelson. Hoover stopped us. Went to Bible study. I led the

service on the 7th chapter of Proverbs.

16 22 years old. Where will I be next year at this time?

This has been a year of many different experiences. Not guite

so cold but I almost froze my feet. Day same as usual. Ate

cake. Had glee club practice. Wrote letter home. New fellows

came in. Stomach didn't feel too good. Will I get married

this year as supposed?

It was nice of the fellows to make a cake for my birthday.

This was another letter that did not make it home.
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My mother was 27 and my father 31 when they got married.

I had thought for years that I would get married when I was 22.

I missed it by four years.

17 Sunday Peeled spuds. Went to church. Padre Morgan came

unexpectedly. I called in the rooms of half the compound in

order to get more there. Went to song service in aftgennon.

Saw Crowder across the street. Feel fine. Brought organ into

the barracks. Finished piano part. Went to Bible study. Got

into big discussion.

Lager (or compound) A was cater-cornered across from our
lager C. We waved at Crowder and yelled at him although the
guards in the tower eventually motioned for us to move on. We
had made arrangements to see him through the medics.

18 = Went to morning devotion. Worked on music awhile. Had

sauerkraut for lunch. Went to choir practice. Sang pretty good.

Had church council meeting. Practiced with solo. Wrote out

more music. Went to Bible study. Lights went out early.

Talked awhile.

19 Busy all day. The other three here went to hospital and

saw Mac and Crowder. I wrote out music. Had glee club practice.

Practiced with soloist. Had roll call. Captain got mad. Got

more Red Cross. Nelson got 4 cards and a letter. Went to Bible

study. Quite a discussion. Had air raid.

20 Went to morning devotion. Had guartet rehearsal and then

practiced solo. Had choir practice with orchestra. Sounded

fair. Worked with them for awhile. Had seconds for lunch.

Didn't do much after lock up. I feel tired. Went tg Bible

study. Good session. Wish I were home but this is good for me.




21 Went to morning devotion. Helped the three other crew

members make a big Christmas cake. It ought to be good. Had

glee club practice. I'm beginning to sing alot. Had quartet

practice. Bible study in barracks. Nelson got letter and

more cards. I should get some scon. Lights out.:

Letter dated December 21, 1944 postmarked Dec. 22

Plaistow, W.H.

Dear Mrs. Anderson, There is no doubt You've been wondering why you
havn't ﬂ;ard from me, because I'm sure some of the.other families have told
you I wrote to them. I wrote to all of you at the same time while I was in
the hospital in England. George Crowder, who was also on our crew and didn't
fly the day the boys went down, brought all your addresses to me in the hos-
pital. Three of them proved to be wrong and after about 3 months my own
letter came back to me. I hope your address is correct this time.

I was wounded in the left foot by flak on the mission previous to the
one on which the boys went down, and I spent 2% months in the hospital in
England before being sent back to this country. I returned here the first
of November and was given a 26 day leave. Then my wife and I went to
Atlantic City, N.J. where I reported for reassignment. After staying there
several days the doctors decided to give me another 21 day convalescence
leave to allow my foot to rest longer. So now I'm home again, fortunately
for Christmas. Soon I will return to Atlantic City and be assigned,proba-
bly in this country for awhile, but one never knows for how long.

It was very kind of you to write to Ardmore for the addresses of the
boys and then get in touch with the families. They all appreciated it and
it made things so much easier for all of you to be able to correspond and

learn of the safety of them all. T think it's swell that they_are all

76



alive and not seriously injured. Of course being a prisoner of war isn't
pleasant but being alive comes first. I guess they are fairly well treated,
but the monotony is the most unpleasant part of it. We all hope the war
there can end soon so they can all be released. Right now the German counter
offensive isn't very encouraging, but I'm sure nothing dangerous will come

of it.

It is strange my wife never heard from any of you, but probably her
address was given aé Ardmore when it was sent to you. I know you knew she
was leaving there so you and no one knew what her address would be.

Am enclosing a couple of snap shots taken in Ardmore last April. I
am sure you and Johnnie will want them. I may have more soon. If so I will
try to sent them also, if they are good.

I hope you'll forgive me since this is the first letter from me, but
I'm hoping you'll receive this one. I sent the other one to 13th St. but
apparently there is no 2920 E. 13th.

Please write when you can, especially if you hear any more about John
or the other boys, You may use this home address for the time being.

The best to you all for Christmas and the New Year. Sincerely,

"Bob" Rowe

22 Went to morning devotion again. Had quartet practice and

then choir practice with orchestra. Sounded pretty good. Glee

club stayed in Red Cross room after lock up. Did alot of sing-

ing. Almost got sore throat. Had Christmas story at Bible

study. Two new fellows came in.

Staying in the Red Cross room after lock up was not too

bad. We were let out when dinner was served and then returned
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to our barracks. It gave us more time to practice.

With two new men our room now had twenty-two fellows.

on a Christﬁas card postmarked Dec. 22 from Staunton, Va.

Dear Mrs. Andersen, T hope you have heard again fram your sn.  We heve ted only the
ae card fran Fred so far. We pray for all the boys as we do for Fred. We know that Fred
is at Stalag Iuft 3 Germany. Eérasmprismnnbersofar. We have sent a box as we qot
a label. It is hard waiting to hear. I wish ¥ms would bring us all a little line fram
them., Thark you for writing me. I am teaching and dn't keep up with letters as I should.
I think all the boys are acoamnted for now & safe. Best wishes Mes. F. H. Sarbom

Card undated with no post mark from Miami:

We were =0 happy to see his handwritirg again, and I do kelieve that it is the nicest
Birthday present I have ever received. I'm claiming it at any rate. O0FY received Dec. 9th—
dated Agust 26, 1944 "Dear Dad: This swre is ae devil of a way to end up tut it just
ouldn't be helped so that's that. The treabment is Fair—mo kicks, and altogether life is
quite bearable-We have sports, inchading soft-tall and swinming. The food ombined with -
Red Cross parcel every week is good enogh to get by on.  Have Mom drop a line to the "S-2»
Officer at my old address saying I am a P.W. and they will appreciate it. Iots of love,
Walter" Sincerely hope that you have hed rore news by this time. Tovingly and in haste,
Peg Collins

Part of a Christmas card, no date:

Mr. & Mrs. Anderson:  First off, T went to tell you how very tappy it mede me to hear
that Jdm is safe & still with Don. Yoo see, 1 had the pleasure to meet your son vhile I was
visiting Don at Ardmre. Both Jdn & Emest Crawford hed sent e little notes in Dn's
letters & both of them tave talked on a record ttat Don sent me.  The three of them were
awfully good friends & so0 it made me very heppy indeed to hear that they were still all three
together. Mrs. Nelson shares all of your letters with me—so plesse dn't feel that yon teve

to write me too. Best wishes, Mrs. D. Nelson -
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Note from a Christmas card undated:

Dear Mrs. Andersm, Have you ted any more ward from your sm? T surely hope s0. I
havn’t heard from Emest any rore. T am very glad to hear fran you any time and would
appreciate any information you have fram any of the boys. Will close for now. Hope to
hear from you son.  Love, Mes. Crawford

23 Read the Christmas story at morning devotion. Went over

and had choir practice with play. After lunch rehearsed with

string group. Had 2 roll calls in afternoon.. Have been busy.

Rehearsed with Steve. Conducted carol service in barracks. Read

Christmas story and gave a prayer. Wish I had more of the

Christmas spirit.

Life was becoming one rehearsal after another. That even-
ing I put the organ in the hall of the barracks and we all sang
Christmas carols. Steve sang a solo. Then I read the Christmas
story from the Gospel of Luke and offered a prayer, mainly for
the folks at home. A fellow came to me afterwards and said that
it was the most beautiful, appropriate prayer he had ever heard
and asked how I had done so well extemporaneously. I told him
it just came out that way, although I had given it some thought
earlier and Kknew pretty much what I wanted to say.

24 Sunday Got Christmas parcel but didn't open it. Went to

church. Padre Morgan led in communion service. Had barley for

lunch. Had glee club practice. Glee club put on program in

Red Cross room. Sounded pretty good. It's taken alot of work

but it is still fun. Had spuds for supper. Had choir practice

ct

with play. Started playing organ and played for about an hour
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while the fellows sang. Choir sang as background for play.

Good play. Walked around compound after dark. Talked with

YMCA representative about needs of choir. Glee club sang carols

at midnight with brass choir. Nice day.

Had three performances on Christmas eve and they were all
effective. My memory fails me concerning the glee club program
and the play. I do not remember what we sang. However, the last
service at midnight is much clearer.

The Germans did not lock us up as usual. I do believe sing-
ing carols at midnight in the middle of the compound with a brass
choir was a moving experience. I recall the YMCA man said he was
deeply moved by it. He told wme when I saw him earlier that we
had less equipment and supplies than any other camp he had visit-
ed. I told him I needed music manuscript paper, music harmony
textbooks, and otherlsupplies. He said he would see that we
would get them.

Let me digress for a moment. 1In 1993 I was informed by the
Stalag Luft IV group that arrangements were being made for a
visit to the camp site April 28-May 5, 1993. Earlier they had
told about a monument which had been placed at the site on Sept.
4, 1992. The idea of a returmn trip did not interest me much,
and on March 9th of '93 I had a serious car accident from which
it took quite awhile to recover. Thus I could not have gone
anyway.

When the notice of another visit in 1994 came it still did
not excite me very much. Another group sent information about a

visit to the camp site and then to some of the cities on the
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march. I thought that would be rather interesting but did not
reply. I understand that latter trip was cancelled.

Then a notice arrived that "Mr. & Mrs. Chris Christensen
from Denmark will join the tour in Berlin. #™r. Christiansen
was at STALAG LUFT IV during Christmas 1944. He was employed
by the War Prisoners' Aid of the World's YMCA."

This was the man I had talked to on the 24th and who had
attended our service in the middle of the compound at midnight.
That helped make up my mind. I decided to go and talk with him
once again.

In a reprint of an article he wrote for the EX-POW BULLETIWN,
January 1994, which.I received just before I left Mr. Christiansen
writes that "(These) pages in my Wartime Log will testify that I
...had the privilege of spending Christmas 1944 together with
American and British Air Force men at Stalag Luft IV, Gross
Tuchow, an unforgetable experience." A reproduction of a rather
elaborate patch is shown with symbols of the RAF and the Air Corp
patch chained to wings. The message reads "All the best wishes
and thanks from the British and American P.0.W.'s Room 2 Barracks
10 Stalag Luft 4 Christmas 1944" A number of signatures afe
around the edges. Below is another reprint which reads "Stalag
Luft 4 25/12/44 x-mas dinner by the American and British Camp
Leaders." Three names that I know are listed in the 14 signatures:
S/Sgt. Francis A. Troy {(from Ohio), who was leader of C lager,
T/Sgt. F. (for Francis or Frank) S. Paules U.S.AAF (known as
Man of Confidence from Lensdale, Pa.), and Leslie Caplan, Capt. M.C.

U.S.AAF (more about him later). This does prove that.-he was in camp
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at Christmas time.

So, on April 25th of this year my son Jack and I joined the
group in New York and flew to Berlin. At the get-acquainted dinner
at the Berlin Penta Hotel on April 26, 1994 I was conversing with
the lady next to me when I discovered she was from Kansas City and
used to live about four blocks from my high school. It was Norma
Sites, wife of Jack Sites who was on my left. Jack had been in
C lager in Barracks 8. "It's a small world after all."

Following dinner I moved to another table to converse with
Mr. Christiansen. I started by saying he did look familiar to me,
but I would not have recognized him. I said, "You probably don't
remember me," and he agreed. 11 proceeded to tell him how I had
met with him on the 24th and what he had said about our camp having
few supplies. I told him some of the things I had reguested that
day and that he had said they would be sent. Then 1 said, 1"They
havn't come. I'm still waiting.” He replied by saying we had
left camp too soon.

My aésociation with him and his wife Inger was one of the
high points of the trip. He gave us a lot of insights about the
region in Poland and especially Berlin where he lived during the
war. His house/office was bombed out, but at the end of the war
he was arrested by the Russians and spent a year in prison in
Russia. Thus he was incarcerated longer than I was.

I now believe that the experience of being a prisoner may add
to the nobility of your soul. Certainly the veterané on this trip
were all fine fellows, and the Christiansens fitted in well with

us. In 1944 he gave us hope when he visited us. I remember my
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elation after my meeting with him.
The YMCA deserves a lot of credit for its work with prisoners.
The instruments and books that we had came from them. The hymn-
' books and the few other copies of music I had came from the Y.
I was a member of the YMCA when I was in high school and cellege.

It is a fine organization which was a big help to me personally.

25 Opened Christmas parcel. Got alot of good things to eat.

The Red Cross deserves alot of credit. Went to church. Choir

sang The Holy City. Brian Cleworth gave the sermon. Enjovable.

Had barley again for dinner. Didn't eat much. Put on another

glee club program. Sounded better that the other one. Had big

discussion about wasting time in room. Went to church again.

Choir sang a group of numbers and carols. Put on play again.

Rounded up a bunch of fellows and went caroling in all the bar-

——

racks. Fun. It's been a2 nice Christmas. Had turkey for supper

and alot of cake. It is nice to have friends.

Four performances and caroling--what a great way to spend

Christmas. The Holy City is really an Easter anthem, but it is
an effective numbér and I wrote it out from memory in the key of
C. The vocal parts that I still have include 4 1st tenors, 3

2nd tenors, 3 lst basses, and 5 2nd basses. Only 2 of the 2nd
tenor, 1 baritone, and 1 bass are in my handwriting. Two staves
of music are used on both sides completely. The organ part is in
the key of B-flat. This is about the extent of the music I wrote

out that I still have.



The Red Cross room would only accommodate less than 500
people so we had to repeat the programs from the day before.
As I recall the place was packed all day long.

A fellow in our room named John L. Jones, now living in
Selmer, TN, was constantly complaining about the barbed wire.
He spent most of every day playing cards. I told him he needed

to get busy at something. I told him I bet I could have a class

every night and have good attendance. It was a shame to waste
this opportunity. There was no need to dwell on confinement.
More about this later.

This was only the second week we had a full parcel. The
Christmas parcel was special. According to a newspaper article
my mother saved I read: American Red Cross Christmas packages for
prisoners of war arrived in Europe for distribution to captive Yanks in
German prison camps, in time for Christmas, according to Basil O'Connor, -
chairman of the American Red Cross.

The packages were shipped from Philadelphia in August in order to
arrive in time for Christmas despite delays in transportation through war
areas, Q'Connor said. A large reserve was included to allow for men who
might be captured during the months between August and December.

The packages contain turkey, plum pudding, sausages, strawberry jam,
nuts, fruit bars, dates, canned cherries, chewing gum, deviled ham, cheddar
cheese, butter, bouillon cubes, tea, honey, cigarettes, smoking tobacco,

a pipe, a washcloth, playing cards, a game, and two pictures of American scenes.

The American Red Cross instructed the internmational committee in Geneva
to distribute the regular weekly food parcel to american priéoners of war in

addition to the Christmas package, the national chairman stated.
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At our camp we got the Christmas parcel in place of the
regular parcel. I believe the food items were allowed to
remain unopened for a change. One of the most hilarious and
yet tragic events happened that evening or the next day. One
of the boys was heating his can of turkey on the stove when it
blew up. He was soon scrapping turkey off the ceiling, the
walls, and everything else. What a tragedy! Yet, it was funny.

26 Took it easy all day long. Got up just in time for roll

call. Went to morning devotion. Played organ. Laid in bed

most of day. Had turkey and fried potatoes for lunch. Peeled

spuds. Talked. Listened to victrola. Went to Bible study

class. One more day to do what I want. Wrote letter home.

One record that I liked and that we played a lot was Bing
Croszby with the Andrew sisters singing Jingle Bells. Some
music was very comforting.

Letter dated December 26, 1944:

Well, Christmas is over and I can rest for a couple of days
now. Let me tell you of the last two days' activities. Sundaf
morning we had communion service at church. That afternoon the
glee club put on a program. Sunday night we had a Christmas
play which I helped write with the choir as a background. At
midnight we sang carols with a brass choir in the center of the
compound. Christmas day we had another morning service and the
choir sang The Holy City. Brian Cleworth from Minneapolis
gave the sermon. The glee club put on another program in the

afternoon and the choir put on a concert in the evening. It
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has kept me busy just arranging music. Now I have to work on a
minstrel show coming up next week. I also intend to start a
singing class next week. For the first two days of this week
I am going to take things easy and tﬂen start to work again.
Havn;t got any mail yet but I hear there is alot of mail on the
way now. Nelson got a letter the other day. I am anxious to
hear how things are going at home. Had guite a bit to eat for
Christmas. We made a big cake and still have quite a bit yet.
We got a Christmas parcel from the Red Cross with plum pudding,
turkey, candy, nuts, jam, a game, honey, ham, Vienna sausage,
cherries and other wvarious articles. I still have some left
but I'm so full I can't eat it now. We have a stage fixed up
now which helps out on the programs. I missed being home for
Christmas but perhaps 111 be there next year. Will quit now
and get to reading again. Read The Robe recently.

Mother neglected to notate the arrival date.

27 Another day to myself. Took a bath. ? came and I went

to council meeting. Wrote home. Finally got a letter from home.

sure felt good. Hope I ‘'get more. Went to Bible study.

—H
ct

Getting better I hope.

I still have the one letter I received from home which was
written Nov. 4th. Mother printed it in capital letters as per
instructions and gave me all the news. Nelson was lucky to get
many letters but only one reached me, although my mother wrote
many times. She mentioned that she "had letters today from Mrs.
Maurer, Mrs. Collins, Mrs. McIntyre and Mrs. Nelson. Is there

anyone with you that you know? We will send you a box as soon
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as we get the label. Wish we could have sent it sooner."

The letter was a real morale booster.
After I got home I got to read 8 letters sent to me at the
388th B.G. marked missing by Capt. J. R. Gross and returned to

sender. Eighteen letters sent to me in Germany were also re-

turned.

28 Had 2 roll calls in morning. Went to morning devotion.

Went to musical show in Red Cross room. Fairly good. Ate

lunch. Got dictionary. read some. Went to Bible study in

barracks. Talked. Did alot of thinking about home.

29 Late in getting up. Read some more after morning devotion.

Had choir practice with orchestra. They didn't do very good.

Had 'church council meeting. I'm head of the music now entirely.

Had glee club practice in Red Cross room after lock up. Had

Bible study. Talked.

30 Went to morning devotion. Snowed. Nelson's birthday. He

is 21. Had meeting with Padre again. Talked about Sunday

school. Ate lunch. Had glee club practice in Red Cross room

again. Tom Edwards was there. Almost got locked in. Had

Bible study. Made alot of goo for breakfast.

31 Sunday Last day of year. Didn't think I'd be here this long.

Peeled spuds. Went to church. Choir sang "The Holy City" again.

Snowed some more. Had vear's end service with fellows. Talked

with Tom. Had another glee club rehearsal. Sounded better.

Had Bible study. Played cribbage with Steve and Kenneth and

Crawford. Stayed up til midnight.
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A number of new projects got started in the new year.
Other people worked in music also, because I had nothing to
do with the show on the 28th.

An integral part of a music theory program is training
in sightsinging. That is one of my skills. So, I made
arrangements for classes where I taught singing by syllable
(do, re, mi). Keyboard‘harmony was impracticable, and
dictation without manuscript paper was nigh impossible.

Tom Edwards had spoken to me about putting on a minstrel
show on January 8th. It reguired more work than he anticipated,
and the show was postponed for awhile.

The evening Bible study in the barracks was going well,
but it was always over by 7 and we still had 2 hours with the
lights on. I decided to have some event every night at seven
o'clock and see if we could attract enough people to make it
interesting. 1 talked with Ken, the British medic, who was a
bit clder than most of us, and requested that he give a series
of lectures on health and diet and, when he got to it, to even
talk about sex. He agreed to do so. I appropriated a black-
board which had come into our lager and wrote out: Lecture
on Sex Monday, Jan. lst, in the washroom. Everyone coming
to sick call would see it and wish they were in Barracks 1.
Ken was embarrassed by the sign, so I had to add that the
first part would be on diet.

Other events were planned for the other nights of the week.
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In a letter written by my mother on Christmas day, which
] did not read until it was returned to Kansas City in late
June, she wrote, "We hope you will soon be getting our letters, also
the boxes."” BoxXxes is plural, but nothing more ever arrived.
She did make a 1list of what was sent in one box:
2 pr. socks; 1 Kraft dinner; grape nuts; 1 lb. prunes; 4 life
savers; 15 tea bags; 3 Mars bars; 1 box spaghetti; 2 condensed
vegetable soup; 1 60z. chocolate bar, Nestles; 1 8 oz. cocoa;
5 Powerhouse bars; 1 coin trick block puzzle; 1 Christmas
card; 3 pkgs. chicken noodle soup; 1 Betty Crocker vegetabile
noodle soup; 2 pkgs. dried puddings; 1 book, Lost Horizon: A
1 pkg. red hots; 1 4 oz. Baker chocolate bar; 1 lip pomade;
Kleenex papers; 1 box cough drops; 5 picture post cards; 1 bag
peppermint candy: Baking Powder; Scda; Malted Milk Tablets:
Salt; and 1 rag. Cloves, cinnamon and 1 shorts have been
scratched out. Everything is listed with its price. The
total wﬁs $5.17. If I had received that box I believe I
would have been in seventh heaven.

January 1, 1945 Starting out a new year. Had church service.

I led singing. John Jones preached. Had glee club practice

again. Think it will go ok. Had Bible study. XKenneth

Warren led a group discussion of foods. Played cribbage again.

Ken spoke mainly of what was best to eat in the Red Cross
parcel. I remember he emphasized cheese and milk. He gave
hints of things to come. The glee club rehearsed instead of

the choir because of the upcoming minstrel show.
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2 Went to morning devotion in Red Cross room. Had Bible

study class with Padre Davis. Had church council meeting.

Peeled spuds and carrots. Had Bible study class. Conducted

class in public speaking. Had a fair size crowd. Enjoyed it.

Evidently Padre Davis was sent as a replacement for Padre
Jackson. I have no information on him.

My material abouﬁ speaking came from a bock. I also gave
rules for a debate for next week and had volunteers take sides

and get prepared to speak.

3 Went to morning devotion. Read some. Had choir practice.

Did fine. Padre Morgan came and had church council meeting.

Talked with Kenneth Warren. Had Bible study class and then

class in music appreciation. Larger crowd than I expected.

Plaved 3rd movement Beethoven's 6th.

i gave a short summary of the life ana works of Beethoven
and played a movement from his Pastoral Symphony. The rest of
the symphony was not available. We did not have very many
classical records.

Card dated Jan. 3, 1945 postmarked Jan. 4 Lake Nebagamon,
Wis.

Mrs. Andersn, 1 just received my san's address. He is at Stalag Toft 4. T also
received lakels & tobaoo labels. T have had ro other direct ward yet fram Agie. Weasther
Tere is real onld tonite. Tt is 18 below just now. I hope T hear from you som aggin.  Have
you heard any more from your san? I Ted a letter from Th. Rowe with a few snap shots of the
toys taken before they went over seas. T have mo other word from any one. . Will appreciate

a word ance in a vhile from you.  Sincerely, Mrs. Mmurer
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4 Went to morning devotion. Didn't do much in morning or

afternoon. Quite slippery out. Much warmer. Fellow came back

from hospital. Didn't feel too good. Had Bible study. Started

class in dancing. More there than I thought.

I do not recall what I taught this session. In fact, I
am surprised to see it in my diary. In college I had taken
ball room dancing and exhibition ball room dancing for no credit.

No telling what we did that night.

5 Went to morning devotion. Play organ at meetings. Went

to choir practice. Sounded fair. Had roll call. Had Bible

study. Worked with dictionary. Had class in vocabulary and

then a spelling bee. Interesting.

This was another fun night.

New Year's card undated postmarked Jan. 5, 1945 Manitowoc,
Wis.

Dear Friend, Have just received my first letter fran Don. Tt just mede me sick
that T hadn't heard as som as you mothers did. His captured card didn't get here yet.
Nevertheless, I'm so heppy that he's O.K. as your sas are.  There is ancther oy fran
Manitowoe in the same canp with him—at least they have samething in cammon to talk about.

D says he's well—not wonded—and T shouldn't worry.  Sincerely, Mrs. I Kluth

6 Colder again. Went to morning devotion. Had bath. Went

to Bible Study with Padre Morgan. Got haircut. Started class

in sightsinging. Had glee club practice for minstrel show.

Had Bible study in barracks. Had air raid. Had fried potatoes.

This evening I heard a lot of complaints because nothing
was planned. Starting the next Monday I planned for something

in the washroom every night following Bible study. .-
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This marked the end of my diary on scraps of flimsy
paper. Evidently about this time I got ahold of a blue
notebook which was a big improvement; On page one I have
written in small script my diary enfries through Jan. 28th.
Page two goes to Feb. 16th. It is written in pencil and
both pages have become extremely blurred or smeared. I
am not sure how much I shall be able to transcribe. Then
after a blank page (which is dirty with the carbon of page
2) there are three more pages which are fairly legible.
This goes through April 19th. I hope I can make cut enough
to get the gist of the events.

Further in the notebook which is permanently folded in
half and has the cover detached I have listed the addresses
of a number of pecopie: the two British padres, the two
British medics, the church council, two of my roommates,
John C. Meese from Maywood, Ill., who may have been the
violinist because his name is just above Charles E. Becker
who was the cellist and a good musician, Alex Palmer who
was working on a new system of music temperament,and Leroy
-E. Guidroz from Raceland, La. who has left my memory com-
pletely. On one page I have listed my favorite breakfasts:
waffles & syrup, pancakes, Grape Nuts-Post Toasties-Puffed
Wheat (I still like to eat three cereals at a time although
Oat or Bran Flakes have replaced Post Toasties, Apple-Cinnamon
Tasteeos have replaced Puffed Wheat and Nutty Nuggets have
taken the place of Grape Nuts.), toast & scrambled eggs,

bacon & eggs, and cinnamon rolls. The next page is..captioned
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Supper and includes: Scalloped potatoes, baked beans, roast
beef, noodles, dumplings, chicken, steak, and dressing. Today
I eat more vegetables and salads and I would have to say that
I have dropped dumplings from my favorite list and added fish.
My sermon notes cover three pages, but I shall cover that in
February. It hurts me every time I see haw many blank pages

I left in the notebook. I could have recorded so much.

Most of the material I am going to report will be read
by me for the first time since it was written. I have no
recollection of ever having read it in the last 46 years.

This is a bit like reading the Dead Sea scrolls.

7 Sunday Went to church. Choir sang [number from] Creation by

Haydn. Heard Padre Davisgs. Walked around compound. Had

[minstrel] rehearsal in Red Cross room. Had Bible study in

barracks. [Worked] with wviolin. Made smeargoo.
8 Went to morning devotion. Peeled spuds. Had short choir

practice. Got program lined up for minstrel! show and we post-

poned it for a day. Wasted most of afternoon. Had church

council meeting. Went to dancing class. Had Bible study plus

Steve gave lecture,

The end men in the minstrel show may have had to do a
dance while they were singing so we had to rehearse it, or
perhaps someone offered a dance class. 1 see dancing listed

again later on.

Steve pinch hit for Ken with a lecture, but I am unable to

decipher the topic.
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9 Led singing at morning devotion. Padre didn't come for

Bible study. Wrote card home. Minstrel show postponed indefi-~

nately. Helped bedinners write out music. Visited Conrad and

fixed up outline for Sunday School. Played cards. Played

organ for Bible study class. Had debate on C .

Accompanied trumpet on organ. Had big discussion.

The card I wrote never arrived. The church council had
decided to institute a Sunday School and I helped with the
plans. This was one of the evenings when I had the organ in
my barracks, and I must have played at Bible study and with
the trumpet player. I wish I could make out the topic of our

first debate.

10 Snowed most of day. Went to morning devotion. Had

choir practice. Waited for Padre who never came. Talked with

? Went to dancing class. Had Bible study. Played

organ. Kenneth Warren had class.... Talked on diphtheria.

Ken made up for missing his Monday talk. The topic was
not of my choosing, but I needed to keep him happy.

An excerpt from a letter Mother wrote me on Jan. 10th
which I did not receive until I got home reads:

"I just talked to Mrs. Bekb, (rarles’ mother. Have you seen him there? Be is one
of abaut farty K.C. boys there. 1 ted letters this week fraom Mrs. Marer and Mrs. Kluth.
T didn't know till then that August was with you. T hed heard that Dmald and Emest were.”

Charles Bebb stood next to me at my high school graduation.
Among my mother's papers is a typed list of the names of 40
soldiers from K.C. and environs who were at Stalag Luft 4 and
their mext-of-kin. Mother has checked 19 of the names as if

she had called or else met them at a meeting.
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i1 Thawing some more. Went to morning devotion.... I

wonder if show will [ever be presented.] Peeled spuds. Had

class in sightsinging.... Bible study class. In charge of

round table discussion on ? .

It seems that it is the important passages that I can't

i

make out. I shall just include the parts that make sense.

12 Still thawing. Went to morning devotion. Went to choir

practice. Got commentary. Read part of it. Went to dancing

class. Went to Bible study. Had extra large class. I didn't

have time to make goo. Talked.

After lights out our room would often start talking in the
dark, all of us l1lying in bed. We never had enough coal briquettes
to keep a fire in the stove all night so got pretty cold. Some-
body had the job of getting up first and starting a fire in the

morning.

13 Fair day. Much warmer. Went to morning devotion. Went

to Bible study with Padre Morgan. Had Sunday School meeting.

Had Bible study class in barracks. Had Brouder give talk on

the future of aviation.

It was not hard to convince some of the fellows in the
barracks to talk about some subject with which they were
familiar. We eventually had some strange topics.

It was about this time that the camp began to set up for
college courses which could be taken for credit starting in
March. Since I had a degree in music I could be the music
teacher. I was looking forward to this opportunity. I digd

regret that I was unable to take German from a fellew who
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was teaching a class in Barracks 3.

14 Sunday Started Sunday School. I taught class on Pastor

? . Padre Morgan gave a good sermon. Choir sang "Lo,

How a Rose E're Blooming". Had long roll call. Went walking

with Andy and Nelson. S1id on ice. Finished writing arpeg-

gios for trumpet. Had Bible study. 9 there. Made some

more smeargoo.

We had quite a bit of snow and along side barracks 8
(or was it 7?) some of the fellows poured some water which
froze and made a great slide. It was the longest man-made
ice slide I had ever seen. With a running start you could
slide almost the length of the barracks which was an exciting
experience. I heard that one fellow broke his leg, and I |
believe the slide was closed down..

The trumpet player could read music bﬁt wanted some
exercises to practice. He knew scales so I wrote out some

arpeggios for warm up purposes.

15 Peeled spuds. Went to morning devotion. Went to choir

practice. Visited church [group]l. Went to dancing class.

Had Bible study. Had extra potatoes. Played cribbage. I

won. Talked after lights out.

Getting seconds at dinner was a rare treat.

16 Colder. Led in morning devotion. Padre Davis had Bible

study. Got music copiest. Worked with [three names]. Went

to dancing class. Had Bible study. Conducted debate on

"Are Nedgros afforded their full constitutional rights?"

Talked.
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Letter dated 16th January 1945 postmarked Jan 18
Richmond, Va.

Dear Mcs. Andersn, I think you wrote to me last and told me you hed heard
fran your s Jdn ad 1 was so glad to know you had.  Well T fimally rec'd a card from
my son Robert on Jan 8th. It was written on Ag 26th. e was in a Gemen Hospital &
he said his hends were barned a bit, but would be O.K. }Ealsosaidrevésgettﬁgvery
good treatment.

I was so very glad to hear from hime T Tad waited so laxyy. His official address
from War Dept. is Stalag 9 C—Gemeny ard he is the U.S. Prisoer of War #52641. Wonder
if yar sn Jon hes the same address.

I have sent him a persaal package & cigarettes.

Hope you heve good news from your sm and here's hoping & praying they will som e
rack hawe with us. Sincerely, Franoes Stewart

17 Windy. Went to morning devotion. Had choir practice.

Padre Davis talked with me about hymns. Went to take shower in

afternoon. Got headache. I don't like it. Had Bible study

and class on physiology. Went to bed early.

I believe this was :the first time we had a shower bath
in camp. We were marched to a building near the front of the
camp and the shower was delightful. The only trouble was
that after getting wet they turned the water off and we were
told to lather up. Then we only got cold water to rinse with.
Still it was a big improvement over trying to bathe in the

wash room with a pan of water.
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18 Felt better but not too good. Practiced on oxrgan.

Padre Morgan came over. Went to dancing class. Had Bible

study. Had round table discussion: irls today are better

than their predecessors. Made smeargoo.

The round tabkle discussions were even more fun than the
debates because more people could get involved. This was a

good subject and a lot of people participated.

19 Windy. Talked with Brian Cleworth for awhile. Had

Bible study. Hoover gave talk on horses. Had choir practice

in morning.

20 Went to morning devotion. Went to Bible study with

Padre Morgan. Went to hospital and saw McIntyre. Had

Bible study.

This was the last time I saw McIntyre.

21 Sunday Had long roll call. Taught Sunday School class.

Padre Davis [preached]. Walked around compound with Risman.

Cold. Had short vesper service.

22 Went to morning devotion. Played a game. Practiced

with choir. Went to church council meeting. They are a

bunch of good fellows. Went to dancing class. Started

jitterbugging. Had Bible study.

About half of my activity is omitted since it is un-
readable. It was about this time that our bread ration
stopped. Earlier we would get three or four loaves to a
room. Maurer was elected to portion out the bread. Our

individual piece of bread kept getting smaller all winter
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until finally no bread came at all. We were always hungry,
except, perhaps, for Christmas week, but if one kept busy it
was not too ‘bad.

When I first tasted the bread I thought it was sour,
ahd I refused to eat it for awhile. But when you get hungry
your tastes will change. Sometimes we would find sawdust on
the bottom of the bread, and we wondered what was in the bread.
A piece of spam or cheese on a slice of bread was really pretty

good.

23 Foggy out. Went to morning devotion. [Rehearsal of

minstrel show began] sounding pretty good. Got 2 new pair of

G.I. shoes. ? with Maurer. Had Bible study. Led debate

on Prohibition.

My English shoes with hob nails were rather unique,.but
I think they were not as good as GI shoes. At that time I wore
a 6% D, but the only pair close t? that was a 7 D so I took it.
I have worn a 7 ever since. It may have been the same day or
soon after that a GI shirt was allotted to our room. We had a
drawing and I won the shirt. It was a size 16 and too big for
me, but I was glad to get it. More about this shirt later. :

Letter dated January 23, 1945 postmarked Jan 24 from
Sebring, Fla.:

Dear Mrss. Anderson, Raﬂﬁmdyun?wxynkﬂ]emﬂra(xnpkedwsagnamiwﬂlkay
Iy pramise and answer quidkly for a chance.

Since my last letter to you I have been assigned as a pilot instrictor at this B-17
school here in the sumy Flarida citrus district. Itraﬂiyismufbdhlﬁae:nw,amiI
am so glad to be avay fram the oold and snow of the north. -
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The great Russian offensive is certainly encomraging kut I believe it is umise to
e overcptimistic about it. I am hoping you may be right in feeling there is a possibility
of soe prisoers encamped in the arez of eastem Gammeny ey te released. More than anything,
ofmmse,mail?upetlnse&mimskﬁ=ﬁg?¢m§)ﬁganﬂﬁmyamreleaseaeque,
and possibly end this war som.

I will try to answer your questions. Jdm wes an his 24th mission. He did not receive
his 3rd Cek Ieaf Cluster to the Air Medal. (He would Tave had to fly 35 missions.) He would
heve after that mission ard probebly will as son as he comes tack. He appeared to show o
signs of nervaxness or fatigue while flying his missions. None of our crew did. Not many
fellows do far that matter. Of camrse we all were a little scared at times, as anyore would
e tnder save: of the circunstanoes of conbat, bat nothing chranie.  Our crew had rather easy
missicns, I believe, at least easier then nery fellows have. Of ooarse on our last few
missims when things began to oo tad far us, everything happened at. ance and not so favarably.
Nevertieless, I'm sure we all feel we were luky, ard realize it could have been mrh worse.

s for their landing the plane wnder amtrol near Berlin, T wouldn't know. I'msure T
m'ti:ragimlrmym}mrdit,ththereismpm@iblewaysﬁlinfomatimwaldbesentrto
this comtry. We always had strict orders to never lard a plane under antrol in enawy terri-
tary, because to capture a whole B-17 is extrerely valishle to the enamy. Unless there vere
seriously wounded men aboard, vhich apperently isn't so, T dm't thirk they would tave landed
intact. T would quess they kailed aut, which is the safest thing to do.

Trerks a million for the clippings which I am retuming. Jarmy had shoun e the ae
about the shuttle trip vhick: you hed sent him.  You should have seen him after he was inter~
viewed by that reporter. He wes beaming all over. I amnot surprised that the girls all like
him. He's the kKind of fellow everyoe wauld ke ford of.  There is no daubt he was broudht v

the right vay.
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Please let me know if you hear any more, and if you wish to ask any more questians

I'1l gladly answer any I can. Sincerely, "BX" Rowe

24 Went to morning devotion. Had choir practice. [In the

minstrel show] I was in the chorus but was made interlocutor,.

[Sounding] better. Walked around camp. Went to Bible study

class. Finished book on Jesus of Nazareth. Went to lecture

on swimming and lifesaving.

Somehow I ended up with the Minstrel Show program on two
csheets of paper written by Tom Edwards. I believe we did all
the numbers listed. Letters following the titles are in my
handwriting and refer to the beginning note. I alsoc wrote
in Sleepy Time Dcwn South anrd Shortin' Brezd. My main job was
to train the =ingers.

At the time Minstrel Shows had keen popular in the United
States for akout a hundred years since the first minstrel show
on record took place in 1843. Mr. Interlocutor was center
stage with the soloists and end men on either side. The chorus,
composed cf members of the glee club and the choir, were in the
kack rows in black face. |

The entrarce used the song Weep no more. The opening
chcrus was Waiting for the Robert E. Lee. The Parade of Men
had the endmen each doing a solo: Moonlight & Roses by Somrers,
Beautiful Dreamer by McDorald, Alex Ragtime by McGonigle, Dark-
town Strutters by O Leary, Shine on Harvest Mcon bty Phillips,
and finally Swanee and Sleepy Time Down South [by all].

A gquartette sang O Susanna and Camptown. Next came a soft shoe

numkter and a Whistler. The Haymakers Rard did St. Louis Blues.
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Under comic routine is Shortin Bread and K. G. F. Jones. This
last number needs some explanation. ©On a flimsy piece of paper

I have the words of a popular numker during the thirties:

There's a big holiday everywhere

For the Jones fawily has a brand new heir
He's a joy H[eaven] sent

As we proudly present

Mr. F[ranklin] D. Rlocsevelt] J[ones]

When he -grows up he never will stray

With the name like the one he's gct today

How can he be a dud or a stick in the mud

When he's F D R J....

For the program F D R Jones was changed to K G F Jones which stocd for
Kriegsgefangenen Jones. I think that is a nice touch.

Spoons is listed at the bottom of the program.

The program finally was ready for three performances.

25 Went to morning devotion. Washed clothes. Had [perform-

ance of minstrel shcw]. Had a gggg audience. Took a hot shower.

It really felt gcod. Walked aroumnd camp. Led [Bible study] and

then round table discussion on the movies. We have good times

here.

We had worked hard on the minstrel show and the cperning
number went well but the applause was light. As Interlocutor
I then said, "Gentlemen, be seated." Next, I greeted the
auvdience. I remember the feeling I had as the show began and
I was really savoring the experience. Tom cued me to continue
but it took me about five seccnds to get under way. He didn't
like that so the next day I joined the chorus. I learned a
lesson I never forget. You must keep tha tempo of the show
mcving.
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The shower was much better than the first time. We had

more hot water this time.

26 Colder with lots of wind. Went to morning devotion. Went

to choir practice [then to church] council, not many came. Had

minstrel show again. Led at vesper services. Went to lecture

n art of ? by Drexel Lange in our room. Interesting.

Wrote letter home.

For this performarce I had to blacken ny face and it was
hard tc get off. I believe the audience's response was hetter
than the day before. I cannot remerter if Tom took the role of
Mr. Interlocutor or nct.

My letter never rezched hcme.

27 Went to morning devotion again. Got to Bible study [late].

...public speaking. I guess I'm not a showman. [Had Eible

study] and discussion on college education.

This was the last performance of the minstrel shcw.

28 Sunday Taught Sunday School class again. Cleworth and

Wetzer [handled the church service]. Talked Had vesper service

in barracks. Had 10 there. Wrote letter to Vivian. Played

ping pong.

While we did not have a regulation table it was a joy to
be akle to play ping pcng.
My last letter home did not get there.

29 Big blizzard. Snowed all day. Went to morning devotion.

Peeled spuds. Went to choir practice. Had church council meet-

ing. Had 20 in choir. Had vesper service. Played records

for fellows. They asked for more classical records-. Wish we

had alot more.

103



One cther record we had was the Overture to William Tell
whick everyone knew and enjoyed. I gave some tackground on

Rossini and played the record. I do not remember the other

record I played.

30 Been in army two years. First shipment of fellows left.

Cleworth went with them. Went to morning devotion. No Bible

study. Washed clothes. Something about to happen soon.

Played some chess. Had vesper service and then debate——

Post-war Immigration. Affirmative won.

All the prisoners who had been wounded cr were sickly
were taken out and shipped by railroad somewhere. Recently
I heard that they went to the camp at Barth. Then B compound
was evactated and the men in that compound were divided into
the cther three compounds. Soon after that happered, in fact
I think it was that evening, a group of prisoners of cther
nationalities came into B compcund from the north, stayed a
night, and then marcked cn. The marchers ﬁere in sad shape
and we ktegan to worry about having to march also, but the
Germans assured us that the Americans wculd stay. Only the
other nationalities were marching. Camp seemed to be the best

of the alternatives.

31 Went to morning devotion. Played more chess. Getting

almost no bread or rations for guite awhile. Had choir

practice and church council meeting. Inducted 3 new members.

‘Played cards. Had vesper service. Frenchy gave lecture on The

Lugar. I wish I cculd read my last comment. ©Nct all our topics

were edifying. -
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Letter dated January 31, 1944 Postmarked Fek. 1 Cotton
Plant, Arkansas

Dear Mrs. dnderson, I thoxht meybe you would be interested to know that Ited a
card written October 6, from Emest. He sald that he was getting alag fine exocert that
ke vas hrgry. That sure did hurt beceuse only Ged krows how hungry he was.  He said that
he mede a cockless cake and tet it sure was good. I sure will be giad wen all the hoys
‘ can aae hae. I was sure glad to hear that your son was in the same prism cang with mine.
I received a card from Mrs. Maurer today she said that she had a nice letter from her Loy
that wae written August 21. And he was getting alom well. Fram ny standroint I believe
the toys will get to ooe heme son. I sure hope so. T ed a nioe letter from Ti. Rowe.
He said that he was just fire. 2nd vas in Florida now. I teve received 2 cards and 1 letter
from Errest.  And T sent twe packages to him althcugh he asked me not to send him any.  When
I get more infarmetion T will write to you. I always enjoy hearing from you. Sincerely,
Mrs. Cora Cramford

Fekrvary 1 A new month. Much ? . Quite slippery out.

Went to morning devotion. Played chess. Rations finally began

to come in again. Had vesper service. Crawford led. Had

round table discussion on Swing vs. Clagsics. Couldn't sleep.

Card dated Fek. 1, 1945 pcstmarked same date Minneapclis,
Minn.
_ Dear Mrs. Ardersmn, I sure wes glad to get yar card yesterday and we had a card
too fran Icn deted Sept 28 ard we oot it this week. Bt thet's all. I sure wish it was 11
over sc they could all axe hare.  We Ted a letter from Tk, Rowe zlsc and was glad to get. it.
Dn didn't say mech anly thet he was all right and rct to worry. 1 am o glad that those toys
are tocether, T sure will te glad to hezr fram you when ever you ¢et any news.  Sincerely,

Elearryr K. Nelsmn
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Letter dated Feb. 1, 1945 postmarked Feb.2 Lake Nekagamern,
Wis.
Dear Mrs. Arderson, Received your card today so will ans. at ace. So glad you
received mail frar Jdn. We too received meil frt:méugie. A card dated Axust 21, also
a letter datad Nov. 9. That sure cae thragh fast. Be said in his last letter that the
beys were all in goed spirits as Nelson had received mail fram his folks: and they infarmed
him that you & I and the Nelscns were correspanding so they were sure we fnew of their
weresborts.  He said they were all well ard not moch to find fault with cnly would be glad
to et hare.
Iwnxe[t.RmeavedcépinlﬁsbLH.mﬂn&s. Hope T hear again fram him som.
I did enjoy his letters so mch. If you have his address would you sad it next. time you write.
We attended a Prismner of War meeting last week got a 1ot of valueble information there.
Oxr boy in England warried an Frglish gir]l on Dec. 26. Wenderirg what she's like. The
war pictmre in Buope locks gocd. Hepe its not too lang before our boys o all care b,
Will keep you informed as to my nedl fram Augie. Sircerely, Fsma Maurer

2 Getting warmer. Soup for lunch. ? from B lager to -

our lager. Pianoc came too. Moved to upper bunk. Steve gave

lecture on aircraft combustion.

I believe two more men came into our room, this time from
B lager. I had forgotten that we got the piano from B lager.
I remember going'with a group into B compound to remcve some
items, and it was obkvious that the priscners who had stayed
there had teen bhungry. I recall scme one saying that they had
even ccoked and eaten some grass. I dcubt that now. I remember
they had emptied some powder they had found.

By having a piano zvailable my joy must have been complete.
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By teaching music to @ numker of fellows in camp I haé learned

a rumber of technigues that worked as well as a few that didn't.
This was also a help to me when I started teaching theory at

the University of Georgia in 1947. The only trouble was that
the wzr ernded too socn. Despite the deprivations--not enough
food, really ccld weather, barbed wire, practically no materials
with which to work--I really was having a gcod time and learning
a Jot. We all felt that something was gcing to happen, but we
¢id not know what. We had been assured that we wculd remain in
camp until the war was over. We began to hear what sounded like
guns in the distance. Life went on with a bit more pressure

from events beyond our control.

3 Wet out. Went to morning devotion. Had barley for break-

fast. Had choir practice. Worked some more on sermon. I'm

not sure ____? . Andy came over. Met church council of lager
B. Had vesper service in barracks. 14 there.

As a member of the church ccuncil it was my turn to presch
at the Sunday service if the Padre did nct show up. I was rot
a preacher but I did write out a sermon in my notetook which
I hoped I would not have to give. Leading the singing ard the
choir was not difficult. I knew I cculd do that. Preaching
was more demanding. I thought up another prayer I could give
during the service. I tried to be prepared.

One cof the boys who came into cur rocm had the rost un-
believakle story of all. He was a tail gunner who turned

around during the mission and found that the tail had been
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cut off from the plane and that his chute was not there.
It reminds me ¢f a scene in the recernt movie Memphis Belle,
The tail section floated (?) down and evidently hit the earth
on an upswing. He was unconscious for awhile but lived through
the experience. Often at night he relived the experience, and
we had to wake him up to stop his screaming.
On this cday the Allies drorped 2,000 tons of bombs or Berlin.

4 Sunday Taught Sunday School class. Led song service waiting

for Padre Davis but he came. Good crowd at church. Took a nap.

Lights went dim for awhile. Maurer led vesper service. Had 20

there. Getting more each week. Talked awhile.

The service started with singing some hymns. When the
Padre failed to come I had them sing some more. Finally, it
seemed obvious that he wouldn't make it. I had one of the
assistants read my text and the Padre arrived. He warted us to
sing one more hymn while he gct settled. I was saved at the .last
moment although I thcught my sermon had more meaning than the
one the Padre gave. The notes toc my sermon are in the back of
my notebook. Maybe, some dazy, I'll have the oprortunity to
preach.

My notes remained¢ in my notebook for almcst 49 years
before I really looked at them again. My pastor at the First
United Methodist Church in Mexico Reach, Florida had to ke out
of town and asked me to pinch-hit for bim. I gave my sermon(?)
and it was not as bad as I had anticipated. I covered the
materiél quickly and filled up the rest of the time talking

about my experiernces in Germany. -
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An excerpt from a letter written by my mother to me which
I did not receive until summer reads:

I heard from Mrs. Crawford and Mrs. Nelsm Friday. They hed heard fran Emest and Don.
I just wrote a letter to R. Rowe. He wrote me such nice things about you.

5 Cold. Went to morning devotion. Our barracks went to have

showers again. It sure felt good. Had choir practice. Started

"Men and Music" Had hymn service. Played organ. Had round

table discussion on Cha 7?7 .

Unfortunately, the last line is unreadable, but I can recall
what happened. Word feached us that evening that the camp would
leave in the morning. Lights would be on an extra length of
time in order to get ready. It did not take long to pack up.

I ate some of the food I had stashed away which would be hard
to carry. I got all my choir music, my hymnals, my knife, fork,
and spoon, a powdered milk can to use for drinking, the library
book I was reading, and probably the other few thiﬁgs I had
accumulated. We were told we would march three days, rest one,
march- two more days and arrive at a new camp. At least, It
seemed as if we were nearing the end. What we didn't kncw was
that the instructions were wrong.

Letter dated Feb. 2, 1945 postmarked Feb.5 Pittsburgh, Pa.

Dear Mrs. 3ndersm, I was very hapoy to hear from you agpin and to hear that you ave
heard from your son. I Teve also beard from my s Robert, I Ied a letter last month dated
Sept. 14th and a card yesterday dated Oct. 29th in which he says he is in good tealth anly T
dm't thirk he gets enaph to eat because he says to keep the ice bax well stocked for wen
he gets back. ﬂevar¢q§.ﬁﬁumeimaﬂntﬂinﬂ:wﬁtmms&mmﬂﬁmmSﬁﬂq;?AtoSEmg

Tuft # 4 three weeks ap- But T think acoording to what the Russians are doing the boys have
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heen moved. IhqnEmipmyewxynﬁﬁmthm:ﬂeywﬂlsnalbanﬂaﬁaiaﬂgﬁtb&xltma
Is it very cold cut your way? I certainly am sick of srow this winter. I have ted a nice
letter from Tt. Rowe. Will write again and hope to hear fran yon again. Sincerely, Mes. R. F.
MoIntyre

Card dated Feb. 5, 1945 postmarked same date Lake Nebagamon, Wis.

Dear Mrs. Andersn, Received a letter from Augie written Nov. 9 said they were all well.
Said Nelson had received 7 letters frarn his folks and they hed said that we were all in tonch
with each other so the bays know that we all knew of their wheresbouts. Said they were in qrod
spirits. Said they had church services & were not too bed off. Mot to warry. Just wonder if
they may have been moved row that the Russians are gring throwh that territary. More later.
Sincerely, Mrs. Maurer

Card dated Feb. 5, 1945 postmarked Feb. 6 Miami, Fla

Dear Mrs. Anderson: On Dec. 23 we tad a letter from cur Walt, then'Jan 31 another letter
dated Oct. 3. On Feb 1 a card dated Sept. 11. We were so tappy to receive them. He did ot
give us any news, just that e vas o.k. & wanted us to take care of aurselves, as he would
tryarﬂtakecareofhinself. The October 3 letter said that it was rather chilly. T stodder
when T thirk how they are with zero tenp. at this time. I;!:.R:bertRowecalledmtB-Saturday
with his wife. He told us, our boys, as well as he, were barbed in Russia after doing same
ghuttle barbing. They had landed in this Russian field, no one was hurt, their plare vas
mly slightly dameged, vhere meny were totally destroyed. T wonder whether you have hed any
hﬁenas.‘wahnelﬁdnorqnﬁ;a1aahg1nﬂ:3bamgnmmd,bm;ﬂxiithﬁlzah Pleass
let us hear fram you, with wishes, T am Sincerely, Merim Collins

It seems odd that the 3 lettems mention cur being moved, and

we did not know we were to move until about 12 hours before we

left.
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This ends this first section which covers the best part
of the POW experience. We had spent 17 days in A lager and
133 days in 'C lager for a total of 150 days at Stalag Luft 4,
and I must say it was an enriching and rewarding educational
experience. My recital of the events as written in my diary
have been somewhat monotonous. I did not realize until I got

into it how many times I went to morning devotion. If I had

transcribed my notes in 1946 I could have mentioned more inter-
esting items, but after fifty years I am lucky to remembker as

much as I did.

On April 30, 1994 the group I was with left the Arka Hotel
at Koszalin, Poland by bus and went to the train station near
the carp. It had been called Kiefheide but now bears the name
Podborsko. We stood on the platfo;m and took alot of pictures.-
I had no memory of the station, but according to my diary I had

-

arrived there on Sept. J¥th.

From the statior the bus drove north to the campsight. A
crowd had gathered and a number of cars lined the road. The tus
drove to a spet just in front of the mcnument which had been
placed there near the potato cellar of lager D and dedicated
on Sept. 4, 1992, TV cameras were there and a contingent of 30
Polish soldiers were lined up on the right. The ceremony étarted
with the sound truck playing what I presumed was the Polish
national anthem. The mayor of Tychowo (formerly called Gross

Tychow) presided. He read a short history of the camp and then
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called out the names of differert organizations. Representatives
¢f each group came forward and presented flowers to two goose-
stepping soldiers who took the flowers to the monument. Two
gcouts brought candles in glass conﬁainers at the end of the
presentations. We were liﬁed up on the 1eft.. An American
colonel presented greetings. Col. Andrew Porth is stationed in
Warsaw and was ordered ky the Pentagon to attend the ceremony.

He spoke in Polish also. We had an interpreter tell us what was
being said.

The scldiers then took their rifles and pointed them in the
air. For a moment the thought of a firing sgquad entered our
minds. They fired three times and then marched off. Childrer
then rushed in to pick up the spent shells.

This ended the ceremony, and then we had a "soldier's meal"
inside a tent. It was bean soup (probatly split pea) with a lot
of potatoes and z piece of kielbassa in the middle. It was very
good. Drinks were also furnished.

I walked down to C lager and Leonard Rose (head of the POW
orgznization) showed me where the Red Cross building had been. I
took a piece of ccncrete from the ground and then located the
site of Barracks 1. The entire camp is cocvered with trees, many
of them fallen, but it was not hard to locate the barracks. The
foundations for the latrine and the washroom on the back of the
karracks is all that is left. The latrine hole is still there.
Just the tricks and the concrete of the washroom is all that

remains. I stocd in the place where Room 3 was located and I 4did
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get a feeling cf nostalgia.

The next day I was cne of five fellows who went back and
tramped all over C compound. It was a lot of fun. We found the
well and could csee the reraing. of all ten of the barracks. We
ever went into the next ccmpound which was Lager F, no éifferent
than C. I did not know it even existed. The group back at the
monument first honked a horn and then sent a car to pick us up.
2fter the Germans left the Poles came to the camp and removed
everything of value ard then later they plarted trees. The paved
rozd is on the ground ketween A-B lagers anc¢ D-C lagers going in
a northerly direction. Two metal plaques have been placed on big.
stones on either side of the monument, one in Polish and the other
in Enclish. It reads:

MAY 1944 - FEBRUARY 1945
KRIEGSGEFANGENEN LAGER LUFT IV
KIEFHEIDE BEI GROSS TYCHOW
/PODBORSKO/ WHERE 10000 -
AMERICAN, CANADIAN, BRITISH
FRENCHE, BELGIAN, AUSTRALIAN
POLISH, RUSSIAN AND OTHER
AIRMEN WERE KEPT PRISONERS

OF WAR. ON FEBRUARY THE SIXTH,
1945, THE CAMP WAS EVACUATED
BY THE "DEATH MARCH" TO

THE STALAG XI B FROM WHERE
PRISONERS WERE LIBERATED

ON MAY THE 2ZND.

I was told the Russians never came to the camp. One
resident of Tychowo said she had lived there all her life and
did not know the camp was there until 1990. That seems almcst

impossible.

All in all it was an emotional experience.
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SECTION 2

The Bad Memories Begin
6 According to what I heard recently D lager left camp on
February 5th. When I wrote this in 1991 I thought C compound
led the camp. It would be logical for D to go first since they
were nearer the gate. I do know that Barracks 1 was the first in
the formation. The rooms drew straws for order of marching and
our room, room -3, was the first in line and we took up the first
four rows. We were in front of the whole formation. I had all
my stuff wrapped up in my blanket. Just before we left we were
told to run through a place where the extra food was laying out.
As I recall zll I grabbed was a chocolate bar because we had to
keep moving. The Red Cross focd had been a life saver, and what
we took with us was more to our benefit. I remember regretting
that I had not taken advantage of the situation.

The formation looked like it was about a mile long. I

started cut in the second row on the right, and wé had a fairly
brisk pace. I wculd say that our morale was high. I wrote that.

we went at least 14 kilometers with just 3 stops. Kilometers

are marked keside the roads. Sometime that afternocn I began
to get an ache in my right foot. It kept hurting so I decided
I would fall back and find Steve and ask him to tape it up, or
at least wrap it to give it support. When I found Steve near
the back he was talking with an older soldier who wanted to
just sit dcwn. He was in agony and kept saying he would have

to stop. Steve was keeping him gcing. He told me there was no
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tape. One ox-drawn wagon was in back of the formation carrying
the guards' bags. There were not.a lot of guards. Many fellows
talked about taking off and waiting for the Russians. That did
not have muck appeal to me. I could see that my pain was much
less than what others were experiencing. At the end of the
formation the walking tempo seemed miuch faster than it did in
frort. I told them I would go back to the front and try to slow
down the pace. Finally, in late afternoon we arrived at a farm
where the barn formed a square around a big compound. We were
put in the barn and locked in. If we got any focd that day it
was two boiled potatoes and a cup of hct water which requireﬁ

us to stand in lorg lines to receive. We were tired and ccld,

and accommodations were not the kest. The last thing I wrote

in my diary that day was: Seeing Germany on foot.

7 Up at 6:30. On the road. I was stiff and not used to sc
much walking. I guess it had been quite awhile since I had dcne
any exercising. We should have thought about that socner. We

kert walking steadily all day. I didn't think I would make it.

Stopped all night in Stolzenburg. Stayed on the second floor

of a barn.

Letter addressed to my mother dated 7 February 1945 from
the War Derartment:

My dear Mrs. Anderson: I have the honor to inform you that, by
direction of the Presidert, the Air Medal and three Oak-Leaf Clusters,
representing three additional awards of the same decoration, have been
awarded to your son, Technical Sergeant John H. Anderscn, Air Corps. The

citation is as follows:
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ATR MEDAL AND THREE OAK-LEAF CLUSTERS

"For meritorious achievement whkile participating in heavy bombardment
missions in the air offensive against the eremy over enemy occupied Conti-
nental Evrope. The cotrage, coolness, and skill displayed ty this Enlisted
Man upon these occasions reflect grezt credit upon himself and the Armed
Forces of the United States.™"

Since these awards cannot be formally presented to your son at this
time, the deccrations will be presented to you. The Air Medal and three
Czk-Leaf Clusters will be forwarded to the Commanding General, Seventh
Service Command, Omaha, Nebraska, who will select an officer to make the
presentation. The cfficer selected will communicate with you ccncerning
your wishes in the matter. Sincerely yours, J. A. Ulio, Major Gereral,

The Adjutant General.

8 Left some things. I really didn‘t need all the books I

had with me. Went at least 2 hours straight without a break.

If Maurer hadn't taken my pack I would not have made it. It -

was wrong tc let somecne else carry my pack. Count, Hoover,

Smith and others helped too. I rememker King giving it back

to me. Finally we went down a slight incline and I cculd see
some barns so I knew I could make it. At the bottom of the hill
the formation turned left and started up a long incline on the
laft side cf the road. On the right side of the road was a
stream of refugees fleeing with everything they had. Some were
walking and some had horse--drawn wagons. I knew I could not
climb that hill. I crossed the roaé and found a wagon with
back cpen. I threw my pack c¢n the wagon and sat on the edge.
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A young hoy seated by his grandfather was on the seat in front,
and he told his grandfather abtout me. The cld man turneé arocund
and yelled at me kut he spoke German znd I didn't understand,
but I did get his meaning. ‘He was not going to stop and hcld

up the processior behind him. Just behind me was a family on a
wagcn being pulled by a white horse. The horse wés stumbling,
faltering and it looked like it would take its last ster soon.
The man was whipping it to make it continue up the hill. I
could see other people were having problems too. It was painful
to watch the hcrse. T got to ride all the way to the top of

the hill. I think a guard saw me aznd made me get off. However,
I had made it up the hill and thought of_things other than myself.

Stopped at big barn in country. That night I slept squeezed up

against a piece of farm machinery. My crew and I were separated.

9 Not so cold out. Got some potatoes to eat. Felt quite

stiff but worked it out. Crew not with me. Going to bed early.

Tired out yesterday but not so bad today.

10 Started raining. Went through Boity. Doss shared with me.

Went through bypath. It seems unlikely that this will do much.

Barn for tonight.

Doss was on the church council. I rememkter he sold me a
roll of toilet paper for a ﬁack of cigarettes I had. The rolil
lasted me a long time as I learned how to.conserve.

11 Sunday If it hadn't been for Doss I wouldn't have made it.

Got sick during night. Was weak all day. Doss carried my pack

most of the way. I doubt if I can make another. Alot of fellows

have dropppd- out already.
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This was the seccnd cf the many low points I had on this

march. WNow for awhile things did get better.

12 Lucky, another day of rest. Stayved in bed most of morning.

Cold outside. Went out and got some spuds and cooked them.

Doss got some milk. Felt alot better. Jerry gave us cooked

spuds after lockup. It rained some today.

13 ?  Felt better anyway. Started walking in snow. Went
through G[reiferberg]l(?). ? over fencaes. The Germans don't

care much how they treat us. Perhaps the war won't last much

longer. Stopped in Dopperphil.
14 _ yet. Went 40 kilometres. I felt good most of the way.

Got a on the way. Went through Wollen. Stopped outside

Swindemunde and had to sleep outside. Raining too. Built a

little shelter and sat around fire with English kriegies. Had

air raid. Got cramped sleeping so sat up.

This day we went about 25 miles and I was getting used to
it. This was probabkly the day when a Russian farm worker
handed me a carrot. I cleaned it as best I could and ate it
which was nct a gocd idea. They dc not eat raw vegetables because
they use human manure to fertilize everything. It went right
through me. Just as it got dark we were herded into a big
fenced-in area. My friend (I dcn't rememker who I was with then)
and I saw a small fire in the distance sc¢ we walked cver to it.
A group of about 8 English scldiers with one guard were sitting
ground the fire. They kad teen on the road for weeks, coming
from central Poland. The smokXe got a bit much for me so my
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friend and I built a shelter out of branches and tried to sleep
btt it was very uncomfortakle. We sat ur the rest of the night
and¢ dczed some tefore morning. At the air raid signal the
Germans maae them put out the fire. I still recall this right
every time I smell a wood fire.

Back to the present. On May 2, 1994 we ex-POWs checked
out of our hotel at Koszalin and drcve up to see the Baltic.
We_had wanted to gc back to Germany through Swindemunde but were
told that busses were not allowed. Maybe they still hafe & small
ferry. We stopped at Wollen and I exchanged $10 for 210,000
zoltys s0 I could buy a souvenir arnd have lunch. I had a
hot dog and scn Jack had a hamburger and fries. I alsoc had a
warm Sprite and two ice cream bars. The woman in the small
kicsk-type building, typical in Feland, did a booming business
that day. The merchants cn the square had nothing of interest
that I wanted to buy. I did enjoy meeting some Polish peorle.
I have a newly~found respect for them. I have ncw been in
Wollen twice in my life. From Wollen we went back to Stettin,
which used to be the capitol of Pomerania when it was Germarny,
and is now called Szczecin. We had storped there at the Raddiscn
Hotel for a fine buffet lunch on cur way from Berlin to Koszalin.

15 No sleep. 0On the road. Went through Swinemunde and got

on ferry. Went across Stettin Bay. Walked some more. Stopped

at barn but got nothing to eat or drink. Getting hunary and

tired f it alot. Met crew for 1st time since 3 days.
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16 Good night's sleep. Walked over 30 kilos today. Fair

day for walking but got cold in evening. Moved us across a

field with mud a foot deep. Wore me out. Stayed all night

in barn full of manure and straw. Cold night.

This was aﬁother unforgettable experience. After a long
walk we saw a barn in the distance and the guards indicated
that was where we were gcing. The road went straight ard then
came a 90° turn to the right to the barn. We decided to save
somé steps by gcing across the hypotenuse of the triangle.
After we got started we ran into deep mud. It was laborious
to pick up each foot and this required a lot of energy which
we did not have to expend. If you ran you could stay or top
without sinking, but the distance was excessive and a ruvn was
not what we needed. We arrived exhausted. It was a terrible
barn. This, I believe, was the night that I won't forget either.
We were all tired and thirsty. Nelson decided to try and get
some water. The guard took a few fellows including Nelson out
of the locked barn to the well, and Don came kack with a full
cup of water. He gave it to us and went back to get some more.
We left his share for him, but when he didn't come back we
figured he was probabkly stocking up on the water so we split
the water between us and drank it. Nelson came rack with no
vater kut knew he had some water waiting for him. You can
imagine the scene. It was a heart-rending experience. Many

times I have regretted our actions. Don, we are truly sorry.
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17 On again. Stopped some in afternoon after going through

Anklem, a fairly large town. Promised a day of rest. Got

spuds and hot water which made me feel better. Thought about home.

I recall going through one fairly large town and having
to go £0 the bathroom. There was no rlace to go except orn the
curb. I remember one woman driving by on a wagcn and ﬁrying
rot to loock at me. Diarrhea was ever pregent. The doctor
told us to examine cur stocl because if it ccntained klood it
might be dysentery. Almost everyone had diarrhea. The doctor
said the only thing worse than dysentery would be cholera where
the intestines come cut. We had keen inoculated agzinst cholera.

18 sunday Instead of staying we went on about 22 kilos stopping

at Seltz. I intended on having a service today but not a chance

when we move. Wish we could have a day of rest.

19 Fed us more spuds. Also got a tenth of a loaf of bread,

butter and a can of corned beef. Count helped me cook some soup

with bouillon. Jerry gave us two cupfuls of potato soup. Better.

Moved 8 kilos to Schoessol.

20 Finally a day of rest. It felt good not to move. Cold

outside. Had some spuds. Talked with Rosie, 2 Russian from

Poltava. Got some cabbage. Had more spuds. Feel better,

Often there were Russian workers on the farm but we were
not allowed to converse with them. This time the Germans were
not watching so closely. This hefty Russian woman was working,
and we stopped to talk. When she s3aid she was from Poltava T
told her I had teen to Poltava which made her more friendly.
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She saw to it that I gct some more to eat and I was truly grate-
ful. She was doing a lot of manuval lator and tock a chance ¢n
not getting caught feeding me. You can find goocd people all over.

21 Left at 9:30 after cooking some cabbage. Went 4 kilos and

got a R.C. parcel for 3 men. Went about 12 more. Ate salmon.

They gave us a lot of spuds. Ate too many. Had to get up at

— o ——

night. 'Staving at Farrow.

I reczll) we tried to make a dish like escalloped potatoes.
We put in alot of butter and it tasted good, btt it was hard cn

stomach nct used to o much grease.

22 Had the G.I.'s. Sick to my stomach. Stayed in bad almost

all day. Crew members took good care of me. Had some cereal

and soup. Stayed there another night but had to get up during

night.
For quite a few days I had been feeling fairly gcod. This

was a relapse which kxept happering to me. I was lucky to have

friends who helped me.

23 Ate some breakfast and left. Supposed to arrive today.

Went slow and had a lot of breaks. Seemed to almost be there

and had to backtrack. Went to a town and waited outside. It

started raining. Moved back again in rain. Felt miserable.

Got to barn after dark. Hard finding place.

Soretimes we would arrive after dark and they wculd herd
us into the barn ard lock the docr. Everybody was milling
around locking for a ¢éry place tc lie down. It tock guite a
while for everyone to get settled. It was a lot easier when we

could stop while it was still light.
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24 Had roll call. 8Still feeling bad. Had soup and spuds

late at night. Stayed in bed most of day. Got sick in night

B R L

s usual. I wonder if it will ever end.

25 suwnday Only got up twice during day. Stayed in even for

roll call. Felt weak. Didn't eat much. Not much to eat anywav.

26 Still the same. Went almost 24 hours without food but it

didn't help much. Had a better night of sleep. Took some aspirin.

One of our lager leaders whose nare is forgotten now gazve

re 4 aspirins and made me promise I would not take them all at

one time.

27 Still another day. Ate some spuds in morning. Read some in

Testament. Some fellows left and guards didn't like it. Shut

up early. '
28 Felt a little better. Stayed outside awhile. Red Cross

parcels came one per man. That helped morale around here.

Still didn't eat much.

I had tried to help my situatiom by not eating for awhile.
I think it did some gccd, but I decided to conrsult with the
American dcctor we had with us. I did rot know he was with us
until atout this time. Czpt. Leslie Czplan saved alot of lives.
I have read the article he wrote in a kock by Joseph P. 0'Donnell
about "The Shoe Leather Express". It was guite a challenge tc
work with so many men znd make decisions. I believe he was the
cne who ﬁade arrangerents with the Germans for che group cf
prisoners to gc ahead and get to thke tarn early. They would
clean out the pots which were used to cock fcod for the hogs

and have some hot water and toiled potatoes for us when we arrived.
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They also fixed up tempcrary latrines. The deccter held sick
call in the mcrning, and I started to go when I was exhausted.
One night I woke up with my feet uncovered and they were very
cold. They were to hurt ccnstantly for over a month.

March 1 Another month. March came in like a lion. Quite windy.

Read some. Felt weak. Orders came that we move tomorrow.

2 Started out again. If Ira Lewis and Ray Landman hadn't

carried my R.C. parcel some I wouldn't have made it. Just did

make the 28 kilometers. The wind was fierce.

My reccllections have been that the first of the month was
the last day I marched, but it turns out tc be the seccnd of
March. It snowed and wind tlew so hard you cculd almost lean
against the wind. My feet ached constantly and it was difficult
to keep coing. This was one of the mcst miserable days I had.
The next morning I, along with about 30 others, reported to Capt.
Caplan who was doing his best to keepr everybody gcing, and he
helped tc cheer everybedy up. The formatior had cne wagen drawn
by an ox which carried the belongings of the guards. The acctor
had requested that the wagon carry some of the werst cases and
the CGermans had¢ given perwmission for akout eight scldiers to
ride. The wagon was at the end of the formation and had been
used for a numter of days. On the morning of the 3rd the dcctor
told me to ride cn the wagor which was a mistake, but I didn't
know it then. I remember one scidier who had rHomatism which was
rainful, but the doctcr told him to merch as the pain was not

dektilitating. I almost gave him my place on the wagon but didn't.

S s
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Just about

3 Had to get on the wagon. Went through Warren.,

froze on the wagon. Ate a little more. Still sick.

At least when you are marching, or rather trudging through
the snow, you are active and the blocd must flow better. On the

wagon we just sat uncomfortably and froze.

4 sunday Snowed all day. Rode on wadgon. Got cramped and cold.

It can't last too much longer. Stopped at Sparrow. Quite weak.

with hospital group now.
The doctor had a group he called the hospital group which

I

got more of his attention.

5 On the wagon again. Steve helped me some now. It is cer-

tainly fine to have friends. Went quite a ways. Getting weaker.

I was not writing much now. I never knevw one cculd be so
riserable. Almost every day I would say to myéelf—-ThisAis as
ad as it can get. It cannot get'worse. The next day it was
worse. I could never get warm; I caught a cold and my nhose
started running. Diarrhea makes you weak. Then comes the prob-
lem ¢f ‘lice: once you get them you cannot get rid cf them. One
of the daily joys was removing each piece of clothing and finding
a louse and squeezing it to death. Finally, they would all be
gone. Then in the middle of the night the eggs would hatch and
the new generation would start to move all over your body. I
had lice until I was liberated. My main problem was my feet.
They seem to keep getting worse.

6 Dr. gave me an eqg. Can hardly stand up. 0Only went about

11 kilos today. Arrived early. Ate some spuds. Saw Doss again.

Got some soup. _

The doctor tried to get extra focd for the men- in the hospital

group.
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7 A day of rest. Getting better. Conrad visited awhile. Got

some barley. Been sick two weeks. Really weak. Bedded up with

Huffman.

Card dated Mar. 7, 1945Lake Nelkagamorn, Wis. postmarked same
date Superior, Wis.

Tear Mrs. Andersn, Have you heard any thing more frow your sm? OQur last word care an
Feb. 7 writter on Nov. 9. Said Nelson had received 7 letters fram his folks in vhich they said
we all knew ebout the boys' plight. Said andy ard te were so glad to at least know that we
kncw abart them.  (our boy calls yor s 2ndy I guess) Do you know anything akout prisoners
teing moved? Have feen hearing on redio that Stalag Luft 4 were amrg the anes beirp moved.
Did you hear it? Pllmi&asxnasIgﬁtnﬁﬁinﬂxmwﬂn_ Mrs. Meurer

8 Stayed over another day. This farm isn‘'t too bad. Always

seem to be thirsty. Pretty cold out. Didn't get out of bed much.

Thirst is worse than hunger.  The doctor had told us not to
@rink from a well. Water was to be boiled first. I saw one man

eating snow because he was s¢ thirsty.

9 Moved on wagon about 6 kilos. Cold but not windy. Got some

scrambled eqgs and bread. Certainly good. Feeling better. Small

barn. Staved at Stralenberg.

10 Aimost went to hospital but got on wagon and went on 14 more.

Windy ands cold. Feet hurt badly. Got soup and lots of spuds.

Went through Parchim today.

11 Sunday A day of rest. Laid in bed all day. Getting more

strength back. Got some more scrambled eggs and lots of spuds.

Ate some salmon, Nice day. Hear 2 days to go.
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12 Started out again. Walked without pack. Did fairly well

until the last 3 kilos. Got weak and had to get on wagon. Feet

ached and burned.

13 Got bread. Hospital group left but wagon group didn't go

until 1:30. Ken got me some soup. Rained. No fun on wagon.

Left Troy's bunch % got to Miller's group. Saw crew members.

Got barley.

Ken had gone tc the farmer's wife at the farm and asked for

some soup. She gave him some znd he split it with me. It was gocd.

14 A day of rest. Just changed barns. Bought some onions. Feet

still hurt badly. Read. Fairly nice day. Hungry most of the time.

Someonerhad dropped a German-English phrase book and I found
it. Some children were cutside their home and I tried some phrases
on them. I remember asking for some salt but they had no way 6f
giving me scme. I evidently bcught some onions which probtatly
were bad for me. I have no idea what I gave in exchange.

15 Maurer and Nelson joined hospital. Got a piece of Spam.

Crawford shaved and washed my face. Nice day. Getting hungry.

Feet got worse. Hot water & spuds.

Crawfcrd helped my morale by giving me a shave and washing
my face. I was blessed to have suich a fine crewv.

16 Had to be carried out all the time. Getting hungry. Got

spoonful of salmon. Nothing to do. Tired of lying in bed. Hot

water & spuds.

17 No rest last night. Feet ache and burn continuously. Not

getting better. When will war end? Hungrier yet. Soup & spuds.




18 sunday One more day. Read some. The nights are the most

miserable possible. Fairly good food today. Got fifth of R.C.

parcel. Not much.

The New Testament was wy reading material. I tried to read

a book a day but not in segquence.

19 Moved by wagon. With Troy's bunch'ggain. Got 2/5ths of a

loaf of bread and 1/8th 1b. of butter. Nice barn. Another

miserable night. Had goed barliey soup.

20 Moved by truck. Didn't take long to go 16 kilos. Went to

small barn. Got lots of hot water and spuds. A better night.

21 Dr. Caplan put Steve in charge of group going to hospital.

ut us on an open box car. Pretty cold. Didn't arrive til after

vl

dark. Laid in station for over an hour getting a wagon for

fellows to push.

I owe my life to Tr. Caplan. He had lived in Steutenville,
Ohio. After the war I tried to contact him when I went through
his town, but I never found him. I never did thank him progperly.
I rememter him tellinag me hcw much ketter I locked after Crawford
had shaved me. He tried to keep our spirits up but he had very
little to work with. He would beg for scme eggs and see that the
fellows in the hospital group would share. I remember him getting
a cup ¢f milk and giving everyone in the group a spoonful. One
time “he told me that my feet got so kad he was counsidering
zmputation btut he only had¢ a razor blade. When he had toco many
men who needed to ride the wagon he-would take akout 12 of them
ard leave them in a barn with a medic, or at least scmecne in
pretty gcod shape. When he finally had to leave me I was fortunate

to have Steve in charge.
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22 Nice day. Felt better until I got into sun. Feet burned.

2 f us were put on train with 2 guards. Passinger train.

Didn't go far but on all night. Feet hurt. Got l% R.C.parcels

My feet hurt sc much it was almost unbearable. On the train
I tried leaving my feet out the windcw so they would stay frozer
and I could sleep. I was not thinking rationally; If they started
to thaw the pain was intense. I consider myself lucky that I
didn't lose my feet like the doctor suvggested. The weather finally
warmed up enough for them to thaw out and I just cculdr't stop them.
For years afterwards I never wanted cover on my feet at night.

Letter from my mother tc me which I.read when I was home:
...had a card from Mrs. Maurer asking if I knew anything. I wrcte her right
away. We should te getting scme mail frow you written in December. The last
we ¢ot was written Nov. 17 and we gct it Mar. 10.

This was the dey the allies crossed the Rhine.

23 Seven of us missed the train. Stayed in station at Uelzen

from 5:30 til 11:00. Caught up with rest of group. Had an hour's

rest & moved to barn. Was made to walk. I'm a poor soldier.

While waiting for the train on the platform at Uelzern we
kad an air raid. We were asked if we wanted to go to the air
raid shelter, but we decided we had z better chance with allied
bcmes than we wculd with Germen civilians. TLuckily their target
fecr the day did not include the marshalling yards. The train had
pulled cut with only 13 of the 20 zboard with one gquard. Out of
the 7 who missed the train only cne cculd walk. One guard was
with us but he would not carry us. Steve carried me many times.
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A&t the train station there was a large taggage wagcn and
eix of us could sit or lie cn it. We waited until arother train
came and e ¢ot on the best way we cculd. We had missed the
earlier train because we could nct ﬁove fast enough. When we
gct to our destination and had to go to a barn there was no way
for the six of us to ride, and the others could rot carry us. We
had to walk. I guess I made it.

This reminds me of an incident which must have haprened
earlier. It was late zfternoon and I had had to stor a few
times becanrse of my diarrhea. I had fallen to the back of the
group. Nature called again and I went off to the left a few feet
and squatted. In a moment the trailing guard walked by and did
not notice me. When I got back to the road everyone was gone.
I rerember thinking; "I am free.", but it was short-lived. I
had no way of subsisting by myself in my condition. I walked
cn in the same directior ard caught up with themr when they
stopped about 20 minutes laterf I guess mwisery loves company.

This was another time when %y morale gct pretty low.

24 Stayed in bed most of day. I lost my R.C. parcel on train.

They made collection and I got a little food. Everything happens

to me. More fellows coming all the time. Soup once a day.

On the first train I got separated from my R.C. parcel,.
I was bty the window and it was bty the docr. They told me not to
worry about it. It had rowhere to go. When the group goct split
I figured my parcel was with the other grcup. When we finally got
back with them they had no knowledge of my parcel.Talk about

having low spirits! The fellows did take ur a collecticn for me.
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I must have received scme good things but the only thing I carn

remember is that I got a can of kutter. Just what I needed!

25 Sunday Talked with Churchill. Split a can of meat & beans.

Walked a bit. Washed a little. Getting diarrhea again. Need

some bread.

26 Cooler today. Stayed in bed in morning. Steve came in.

Finished Acts. Got haircut that I really needed. Time passes

rather slowly.

Somewhere cn this trek I found myself going through a town
and no guards were in sight. I went up to the dcor of a house
and knccked. A woman answered and I said, "Cigzretten fiir brot."
I had a package of cigarettes and I wanted to trade. She called
her husband and I repeated my request. Hertold his wife something
and she came with a rather large round loaf of bread. He tooX out
a2 knife and cut the bread in half. At that momenrt a guard yelled
at me. I often have thought how I should have giver him half the
cigarettes, but I exchanged the pack for half a loaf. That bread
sustained me when I had very little else to eat.

27 Still ccol. Getting Lungrier. Got spuds and soup today.

Impossible to get more. All I can do is just lie and wait.

Could be worse I guess.

28 Didn't get much to eat. Got on wagon and went to railway

station. Was put in boxcar. Stayed there all night without

moving. Quite an experience. Got some bread.

The 40 hours we spent in the kcx car was probably the most
trauratic experience of my life (except possibly bailing cut).
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‘It started about 2 in the afterncon when we were herded intc the
toxcer. Most of the cars had 6C prisoners, but since I wes in
the so-called hospital group only 55 were in my boxcar. I recall
meeting a liecternant who knew my, sister at Kansas State. He was
a nrice fellow and I enjoyed talking with him. It was uvnusual to
meet an officer as all of us were enlisted men.

We knew the train wculd not move until after dark. Just
before dark we decided to see if it could be arranged for every-
one to lie down. Everyone goct or their right side with their
knees bent and sqgueezed up to the next fellow. That way we got
two rows. It worked pretty well. Only one fellow had to stand.
I guess he exchanged positions during the night. I fell asleep
and woke up cramped and with a feeling of claustrophokia. The.
train had not moved. I stretchked out my left leg. I knew if T
gct up to stretch my place cn the floor wculd disappear. I felt
" a real need tc stretch out my right leg. I had lost my freedom
months ago and adjusted to it, but here I had 1ost the freedcm
to stretch. I vowed never to get into.a situation like this
again. As light céme into the car everybody woke up. They were
all thirsty ard hungry. I still had a crust of the bread I had
boucht with cigarettes, but I knew if I tock it out of my pocket
somecone would grab it. At ry end of the car across from me was
& small window about 7-feet high. The can was.ccnstantly being
rassed to the fellow by the windoﬁ to throw out. We kegsn to act

like a bunch of animals. I really cannot recall much of what
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happened. My diary says: Got some bread. I have ro recollection
of that. We stayed in the car all the next day and finally the
train mcved during the night. We were really a bedraggled buncﬁ
of survivors. The new camp was at Fallingbostel, Stalag XI B,

and had over 10,000 prisoners of all different nationalities.

0f course, we had to c¢limb a hill to get to it. We were put

in tents in the American sector where the barracks were occupied

ky infantry troors.

29 Train moved about 60 kilos. Arrived at a lager. Looked

good. No food. Raining. Was put in tent. Really hungry.

. . . , H
This is the day the allies take Mannheiw and Frankfgrt.

30 Got guarter Red Crosg parcel. Ate most of it right away.

Somebody swiped my bread during the night. Lost a D-bar too.

War news good.

31 Finally got some soup and spuds. Really good. Still extra

hungry. Hope it can't last much longer. Had stomach pains.

April 1 Easter Sunday Began to draw rations. Got bread, sugar

" & butter. I don't like lying in bed all the time. Hungry.

Padre Morgan said prayer in tent. Wish I were home. Soon I hope.

On Easter Sunday 1944 we had left Ardmcre, Cklahoms. My
father had died the cday after Easter in 1943. On Easter 1945 I
was tharkful to ke alive.

Undated éard postmarked April 1, 1945 (possibly April 10)

Dear Mrs. Indersn, Have you had any wexd fram your oy lately? I surely hope so.

Tre: last letter I hed frar Frmest was written Nev. 12. I would appreciate it if you let me
know if you Yed any news, and I hope the boys will scon be Fare.  Yaors truly, Mrs. Gore Crawford
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2 Got less rations today. No spuds or butter. Read some.

Played cards. The time passes slowly. Rained most of day.

3 Quite cool. Rain storm for awhile. Soup wasn't so good

but had to eat something. Time is heavy on my hands. Don't

feel too good either.

4 I don't see how we keep on living. Wrote letter home.

Read some. Quite cool and rainy. Air raids all the time. News

good.

Needless to say this letter never arrived. News reports
came often. They were still bringing in prisorers who had been

captured less thar 50 miles away. Each day the distance kept

getting less.

5 Got some oleo. Only 2 spuds today. Moved to convalescent

tent next door. Getting cold. News came that we may have to

move again. Finished Gospel of John.

6 Cold day. News and rumors going around. Got a guarter

R.C. parcel. Got more soup than usual. Took typhus shot.

Toast some bread. Had more to eat today.

7 Warmed up into a fairly nice day. Got guarter Canadian

R.C. parcel. Got good soup today. The food stuation isn't so

bad now. Had some peanuts. Good.

8 Sunday German order woke us up. Everybody to move. All

air corps left except sick. Read some. Felt better. Air

raid all day. Cold in evening. Washed and shaved.
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I knew I could not march again. I was bharely able to walk.
In order to avoid the forration I went up to the French section.
The prisonefs there had been prisoners for years and were getting
rersonal parcels from home. I remember one fellow was baking
bread. The aromwa was mouth-watering. The Germans didn't like
it when some of the air corps men remained. If wé were sick we
were tc go to the hospital. If we were not sick then we would
march. This was not a gcod choice. Every day a contigent of
soldiers carried a kody out of the hosgpital and buried it a short
ways away. No one wanted to go to the hgspital. The Germans
threztened to cut off the focd supply. The next day we were to

fall out for inspection.

9 Not gquite so good today. Got small ration of bread and no

spuds. Soup was OK. Afternoon was nice and ~"warm. Fighters

did some strafing.

We gbt into formatior at nocn but ar air raid made us take
ccver. It lasted all afterncon. We were told to report at nocn
the next day. The next morning most of the Germans were gcne.
Arrangements had been made with the British for their help in
running the camp. The few Germans still carried the guns and
patrolled around the camp, but a British soldier was allowedAto

acccrpany the guard.

10 Got a half a parcel so we eat awhile longer. Another nice

day. The war can't last much longer. Went walking about the

camp. Some fellows are worse off than I.
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11 Day went faster. Alot of gunfire last night. News is

good. Finally got a shower. Really felt good. Traded shirt

for 17 crackers. Warm today. Hear Germans are leaving.

Another thing the French had, besides the fact that
american Red Cross for relief of French prisoners cf war was
evidently plentiful, was s gccd supply of crackers. I decided
tc sell the extra shirt that I had been wezring for more than
two mcnths. I deloused it the best I cculd and took it up to
the French tarracks to sell it. I went through the rooms
asking . for vingt (20) crackers. No cne seemed interested, but
at the last room one Frenchman said gquinze (15). I knew then
wvhat wase goinc tc haprpen. It was a gocd shirt and wecrth nore
than 20 crackers. I lowered the price to 19 and hLe went up to
16. After more haggling we arrived at 18 and 17. Neither
would budge. Finally he shrugged his shoulders ard walked off.
I conceded the cracker ard accepted 17. He went to a chest of
dravers and inside the drawer was & tremendous numker of crackers.
He ccunted out 17 and I gave him the shirt.

This is the day the allies reached the Elbe river.

12 Water shut cff most of dey. Gct some opium medicine which

stopped me up. Very little sgoup today ard bad stuff anyway. Ate

peanut butter crackers and tuna fish for supper.

13 This is just mere existence. My diarrhea returned in

force. 3rd day without bread. Cooked up some meat & beans

(C rations) and spuds. Maybe tomorrow.
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14 Cooler today. Felt a little better. Got half a R.C.

parcel and a fifth a loaf of bread. Ate guite a bit but never

enough to get full. Read some. Getting impatient.

As T read this row it seems that I was getting plenty to
eat. My recollection is that food was very scarce and never

far from my mind and thouvghts.

15 Sunday Went to communion service at 9:00. Cool today.

Hungry today. Went to 3:00 church service. Hear Padre Morgan

on "Being a Real Person”. I did me good. Fried some spuds.

Looks like tonight. Got another tyvphus shot. Did some think-

ing about myself. I don't do so goed. I dguess I'm lazy. Made

big breakfast.

I had been reading my New Testament and only had one more
chapter tc read. It seemed that tte war kept dragging on.
Rumcrs were in every day about how close the trocps were. They
evidently bypassed the camp before they arrived so as to provide

more protection.

16 Finally the British arrived. Charge over was made. Fellows

started confiscating Jerry supplies. Had sauerkraut for lunch.

Heated up some meat and beans. Cooked macaroni.

I shall never forget this ¢ay. At 8:37 A,M, as I was
finishing reading the final chap&ra tank.from the British 2nd
army drove up to the gate and eﬁeryone started - shouting. The
Cerman guards got intc formétion ané marched into @ building in
camp. A commandé car drove up and the transfer was made to
British commard. Some of the British and American commandos

went. over the barbed¢ wire fernce arrd went into town. I recall
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seeing one pair of GIs setting a table with silver cardlesticks and
gilverware znd having a real feast.

We were told to remain in camp but many guys went off the
tase. Some cf them even went to a concentration camp a few miles
off. They said what they saw was untelievable. Some gunfire
was s8till heard so I had no desire to leave the camp.

Card dated April 16, 1945 postmarked same date Memphis, Tenn.

Dear Mrs. Andersan, Just a few lines to see if you have heard fram Jom recently.
Isﬁx&nﬂy?ngaﬂﬁtyulhmezmdwiu.kilsleaﬂ&unyn. The last letter we had from
Emest was dated Nov 12th, and we received tle letter atoct the middle cf Feb. We have kept
in touch with the Red Cross, and they told us that Iuft 4 was teing moved into the vicinity
of Haiturg and were supposed to have reached there some time in Marc:, tut they had no repart
that they tad arrived. Jdm was in Iuft 4, wasn't Ye? If you have teard since we have, will
yu1pkn&awﬁietonyntﬂerofne. Mom's address is Cotbon Plant, Ark. Tharnking you very
mch, I am, Sincerely, Ovie Crawford

17 Slept better. Nothing but dry rations today. Fried spuds

and cooked macaroni. Was issued white bread. Went to show but

generator broke. Fried more spuds.

The British.saw to it that everyone gct a loaf of white
krezd which I ate immediately. That afternoon T got a good seat
for the movie that was tc be shown. The projector wouldn't vork.
Did anyone know how to make it work? After about an hour we

went back to our tents.

18 Cooler. Didn't feel too good. Fixed myself enough to eat

today. First shipment left. Wrote letter home. Went to show

with Churchill but didn't stay. Tomorrow I hope.
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This time the rocm for the movie was packed before I got
there. I was able Fo lie decwn and stick my head under the
screen but the view was not so good, so I didn't stay.

Letter dated April 18, 1945

Am still in Germany but at least I'm free. Should be
leaving socn. I will write a longer letter as soon as I get
some time and get a bit more settled. We are eating white
kread again ncw. The cther boys are nct with me but by the
sound of the news they should te liberated soon if not already
now. This camp is near Fallingbostel. I have certainly had
zlot of experiences lately kut that can wait for now. The main
thing is that I'm free now. The British arrived 2 days ago.
Hcpe I am home tefore long. Am well and on my way to full
recovery.

I have an Identity Card for ExPrisoner of War issued at
Stalag XI B signed ky W. P. Lightfoot, Maj A C

19 Fried some bread and cheese. Got sprayed for lice. Rode

on truck to British transient camp. Had some good stew. Went

to show. Saw "Pin-up Girl". Slept in tent. Last night in
Germany. |

As my group hobkled out of camp to get into the trucks
we broke out singing "Off we go into the wild, blue yonder".
The line akout "down in flames"” had a special meaning to all
of us. I had tears in hy eyes this time.

20 Late in getting breakfast. Had powdered eggs. Laid

around most of day. Took truck to airport. Flew in DC-3

from Dieholtz to Brussels. Got deloused and a good dinner. Tired.
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At the airport we saw Eisenhower's plane. He was there
for sore kind ¢f a meeting. The YMCA had a bcoth at the airport
and they offered some nice things to eat and drink. I forgot to
mention that the stew I ate the day kefore tasted gcod but I cculd
only eat a few tites before I was full. That was a new sensation
for me.

My plane was suppcsed to fly to England, but due to a late
ctart it got dark and the decision was made to land in Bfussels
so as not to fly the channel at night.

Letter dated April 20, '45 on YMCA statiomery with no
rostmark, only the sign stamped Passed by censcr No. 15032

Just c¢ct served tea, cake and cookies Ly the YMC2A and they
certainly tasted delicious. We are waiting now to board a plane
to leave Germsny. It feels gcod to eat regular meals again that
are rezl meals. Also ate alot of jam sandwiches this afternocon.

Should be hore soccn.

Mother told me later she gave a dcnation to the YMCA after

she received this letter.

21 Stomach out of order. Took shower and got new clothes.

Missed shipment leaving. Went to town. Saw tomb of Unknown

Soldier & cathedral. Had cream filled cookies and ice cream,

Went to news theater. Bought lace handkerchieves. Went to

dance & floor show. Got stranded in city.

The morning I woke up in Brussels I wandered around the
camp and fourd a shower. I stayed in the shower for at least
a half hour. When I went back the group I was with had gone to

England. One other fellow was in the same situation. A British
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officer tqld us to go to supply and get a uniform. Then we
reported to him and ke gave each of us 2,00C Belgium francs.
We Lad to sign a receipt. I expect the US government reimbursed
the BPritisk. We went to town and had a good time. I remember
going into & restaurant and saying in my best high school French,
"Donnez-moi un plat de glacé&, s'il vous plait." Tbe waiter
replied,"Chocolate cr vanilla?" I had a dish of each.

I sent the handkerchieves home to my mother and sister.
The street cars guit running at midnighkt and I didn‘'t know that.
Luckily, a military vehicle picked me up and tock me back to camg.
This was such a nice day that we decided to do the same the next

day. The officer gave us 2.000 more frarcs but said it wculd ke

the last.

22 Sunday Still not in top shape. Went downtown. Ate ice

cream. Came back to base. Went to symphony concert. Enjoyved

it. Not much excitement today. Wrote home.

Another letter on YMCA stationery with stamp: Passed by
Base 1081 Army Examiner, arother stamp marked PAID Great Britain
and a postmark May 23, 1945 APO. The back of the envelope has
some scotch tape printed with the words Opened by U.S. Examiner.
The letter is dated April 21, 1945, but it was evidently written
on April 22nd.

It is Sunday morning and I'm still in Brussels. I have
the opportunity to stay here as long as I want or leave by plane
for either England or France any day. This seems like a wonder-—
ful chance to see things so I may delay my coming home for awhile

and lock the city over. Yesterday I went into town -and saw a
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nurker of interesting places. Todzy 1 want to go to the Con-
servatory here and see what it is like. Perhaps I'll gc to an
opera tohight.

I am still in British hanrds. i den't mind it at all because
they treat us fine. A&s soon as T leave here I go to the American
avtthorities. At present, 1I'm even wearing a British uniform with
a big broad hat. I'm sitting in the canteen here ncw where every-
thing is free. Yesterday in town T had ice cream again. I'm
looking forward to alot of gcod things tc eat when T get home.

Guess I'll quit now. Will write more later. Save the last

few days' papers for me.

23 Up fairly early. Had fried eqggs & bacon for breakfast. Went

to the Conservatoire de Musigque and then to G.I. Joe's (PX). Had

coke and candy and peanuts. Left on train. Talked with Belgium

soldier. Arrived at Namur. In American hands. Had shower, typhus

shot and got new clothes. Ate chicken dinner.

When T started into the PX the MP stopped me and said only
Americanr soldiers were allowed in there. I shawed him my one
dcg tag sc he took me to the PX officer. After hezring my story
the officer told the clerks to let me have whatever J wanted.
Many things were still rationed. The ccke seemed unusually strong
btut the candy and peanuts were good. My friend said he was going
to Paris. I decided I wcould rather gc into A2merican hands. I
evéntually gct to Paris in 195%.

24 Three good meals today. Ate quite a bit. Went to town and

looked around. Went again in afternoon and saw movie "Sensations

f 1945". Nothing to do in town. Went to jam session after supper.
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Pictures taken in Namur, Belgium on.#bril 24, 1948,
eight days after I was liberated. I got weighed also and
the amount was in stones (one stone equals 14 pounds), but
but I forget what it was. I expect I weighed a few pounds
over 10C. My weight when I went in the army was 130 pounds.

Letter daeted April 24, 1945, postmarked Apr. 27th

I'm in American hands now and finally have on the G.I.
uniform. It feels gccd to return to the old way of life. I am
dn v Namur, Belgium now and shoulﬁ leave here scon. Went to
show in town this afternoon and then walked around town. I
dcn't care much for this taown.

Yesterday morﬁing while I was still in Brussels I went
to the Conservatory which is a pretty good size building. We
left by train but I think we will gc by piane next.

You should receive some lace which I sent yesterday.
Also have some eXpensive handkerchieves for fou; I have a 1lot
of mcney coming se I may splurgé'once in awhiie. I'1l save most
of it sc¢ I should have guite a sum wken I get hcme. Should ke
there before long.

Get interviewed today for the paper but it will protakly
be a dull story. Things arn't too bad in Germany; .I'11 tell

my story when I get home. Getting good ‘meals and 211 I can eat.

Will try and write again tomcrrcw of next day.
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Card dated Apr 24, 1945 pcstmarked 2pr. 26 Rcbbinsdale,.Minn.
Dear Mrs. Andersan, T know yeu will ke glad to hear tiat we have heard fram Don.  We got
a card Sat last Gated Dec. 17. Be said he was (K but sure wisted he vas hare. He also said be
Ted teard frar us. I have been qoing to write kit T havn't teen too well. T ted an operation
4 wecks ago was in the hospital 14 days. I feel pretty good bt I get tired fast. It was sc
cood to hear fram Don even if it was dated a while kack. I do hope and pray they will be able
to ome: hare sock ard that this all will ke cver. I will write any other news we get and will
you & the sare please. Sincerely, Mes. Carl Nelsm

25 Ate quite a bit again. Wrote home. Wish I could leave here.

After supper went to show on base "Kansas City Kitty". Not S0 hot.

Heard jazz band again.

V-Mail letter dated 2pril 25, 1945, postmarked May 7

Things are mocving slowly around here. I deon't know why they
are keeping us here but there is a hold-up somewhere. I wish I
hzd stayed in Brussels another day before ccming here. We are
cetting gocd meals here. I had steak ard ice cream for dinner
today. They dcn't allow us to go into.tOWn now¥ 8¢ there is nothing
much to do. I would like to get tc Paris while I'm over here. I
doubt if I'1ll ever ke kack on this side of the ccean again.

There are various stories as to how nuch furlouch time we
#ill get in the U.S8. I want to get home kefore the schouol term
is cver if possible. I may even be discharged kefore long but
I'm not counting on it yet.

Hope everything is all right at hcme. You protatbrly won't
gef a chance to write to me tefore I get home tut I'll keep you

informed as to my whereabouts.
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Card dated April 25, 1945 pcstmarked same date Superior, Wis.
Dear Mrs. Anderscn, Have been wondering if you've heard any thing more zbast the toys.
We mnderstand that sare of the 211ied Frisaers have been likerated. Hre axr boys sre amcng
ther. Iet me hear from you pleese. Ib. Rowe vrcie me a lstter he is stationed in Fla.

Sincerely, Mis. Maurer

26 Read some. Played some ping pong. Went on a couple of rides

in a jeep. Felt good to do that again. Went to town in afternoon.

Came back for supper. Went to Red Cross Club and to Allied Forces

Club. Got doughnuts, shave and coke.

27 Up at 5:00. After breakfast we rode in open trucks through
o)

rain to get to Liege to catch a plane which never arrived. Rode

3

to Namur. Had a big meal. Wrote home. Went to Red Cross

bac

Casino Club. Had doughnuts. Saw some Luft 4 men. Went to show.

Saw "Show Businesg". Entertaining.

V-Mail letter dated April 27, 1945, pcstmarked May 4

Delayed cne more day. Went to Liege to catch plane today
kut it never came. Beginning to wonder if I will ever leave
here. Getting anrxious to get home cr at least to the states.
I'1l telephone or telegraph as sccr as I arrive in the U.S. At
least I'm gettin¢g good meals here. Only wish there was more to
do. Gecing to town again tcnight kut not much to ¢éoc there. They
do have a nice Reé Cross Club. Will write again scon.

28 Supposed to go again but it was cancelled. More fellows

always coming in. Took a nap in afternoon. Saw show on base .

"Gambler's Choice". Maybe tomorrow.
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29 Sunday Raining. Went to church in town at the Allied Forces

Club. Started snowing when I got back. Ate dinner four times.

Finally we got on train and left. It's about time. Stopped for

coffee at 8:00. Quite chilly outside.

Letter dated 2pril 29, 1945 pcstmarked day 2

Sunday again arnd I'm still at Namur. The weather has been
bad for the last three dzys which is the reason I guess we hkavn't
flown out of here. The rumor that isgoing akout now is that we
leave this afterncon by train. I sure hcpe so.

It is certainly cold for this time of the yezr. It even
snowed awhile ttis mcrning.

Went to church in tcwn this morning. Belgivm is a Catholic
nation so there arn't many Frotestant churchkes here. Church was
held in a theater for us.

I bought an Eversharp rencil at the P%¥ which is just like
the cne.I had when I was shot down. It is blue and I like it.

I left the other one in the plane when I bailed out. It only
cost 80¢.

Wert tc 2 ¢good movie in town Fridsy night. Saw Eddie Cantor
in "Show Business”". Last night we wern't allowed in town but
they showed a film here on the base. It wasn't so hot. They
havna't got much arcund here in the way of entertainment tut they
are trying to add mcre all the time. We should have left here
leng agc arnyhow.

My small knowledge of Frerch comes in hancy arourd here.
I‘Can tell people whet I want but I can't understand everything
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they say in return. Since I've been c¢verseas I've heard zlot
of languages. I never thought I'd have the chance tco use any
cf them. Unfortunately I fcroot all the German I had that
sunmer. I pickeé up a little but I can forget it now.

Havn't written anybody else since I've been freed and think
I will wait until 1 get howme. I bet alot has happéned in the
year T've teer gore. Get ready to tell me all akcut it. Will
get hcme some time in May.

30 Ate chow at stop on the way. 1:30 chicken again. Had to

sleep on

eggs and ocatmeal. Arrived at camp pear Le Harve at 2:00. Stiii

train. Stopped again at 9:00 for breakfast. Had fried

chilly. Chow was cold when I got it. Not as good either. Saw

part of a U.S.0. show. Not much to do. Staying in tent.

May 1 Snow and rain. Didn't go to breakfast. Doctor looked at

me. Got French money for Belgium money. Got issued more clothes.

Wrote air mail letter home. Took a nap. Given PX rations. Ate

two good meals today. Moved to another area.

Letter dated¢ Mzy 1, 1945 on 2merican Red Crcss stationery
postmarked May 3. Envelope has €¢ stamwp marked Air Mail

It may be the first day of May but it is still ccld here.
I'1l be glad to get to a warm climate again.

Finally we left our last station ané hzve moved again.
Gcing through scme more processing @nd then awaitihg the boat home.
I should be cn the ccean again tefore long anrd undoubtedly I will
e ez sick as T was before.

I'm sending this sir mail as I am able to huy these envelores

here. I wonder if ycu have keen receiving any of the other letters

147



1've been writing. Was gcing to serd @ cable kut they only have
form messages and they say it isr't any guicker.

The other boys arn't with me so I guess I ought tc write
somekody's mether when I get kack at least. I was luckier than
they I ttink. We'll have to heve a big reunion scmetim@.

There isn't much to write now and besides I'm cold. Will

write mcre scon.

2 Went through processing in morning. Got new dog tags. Ate

dinner and supper twice. Went to show. Saw "Rainbow Island”.

Should be home before long. It'll do me good.
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3 Stayed ip bed until 10:30. Wert t

Moved tc shipping area. Maybe leave tomorrow.

——— ——r ——r

[

000 francs.

Got paid
A telegram, dzte starped May 3, PM 6 27, reacheé my mother:

THE SECRETARY OF WAR DESIRES ME 10 INFROM [sic] YOU THAT YOUR
£ON T/SGT ANDERSON JOHN H RETURNED TO MILITARY CCNTROL 20 APR 45=
J A ULIOC THE ADJUTANT GENERAL.

4 Rained during night and morning. Got up for breakfast but

wished I hadn't. Slept til lunch. Went to show in afternoon.

Saw "Secret Command". Ate supper. Went to another theater on base.

Saw "Kismet". Had cookies. Wrote entry in war bond contest on

post-war plans.

Letter dated May 4, 1945 postmarked Mey 10 Miami, Fla

Deea’ Mrs. Andersan, It is ae of theee nights, I heve had so meny of lately, wtere I am
wakle to slesp—sc I'm catcting vp cn sae writing. We are =o very lapxy for you, thet Jon,
cx litkle "Static Fappy" has beer liberated. Just knowing te is safe § alive telps the eternity
it will seem to take tefcre e arrives hame.  Althoagh save of the Yoys have been returring 3 & 4

weeks after beinc liberated. -
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T have kesn extremely busy at Red Cross, assisting the Priscners of War Casiltant, in this
office ve cet all missing in actio: cases—whether casiglty & Frisarers so you can well reclize
wat a ' -full" jdb it must be, but sarehow just tre fact of knowing I've relped others mekes
it essier for me, in spite of the fact that I have to hurry ard catch-up with ny work zt hoee &
reglect. other duties likewise. So krowing where: & how I have spent my timer, keeping tusy, youwill
find it a little easier to farget my carelessress in not writing scorer.

Qur Welt was last heard of in Stalag Tuft 3 in Sagen. Ween tte Fussiars vere rear they were
mwved to Mmbarg-—ster: Petch's 7kt reared that tom, apparently trey were mowed acain far anly 200
Mrericers were fond., We zre led to telieve they were moved to Mcocshng-—7 A and that ceanp was
literated Arzil 29 Ly Pattorn. Now there is ro definite revs of Walt's movements—o official wordg-—
mly thru Red Qross Bulletins etc., 3 therefore it is mcre or less @ "guessing cane”. We last heard
frar him thru letter dated Decerdoer 25th ard it seers so lay age.

Our Bsby Bk is in thre Facific on a Carrier, he is night. fighter pilot, NAVY, sp it's mare
to think about. T know we cen deperd cn you praying for o fellows. It is a omfort to ve to know
you €o. Will let you krew @s som as we rec. sare word of Walt, it stauld e very son & again we
are tepry you heard from Jon.  Write acein soon.  Sincerely, Reg Cellins

Also enclosed is a newspaper clipping marked: for John's
gscrapbook--Miami Daily News Society Section D, Sunday, Feb. 25, 1945
picture of Mr. & Mrs. L. H. Collins conferring with Mrs. Hazel
+Dillingham, Red Cross "Prisoner of War" consultant; a picture of
their son Lt. Walter G. Collins; and a picture of a Nazi concen-

tration camp.

5 Wrote letter home. Got baggage checked and mcved Lo last

shipping barracks. Another physical exam and turned in money.

Went to air force tent. Located Lt. Sanborn and Lt. Collins and

talked with them for awhile.
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The camp in Le Harve was called  Camp Lucky Strike. You
astarted at one end of camp and as you got processed you moved
toward the other end. Each area had a different ﬁess hall and
the food kept getting worse. I kept going back to the first
mess hall until they issued mess cards. I was still sick but
1 did not want to be in a tent hospital in France. I would
walt until I got on board a ship to tell them I needed help.

It was good to see Sanborn and Collins again. It was the
firet time I had seen Sanborn since our last mission. They
both seemed to be in pretty good shape.

Letter dated May 5, 1945 postmarked May 9 in Air Mail envelope.

Again I'm just waiting for something to happen. We have been
processed and arranged in :the final grouping for the shipment home.
Now all we have to do is to wait until the time comes to leave.
Army life is half waiting anyway.

I had my choice of being sent to either Jefferson Barracks
near St. Louis or to Ft. Leavenworth aé my reception center. My
furlough will start from there. I decided that Ft. Leavenworth
was best so I will be sent there. We shouldn't stay there longer
than 48 hours. What I've been thinking is that the train will
have to go to KC first so I may have a lay over there. 1I'll Try
and inform you about the situation when I reach the states.

“"here arn't many fellows with me that I know. One fellow
that I met back in camp that knows Gene Christy is with me. He
lives near where Gene had his choir. A new bunch of officers
carié iy recently and I'm going to try and look them over.

Maybe some of my crew are among them. -
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Just read in the paper where our furlough has been extended
from 21 days to 60 days. That seems like quite awhile. I'm hoping
I get home in May sometime so I can go over to school before it's

out. 60 days ought to be a real vacation and in the summer time

too.

Here it has been raining every day since I've been here.
Weather here in France is similar to that in England. I hope it
is warm at home.

Saw a couple of movies yesterday to pass away the time. Don't
know what I'll do today. The meals are just regular army meals
again. I'm looking forward to eating alot when I get home.

That's all for now. Hope to see you soon.

Card dated May 5, 1945 postmarked same date Lake Nebagamon, Wis.

Dear Mrs. Anderson, Just received word that Augie tas oeen liberated by the Arericans an
Aor. 26. So supose your boy is free too. We do thark God very much far making this possible.
Hope your ward is thru to you.  Am writing the others. Tet me know when you hear. Sincerely,

Mrs. Maurer

6 Sunday Ate breakfast. Went to church at 9:00. Ate again at

10:30. Loaded on trucks and went to Le Harve. Got on the boat

$.S. Marine Fox. Ate too much for supper. Overloaded my stomach

and didn't feel too good. Was on KP washing trays. Boat shoved

off.

The first meal on board ship was a great meal. Ilaté it
three times. The sergeant in charge asked the soldier with the
counter how many had eaten. He gave a number around 1400. The
sergeant said that only a little over 500 soldiers,wefe dg.board
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so he shﬁt down the line. About thirty soldiers were still in

line and they said, "Sarge, we havn't eaten yet."

1 should be gaining weight

7 Had three good solid meals today.

now. Staved on deck most of day. Read. Boat pulled into South-

Took shower early in the morning after nap.

hampton in afternoon.
| card dated May 7, 1945 postmarked May 8 Wilkinsburg, Pa

Dear Mrs. Andersn, Reoeived your card and I an happy to hear that you heve heard et
your s tes keen liberated and thet he will be hare som.  As far Robert T lavn't had any ness
axnceming him as far as this date. T also ted a card today from Mrs. Maurer saying her son was

literated. Will send you a card as som as I get news.  Sincerely, Mrs. R. F. MoIntyre

8 Ate breakfast. Slept til dinner. Heard Churchill speak on
radio. War is officially over in Europe. I wonder if I will see

action in the South Pacific. Attended thanksgiving service on deck

of ship. Read. Boat finally pulled out into harbor but stopped

again. Ate supper twice again as usual.

Finally the war in Europe was over and I was on board a ship

headed for home. It was a great feeling.

9 Finally set sail. Got PX rations. Ate candy bars, peanuts

and cookies. Only ate 4 meals today. I'll be giad when this trip

is over. Saw "My Kingdom for a Cook". Finished book "A Journey

Through the Fog" by Goodhue. Not too interesting.

10 Slept most of day. The sea was a bit rough. Went on deck

gfter“éugger.' Submarine excitement. Surprised I'm not sea-sick

?h.w
11 Got 2 more boxes of candy bars. I'll get sick yet. Volun-

teered for duty in serving at chow. Read book "Lost Worlds" by

White. Ate early. Chaplain on board had hymn sing. Sat on deck

all evening. Listened to recordings of classical music.
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I still have an Early Chow Ticket dated May 11, 1945 where
I am authorized to eat early chow at 6:30, 11:00 and 16:00. Only
one meal at a time was allowed and I wanted to be sure I got all

T wanted.

12 Got up early. Ate breakfast and went back. Didn't do much

during day. After supper listened to records of semi-classical

music on deck. Went to show. Saw "Waikiki Wedding" and "Memphis

Belle",., I'm probably eating too much candy.

When I went to the movie on board I would take a box of
Ritz crackers and a box of Baby Ruth candy bars and finish off
both of them. I was still hungry most of the time so I volunteered
for KP so I was sure to get more to eat. I remember serving
pineapple one time and taking a bite almost every time I served

some one.

13 sunday Mother's Day Wish I could have been home. Worked

serving at all meals today; Served prunes for breakfast. Went

to church on deck. Nice day. Served fruit for dinner. Went to

communion service. Served corn at night. Ate alot. Felt gquite

tired and full.

Telegram dated May 13 PM 12 51

SAFE AND WELL HAPPY MOTHERS DAY LOVE

Letter dated May 13, 1945 postmarked May 14 Staunton, Va

My dear Mrs. Anderson, T want to tell you how heppy T am thet John is free and all right.
I can say that I know how you feel for last Tuesday I received ward thet Fred wes liverated. MWy
notification care fram the associated press. They sent a list of Va, Washingbon, Maryland and
Parn men wo were literated by the Third amy in Germeny.

As yet, I have not heard from Fred. I do not krow where they were or-when they were
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1iberated. All T know is thet ke is free, and that is plenty for me. I'm so very grateful,
ﬂmﬁﬁﬂ,aﬂlﬂgy.IwahqumdaﬂJdnwﬁltdmtnhmesmn.
Hsmek&pnepaﬁaim;IhnwEmdwﬂlwm#tncutatJdn. I'm so teppy for you.

Iove, Chloe Sanbarm

14 Slept most of morning. stayed in bed most of afternoon.

Went on deck for a little while. Windy out. Time is passing

rapidly. Will be home soon.

card dated May 14, 1945 Postmarked May 15 Robbinsdale, Minn

Dear Mrs. Andersan, We got our telegram Sat nite 9:45 that Dn was liberated May 11.
You can imegine how we Felt and hov thankful we were. It made a complete Mothers Day far me.
Te got the message by phore from the Red (ross. T got a letter from Mrs. Collins and they
Thedn't heard yet but they nust have heard by now. Will close for now and T will let you know
of mry other news too. Sincerely, Mrs. Elesnor Nelsm

15 Did serving in mess hall again. Served eqgs for breakfast,

ad

soup for dinner and pig knuckles for supper. Went to second show.

Saw "The Fallen Sparrow". Played bingo awhile.

Card dated May 15, 1945 postmarked May 16 Cotton Plant, Ark.

Dear Mrs. Anderson, Just to let you know that T received a telegram yesterday saying
that Ermest had been liverated. It didn't say when. I really was relieved. T hed keen sick.
Put sch news as that is enough to meke amyone feel better. I amglad that half the var is over
and T pray thet the other will te over som.  Sincerely, Mrs. Cara Crawford

S & Felt the worse of any day on trip. The sea was rough during

morning. Went on sick call in -afternoon. Wrote letter to Mrs.

Nelgon. Read. I1I'm no sailor,

17 Nice dav. Ouite hot. Ventilating system broke. Served

o

'ééreai for breakfast, apples for lunch and bread and butter for
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supper. Read. Went to second show. Saw "Whistling in Brooklyn".

Telegram dated May 17, AM 9 35 reached my mother

THE CHIEF OF STAFF OF THE ARMY DIRECTS ME TC INFORM YOU
YOUR SON T/SGT ANDERSON JOHN H IS BEING RETURNED TO TﬁE UNITED
STATES WITHIN THE NEAR FUTURE AND WILL BE GIVEN AN OPPORTUNIT?
TO COMMUNICATE WITH YOU UPON ARRIVAL= J A ULIO THE ADJUTAN% GENERAL

18 Went to movie extras early in morning. Slept til 2:00. Read.

Slept on deck in afternoon. Took shower at night.

Evidently I only worked KP every other day. I still had

diarrhea and the medic gave me something but it didn't work. The

next time he said, "This will really stop you up." Sure enough
it did.
19 Served cake for breakfast, ice cream for dinner and peaches

for supper. Went on deck and watched for land. Cold,. windy and

raining. Finally docked at pier. Went to special service ghow in

mess héll. Tired.

Like the movies or the newsreels we all kept looking for the
Statue of Liberty. When it came in sight I must admit that I was
moved. Liberty--that's what it is all about.

20 Left the boat. Went by train to Camp Kilmer. Ate big meal.

Ate alot at PX. More processing. "Got khaki clothes. HWent to

show. Saw "Those Endearing Young Charms". {Called home twice.

nobody there.) Packed suitcases I bought.
The first meal you get when you return from overseas .is
probably the best meal one can get in the service. I remember

we hdd steak, milk and ice cream. The other items I’'ve forgotten.
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Letter dated 5/18/45 postmérked May 19 Minneapolis, Minn
Dear Mrs. Andersm, Have hed quite an exciting wesk this past wesk so thought T would
@mpyu;a;ﬁm1m]ﬁbyulhnm
. SﬁyﬂhynktmtheEEiCnﬁsczlkﬂé&sﬂﬂixnlﬁdbaalLﬁﬂmtai&m&w. T called back
tos:,elfzmdlt straight, & they said it read as follows, May 1lth 1945—5/Sgt Donald L.
‘;M§531§E5#§5184233bts.DxakiLbhkxn(aik&s)bendﬁfkﬁcftﬁslﬂnnmkn.
ﬁénalmzshyDursMthraxﬁmdacau;ﬂunanyinﬁibmaﬁm—asmilumn
. tiat joins Mpls an the West. Se said her s tad written her a letter dated April 29. e is
_ﬁﬁhnaﬁqﬂlxﬁtin(knmmywﬁawnxelnwhetﬁdramgﬁﬂﬁlxninimelﬁﬂlp,wﬁmiieywaﬁ
_ghdpgtmﬁrnamsE&&EimelﬂxmﬁiaL There were 6,000 air men—right belov the Netherlands.
- ﬁamaaﬂnmﬂlxn1iunwﬁthgcnlﬁmjnimesuxeﬂhxeD01&hksﬁﬂhsufdtotnﬁb
mmmsdale After talking to D avhile Don ramebered him too. Then he asked if when he
@mtﬁspﬁmifiemﬂd}nverercaum&mummmsﬁm&mpaitobemm.
| Tnis momirg I received another telegram saying: Tre secretary of War desires me to
eoress his pleasure that your uskend S/Sgt Don L. Nelsm retumed to Military Oantrol.
gofcgssait?ﬁstea1qﬁheanexiﬁmgwa$aﬂ. But a very nice ae.
I really think it is just a matter of days before the fellows will be hawe. Dn't you
Please let us know if you hear firther. Mrs. Genevieve L. Nelsm
Picture postcard of The Confederate Memorial Institute on
£he Boulevard bet ween Kensington and Stuart Avenues Richmond Va.

Tear Mrs. Arderson, I rec'd word throuh the Red Cross last night (Sat) that Robert hed

hﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬂm T hope you heve your s with you som.  F. Stewart.

_'2} E?@tfygxgg-and ate. Called home and talked to Viola. Got

on train. Left at noon. Took 2 nap. 0BOn troop train. Traveled west.
Mother Teégretted the fact that she missed my call. She was
R Ly
working and had planned to quit when I got back. Wiola was a

girl staying at our house in my room.
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22 Still going. Stopped awhile at Cincinnati. Still going west.

It won't be long.

23 Got to St. Louis too late to catch midnight train. ALe

breakfast and went uptown in taxi. Bought some articles at

military store. Arrived in K.C. at 5:00. Called home. ﬂéphér

came to station. Left at 6:00 for Leavenworth. Sta?eahailfhight

there.

Riding from St. Louis to Kansas City I think I got more

excited every mile. When I began to see some familiar éighfs it
was even more stimulating. Then, finally, I arrived bﬁt oniy for
an hour since I had to go to Leavenworth. 1 called ﬂdﬁe and Mother
was waiting at home for my call. She got Mr. Barrett:ﬁé;f door to
run her down to the train station. I remember th&t ﬁfalBarrett

~ still had on his house slippers. They made it to the station in
record time. Mother was surprised to see me 1ooking'éb weii; I
guess I weighed more than I had ever weighed before. The visit

was short; it would be one more day before I could stay. A sixty-
day furlough was coming so I could wait patiently a few more hours.
0Of the eight crew members coming from Germany I had been the first
one liberated and the first one to get home.

24 More papers to sign. Got more clothes. Ate big dinner.

Took shower. Got papers and got paid. Came '£& K.C. - on- buge

Mr. Lantz brought me home. Ashridges visited. WEnt;Lg?station

to get stuff I left there and went to Winsteads.-

Mr. Lantz was the father of an Ex-POW from Stalag Luft 4.
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He mﬁst'ﬁeﬁeASeen at the station to pi¢k’ up his son and offered
ﬁe a rlde-home

Wlnsteads was a favorite drive-in out near the Plaza. They
made excellent hamburgers and 1 had often fanta31zed about their
Gtaste..-My main emotion now was joy--joy -of being home, joy uﬁon
f:sééiﬁa ﬁy mother and sister agadin, and joy upon completing a great
A-3ﬁ§en£ure; Life was wonderful.
Now I can stop my diary entries. I was home for the first

time since March 7, 1944, almost 14% months. There were ‘times

"' yhen I wasn't sure I would maké it, but God was good to me. His

bleseiﬁgs have come to me all my life. Now I have a wife, six
?ﬁchlldren, the twelfth grandchiid arrived today (8-16-94), and
”two great grandchlldren. I have a lot for which to be thankful.

Three more cards should bé included. Postcard dated May 27,
1945 postmarked May 28 Wilkinsburg, Pa.

Desi- Mrs. Anderscn, Reoiived phone call fron Red Cioss an May 23rd that my scn Roert
'Qéﬁﬁﬂmﬁﬁﬁ.‘ﬂéyQWHeaﬂrwﬂlfhﬂn;aﬂIrqﬁtbh&wfﬁmrmnemn. Sircerely, Mrs.
McIntyre
| Pestcard datea May 29, 1345 postmarked same date Pittsburgh, Pa.
Dear Mrs. Andersn, We received a letter fram our son from Camp Ramp France dated May 16th

mtﬁnc?ltletells 1 e is O.K. and in good héivls. Te was iberated May st at Barth Gemmeny

bytlfemlars 'Il'mmrvhyliith?rewas flow to France in'a B 17 Fortress. He says he will

+ pa _j . -
pésk-card dated June 10, 1945 postitdrk not clear but looks
}ike’ Juné: 0. Cotton Plant, Ark.
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Dear Mrs. Andersm, ZImxenedt&ahﬁﬂa:ﬂimimh1wnxetoEnEm;ﬂ£5%g Ermest
hesn't mede it tore yet. Ihwenaeweihn]eﬂﬁnsmﬂamﬁﬂe;anﬂnnhm: Ha&ndhawm

cetting alag fire and would see me in the near future. smasrege!:smremwmmtem
Jdm. I surely will be proxd when he gets here.  Sincerely, mcbrac:awford

Alot of letter writing went on while I was home#saartigg.
with a letter to Mrs. Nelson on May 26th which_ehe anseefeé?en
June 3rd. There is no need to 1list all of my 1e£tey.vrieia? bﬁt_
it wasn't until July that I heard from Crowder, Crawford ané Mauregf

on June 21st another of my dreams came true. I.went~downtown
and marched in a parade from ‘9th and Locust to the, Liberty-Memorial
across from Union.Station. Mayor Gage, the governors. of Kansas ‘and
Missouri and General Eisenhower spoke to the assembled.crowd. I
marched with a .group of former POWs. As a boy I had seen _some
Civil War veterans marching and, of course, veterans of World War I.:
Now 1t was my turn. |

My 60-day furlough ended on July 26th waen I beeg the train
to Miami for a week:on the army in the Hotel Pfesideaa_Madison on
the beach. The Collins came over for a visit. On the 29ta~Lt.
Collins picked me up and we went to his house for breakfaet. We
took pictures and talked. I went out with the family to dinner.

I believe it was the flTSt (and 1ast) time I ever ate 1 bster.

I talked to L. Sanbérn that - day on the phonea; On Aug.MSth Lt.

Rowe was in town but T missed-him. I did get to talk tbuhlm on

the phone. | *fw
When I heard the war was over on Aug. 14th I was at the Y

in St. Louis. I was stationed at Scott Fleld where I had been

assigned to take a refresher course. I was allowed to go to any
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nﬁéeggﬁfmgﬁéhbéﬁiﬁg so I picked 3g§gﬂ§%55@eld at Ft. Leavenworth.

'zfgﬁﬁfloﬁgh=was given before I -had to report. My discharge

_céméiﬁﬁ{6¢60ber 11th at 5:30 P.M. in Lincoln, Nebraska. Ten days

‘&égﬁg%ﬁhe train to Annp&ﬁ@gggaMichigan to .attend the
wﬁTf?ﬁichigan. The faibléeméﬁgenwstan%edhlate that year
so I was fdrtumate to get enroiledwriThusﬁE got;staxted on the rest

but

;f§ﬁ~ﬁyo&1wefg-the_bgstﬁ;.We-made.it. Rowe was

qﬁ?-gaﬁﬁ iu@k charm.. If he hadn't been shot in the foot we would

Q?30% flak. a1bnred “OUgE 1Jves. You were a great

Thanks. ?:}?j.

e

':yﬁigon} Maurer; and- I will .get cone-more chance at the coming

-E;iéﬁnion to relive together the-intense five minutes around 12:35

A -

E;M. on'Augu$p-6, 1944. We knov that Stewart is responsible for

"ﬁg-;}yé'qur}%iv%g?ﬁgnghgéﬁyléeSt;v;Wofds cannot express
gﬁ@%@kéibut word$ﬁ§h§§1@§gpr“§?fme whep;lﬂthiﬁk.of

:@Eh, stalwarg: h§upon51ble, and. dependable.
Ség%h;h'ﬁﬁo guided ugﬁgggy'ti@ggﬁduring ou;Atraining

nﬁ?@%ﬁétaies<and;brbugh%‘us@b@qﬁ:bnﬁtheﬁbase when we
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were by ourselves off’ Aug. 2nd ! You were a gdéﬁi&éﬂéﬁr&épagah;
honorable crew member. Tﬁhbﬁéﬁygu'have contfﬂ@ééﬁ&%hi}iﬁtépést

in ecology. '~ Thanks.: 7%

across the chasm:: you Wweté-good-crew members..:

the’ ten dfpué'Wifl'mééﬁlﬁoﬁééﬁéfiinlfiﬁty yeatsiil

"To Maurer who ﬁaé?h?19aftﬁéf+in afgreat'Card"ggﬁéﬁfﬁﬁP ieﬂ
our room in prison® camp 1n Ty mést propltlous manner, who saved me

frOm dropplng “out. of the march across. Germany, who'* has‘been a good

friénd-and budﬂy,'thanksw 7ﬁ%'ﬁwfn”:"’? : ;a;}tﬁ

S0 as to be an example to others, who overcame hlS fxaﬁl'

e A EEE

than the rest of ifs; who- shared hls cup of coel:watérT

= - I} N
. f .- e s

thanks. . A .

barracks, who ralsea my splrlts by g1v1ng me é shave when'f?ﬁeeded
such a gesture, who was a good boy as»has-motherisggteﬂ)'thankg.

To MéIntyre, ‘whéiever “youiare, we are sorry we.ha¥e lost £fack
of you. You were the youngest and most impressionable. -Welhope you

5o
PR

had a goodﬂiife. P af;;.i

a great advehnture £0g§%ﬁef.”ﬁﬁﬁégy if-not ald of

' physical p¥obrems 'bift- thé important thing is $hat®we’ Bavéisurvived;



We -can truthfully say that our countfy called and we responded.
We live. in tﬁg greatest country in the world and we are free.

"God bless us, everyone."
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ADDENDUM TO PART II |

In the early nineties as [ was begmnmg to think about
writing my memories of the time I was.in the service I received
a notice that a group of ex-pows was going to try and organize
a chapter of AXPOW (American Ex-Prisoners of War) in
Panama City, FL. I attended an organizational meeting in a K-
Mart store but was unimpressed with the results. Anne
Walker was elected as the first Commander of the Hutchison-
Poplawski Chapter. Hutchison was the name of Anne's first
husband and Poplawski was the name of Reba whose husband

-had been a pow. Clarence Goad was the next Commander
followed by Gerald Duval who had written a book about h1s
experiences, having survived.a crash of his B-24. '

In 1994 I decided to go with a group of Luft IV members
back to the campsite and took Jack, my second son, with me.
June Chapek was the tour director and she worked with
Leonard Rose who was in charge of the records of Luft IV. It
was a great trip and I enjoyed the encounter wﬂ:h people who
had had similar experiences to mine.

- In 1995 my interest grew as I attended a national .
convention of AXPOW in Birmingham, AL which was not far
from home. Claude Watkins gave an interesting report on
Stalag Luft VI at Heydekrug which was a pow camp near
Lithuania. No one seemed to know about Luft VI at St.
Wendel where I lived for twenty days.

In 1996 I did not attend the convention Wthh was held .
in Des Moines, JA but after that I attended each national
convention for a number of years. The 1997 convention was
held in Tacoma, WA and a letter from Roland Geiger was read
asking for information about a pow camp held in his home
town of St. Wendel. He had heard about a camp but had no
knowledge about it. I got his address and wrote him since I
was in the first contingent of soldiers to go to St. Wendel. T
copied what I had written in my diary during the twenty days I
was there. Herr Geiger issued a paper concerning the camp
which is still on the internet. I corresponded with some of the
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names he said were at camp and wrote my view of the camp. I
thought the Bulletin, put out monthly by AXPOW, might
publish it if it were in three smaller portions. The editor
thanked me for the submission and said she had sent it on to
Andersonville, GA, the site of a Civil War prison, and the main
museum for pows of all wars. Clarence Goad and I spent a
week as pows in residence at the museum, talking to visitors
and answering questions they might ask. The library had not -
been cataloged at the time and I could not find my copy.. In
2010 I donated a number of items to the museum that
included a copy of the hymnbook we used in camp, the music
I wrote .out for the choir to sing at church in Luft IV, the
individual parts for each member of the choir, a copy of the
program for the minstrel show which received three
performances in January, 1945, a copy of Stainer's
Crucifixion, and a stone from the foundation of the Red Cross
Building which was located at the entrance to the Lager which
I picked up in 1994,

In 1997 I had the. opportumty to go to Australia with my
daughter Lezah and her husband Ken. As I went through Los
Angeles I tried to contact Crawford, my tail gunner, who lived
there but he was not sure about seeing me. I found out later
he came to the airport but did not make himself known. The
three of us flew to Sydney and met Ken's brother Jim and his .
wife Cheryl. After a couple of days in Sydney in which we got
to see the famous opera house we went to the capitol Canberra
where Jim worked. We got to go through numerous
government buildings. Later, we traveled to the interior to see
mountains called the Three Sisters but it was so foggy we
could only see part of one. We went down to the southeast
coast and had chances to see koala bears, emus, and close
communion with kangaroos. From Australia we went to New
Zealand for a few days and stayed at a bed and breakfast. I
remember climbing a hill that had one tree. We flew next to
Hawaii with a stopover at the Fiji Islands at night. I enjoyed
seeing Hawaii and we took a tour around the perimeter of
Oahu. We got to see Pearl Harbor and see the memorial there
to the Arizona. We flew back to Los Angeles and this time I
was able to see Crawford and talk with him. He had just lost
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his companion and it was not long after that that I got word
that he had died.

Lezah, Ken and I took a cruise on the mland waterways
to Alaska which added another state to my list of states I had
been in. We went through Denali Park and saw a lot of wild
life. A train took us to Fairbanks where we had a salmon

~dinner with Gen Nelson, the wife of Don Nelson, my ball turret
gunner, who ran the radio-TV station in North Pole, AK. Don
died on May 8, 1997.

Conventions were held in Baton Rouge, LA in 1098,
Evansville, IN in 1999, and Louisville, KY in 2000. After I
became Commander in 1998 the chapter paid my expenses to.
attend the state's quarterly meetings and conventions usually
held in south or central Florida. I was elected to the position of
Junior Vice Commander for the state in 1999. At the national
conventions we always had a reunion .of Luft IV alumni run by
Leonard Rose. It was the highpoint of the convention. It was
always interesting to hear the stories some of the men told.
We always laughed when "half mission" told his story.

I believe that every year a group of Luft IV went back to
the campsite which is not far from the town of Koszalin in
Poland. Ihad gone in 1994, but in 2000 I decided to go again
with my eldest son John and my fourth child Peter. June
Chapek was the tour director again. This time the group went
first to Bergen, Norway. It was an interesting town and we
rode a cable car to the top of the mountain that overlooked the
city. The group traveled by boat up a fjord. We saw the home
town of Knute Rockne and Oslo. From Norway we visited
Sweden and then on to Denmark. We stopped in Viborg which
was the home of Chris Christiansen. We had a tour of the
cathedral there and we had a dinner with the Christiansens.
John, my son, entertained the grandchildren of Mr.
Christiansen with magic tricks. Mr. Christiansen had sent me
a copy of his book that he wrote — Seven Years among
Prisoners of War --and I took it with me so he could write a
dedication in it. On the way to Copenhagen we saw the
birthplace of Hans Christian Andersen. By boat we traveled to
Luebeck and saw the organ Bach had played when he was
there. We stayed in Koszalin, this time in a palace just outside
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of town. John and I roomed together in a room on the third
floor (no elevators) and Peter roomed with Leonard Rose. The
boys were fascinated by the McDonald store which was doing
a good business. The group ended up in Berlin before
returning to the states.

Since I had reached home with copies of the choir parts
we had sung in camp [ thought it might be a good idea to get a
group to sing them at the banquet in Tucson, AZ in 2001. The
convention was held immediately following the attack on 9-11
and a number of conventions were.cancelled but we went
ahead as usual. I wrote the National Commander and he
agreed to the idea. About a month before the convention I had
a call from the program chairman for the convention saying
that the Secretary of Veterans Affairs would be unable to
speak at the banquet so he wanted us to enlarge our program
and take more time. Irequested that we be allowed some-
practice time before the banquet and he agreed. I contacted
the Music Department at Arizona State University in Tucson
and arranged for a student string quartet to rehearse twice
and then play the performance at the banquet. In camp I had
used two violins and-a cello along with the little pump organ to
accompany the choir. I had to write out the parts for the viola
which was not hard to do. In place of the organ I used an
accordionist, Rudy Vidmar, who played for us in Poland at a
"fire" which was their term for a barbeque. Rudy had been in
A:Lager and could play almost anything. He agreed to do it if
he were allowed to play a solo group for the crowd. To enlarge
the program I thought the people might enjoy singing the
service songs that they all knew. I had some patriotic songs
ready also in case I needed them. Getting the singers together
would be the big problem.

After arriving in Tucson I found that our rehearsal room
had been taken over by the convention which needed a room
available for handicap persons. - The hotel had a policy that no
posters were allowed on the walls. I asked Leonard if he would
allow me to have a rehearsal after the reunion. The reunion
was Friday and the banquet was Saturday night. At the
reunion | asked the group how many had ever sung in a choir.
A sizable group stood. I told them that they were to sing at the
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Britain and got to go through a B-17. We spent three days in
London and saw the Tower of London and the British Museum
along with Trafalgar Square and Picadilly Circus. On the night
before we returned to the states the Anderson family
entertained the group by recalling the events of the trip in
song. : _ : o
I suggested to Leonard that we should have a session and
honor Dr. Leslie Caplan who accompanied the men of C Lager
on the march across Germany. 1 knew that the doctor kept a
Journal and thought it might be available. The doctor had .
died in the eighties but his wife still lived in Minneapolis.
Leonard gave me her phone number and I gave her a call. She
said she knew of the Journal, but her daughter, Laura, who
lived in New York City, would be better able to help me. I
called Laura and she told me the Journal was in Minneapolis
and that she was going back there and would try and send me -
a copy. I wrote out what I thought was a tribute to the doctor
and since the next convention in 2002 was in Rochester, MN I-
invited her to attend. She sent a copy of the Journal but half
of some pages were missing so it was difficult to get the whole
story. At the reunion Laura was somewhat overwhelmed by
the outpouring of affection the group demonstrated to her.
She decided to work with me on the Journal and sent me a
complete copy. I spent most of the year transcribing the
Journal which Laura called "Domain of Heroes". The doctor
listed the amount. of food issued each day on the march and
the names and hometowns of the men he treated. During the
month of February he did not write every day. Each day he
omitted I included in the Foreword. During the month of
March his entries became more plentiful. After we reached
Stalag XIB at Fallingbostel he was asked to remain to work in
the hospital there. But when the airmen had to march on
after a week he decided to march with them. The last of the
group was liberated on May 2nd. The march lasted over eighty
daysin all. At the end I made an index of all the names
mentioned in the Journal and an index of all places and
hometowns used in the book. My name was listed three times.
While in England I met Beulah and Jim Godwin who
lived in Panama City, FL. Jim was the lead bombardier on my
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banquet and we would rehearse the music, have a short
rehearsal before the banquet and then sing. Luckily, I had a
few men although there were more women participating than
men. I had to rearrange the music to accommodate the
women. Surprisingly, it went well. "The Bells of St. Mary" was
a favorite and the crowd joined in on the chorus after a soloist
sang the verse. The cellist even played from the scrap of paper
that was used in the performance in Germany. In camp it was.
sung on Sunday, December 3, 1944. "The Holy City" was sung
on Christmas Day and repeated on Sunday, December 31st.
The ad hoc choir sang it at the banquet. The accordionist gave
his group of numbers but the crowd grew restless and many
talked during his presentation. T decided to cut out most of
the patriotic songs. My cousin who had lived in central
Florida had moved to northern Arizona, so I invited him to
attend the concert. He was impressed and: helped me collect
money to pay for the quartet. Pow people are usually
generous people and always willing to help Over 800 people
attended the banquet.

In 2002 the 388th Bomb Group de01ded to have a .
reunion at their home base Knettishall in England. I decided
to join them and took with me three of my sons and.their
wives: John and Arlene came from Palm Bay, FL; Peter and
Barbara came from Ocala, FL; and Phillip and Ellen came from
Snellville, GA. We spent four days in Cambridge and visited
the airbase by bus. John Nichol, who had called me from
England for information for his book about the migration of all
the prisoners of war leaving their camps and marching
westward to avoid the onslaught of the Russian army, was the
first airman shot down in the Gulf War and held as a prisoner
in Iraq. The book is entitled "The Last Escape" and my
children gave me a copy of the book. John talked to our group
while he showed a video on the bus ride out to the base. One
day the local flying club brouight some planes into the base
and took us for a ride from the base out over to the channel as
if we were on a mission. A taxi strip was used as the runway
for the planes. All the buildings are gone now except for one
which is used as a museum. My family enjoyed seeing the
sights in Cambridge. We went to the American Air Museum in
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last mission. He was busy dropping the bombs on the mission
when we got shot down so he did not know about us. The
Godwins had been attending the annual meetings of the 388th
Bomb Group and they asked me to ride with them to '
Savannah for the convention in 2003. The 8th Air Force has a
museum there.

In 2003 the AXPOW conventlon was held in Greenville,
SC. Laura Caplan was able to give a report on the progress of
the book she was writing about her father. David Dorfmeier,
the son of the barracks chief of Barracks 3 in C Lager,
attended the reunion and asked for help as he was writing a
book about his father. Since I had kept a diary while I was in
camp [ was able to assist him about events in camp with
dates. David would write a chapter and send it to me for
approval. He now lives in Paso Robles, California and his book
is about ready for publication He visited us once in Mexico
Beach, FL while he was in Florida. He often calls on the
weekends now.

In the state orgamzatlon as Junior Vice Commander I
was responsible for the chapters of AXPOW which were
located in the panhandle. We had one quarterly meeting in
Panama City that our chapter sponsored. In 2003 I became
the Senior Vice Commander. The national conventmn was
held in Arlington, TX in 2004. :

As Senior Vice Commander my job was to arrange the
state convention in Florida. With the help of the members of
the Hutchison-Poplawski Chapter and the assistance of
Tyndall Air Force Base we put on a great convention. We had
our banquet at the NCO Club on Tyndall following a
demonstration of the stealth fighter called the Raptor, the F-
22. The featured speaker at the banquet was the Medal of
Homnor holder Col. George "Bud" Day who is probably the most
decorated airman in the country. He was introduced by a
member of our chapter, Bill Robinson, who was the longest
held POW enlisted man in the Vietnam War. Bill and I
participated in giving the Pledge of Allegiance at the opening of
the state legislature that year.,

-1 became Commander of the State of Florida Department.
Early in the convention the group took a cruise on the Gulf of
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Mexico with a buffet supper. Laura Caplan gave a review of
her father's Journal. An auction and a band concert were
parts of the program. The convention program had a striking
picture of the F-22 on the cover. Paul Dallas of North Carolina
was national Commander and was scheduled to speak at the
convention, but his brother died and he was unable to attend.
Now Paul runs the state department in North Carolina. They
recently had a quarterly meetmg in Greensboro which is my
chapter now.

The 388th meetmg was held in Akron OH and the
Godwins had enough air miles to cover the cost of my plane
ticket. [ had been corresponding with Larry Witt who lived in
Michigan. His daughter was writing a paper in a class she
was taking at the University about her father. Larry was the
only person I have met who was in my choir in camp. He and
his daughter, Laura Edge, wanted to come visit me while I was
close by. I met with them and showed them the music that we
had used in camp. Larry died a couple of years ago but we
had kept connected. Laura decided to expand her paper into a
book about her father and the last e-mail I got she says that
. the book has been copyedited and typeset and in its final
review. I sent her my picture which was taken eight days after
I was liberated and had just gone into American hands. I had
helped her with some of the facts that were included i in the
book.

In the spring of 2005 our local chapter of AXPOW had the
state quarterly meeting in Mexico Beach at the El Governor
Motel. My wife furnished the evening meal for the group. It
was one of the least expensive meetings we have had.

Lezah, my daughter, attended conventions with me in’
Rochester, MN, Greenville, SC. and Denver, CO. I had heen
looking forward to the meeting in Denver because it meant
that I would have a chance to see my engineer for the first
time since the end of the war. We had corresponded by mail
at times and I called him, usually on the anniversary of our
last mission, but nothing takes the place of actually seeing a
person and being able to talk with him. Augie Maurer, my
engineer, had lost his wife and was living with his daughter
Cheryl and her husband Udo Zahn. Udo had been in Berlin at
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the time we were bombing the city.

Leonard Rose started out to go to the convention in
Denver but developed problems in breathing so he called me
and asked me to handle the reunion for Luft IV. Augie didn't
want to meet with all the people so his family and Lezah and I
went on a picnic and had a good time looking at scrapbooks
and talking. Laura Caplan had taken pictures of Augie and
me when we first got together so I invited her to go with us. It
was not quite what I had expected because Augie really did not
want to talk about the war.” My buddy had written up his
story and then had a stroke so he avoided the topic. Still, it
was good to see him again and renew our friendship.

The last national convention I attended was in N ashville,
TN in 2006. The attendance was less than it had been. One
of the high points of the reunion was I got to meet Walter
"Bud" Lawrence, who was originally from Texas and called
"Tex" but now lives in Kansas. He remembered that on
Christmas Day in camp he went with me and a group of glee
club members to the different barracks where we sang carols.
Since then we have corresponded regularly and he wrote out
his story and sent it to me. Ijudged it like the other stories I
have been receiving. He did not ask me to do so. He recently
lost his wife also. In 2008 the convention was in Kansas City
and I had looked forward to seeing my hometown again. "Bud"
Lawrence attended and gave a report. Attendance.is down and
soon there will be no one to attend the Luft IV reunions.

The 388th B.G. is meeting in Savannah at the end of
August this year. Phil Turner read an article that was in the
Winston-Salem Journal and picked up by other papers. He
visited us in Augusta and videoed my telling my story. He
wanted to help me redo what I had written in 1991 and 1994
and I thought it could be done. I have also been in contact
with Neale Musolff of Lansing, MI who was the brother of the
engineer of Sarten's crew that went down a few days after our
crew. That crew was along side of us in training in Ardmore,
OK and was in our squadron in the 388th B.G. It has been
fun thinking about how to update my story.

In 2009 I went to the mail box and brought in the mail. I
tripped on the one step up to the porch and broke my nose. In
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December 2011 my kidneys began to fail and a month later
they did. My nephologist gave me a choice of dialysis or
hospice. I took dialysis and have it now three times a week for
three and a half hours each session. I still consider myself
fortunate. It is my hope that I can attend the 388th reunion in
Savannah this year. Hopefully, one or more of my sons will be
able to go with me. This December I shall turn ninety and was

surprised when I made it to the year 2000. Now that I have
updated my story I can rest in peace.

Finally, I would be remiss if I did not mention my w1fe
Hazel as being supportive of all my trips and helpful in all the
activities that I undertook. She was more than helpful many
times and has not received the recognition she deserves for ail
the work she has done for AXPOW, both in Florida and North
Carolina. She really wanted to stay in Florida but we were not
near a hospital there and I thought it would be better to have
our daughter, who lives here in Kernersville, take
responsibility for our health. This year it has been hotter in
North Carolina than it was in Florida. It has been a strange
year weather-wise. All my sons have been to visit us this year
so in that way it has been a good year. Thanks Hazel for
providing me with a good home and family which gave me a
good life. You are loved and appreciated.
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NC man vividly remembers being a prisoner of war

By KiM UNDERWOOD
Winston-Salem Journal

KERNERSVILLE, N.C. (AP)
-- On Aug. 6, 1944, John
Anderson was on a bombing
mission near Berlin when
German anti-aircraft fire hit
his B-17. The plane went
into a spin. For a time, the
centrifugal force was so
strong that Anderson
couldn't move, much less
make his way toward the
door in the tail to escape.

John H. Anderson Geor | T
C,Grqpanf“ROG ge ,. c ?
He thought he was a dead man. Corporal—AA]

The Winston-Salem Journal reported that instead, his fate
was to become a prisoner of war.

Today, Anderson is 86. Music is a passion, and before being



drafted in early 1943, he completed a degree at the
Conservatory of Music in Kansas City, Mo. After being
discharged on Oct. 11, 1945, he received a master's degree
and embarked on a career that began as the assistant band
director at the University of Georgia and closed as chairman
of fine arts at Georgia's Columbus College, now Columbus

State University.

Along the way, he earned a doctorate and met and married
his wife, Hazel. They had six children. Their third child,
Lezah Arney, lives in Kernersville, which is how they ended
up living there.

In 1944, Anderson was a 21-year-old Army Air Corps tech
sergeant serving as the radio man in the 388 Bomb Group,
561 Squadron. In June, on his third mission, he had flown in
support of the D-Day Invasion. The Aug. 6 mission out of
England to bomb a tank factory was the crew's 24th. The flak

was heavy.

"You could feel the plane get hit,"” Anderson said. "l looked
up and suddenly the front of the bomb bay was in flames. |
was reaching for the fire extinguisher when the order came

to bail out."

Because of the fire, he started toward the tail. Not seeing the
ball-turret gunner climbing up from below, Anderson tripped
over him and went sprawling. By the time they both got up,
the plane had gone into a spin.

"You couldn't move," Anderson said. "We decided this is it.
After a while - it seemed like a lifetime - the force is gone.
Relief comes."

To this day, he has no idea what stopped the spin.

"The fact that we came out of the spin was sort of a miracle,"
Anderson said.

Once he reached the door, he hesitated because it looked
as if he might be thrown into the tail. In that moment of
hesitation, the door ripped off and he shot out of the plane.
Falling backside down, he could see his boots and socks fly



off. Spinning, he knew he had to do what he could to control
the spin before opening his parachute.

Once he stabilized a bit, he counted to 10 three times before
pulling the rip cord. When he did, he had a scare: "It came
off in my hand - nobody ever told me that."

The parachute opened. He landed in a field. First came a
farmer armed with a pitchfork, then a soldier, finally a local
policeman. He wasn't afraid, he said. "I'm glad I'm alive."

The next day found him - still barefoot - in a German jail with
a couple of other members of the crew. Eventually, they
would learn that all nine men on the plane made it to the
ground alive and that their plane was one of six shot down.

Anderson eventually ended up in Stalag Luft IV. The food
was minimal - no breakfast, soup with some vegetables and,
rarely, a scrap of meat for lunch, potatoes for dinner. Red
Cross boxes helped a bit. Anderson says he knows it sounds
odd to say this, but he found parts of the experience really
satisfying. He became the leader of the camp choir, and so
many fellow prisoners wanted to sing that he started a glee

club, too.

Paper was at a premium, and he would write down music on
the back of Chesterfield cigarette wrappers. When he came
into possession of two hymnals, he considered them real
treasures. After the Germans evacuated the camp because
of the Russian advance, he had to abandon them in a barn
during a forced march because they became too heavy to

carry.

By then, it was the winter of 1945 - "the wind was so strong
you could almost lean into it and it would hold you up" - and,
when his feet froze, he was no longer able to march and was
put on a train.

By the time American forces liberated him from another
POW camp at 8:37 a.m. on April 16, he had dysentery and
weighed about 100 pounds, down from the 130 he weighed
before being shot down. He still vividly remembers the scent
of the loaf of white bread that they gave each of the liberated



Addition to John Anderson’s Part I “Life as a P.O.W.”
By

Neale Musolff, brother of T/Sgt. Ranold Musolf, Top Turret Gunner &
Engineer on the Sarten Crew. T/Sgt. August Mauer TT Gunner & Engineer
on the Rowe crew was my brothers best friend from their time at

Ardmore, OK AFB.

In 1950 my parents and I traveled to the Western part of the United States.
We stopped in Wisconsin to meet and talk with Augie Mauer. He recounted
his experience on bailing out of his aircraft in considerable detail. When I
read the newspaper account relating the incident by John Anderson, I was
struck by the how close the 2 versions were in detail.

Augie told us that they had a replacement pilot (on his 28™ mission) 3rd
mission as a pilot. (Previously he was a copilot on other crews. } When the
order to bail out was given, the pilot was the 1% one to exit the aircraft. The
Copilot Robert Stewart stayed with the aircraft until all of the crew was out.
Mauer in his account to us indicated Stewart died in the craft. Lt. Stewart
suffered severe burns on his face and hands.

The fire forward prevented Mauer from using the forward hatch so he had to
make his way to the rear door over open bomb bay doors. The plane went
into a spin and threw him onto the catwalk. When the ship righted itself
(most likely with the help of the copilot) the soles of his boots were like
butter and he nearly slipped off of the catwalk. When he got back by the
door for escape, there was a crewman kneeling by the door. I thought he
was going to say he was praying. Instead, he was trying to snap on his
parachute. Then the other crewman tried to open the door instead of pulling
the release pins. The door slammed shut and was sprung. The plane then
went into a 2™ spin and again righted itself (again, probably with the help of
the co-pilot). They were able to release the door and exit the plane.



Mauer said when he reached the ground, there were two groups headed in
their direction. One was soldiers from an AA battery and the other was a
group of very angry locals armed with clubs and pitchforks. He was very
grateful the soldiers arrived first. (Although in a phone conversation with
Mauer’s daughter in 2009, she told me he suffered with 80% hearing loss in
one ear and 90% in the other. Also he was in mid-stage Alzheimers.
Doctors attributed these conditions to the beatings he received after capture.)

As the reader will note, my recollection matches very closely that of John’s
in the newspaper article. Hearing the story from my “big brother’s” closest
service friend made an indelible impression on an 18 year old boy.

In a letter to my mother after the war, Augie indicated he had entered the
ministry.
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